CROSS TALK BETWEEN LYMPH NODE LYMPHATIC ENDOTHELIAL CELLS AND T CELLS IN INFLAMMATION AND CANCER

EDITED BY: Sonia Elhadad and Silvia Della Bella PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology





Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2017 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

> All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

> The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88945-351-1 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-351-1

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

1

CROSS TALK BETWEEN LYMPH NODE LYMPHATIC ENDOTHELIAL CELLS AND T CELLS IN INFLAMMATION AND CANCER

Topic Editors:

Sonia Elhadad, Weill Cornell Medicine, United States **Silvia Della Bella,** University of Milan, Humanitas Clinical and Research Center, Italy



Image: Crevis/Shutterstock.com

Lymphocytes constantly survey the lymph nodes in search for potential infection by a pathogen. They enter the afferent lymphatic vessel that serves as a conduit to transport the motile lymphocytes to the draining lymph node. Lymphatic vessels (LVs) are present in most vascularized tissues. They are traditionally regarded as passive conduits for soluble antigens and leukocytes. Afferent LVs begin as blind ended capillaries, which give rise to collecting vessels that merge and connect with draining lymph nodes (dLNs). Initial lymphatic capillaries are composed of Lymphatic Endothelial Cells (LECs) connected by discontinuous cell junctions, which join to form larger collecting lymphatic vessels, and ultimately feed into the LN subcapsular sinus. Within the LN, LECs are localized to the subcapsular, cortical, and medullary sinuses, where they interact with incoming and exiting leukocytes. LECs, and in general LN stromal cells, have emerged in the recent years as active players in the immune

response. In support to this, studies have shown that the immune response generated during inflammation and under pathologic conditions is accompanied by modeling of the LVs and generation of new lymphatics, a process known as lymphangiogenesis. These facts strongly suggest that LECs and stromal LN cells in general, are not inert players but rather are part of the immune response by organizing immune cells movement, exchanging information and supplying survival factors.

The purpose of this research topic is to review the role of the LECs during immune homeostasis and cancer. Considering the critical role of lymphangiogenesis in many pathologies like chronic and acute inflammation, autoimmunity, wound healing, graft rejection, and tumor metastasis, it is important to understand the molecular mechanisms that govern the cross talks between the LECs and immune cells during homeostasis and inflammation.

Citation: Elhadad, S., Della Bella, S., eds. (2017). Cross Talk between Lymph Node Lymphatic Endothelial Cells and T Cells in Inflammation and Cancer. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-351-1

Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Cross Talk between Lymph Node Lymphatic Endothelial Cells and T-Cells during Inflammation and Cancer Sonia Elhadad and Silvia Della Bella

Section I: Regulators of Lymphatic Endothelial Cells Functions

07 microRNAs in the Lymphatic Endothelium: Master Regulators of Lineage Plasticity and Inflammation

Daniel Yee, Mark C. Coles and Dimitris Lagos

- **15** ACKR2: An Atypical Chemokine Receptor Regulating Lymphatic Biology Ornella Bonavita, Valeria Mollica Poeta, Elisa Setten, Matteo Massara and Raffaella Bonecchi
- 21 Corrigendum: ACKR2: An Atypical Chemokine Receptor Regulating Lymphatic Biology

Ornella Bonavita, Valeria Mollica Poeta, Elisa Setten, Matteo Massara and Raffaella Bonecchi

Section II: Lymphatic Endothelial Cells and Immune Response

- 22 T Cell Trafficking through Lymphatic Vessels Morgan C. Hunter, Alvaro Teijeira and Cornelia Halin
- *Shaping of Peripheral T Cell Responses by Lymphatic Endothelial Cells* Marion Humbert, Stéphanie Hugues and Juan Dubrot
- 49 Bidirectional Crosstalk between Lymphatic Endothelial Cell and T Cell and Its Implications in Tumor Immunity

Kim Pin Yeo and Veronique Angeli

Section III: Lymphatic Endothelial Cells and the Tumor Microenvironment

60 Tumor-Associated Lymphatic Vessels Upregulate PDL1 to Inhibit T-Cell Activation

Lothar C. Dieterich, Kristian Ikenberg, Timur Cetintas, Kübra Kapaklikaya, Cornelia Hutmacher and Michael Detmar

73 The Role of the Tumor Vasculature in the Host Immune Response: Implications for Therapeutic Strategies Targeting the Tumor Microenvironment

Shona A. Hendry, Rae H. Farnsworth, Benjamin Solomon, Marc G. Achen, Steven A. Stacker and Stephen B. Fox

94 The Role of Lymphatic Endothelial Cells in Liver Injury and Tumor Development Veronika Lukacs-Kornek





Editorial: Cross Talk between Lymph Node Lymphatic Endothelial Cells and T-Cells during Inflammation and Cancer

Sonia Elhadad^{1*} and Silvia Della Bella^{2,3}

¹ Department of Medicine, Weill Cornell Medicine, New York, NY, United States, ² Department of Medical Biotechnologies and Translational Medicine, University of Milan, Milan, Italy, ³ Laboratory of Clinical and Experimental Immunology, Humanitas Clinical and Research Center, Rozzano, Italy

Keywords: T cells, lymphatic vessels, lymphatic endothelial cells, inflammation, cancer, antigen presenting cells, atypical chemokine receptors, microRNAs

Editorial on the Research Topic

Cross Talk between Lymph Node Lymphatic Endothelial Cells and T-Cells during Inflammation and Cancer

A successful adaptive T cell immune response depends on the encounter of T cells and antigenpresenting cells (APCs). Therefore, T cells constantly patrol the body, recirculating between the blood and the lymph nodes, looking for antigens drained from peripheral tissues. In the lymph node, lymphocytes recognize antigens upon contact with APCs, proliferate to expand few clonally relevant lymphocytes, differentiate into effector T cells, then exit the LNs and migrate to peripheral tissues to ensure immune protection. All these processes involve cellular interactions and migration. Lymph nodes are strategically distributed throughout the body, at the junction of the blood vascular and lymphatic systems. T cells spend several hours in a lymph node sampling the microenvironment, leaving then the lymph node *via* efferent lymphatic vessels (LVs). Traditionally considered as passive conduits, LVs appeared to be active players in the modulation of the immune response. The lymphatic system serves as the primary route for the metastasis of many cancers, and the extent of lymphangiogenesis is an important indicator in tumor progression. The promiscuity of immune cells and LVs suggests that immune cells modulate this biological process during inflammation and cancer. Those, cross talks between LVs and the immune system can be used for therapeutic strategies for cancer and other pathologies.

This Research Topic brings together eight articles that provide insights into the various biological functions of the LECs, the ways they regulate the immune responses, and the therapeutic strategies that can be developed.

In their mini review, Yee et al. focused on the role of microRNAs (miRNAs) as regulators of LECs' function. The authors discuss the role of miR-31 and mi-R181a that targets PROX1, the transcription factor controlling the upregulation of LECs' markers. As a result, LECs' specific genes expression is repressed, therefore miR-31 and mi-R181a control LECs' differentiation and plasticity. Moreover, elevated levels of these miRNAs are found during inflammation suggesting a possible role of these miRNAs in inflammatory lymphangiogenesis. The authors suggest that they can be used as new therapeutic tools in inflammation and cancer.

Chemokines and their receptors are key factors in LVs' function. In their mini review, Bonavita et al. discuss the role of atypical chemokine receptors (ACKRs), and in particular the role of ACKR2 in lymphatic biology. The authors reported data showing the essential role of ACKR2 expressed

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and Reviewed by:

Pietro Ghezzi, Brighton and Sussex Medical School, United Kingdom

*Correspondence: Sonia Elhadad soe2003@med.cornell.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 08 September 2017 Accepted: 12 October 2017 Published: 20 November 2017

Citation:

Elhadad S and Della Bella S (2017) Editorial: Cross Talk between Lymph Node Lymphatic Endothelial Cells and T-Cells during Inflammation and Cancer. Front. Immunol. 8:1421. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01421 by LECs, in regulating chemokine concentration and leukocyte migration, promoting therefore resolution of inflammatory responses in infection, allergy, and cancer. Finally, they speculate that ACKR2 could be considered as a potential therapeutic target to attenuate inflammation during psoriasis and lung infection, or by influencing cancer cell dissemination to metastatic tissues.

Lymphatic vessels are key players in the cellular migration that accompanies lymphocytes patrolling during homeostasis and inflammation. In their review, Hunter et al. discuss in great details T cell migration within and between peripheral tissues and secondary lymphoid organs. While T cell migration within the lymph node occurs in a one manner where recirculating lymphocytes exit through efferent LVs to return to the blood circulation, in peripheral tissues T cells exit through afferent lymphatics to migrate to draining lymph node, before joining the blood circulation. The authors discuss further the relevance of T cell migration through afferent LVs in immune surveillance and resolution of local inflammation, and the use of this migration process for the development of immunomodulatory therapies.

Number of publications reported the function of LECs as APCs. In their review, Humbert et al. discussed how this property shapes the immune response. LECs express a large range of peripheral tissue-restricted antigens (PTAs) and present class I restricted PTA-derived antigens to CD8⁺ T cells, leading to the deletional tolerance of self reactive CD8⁺ T cells. The authors discuss further the contribution of LECs as regulators of peripheral T cell responses in autoimmunity and cancer.

While these papers cover the regulation of the peripheral immune response by LECs through different biological processes, LECs' function is itself regulated by T cells during inflammation and cancer. We have reported that temporal inflammatory lymph node lymphangiogenesis is regulated by a mixed Th1/Th2/Th17 response (1). Yeo and Angeli discuss further the cross talks between LECs and T cells and their implications in cancer, and the use of lymph node LECs as a potential therapeutic target in addition to immunotherapy strategies for cancer progression and metastasis.

Tumor vasculature plays a crucial role in shaping the tumor microenvironment and contributes to cancer immune evasion. In their review, Hendry et al. described the mechanical and molecular mechanisms underlying tumor-promoting properties of tumor vasculature. They also explained the design of combined antiangiogenic and immunotherapeutic treatments and

REFERENCES

- Elhadad S. Cross talks between the immune and lymphatic endothelial cells regulate inflammatory lymph node lymphangiogenesis: defining a new therapeutic approach. *J Immunother Cancer* (2013) 1(Suppl 1):184. doi:10.1186/ 2051-1426-1-S1-P184
- Colombo E, Calcaterra F, Cappelletti M, Mavilio D, Della Bella S. Comparison of fibronectin and collagen in supporting the isolation and expansion of endothelial progenitor cells from human adult peripheral blood. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e66734. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0066734
- Calcaterra F, Brambilla L, Colombo E, Tourlaki A, Veraldi S, Carenza C, et al. Increased frequency and vasculogenic potential of endothelial colony-forming cells in patients with Kaposi's sarcoma. *J Invest Dermatol* (2017) 137:1533–40. doi:10.1016/j.jid.2017.02.979

summarized the drug combinations explored in preclinical and clinical settings. Promising results have been reported for antiangiogenic therapy combined with immune checkpoint inhibitors in different types of cancer, suggesting that each treatment may potentiate the effect of the other. We suggest that endothelial colony-forming cells isolated and cultured from blood may represent a tool for studying the endothelial compartment in cancer patients (2, 3), and assessing the impact of combined treatments during patient follow-up.

Dieterich et al. delineated the differential role played by lymphatic and blood vascular vessels in the tumor microenvironment, highlighting a role for LVs in promoting cancer immune tolerance. By using two different in vivo models, the authors showed that, during cancer development, tumor-associated LVs-but not blood vessels-upregulate the checkpoint inhibitor PD-L1. Notably, this effect is dependent on IFN_γ production by tumor stromal cells. T cell interactions with tumor-associated LVs, and T cell inhibition upon contact with PD-L1-expressing LECs, suggest that characteristics ascribed to LECs in secondary lymphoid organs are shared by LECs present in the tumor microenvironment. As reported in Lukacs-Kornek's review (Lukacs-Kornek), LECs' functions are shared by liver LECs. Our knowledge on liver LECs is limited to the notion that they are increased in chronic liver diseases and cancer. Availability of markers for LEC identification will clarify the contribution of these cells to liver disease pathogenesis.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SE organized the Research Topic; wrote and edited the Editorial. SDB helped in Research Topic management and contributed to writing the Editorial.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The editors would like to thank all the authors and reviewers who participated to this Research Topic and E-book.

FUNDING

This work was supported by institutional funding from the Department of Medical Biotechnologies and Translational Medicine, University of Milan, grant 2016 to SDB.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Elhadad and Della Bella. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





microRNAs in the Lymphatic Endothelium: Master Regulators of Lineage Plasticity and Inflammation

Daniel Yee, Mark C. Coles and Dimitris Lagos*

Centre for Immunology and Infection, Department of Biology, Hull York Medical School, University of York, York, UK

microRNAs (miRNAs) are highly conserved, small non-coding RNAs that regulate gene expression at the posttranscriptional level. They have crucial roles in organismal development, homeostasis, and cellular responses to pathological stress. The lymphatic system is a large vascular network that actively regulates the immune response through antigen trafficking, cytokine secretion, and inducing peripheral tolerance. Here, we review the role of miRNAs in the lymphatic endothelium with a particular focus on their role in lymphatic endothelial cell (LEC) plasticity, inflammation, and regulatory function. We highlight the lineage plasticity of LECs during inflammation and the importance of understanding the regulatory role of miRNAs in these processes. We propose that targeting miRNA expression in lymphatic endothelium can be a novel strategy in treating human pathologies associated with lymphatic dysfunction.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Silvia Della Bella, University of Milan, Italy

Reviewed by:

Neha Dixit, DiscoveRx, USA Kiyoshi Hirahara, Chiba University, Japan

*Correspondence: Dimitris Lagos dimitris.lagos@york.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 14 October 2016 Accepted: 20 January 2017 Published: 09 February 2017

Citation:

Yee D, Coles MC and Lagos D (2017) microRNAs in the Lymphatic Endothelium: Master Regulators of Lineage Plasticity and Inflammation. Front. Immunol. 8:104. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00104 Keywords: lymphatic endothelial cells, microRNA, inflammation, lineage plasticity, lymphangiogenesis

INTRODUCTION

The lymphatic system is a transport network that regulates tissue fluid homeostasis, the absorption of macromolecules, and the trafficking of immune cells (1). Lymphatic vessels are made up of a single layer of partly overlapping lymphatic endothelial cells (LECs). Embryonic studies on development of lymphatic vasculature have identified key transcription factors required for development and maintenance of the lymphatic system. The same transcription factors regulate lymphangiogenesis, the process of new lymphatic vessel growth from pre-existing vessels, which has crucial roles in wound healing, inflammation, infection, and cancer. In addition to transcriptional regulation, post-transcriptional mechanisms play a key role in LEC responses to inflammation. In particular, several microRNAs (miRNAs) have emerged as key determinants of LEC differentiation and inflammatory responses. This review will discuss our current understanding of the role of individual miRNAs and components of the miRNA biogenesis machinery in LEC immune function.

miRNA-MEDIATED SILENCING

microRNAs are a class of highly conserved, small non-coding RNA (~20–24 nt) that regulate gene expression at the posttranscriptional level of all biological pathways including cell development, differentiation, and function (2). In mammals, the canonical process of miRNA biogenesis encompasses

7

the generation of primary miRNA (pri-miRNA) transcripts that are transcribed by RNA polymerase II in the nucleus. Stem-loop structures of pri-miRNA transcripts are processed by the RNAse III endonuclease, Drosha, to form hairpin-shaped precursor miRNA (pre-miRNA) (3, 4). Following this, pre-miRNA is exported into the cytoplasm where it is further processed by another RNAse III endonuclease, Dicer, which cleaves off the hairpin structure. The resultant double-stranded miRNA is separated into two strands with the mature miRNA strand packaged onto the miRNA-induced silencing complex that includes an Argonaute (AGO) effector protein. The miRNA guides RISC to specific target sites, primarily the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of target mRNAs, leading to repression of target gene expression (5). Binding sites are generally 8mers or canonical sites that enable high miRNA regulation of mRNA expression (6). Due to this short target sequence, miRNAs can have multiple targets, and it is predicted that 30% of all protein-coding genes is under miRNA regulation in mammals (7).

EMBRYONIC DEVELOPMENT AND SPECIFICATION OF THE LYMPHATIC VASCULATURE

Sabin hypothesized the venous origin of the lymphatic system (8), which became increasingly supported by developmental studies around the beginning of the twenty-first century (9). Specific genes for lymphatic differentiation and identity were identified, and these included vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 (VEGFR-3), lymphatic vessel hyaluronan receptor-1 (LYVE-1), podoplanin, and prospero-related homeodomain protein 1 (PROX1) (10). VEGFR-3 is a receptor tyrosine kinase for lymphatic-specific VEGF-C and VEGF-D (11). LYVE-1 is a widely used lymphatic-specific marker, implicated in cellular trafficking and a homolog of the CD44 glycoprotein (12, 13). Both VEGFR-3 and LYVE-1 are expressed during early endothelial cell development and become restricted to LECs at later stages. Genetic deletion of VEGFR-3 or VEGF-C in mice leads to defective lymphatic vascular development (14, 15). In contrast, LYVE-1 gene-deficient mice develop normal lymphatic vasculature (16).

The murine lymphatic system begins to form in a subpopulation of venous endothelial cells, LEC precursors, at embryonic day (E) 8.5 that express PROX1, LYVE-1, and VEGFR-3 (14). At E9.75, a lymphatic bias signal upregulates PROX1, LEC budding, and formation of primary lymph sacs (10). PROX1-deficient embryos lack lymphatic vasculature, VEGFR-3, or LYVE-1 expression and are embryonic lethal at E14.5 (10). Two upstream transcriptional regulators of PROX1, SOX18 (17), and COUP-TFII promote the lymphatic bias signal until E13.5 (18, 19). PROX1 and VEGFR-3 continue to be expressed only in postnatal and adult lymphatic vasculature (20). Constant levels of PROX1 are required to maintain LEC lineage, which is supported by VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 signaling (21). Postnatal LECs have lower PROX1 expression compared with embryonic lymphatic endothelium, suggesting low expression of PROX1 is sufficient to maintain LEC identity (22). Additional transcription factors and regulators of lymphatic development have been reported, including neuropilin 2 (23, 24), FOXC2 (25, 26), integrin-9 α (27, 28), NOTCH (29, 30), C-MAF (31), and GATA2 (32).

miRNAs AND ENDOTHELIAL CELL DEVELOPMENT

microRNA biogenesis is essential for vertebrate development, and tissue-specificity of miRNAs has been demonstrated in angiogenesis (33-36). Loss of Dicer in mice leads to poor vascular formation and embryonic lethality (33). The highest expressed miRNA in endothelial cells, miR-126 mediates angiogenesis and maintenance of vascular integrity (37-40). Deletion of miR-126 results in vascular leakage, hemorrhaging, and embryonic lethality in a subset of mice (38). Surviving mice lived to adulthood without noticeable abnormalities, suggesting additional regulatory factors after birth. Accordingly, miR-126 targets sprout-related protein-1 (SPRED-1), phosphoinositol-3 kinase regulatory subunit 2 (PIK3R2 also known as P85β), and VCAM-1 in human and murine cells (37-39). By targeting VCAM-1, miR-126 can inhibit leukocyte adherence and potentially regulate vascular inflammation (37). SPRED-1 is an intracellular inhibitor of angiogenic and MAP kinase signaling, and its repression by miR-126 correlated with the increase of pro-angiogenic genes VEGF and fibroblast growth factor in mice (38). Additionally, VEGF can induce miR-132 and promote angiogenesis by suppressing p120RasGAP in human vascular endothelial cells (41).

REGULATION OF THE miRNA BIOGENESIS MACHINERY IN LECs

In addition to individual miRNAs, the miRNA biogenesis machinery is regulated during activation of LECs. AGO2 levels are controlled by miR-132 in human LECs (42). Inhibition of miR-132 in activated LECs results in increased AGO2 and the anti-angiogenic miR-221, providing further support for the function of miR-132 in endothelium. Furthermore, activation of TIE-2 by angiopoietin-1 (ANG-1) results in phosphorylation of TRBP (43), a DICER co-factor, which facilitates miRNA processing (44). Through this mechanism, ANG-1 treatment increases levels of miRNAs, including miR-126 and miR-21, which could contribute to the antiapoptotic function of ANG-1 (45, 46) in LECs.

LEC PLASTICITY

Altering the levels of PROX1 expression during embryonic, postnatal, or adult stages can reprogram LEC phenotype into blood endothelial cell (BEC) (28, 47, 48). PROX1 deletion results in the upregulation of BEC-specific markers in human and murine LECs (47). Conversely, BECs can be transcriptionally reprogramed by overexpression of PROX1 *in vitro*, resulting in upregulation of VEGFR-3 and podoplanin and suppression of BEC-specific transcripts, such as the transcription factor STAT6 (48, 49). These studies represent that endothelial cell differentiation is reversible and highlight the plasticity of LECs.

miRNAs AND LEC LINEAGE COMMITMENT

The 3'-UTR of PROX1 is remarkably long (5.4 kb) and conserved among vertebrates (50), which suggests PROX1 expression may be posttranscriptionally regulated by miRNAs. In contrast, the 3' UTR length of SOX18 (585 bp) is short and likely to have less miRNA regulation. Profiling of miRNAs in human LECs and BECs led to the discovery that lymphatic development can be regulated by BEC miRNA signatures (40). Overexpression of miR-31 was shown to repress FOXC2 and several other LECsignature genes (40). Both miR-31 and miR-181a can target PROX1 and as a result repress LEC-specific genes, including VEGFR-3, and vascular development in embryonic LECs (22, 40). Furthermore, signaling from bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) 2, a member of the TGF- β family, inhibited Prox-1 expression and lymphatic differentiation during zebrafish and murine development (51). Interestingly, BMP2 signaling upregulated miRNAs: miR-194, miR-186, miR-99a, miR-92a and also miR-31, and miR-181a (51). Knockdown of SMAD4 by siRNA downregulated the expression of miR-31 and miR-181a indicating a possible involvement of BMP2 as a negative regulator of LEC identity (51). Recently, miR-466 was shown to suppress PROX1 expression and tube formation in human dermal LECs, and both miR-466 and miR-181a induced inhibition of corneal lymphangiogenesis in rats (52).

LECs IN INFLAMMATION AND LYMPHANGIOGENESIS

The lymphatic vessels serve as a conduit for transport of leukocytes and antigen-presenting cells to lymph nodes (LNs), which orchestrate initiation of adaptive immune response (11). LECs express the chemokine ligand, CCL21 that attracts and guides the interactions of CCR7-positive T, B, and dendritic cells (DCs) to LNs *via* the afferent lymphatics (53). Not all LECs are equal, reportedly, LN-LECs express different levels of CCL21 forming chemokine gradients that facilitate directional migration into the LNs through an atypical chemokine receptor, CCRL1 (54). The role of LECs in immune regulation has been demonstrated in a series of papers showing LECs contributing to the induction of peripheral tolerance of DC and T cells. In human LECs, tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) induces vascular and intercellular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1, ICAM-1) and E-selectin, facilitating adherence of DCs to the endothelium (55). TNFα-stimulated lymphatic endothelium can interact with DCs via cell-to-cell contact to suppress human DC maturation and function by an ICAM-1-Mac-1 (CD11b) interaction (56). Notably, murine LECs lack expression of co-stimulatory ligands but can express the inhibitory checkpoint ligand, programed cell death ligand-1 (PD-L1) to negatively regulate CD8⁺ T cells (57-60). LECs can also express MHC II in vivo and may induce tolerance of CD4+ and CD8⁺ T cells either by acting as an antigen reservoir for DCs or through cross-presentation of antigens (60-64). The mechanism of antigen transfer from LEC to DCs and whether LECs can induce similar levels of tolerance as DCs remains to be further understood.

During inflammation, the lymphatic system becomes activated and lymphatic remodeling is induced in both peripheral tissues and the draining LN (65). The increase in lymphangiogenesis may aid in the resolution of inflammation. Inflammation-induced lymphangiogenesis is commonly regulated by pathways involving VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 and VEGF-A/VEGFR-2 signaling (11). Studies in mice demonstrated that lymphangiogenesis is driven by increased VEGF-C, VEGF-D, and VEGF-A from macrophages during acute skin inflammation and chronic airway infection, reported to promote antigen clearance and prevent lymphedema (66, 67). Lymphatic vessels are impaired during chronic skin inflammation, which can be alleviated by the overexpression of VEGF-C (68). Interestingly, VEGF-C stimulation in skin inflammation instigated LECs to produce anti-inflammatory prostaglandin synthase, which led to higher levels of IL-10 on DCs leading to suppressed DC maturation (69). B cells can enhance the growth of LN lymphatic vasculature through VEGF secretion and increase DC migration to the LN (70). However, interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) secretion from T cells suppressed growth of LN-lymphatic vasculature in vivo and downregulated the expression of PROX1, LYVE-1, and podoplanin in vitro in a JAK/STAT-dependent mechanism (71). IFN-γ knockout mice express a higher baseline of lymphatic vasculature in the LN. Expression of PROX1, VEGFR-3, and LYVE-1 are also downregulated during acute skin inflammation (72, 73). In human dermal LECs, transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) or TNF α stimulation results in loss of PROX1 and LYVE-1 expression (74, 75). In contrast, studies in mice suggest that NF-KB induces PROX1 and VEGFR-3 in a lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced peritonitis model, increasing sensitivity of pre-existing lymphatic vessels to VEGF-C and VEGF-D-expressing leukocytes (76). Additionally, IL-3 in LECs can induce PROX1 and podoplanin expression and maintain the differentiated LEC phenotype in vitro (77). LECs are also a major source of IL-7 in vivo which is required for remodeling and homeostasis of the LN microenvironment (78).

miRNAs IN LECs DURING INFLAMMATION AND INFECTION

Studies have demonstrated miRNAs in the regulation of inflammation including miR-146a/b, miR-155, and miR-132 in both immune and non-immune cell types (79–82). Several activities have been reported for miR-155 across the immune system, including Th1 differentiation of murine CD4⁺ T cells by inhibiting IFN- γ signaling (83) and production of immunoglobulin class-switch differentiation of B cells by targeting transcription factor PU.1 (84). A wide range of inflammatory stimuli induce miR-155 expression including LPS, poly (I:C), IFN- β , and TNF α in human and murine macrophages, monocytes, and endothelial cells (79, 80, 85, 86). In addition, miR-155 regulates angiogenesis and inflammation by negatively regulating ETS-1, upstream of VCAM-1, and angiotensin II type 1 receptor (87).

microRNA profiling of rat mesenteric LECs treated with TNF α for 2, 24, and 96 h indicated a distinct miRNA signature at

various time points (88). Several miRNAs involved in angiogenesis, endothelial sprouting, and cell migration were upregulated, while miRNAs associated with cell survival and proliferation were downregulated at 24 and/or 96 h. Of those upregulated, miR-9 was shown to directly target NF- κ B, downstream of TNF α signaling, and regulate TNF α -mediated inflammatory mechanisms. In addition, overexpression of miR-9 increases VEGFR-3 expression and tube formation, indicating a possible role in lymphangiogenesis. VEGFR-3 was also shown to be regulated by a mirtron miR-1236, arising from a spliced-out intron that is processed independently of Drosha, in human LECs (89). IL-1 β can induce miR-1236 and downregulate VEGFR-3 protein which is similarly reported in inflammatory lymphangiogenesis. Although miR-1236 is lowly expressed in human LECs, it may be upregulated during inflammation-induced lymphangiogenesis to control the expression of VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 signaling.



FIGURE 1 | The effect of inflammation on the microRNAs (miRNA) landscape of lymphatic endothelial cells (LECs). (A) Under homeostatic conditions, miRNAs, including miR-126, miR-21, and miR-132, contribute to normal LEC function. Lymphatic identity is maintained through suppression of the blood endothelial cell (BEC)-enriched miRNAs miR-31 and miR-181a, which can repress LEC-specific genes, including the master LEC fate regulator PROX1 and the receptor tyrosine kinase vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 (VEGFR-3). (B) During inflammation, a set of immunologically active miRNAs (miR-155, miR-132, miR-146a) are induced and shape LEC immune responses. In addition, LEC-specific genes are downregulated and miRNAs, including miR-9, miR-1236, and miR-K12-11, a viral ortholog of miR-155, contribute to the loss of LEC identity. It is likely that other miRNAs may modulate immune gene expression and lineage plasticity in LECs.

LESSONS FROM KAPOSI'S SARCOMA HERPESVIRUS (KSHV)

Our understanding of gene regulation in LECs has advanced significantly by studying infectious diseases that directly involve LECs. Kaposi's sarcoma (KS) is a tumor from lymphatic endothelial origin and is the most common cancer in untreated HIV-positive patients (90). KSHV infects both LECs and BECs to induce transcriptional reprograming giving rise to mixed phenotypes of LECs and BECs (91, 92). Phenotypically, KS is most similar to LECs and occurs at sites rich in LECs such as skin, LN, and mucosa (92). KSHV infection of human LECs induces an early antiviral miRNA response from miR-132 and miR-146a and inhibition of these miRNAs suppressed viral gene expression (82). Overexpression of miR-132 negatively regulates inflammation by impairing the expression of IFN-β and interferon-stimulated gene 15. Upon KSHV infection, miR-132 targets the transcriptional co-activator EP300 and downregulates the interferon response, increasing viral gene expression. In addition, KSHV can influence endothelial cell motility by downregulating the miR-221/ miR-222 cluster and upregulating miR-31 (93). Whether upregulation of miR-31 can regulate PROX1 during KSHV infection is unknown. A KSHV latent gene, kaposin B was found to stabilize PROX1 mRNA and drive lymphatic reprograming of BECs (50). An additional target of KSHV infection is the transcription factor c-MAF, which represses BEC-specific identity in human LECs (31, 91). Downregulation of MAF occurs early and is maintained throughout viral infection. The miR-155 KSHV ortholog, miR-K12-11 (94), was shown to regulate MAF in human LECs (31). Interestingly miR-155 has been shown to suppress MAF expression in murine CD4⁺ T cells (95).

CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Our understanding of miRNAs in LEC activation has greatly increased from recent reports but this area remains understudied (**Figure 1**; **Table 1**). LEC plasticity is under miRNA regulation that allows the rapid response of lymphatic endothelium to inflammatory and angiogenic stimuli. LECs display heterogeneity, and there are different types of lymphatic vessels and LECs that have organ-specific functions (96). Studying miRNAs in certain types of lymphatic vessels and niches, such as the skin, LN, or subpopulations within these contexts, can introduce new tools to understand the different functions that LECs regulate in these tissues.

Targeting miRNAs such as miR-126, miR-9, and miR-132 (**Table 1**) presents a novel opportunity to deliver localized therapy for treating disease. This can be either to inhibit or mimic the function of the miRNA. Anti-miR-132 was shown to inhibit angiogenesis and decrease tumor burden in a mouse model of human breast carcinoma (41). Antagonism of miR-122 to treat hepatitis

miRNA	Primary role	Function and target	Model system	Reference
miR-126	Angiogenesis Inflammation	Highest expressed miRNA in endothelial cells, which regulates angiogenesis through SPRED1 and VCAM-1	Human primary ECs, murine ECs	Wang et al. (38), Harris et al. (37), and Fish et al. (39)
miR-132	Angiogenesis	Acts as an angiogenic switch by targeting p120RasGAP	Human umbilical vein ECs	Anand et al. (41)
	Inflammation	Regulates anti-viral immunity through EP300	Kaposi's sarcoma herpesvirus (KSHV)-infected lymphatic endothelial cell (LECs)	Lagos et al. (82)
miR-9 Inflammation Regulates vascular endothelial growth factor re lymphangiogenesis, and NF-κB signaling		Regulates vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 (VEGFR-3), lymphangiogenesis, and NF- κ B signaling	Rat LECs and human primary LECs	Chakraborty et al. (88
miR-1236	Inflammation	Induced by IL-1 β and regulates VEGFR-3 and lymphangiogenesis	Cultured human dermal LECs	Jones et al. (89)
miR-181a	Lineage commitment	Blood endothelial cell (BEC)-expressed miRNA, which inhibits PROX1 in LEC development	Murine LECs	Kazenwadel et al. (22)
miR-31	Lineage commitment	BEC-expressed miRNA which inhibits PROX1 and FOXC2 in LEC development	Human primary LECs, xenopus, and zebrafish	Pedrioli et al. (40)
miR-466	Lineage commitment	Inhibits PROX1 and tube formation	HDLECs and corneal lymphatic vessels	Seo et al. (52)
miR-K12-6, miR-K12-11 (ortholog of miR-155)	Lineage commitment	Viral miRNAs that target c-MAF contributing to virus-induced LEC reprograming	KSHV-infected LECs	Hansen et al. (31) and Hong et al. (91)
miR-146a/b	Inflammation	Early-response miRNA involved in TLR4 signaling and innate immunity	KSHV-infected LECs	Lagos et al. (82)
miR-155	Inflammation	Targets ETS-1 upstream of endothelial adhesion molecules such as	Human umbilical vein ECs	Zhu et al. (87)
	Angiogenesis	VCAM-1		
miR-221/ miR-222	Angiogenesis	Targets transcription factors ETS-2 and ETS-1, respectively, regulating EC motility	Human primary LECs, KSHV- infected LECs	Wu et al. (93)

C virus infection is the first miRNA-targeting therapy in Phase II clinical trials (97). A challenge for miRNA-based therapies is ensuring effective delivery. Targeting miRNAs that drain into the LN through lymphatics vessels can lower the chances of off-target effects, drug resistance, and toxicity (98, 99). Lymphatic flow is unidirectional and the vessels can act as a bypass for absorption of compounds, such as lipophilic small molecule drugs, to avoid hepatic first-pass metabolism and enhance bioavailability (100). There are several routes that can be exploited for therapeutic delivery, including mucosal, intestinal, and parenteral (101). The lymphatic system is also thought to link the brain and the immune system (102). Although, lymphatic drug delivery is in its infancy, this approach may serve as a platform for accurately delivering miRNA-modifying compounds to target sites, providing new therapeutic opportunities for chronic inflammatory diseases.

REFERENCES

- Swartz MA. The physiology of the lymphatic system. Adv Drug Deliv Rev (2001) 50(1-2):3-20. doi:10.1016/S0169-409X(01)00150-8
- O'Connell RM, Rao DS, Chaudhuri AA, Baltimore D. Physiological and pathological roles for microRNAs in the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2010) 10(2):111–22. doi:10.1038/nri2708
- Ameres SL, Zamore PD. Diversifying microRNA sequence and function. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2013) 14(8):475–88. doi:10.1038/nrm3611
- Ha M, Kim VN. Regulation of microRNA biogenesis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2014) 15(8):509–24. doi:10.1038/nrm3838
- Huntzinger E, Izaurralde E. Gene silencing by microRNAs: contributions of translational repression and mRNA decay. *Nat Rev Genet* (2011) 12(2):99– 110. doi:10.1038/nrg2936
- Bartel DP. microRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. *Cell* (2004) 116(2):281–97. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00045-5
- Filipowicz W, Bhattacharyya SN, Sonenberg N. Mechanisms of posttranscriptional regulation by microRNAs: are the answers in sight? *Nat Rev Genet* (2008) 9(2):102–14. doi:10.1038/nrg2290
- Sabin FR. On the origin of the lymphatic system from the veins and the development of the lymph hearts and thoracic duct in the pig. *Am J Anat* (1902) 1(3):367–89. doi:10.1002/aja.1000010310
- Srinivasan RS, Dillard ME, Lagutin OV, Lin FJ, Tsai S, Tsai MJ, et al. Lineage tracing demonstrates the venous origin of the mammalian lymphatic vasculature. *Genes Dev* (2007) 21(19):2422–32. doi:10.1101/gad.1588407
- Oliver G. Lymphatic vasculature development. Nat Rev Immunol (2004) 4(1):35–45. doi:10.1038/nri1258
- Tammela T, Alitalo K. Lymphangiogenesis: molecular mechanisms and future promise. *Cell* (2010) 140(4):460–76. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.045
- Banerji S, Ni J, Wang S-X, Clasper S, Su J, Tammi R, et al. LYVE-1, a new homologue of the {CD}44 glycoprotein. *J Cell Biol* (1999) 144(4):789–801. doi:10.1083/jcb.144.4.789
- Jackson DG. Biology of the lymphatic marker LYVE-1 and applications in research into lymphatic trafficking and lymphangiogenesis. *APMIS* (2004) 112(7–8):526–38. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0463.2004.apm11207-0811.x
- Wigle JT, Oliver G. Prox1 function is required for the development of the murine lymphatic system. *Cell* (1999) 98:769–78. doi:10.1016/ S0092-8674(00)81511-1
- Karkkainen MJ, Haiko P, Sainio K, Partanen J, Taipale J, Petrova TV, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor c is required for sprouting of the first lymphatic vessels from embryonic veins. *Nat Immunol* (2004) 5(1):74–80. doi:10.1038/ni1013
- Gale NW, Prevo R, Espinosa J, Ferguson DJ, Dominguez MG, Yancopoulos GD, et al. Normal lymphatic development and function in mice deficient for the lymphatic hyaluronan receptor LYVE-1. *Mol Cell Biol* (2007) 27(2):595–604. doi:10.1128/MCB.01503-06
- Francois M, Caprini A, Hosking B, Orsenigo F, Wilhelm D, Browne C, et al. Sox18 induces development of the lymphatic vasculature in mice. *Nature* (2008) 456(7222):643–7. doi:10.1038/nature07391

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DL, MC, DY conceived, co-wrote, and edited the mini review.

FUNDING

DL is a Medical Research Council New Investigator Research Grant holder (MR/L008505/1). MC is funded by the Medical Research Council (MR/K021125). Work by the authors has also been supported by the Wellcome Trust (097829 Centre for Chronic Diseases and Disorders institutional strategic support fund; WT095024MA CIDCATS PhD training program). DY is supported by the Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council Doctoral Training Program in "Mechanistic Biology and its Strategic Application" (BB/J01113/1).

- You LR, Lin FJ, Lee CT, DeMayo FJ, Tsai MJ, Tsai SY. Suppression of notch signalling by the COUP-TFII transcription factor regulates vein identity. *Nature* (2005) 435(7038):98–104. doi:10.1038/nature03511
- Srinivasan RS, Geng X, Yang Y, Wang Y, Mukatira S, Studer M, et al. The nuclear hormone receptor Coup-TFII is required for the initiation and early maintenance of Prox1 expression in lymphatic endothelial cells. *Genes Dev* (2010) 24:696–707. doi:10.1101/gad.1859310
- Wigle JT, Harvey N, Detmar M, Lagutina I, Grosveld G, Gunn MD, et al. An essential role for Prox1 in the induction of the lymphatic endothelial cell phenotype. *EMBO J* (2002) 21(7):1505–13. doi:10.1093/emboj/21.7.1505
- Srinivasan RS, Escobedo N, Yang Y, Interiano A, Dillard ME, Finkelstein D, et al. The Prox1-Vegfr3 feedback loop maintains the identity and the number of lymphatic endothelial cell progenitors. *Genes Dev* (2014) 28:2175–87. doi:10.1101/gad.216226.113.is
- Kazenwadel J, Michael MZ, Harvey NL. Prox1 expression is negatively regulated by miR-181 in endothelial cells. *Blood* (2010) 116(13):2395–401. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-12-256297
- Yuan L, Moyon D, Pardanaud L, Bréant C, Karkkainen MJ, Alitalo K, et al. Abnormal lymphatic vessel development in neuropilin 2 mutant mice. *Development* (2002) 129(20):4797–806.
- Xu Y, Yuan L, Mak J, Pardanaud L, Caunt M, Kasman I, et al. Neuropilin-2 mediates VEGF-C-induced lymphatic sprouting together with VEGFR3. *J Cell Biol* (2010) 188(1):115–30. doi:10.1083/jcb.200903137
- Petrova TV, Karpanen T, Norrmén C, Mellor R, Tamakoshi T, Finegold D, et al. Defective valves and abnormal mural cell recruitment underlie lymphatic vascular failure in lymphedema distichiasis. *Nat Med* (2004) 10(9):974–81. doi:10.1038/nm1094
- Norrmen C, Ivanov KI, Cheng J, Zangger N, Delorenzi M, Jaquet M, et al. FOXC2 controls formation and maturation of lymphatic collecting vessels through cooperation with NFATc1. J Cell Biol (2009) 185(3):439–57. doi:10.1083/jcb.200901104
- Bazigou E, Xie S, Chen C, Weston A, Miura N, Sorokin L, et al. Integrin-α9 is required for fibronectin matrix assembly during lymphatic valve morphogenesis. *Dev Cell* (2009) 17(2):175–86. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2009.06.017
- Mishima K, Watabe T, Saito A, Yoshimatsu Y, Imaizumi N, Masui S, et al. Prox1 induces lymphatic endothelial differentiation via integrin α9 and other signaling cascades. *Mol Biol Cell* (2007) 18:1421–9. doi:10.1091/ mbc.E06
- Emuss V, Lagos D, Pizzey A, Gratrix F, Henderson SR, Boshoff C. KSHV manipulates notch signaling by DLL4 and JAG1 to alter cell cycle genes in lymphatic endothelia. *PLoS Pathog* (2009) 5(10):e1000616. doi:10.1371/ journal.ppat.1000616
- 30. Kang J, Yoo J, Lee S, Tang W, Aguilar B, Ramu S, et al. An exquisite crosscontrol mechanism among endothelial cell fate regulators directs the plasticity and heterogeneity of lymphatic endothelial cells. *Blood* (2010) 116(1):140–50. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-11-252270
- Hansen A, Henderson S, Lagos D, Nikitenko L, Coulter E, Roberts S, et al. KSHV-encoded miRNAs target MAF to induce endothelial cell reprogramming. *Genes Dev* (2010) 24(2):195–205. doi:10.1101/gad.553410

- 32. Kazenwadel J, Betterman KL, Chong CE, Stokes PH, Lee YK, Secker GA, et al. GATA2 is required for lymphatic vessel valve development and maintenance.
- J Clin Invest (2015) 125(8):2979–94. doi:10.1172/JCI78888
 33. Bernstein E, Kim SY, Carmell MA, Murchison EP, Alcorn H, Li MZ, et al. Dicer is essential for mouse development. Nat Genet (2003) 35(3):215–7. doi:10.1038/ng1253
- Yang WJ, Yang DD, Na S, Sandusky GE, Zhang Q, Zhao G. Dicer is required for embryonic angiogenesis during mouse development. *J Biol Chem* (2005) 280(10):9330–5. doi:10.1074/jbc.M413394200
- Kuehbacher A, Urbich C, Zeiher AM, Dimmeler S. Role of dicer and drosha for endothelial microRNA expression and angiogenesis. *Circ Res* (2007) 101:59–68. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.107.153916
- Suárez Y, Fernández-Hernando C, Pober JS, Sessa WC. Dicer dependent microRNAs regulate gene expression and functions in human endothelial cells. *Circ Res* (2007) 100(8):1164–73. doi:10.1161/01.RES.0000265065. 26744.17
- Harris TA, Yamakuchi M, Ferlito M, Mendell JT, Lowenstein CJ. microRNA-126 regulates endothelial expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule 1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105(5):1516–21. doi:10.1073/pnas.0707493105
- Wang S, Aurora AB, Johnson BA, Qi X, McAnally J, Hill JA, et al. The endothelial-specific microRNA miR-126 governs vascular integrity and angiogenesis. *Dev Cell* (2008) 15(2):261–71. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2008.07.002
- Fish JE, Santoro MM, Morton SU, Yu S, Yeh RF, Wythe JD, et al. miR-126 regulates angiogenic signaling and vascular integrity. *Dev Cell* (2008) 15(2):272–84. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2008.07.008
- Pedrioli DM, Karpanen T, Dabouras V, Jurisic G, Van De Hoek G, Shin JW, et al. miR-31 functions as a negative regulator of lymphatic vascular lineage-specific differentiation in vitro and vascular development in vivo. *Mol Cell Biol* (2010) 30(14):3620–34. doi:10.1128/MCB.00185-10
- Anand S, Majeti BK, Acevedo LM, Murphy EA, Mukthavaram R, Scheppke L, et al. microRNA-132-mediated loss of p120RasGAP activates the endothelium to facilitate pathological angiogenesis. *Nat Med* (2010) 16(8):909–14. doi:10.1038/nm.2186
- Leonov G, Shah K, Yee D, Timmis J, Sharp TV, Lagos D. Suppression of AGO2 by miR-132 as a determinant of miRNA-mediated silencing in human primary endothelial cells. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2015) 69:75–84. doi:10.1016/ j.biocel.2015.10.006
- Warner MJ, Bridge KS, Hewitson JP, Hodgkinson MR, Heyam A, Massa BC, et al. S6K2-mediated regulation of TRBP as a determinant of miRNA expression in human primary lymphatic endothelial cells. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2016) 44(20):9942–55. doi:10.1093/nar/gkw631
- Heyam A, Lagos D, Plevin M. Dissecting the roles of TRBP and PACT in double-stranded RNA recognition and processing of noncoding RNAs. Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA (2015) 6(3):271–89. doi:10.1002/wrna.1272
- Abdel-Malak NA, Srikant CB, Kristof AS, Magder SA, Di Battista JA, Hussain SN. Angiopoietin-1 promotes endothelial cell proliferation and migration through AP-1-dependent autocrine production of interleukin-8. *Blood* (2008) 111(8):4145–55. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-08-110338
- 46. Daly C, Wong V, Burova E, Wei Y, Zabski S, Griffiths J, et al. Angiopoietin-1 modulates endothelial cell function and gene expression via the transcription factor FKHR (FOXO1). *Genes Dev* (2004) 18(9):1060–71. doi:10.1101/ gad.1189704
- Johnson NC, Dillard ME, Baluk P, Mcdonald DM, Harvey NL, Frase SL, et al. Lymphatic endothelial cell identity is reversible and its maintenance requires Prox1 activity. *Genes Dev* (2008) 22:3282–91. doi:10.1101/ gad.1727208.Despite
- Petrova TV, Mäkinen T, Mäkelä TP, Saarela J, Virtanen I, Ferrell RE, et al. Lymphatic endothelial reprogramming of vascular endothelial cells by the prox-1 homeobox transcription factor. *EMBO J* (2002) 21(17):4593–9. doi:10.1093/emboj/cdf470
- Hong Y-K, Harvey N, Noh Y-H, Schacht V, Hirakawa S, Detmar M, et al. Prox1 is a master control gene in the program specifying lymphatic endothelial cell fate. *Dev Dyn* (2002) 225(3):351–7. doi:10.1002/ dvdy.10163
- Yoo J, Kang J, Lee HN, Aguilar B, Kafka D, Lee S, et al. Kaposin-B enhances the PROX1 mRNA stability during lymphatic reprogramming of vascular endothelial cells by Kaposi's sarcoma herpes virus. *PLoS Pathog* (2010) 6(8):37–8. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1001046

- Dunworth WP, Cardona-Costa J, Bozkulak EC, Kim JD, Meadows S, Fischer JC, et al. Bone morphogenetic protein 2 signaling negatively modulates lymphatic development in vertebrate embryos. *Circ Res* (2014) 114(1):56–66. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.302452
- Seo M, Choi JS, Rho CR, Joo C-K, Lee SK. microRNA miR-466 inhibits lymphangiogenesis by targeting prospero-related homeobox 1 in the alkali burn corneal injury model. *J Biomed Sci* (2015) 22(1):3. doi:10.1186/ s12929-014-0104-0
- Förster R, Davalos-Misslitz AC, Rot A. CCR7 and its ligands: balancing immunity and tolerance. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2008) 8(5):362–71. doi:10.1038/ nri2297
- Ulvmar MH, Werth K, Braun A, Kelay P, Hub E, Eller K, et al. The atypical chemokine receptor CCRL1 shapes functional CCL21 gradients in lymph nodes. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15(7):623–30. doi:10.1038/ni.2889
- Johnson LA, Clasper S, Holt AP, Lalor PF, Baban D, Jackson DG. An inflammation-induced mechanism for leukocyte transmigration across lymphatic vessel endothelium. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203(12):2763–77. doi:10.1084/jem.20051759
- Podgrabinska S, Kamalu O, Mayer L, Shimaoka M, Snoeck H, Randolph GJ, et al. Inflamed lymphatic endothelium suppresses dendritic cell maturation and function via Mac-1/ICAM-1-dependent mechanism. *J Immunol* (2009) 183(3):1767–79. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0802167
- Cohen JN, Guidi CJ, Tewalt EF, Qiao H, Rouhani SJ, Ruddell A, et al. Lymph node-resident lymphatic endothelial cells mediate peripheral tolerance via aire-independent direct antigen presentation. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(4):681–8. doi:10.1084/jem.20092465
- Tewalt EF, Cohen JN, Rouhani SJ, Engelhard VH. Lymphatic endothelial cells – key players in regulation of tolerance and immunity. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:305. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00305
- Hirosue S, Vokali E, Raghavan VR, Rincon-Restrepo M, Lund AW, Corthésy-Henrioud P, et al. Steady-state antigen scavenging, cross-presentation, and CD8+ T cell priming: a new role for lymphatic endothelial cells. *J Immunol* (2014) 192(11):5002–11. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1302492
- Rouhani SJ, Eccles JD, Riccardi PJ, Peske D, Tewalt EF, Cohen JN, et al. Roles of lymphatic endothelial cells expressing peripheral tissue antigens in CD4 T-cell tolerance induction. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:6771. doi:10.1038/ ncomms7771
- Lund AW, Duraes FV, Hirosue S, Raghavan VR, Nembrini C, Thomas SN, et al. VEGF-C promotes immune tolerance in B16 melanomas and cross-presentation of tumor antigen by lymph node lymphatics. *Cell Rep* (2012) 1(3):191–9. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2012.01.005
- Nörder M, Gutierrez MG, Zicari S, Cervi E, Caruso A, Guzmán CA. Lymph node-derived lymphatic endothelial cells express functional costimulatory molecules and impair dendritic cell-induced allogenic t-cell proliferation. *FASEB J* (2012) 26(7):2835–46. doi:10.1096/fj.12-205278
- Dubrot J, Duraes FV, Potin L, Capotosti F, Brighouse D, Suter T, et al. Lymph node stromal cells acquire peptide-MHCII complexes from dendritic cells and induce antigen-specific CD4+ T cell tolerance. *J Exp Med* (2014) 211(6):1153–66. doi:10.1084/jem.20132000
- Tamburini BA, Burchill MA, Kedl RM. Antigen capture and archiving by lymphatic endothelial cells following vaccination or viral infection. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:3989. doi:10.1038/ncomms4989
- Kim H, Kataru RP, Koh GY. Inflammation-associated lymphangiogenesis: a double-edged sword? J Clin Invest (2014) 124(3):936–42. doi:10.1172/ JCI71607.936
- Baluk P, Tammela T, Ator E, Lyubynska N, Achen MG, Hicklin DJ, et al. Pathogenesis of persistent lymphatic vessel hyperplasia in chronic airway inflammation. *J Clin Invest* (2005) 115(2):247–57. doi:10.1172/ JCI200522037
- Kataru RP, Jung K, Jang C, Yang H, Schwendener RA, Baik JE, et al. Critical role of CD11b+ macrophages and VEGF in inflammatory lymphangiogenesis, antigen clearance, and inflammation resolution. *Blood* (2009) 113(22):5650–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-09-176776
- Huggenberger R, Ullmann S, Proulx ST, Pytowski B, Alitalo K, Detmar M. Stimulation of lymphangiogenesis via VEGFR-3 inhibits chronic skin inflammation. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(10):2255–69. doi:10.1084/jem. 20100559

- Christiansen AJ, Dieterich LC, Ohs I, Bachmann SB, Bianchi R, Proulx ST, et al. Lymphatic endothelial cells attenuate inflammation via suppression of dendritic cell maturation. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(26):39421–35. doi:10.18632/ oncotarget.9820
- Angeli V, Ginhoux F, Llodra J, Quemeneur L, Frenette PS, Skobe M, et al. B cell-driven lymphangiogenesis in inflamed lymph nodes enhances dendritic cell mobilization. *Immunity* (2006) 24(2):203–15. doi:10.1016/ j.immuni.2006.01.003
- Kataru RP, Kim H, Jang C, Choi DK, Koh BI, Kim M, et al. T lymphocytes negatively regulate lymph node lymphatic vessel formation. *Immunity* (2011) 34(1):96–107. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.12.016
- Vigl B, Aebischer D, Nitschke M, Iolyeva M, Rothlin T, Antsiferova O, et al. Tissue inflammation modulates gene expression of lymphatic endothelial cells and dendritic cell migration in a stimulus-dependent manner. *Blood* (2011) 118(1):205–15. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-12-326447
- Huggenberger R, Siddiqui SS, Brander D, Ullmann S, Zimmermann K, Antsiferova M, et al. An important role of lymphatic vessel activation in limiting acute inflammation. *Blood* (2011) 117(17):4667–78. doi:10.1182/ blood-2010-10-316356
- 74. Johnson LA, Prevo R, Clasper S, Jackson DG. Inflammation-induced uptake and degradation of the lymphatic endothelial hyaluronan receptor LYVE-1. *J Biol Chem* (2007) 282(46):33671–80. doi:10.1074/jbc.M702889200
- Oka M, Iwata C, Suzuki HI, Kiyono K, Morishita Y, Watabe T, et al. Inhibition of endogenous TGF-2 signaling enhances lymphangiogenesis. *Blood* (2008) 111(9):4571–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-10-120337
- Flister MJ, Wilber A, Hall KL, Iwata C, Miyazono K, Nisato RE, et al. Inflammation induces lymphangiogenesis through up-regulation of VEGFR-3 mediated by NF-kB and Prox1. *Blood* (2010) 115(2):418–29. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-12-196840
- Gröger M, Loewe R, Holnthoner W, Embacher R, Pillinger M, Herron GS, et al. IL-3 induces expression of lymphatic markers Prox-1 and Podoplanin in human endothelial cells. *J Immunol* (2004) 173(12):7161–9. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.173.12.7161
- Onder L, Narang P, Scandella E, Chai Q, Iolyeva M, Hoorweg K, et al. IL-7producing stromal cells are critical for lymph node remodeling. *Blood* (2012) 120(24):4675–83. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-03-416859.The
- Taganov KD, Boldin MP, Chang KJ, Baltimore D. NF-kappaB-dependent induction of microRNA miR-146, an inhibitor targeted to signaling proteins of innate immune responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2006) 103(33):12481–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.0605298103
- O'Connell RM, Taganov KD, Boldin MP, Cheng G, Baltimore D. microRNA-155 is induced during the macrophage inflammatory response. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2007) 104(5):1604–9. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0610731104
- Tili E, Michaille J-J, Cimino A, Costinean S, Dumitru CD, Adair B, et al. Modulation of miR-155 and miR-125b levels following lipopolysaccharide/ TNF-Alpha stimulation and their possible roles in regulating the response to endotoxin shock. *J Immunol* (2007) 179(8):5082–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 179.8.5082
- Lagos D, Pollara G, Henderson S, Gratrix F, Fabani M, Milne RSB, et al. miR-132 regulates antiviral innate immunity through suppression of the p300 transcriptional co-activator. *Nat Cell Biol* (2010) 12(5):513–9. doi:10.1038/ ncb2054
- Banerjee A, Schambach F, DeJong CS, Hammond SM, Reiner SL. Micro-RNA-155 inhibits IFN-gamma signaling in CD4+ T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40(1):225–31. doi:10.1002/eji.200939381
- Vigorito E, Perks KL, Abreu-Goodger C, Bunting S, Xiang Z, Kohlhaas S, et al. microRNA-155 regulates the generation of immunoglobulin class-switched plasma cells. *Immunity* (2007) 27(6):847–59. doi:10.1016/ j.immuni.2007.10.009
- Suárez Y, Wang C, Manes TD, Pober JS. TNF-induced miRNAs regulate TNF-induced expression of E-Selectin and ICAM-1 on human endothelial cells: feedback control of inflammation. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(1):21–5. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0902369.TNF-induced
- Ruan W, Xu JM, Li SB, Yuan LQ, Dai RP. Effects of down-regulation of microRNA-23a on TNF-α-induced endothelial cell apoptosis through

caspase-dependent pathways. Cardiovasc Res (2012) 93(4):623-32. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvr290

- Zhu N, Zhang D, Chen S, Liu X, Lin L, Huang X, et al. Endothelial enriched microRNAs regulate angiotensin II-induced endothelial inflammation and migration. *Atherosclerosis* (2011) 215(2):286–93. doi:10.1016/ j.atherosclerosis.2010.12.024
- Chakraborty S, Zawieja DC, Davis MJ, Muthuchamy M. microRNA signature of inflamed lymphatic endothelium and role of miR-9 in lymphangiogenesis and inflammation. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* (2015) 309(10):C680–92. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00122.2015
- Jones D, Li Y, He Y, Xu Z, Chen H, Min W. Mirtron microRNA-1236 inhibits VEGFR-3 signaling during inflammatory lymphangiogenesis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2012) 32(3):633–42. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA. 111.243576
- Cancian L, Hansen A, Boshoff C. Cellular origin of Kaposi's sarcoma and Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-induced cell reprogramming. *Trends Cell Biol* (2013) 23(9):421–32. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2013.04.001
- Hong YK, Foreman K, Shin JW, Hirakawa S, Curry CL, Sage DR, et al. Lymphatic reprogramming of blood vascular endothelium by Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. *Nat Genet* (2004) 36(7):683–5. doi:10.1038/ ng1383
- Wang HW, Trotter MW, Lagos D, Bourboulia D, Henderson S, Mäkinen T, et al. Kaposi sarcoma herpesvirus-induced cellular reprogramming contributes to the lymphatic endothelial gene expression in Kaposi sarcoma. *Nat Genet* (2004) 36(7):687–93. doi:10.1038/ng1384
- Wu YH, Hu TF, Chen YC, Tsai YN, Tsai YH, Cheng CC, et al. The manipulation of miRNA-gene regulatory networks by KSHV induces endothelial cell motility. *Blood* (2011) 118(10):2896–905. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-01-330589
- Gottwein E, Mukherjee N, Sachse C, Frenzel C, Majoros WH, Chi J-TA, et al. A viral microRNA functions as an orthologue of cellular miR-155. *Nature* (2007) 450(7172):1096–9. doi:10.1038/nature05992
- Rodriguez A, Vigorito E, Clare S, Warren MV, Couttet P, Soond DR, et al. Requirement of bic/microRNA-155 for normal immune function. *Science* (2007) 981:608–11. doi:10.1126/science.1139253
- Ulvmar MH, Mäkinen T. Heterogeneity in the lymphatic vascular system and its origin. *Cardiovasc Res* (2016) 111(4):310–21. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvw175
- Janssen HL, Reesink HW, Lawitz EJ, Zeuzem S, Rodriguez-Torres M, Patel K, et al. Treatment of HCV infection by targeting microRNA. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 368(18):1685–94. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1209026
- Khan AA, Mudassir J, Mohtar N, Darwis Y. Advanced drug delivery to the lymphatic system: lipid-based nanoformulations. *Int J Nanomedicine* (2013) 8:2733–44. doi:10.2147/IJN.S41521
- Li Z, Rana TM. Therapeutic targeting of microRNAs: current status and future challenges. Nat Rev Drug Discov (2014) 13(8):622–38. doi:10.1038/ nrd4359
- Yanez JA, Wang SW, Knemeyer IW, Wirth MA, Alton KB. Intestinal lymphatic transport for drug delivery. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* (2011) 63(10–11):923–42. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2011.05.019
- Trevaskis NL, Kaminskas LM, Porter CJ. From sewer to saviour targeting the lymphatic system to promote drug exposure and activity. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2015) 14(11):781–803. doi:10.1038/nrd4608
- Louveau A, Smirnov I, Keyes TJ, Eccles JD, Rouhani SJ, Peske JD, et al. Structural and functional features of central nervous system lymphatic vessels. *Nature* (2015) 523(7560):337–41. doi:10.1038/nature14432

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Yee, Coles and Lagos. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





ACKR2: An Atypical Chemokine Receptor Regulating Lymphatic Biology

Ornella Bonavita^{1,2}, Valeria Mollica Poeta^{1,3}, Elisa Setten^{1,2}, Matteo Massara^{1,2} and Raffaella Bonecchi^{1,3*}

¹ Humanitas Clinical and Research Center, Rozzano, Italy, ² Department of Medical Biotechnologies and Translational Medicine, Università degli Studi di Milano, Rozzano, Italy, ³ Department of Biomedical Sciences, Humanitas University, Rozzano, Italy

The lymphatic system plays an important role in the induction of the immune response by transporting antigens, inflammatory mediators, and leukocytes from peripheral tissues to draining lymph nodes. It is emerging that lymphatic endothelial cells (LECs) are playing an active role in this context *via* the expression of chemokines, inflammatory mediators promoting cell migration, and chemokine receptors. Particularly, LECs express atypical chemokine receptors (ACKRs), which are unable to promote conventional signaling and cell migration while they are involved in the regulation of chemokine availability. Here, we provide a summary of the data on the role of ACKR2 expressed by lymphatics, indicating an essential role for this ACKRs in the regulation of the inflammation and the immune response in different pathological conditions, including infection, allergy, and cancer.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sonia Elhadad, Weill Cornell Medical College, USA

Reviewed by:

Giuseppe Sciume, Sapienza University, Italy Caroline Sokol, Harvard Medical School, USA

*Correspondence:

Raffaella Bonecchi raffaella.bonecchi@ humanitasresearch.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 27 October 2016 Accepted: 28 December 2016 Published: 11 January 2017

Citation:

Bonavita O, Mollica Poeta V, Setten E, Massara M and Bonecchi R (2017) ACKR2: An Atypical Chemokine Receptor Regulating Lymphatic Biology. Front. Immunol. 7:691. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00691 Keywords: chemokine, chemokine receptor, atypical chemokine receptor, lymphatic vessels, inflammation

INTRODUCTION

Chemokines and Chemokine Receptors

Chemokines are small chemotactic cytokines secreted by different cell types (e.g., immune cells, cancer cells, and endothelial cells) mainly involved in the regulation of immune cell migration during routine immune surveillance, inflammation, and development (1). According to the position of conserved cysteine residues in their N-terminus, chemokines are classified into four subfamilies: CXC, CX₃C, CC, and C (2). In addition, they can be classified, on the basis of the conditions during which they are produced, in homeostatic or inflammatory chemokines (3, 4). Homeostatic chemokines (e.g., CCL19, CCL20, and CCL21) are constitutively produced and regulate leukocytes migration in basal conditions. Inflammatory chemokines (e.g., CXCL8, CCL2, and CCL3) are produced under pathological conditions, and they can act as secondary mediators induced by primary pro-inflammatory factors, such as IL-1 and TNF- α . Inflammatory chemokines actively participate in the inflammatory response attracting immune cells to the site of injury. Beyond their unequivocal role in regulating leukocyte recruitment, other activities, such as regulation of angiogenesis, fibrosis, proliferation, homeostasis, and cancer cell dissemination, have been attributed to chemokines (5–8).

The specific effects of chemokines on their target cells are mediated by chemokine receptors, members of a family of 7-transmembrane G-protein-coupled receptors (1). Chemokine receptors have a highly conserved structure, consisting of a single polypeptide chain with three intracellular and extracellular loops, an external N-terminus domain essential for the specificity of ligand binding, and an intracellular carboxy-terminus that, in concert with other motifs, such as the

Asp-Arg-Tyr-Leu-Ala-Ile-Val (DRYLAIV) motif between the third transmembrane domain and the second intracellular loop, is involved in receptor signaling. As a general rule, chemokine binding to the receptor causes conformational changes that trigger intracellular signaling pathways involved in cell activation and migration toward increasing chemokine gradients (9). Depending on the type of chemokine they bind, chemokine receptors can be classified as CXCR, CCR, CX3CR, or XCR1.

Beyond canonical chemokine receptors, a smaller family of atypical chemokine receptors (ACKRs) has been identified (10). These receptors are called atypical because they share structural features with canonical chemokine receptors and bind ligands with high affinity, yet, they are not able to induce cell migration. Indeed, these receptors have an altered DRYLAIV motif and, differently from the canonical chemokine receptors, upon chemokine engagement, they do not induce any GPCR signaling. Rather, ACKRs internalize and transport chemokines to the degradative compartment, modulating chemokine concentration and bioavailability. The family of ACKRs includes four receptors named according to the new nomenclature: ACKR1 (previously called DARC), ACKR2 (D6), ACKR3 (CXCR7), and ACKR4 (CCX-CKR) (11).

Role of Chemokine and Chemokine Receptor Expression in Lymphatic Function

Chemokine and chemokine receptors expressed by lymphatic vessels (LVs) have been mainly studied in the context of leukocyte traffic. Indeed, the lymphatic system represents an important transport network for leukocytes, in particular antigen-presenting cells that migrate, through afferent LVs, from the periphery to the lymph nodes (LNs). This trafficking is mainly dictated by CCL21. CCL21 is constitutively expressed by LEC and can be upregulated by inflammatory stimuli, such as TNF- α , which induce the release of CCL21 intracellular stores (12). CCL21 promotes the recruitment of CCR7-positive dendritic cells (DCs) but also of neutrophils and T cells to draining LNs (13–15).

Interestingly, lymphatics produce many other chemokines in a stimulus-specific manner, indicating that they can fine-tune leukocyte recruitment (16). CXCL12 and CX3CL1 were found to induce DC migration to LNs (17, 18) while the function of other inflammatory chemokines produced by inflamed LEC, such as CCL2 and CXCL8, is not fully understood (12, 19).

Besides, in keeping with chemokine receptor expression on cancer cells, leukocyte-like homing toward LVs and LNs plays an important role in promoting cancer cell migration and metastasis. For example, CCR7-positive cancer cells metastasize to LNs where CCL19 and CCL21, the ligands for CCR7, are produced (20).

In addition to producing chemokines, lymphatic endothelial cells (LECs) express canonical chemokine receptors. Primary culture of murine LEC was found to be positive for the expression of CCR5, CCR9, CXCR4, and CXCR6, whereas they weakly expressed CCR4, CCR6, CCR8, CCR10, CXCR3, and CX3CR1 (21). The function of these receptors expressed by LEC is still

unknown, with the exception of CXCR4 that has a role in promoting lymphangiogenesis, similar to its angiogenic role in vascular endothelial cells (21).

Interestingly, LECs express ACKRs: ACKR1 is expressed by human podoplanin low LECs (22); ACKR2 by many human tissues on afferent lymphatic (23); ACKR3 by human LECs, with restricted expression in the tonsil and kidney and increased expression during renal allograft rejection (24); and finally, ACKR4 is expressed by LEC in the LN capsule (25, 26). Here, we are summarizing data on the expression and role of ACKR2 by LECs. Increasing evidence suggests a crucial role for this receptor in the regulation of inflammation and immune response (12, 27).

ACKR2/D6

The atypical chemokine receptor ACKR2, also known as D6 or CCBP2, is a highly promiscuous receptor capable of binding the majority of inflammatory CC-chemokines (28). Initially, according to its "atypical" features, it was assumed that ACKR2 was a non-signaling chemokine receptor. However, it was later demonstrated that not only is ACKR2 capable of internalization and scavenging of its ligands but that it also activates a β -arrestin-dependent signaling pathway, promoting receptor internalization and recycling to the cell membrane (29, 30).

ACKR2 Expression by Lymphatics

ACKR2 is expressed by trophoblasts in the placenta, by some leukocytes (31), and by LECs. Indeed, Nibbs et al., in a seminal paper (23), demonstrated that within non-inflamed tissues, human LECs, but not vascular endothelial cells, express ACKR2. Moreover, they found that the receptor was expressed on a subset of lymphatics, thus suggesting the existence of functional heterogeneity within the lymphatic vasculature. Specifically, ACKR2 expression was found in human skin sections only in afferent LVs, both in regions near the epidermis but also deeper within the dermis. ACKR2 was found in small lymphatics in the villi of small and large intestine and in the lamina propria mucosae of colon and large collective lymphatics located in the muscular layer. The appendix also showed ACKR2-positive lymphatics in lymphoid tissue of lamina propria and in the lamina muscolaris externa. ACKR2 was also detected in other secondary lymphoid organs such as tonsils, spleen, and LNs on sinus-like channels and vessels in the parafollicular areas of the tonsils and the red pulp of the spleen. ACKR2 was not detected in heart, kidney, liver, skeletal muscle, brain, cerebellum, pancreas, prostate, and thyroid, whereas it was found in liver, lung, and placenta, but not on LECs (23).

The regulation of ACKR2 expression in LECs was only studied *in vitro* using human dermal LECs. McKimmie et al. found that ACKR2 is upregulated by the lymphangiogenic cytokine vascular endothelial growth factor-D, by the immunosuppressive cytokine transforming growth factor- β , and by the inflammatory mediators IL-6, type-I IFNs, and IFN- γ . On the contrary, the proinflammatory cytokine IL-1 α induced a significant downregulation of ACKR2 (32).

The Function of ACKR2 Expressed by LECs

Extensive evidence indicates that ACKR2 is involved in the regulation of chemokine levels around afferent LVs and in the removal of chemokines from inflamed tissues, thus acting as scavenger and "gatekeeper" by limiting the access, the interaction, and the inappropriate accumulation of inflammatory leukocytes in the lymphatic system, in particular in the subcapsular sinus region of LNs (33, 34).

McKimmie et al. observed a variable expression of ACKR2 on individual cutaneous LVs and a biased distribution toward the luminal face of the LECs, thus suggesting an involvement of ACKR2 in suppressing inflammatory leukocyte binding to lymphatic endothelial surfaces (32). Specifically, they demonstrated that ACKR2 contributes to the efficiency of antigen presentation of DCs, which is crucial in maintaining immune surveillance. Indeed, ACKR2, by scavenging pro-inflammatory chemokines, suppresses inflammatory chemokine binding to the LEC surface, thus increasing the availability and contributing to selective presentation of CCR7 ligands that attract CCR7⁺ mature DCs (32).

Recently, it was found that ACKR2 regulates LV density, competing with the canonical chemokine receptor CCR2 for the binding of CCL2, a chemokine produced in the skin during inflammation that drains into the LNs where it induces monocyte infiltration (**Figure 1**). By immunostaining of LV networks,

Lee et al. found that $Ackr2^{-/-}$ mice displayed an increased LV density in the ears, diaphragms, and popliteal LNs in resting and regenerative conditions, compared to WT mice. Further investigation on E15.5 embryonic mice showed the presence of macrophages in proximity of developing LVs and involved in developmental lymphangiogenic processes. These macrophages, recruited by CCL2 and phenotyped as CD11b^{high} F4/80^{low} Lyve-1⁺, were significantly higher in $Ackr2^{-/-}$ mice whereas they were reduced in $Ccr2^{-/-}$ mice. Together, this evidence demonstrated that ACKR2 and CCR2 reciprocally regulate macrophage proximity to LVs and contribute to control lymphangiogenesis in inflammatory conditions. Accordingly, $Ackr2^{-/-}$ mice displayed relatively inefficient antigen presentation (35).

INSIGHTS INTO LYMPHATIC ACKR2 EXPRESSION AND FUNCTION DURING DISEASE

Several studies using ACKR2-deficient mice or human samples have demonstrated an important role of ACKR2 expressed by LVs in inflammatory conditions and in cancer. The general emerging picture is that ACKR2 acts as a negative regulator of inflammation, but contrasting results were published on its role in the control of adaptive immune responses and in autoimmune disease development.



FIGURE 1 | Role of ACKR2 expression on lymphatic vessels. ACKR2 expression on lymphatic endothelial cells, by scavenging inflammatory CC chemokines, shapes functional gradients promoting appropriate leukocyte recruitment into inflamed tissues, regulates their trafficking into lymph nodes, and controls lymphatic vessel density.

The Role of Lymphatic ACKR2 Expression in Inflammation

Using murine models of cutaneous inflammation, such as phorbol ester skin painting and subcutaneous injection of complete Freund's adjuvant, it was demonstrated that $Ackr2^{-/-}$ mice develop an exacerbated inflammatory response with increased necrotic areas, angiogenesis, and a significantly higher leukocyte infiltration compared to WT mice (36–38). In both models, ACKR2 promoted the resolution of cutaneous inflammation by chemokine clearance.

The cutaneous lesions developing in ACKR2-deficient mice after phorbol ester skin painting resemble human psoriasiform pathology, indicating a possible role of ACKR2 in the control of this pathology (36). Using a psoriasis-like skin inflammation model induced by imiquimod, it has been shown that localized inflammation and IFN- γ induce the upregulation of ACKR2 in remote tissues that control the spread of psoriasiform inflammation inhibiting T cell epidermal influx (39). Similar results were found in psoriatic patient lesions in which ACKR2 is highly expressed in the surrounding skin in comparison with healthy controls, while it is downregulated in lesional and perilesional sites (36, 37, 40).

Several papers have also described an important role for ACKR2 expressed by lung LVs in the regulation of pulmonary inflammation. ACKR2 expression is upregulated in the LVs and in alveolar macrophages in the lung of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. In this context, the increased expression of ACKR2 could regulate the trafficking of leukocytes from the lungs to draining LNs (41, 42). ACKR2 was also found on LECs in lungs and LNs from patients with pulmonary tuberculosis (43). Ackr2^{-/-} mice infected by Mycobacterium tuberculosis show reduced survival, compared to WT mice, due to an increased number of lung and LN-infiltrating mononuclear cells and an abnormal production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and CC chemokines (43). Interestingly, inhibition of inflammatory chemokines in Ackr2-/- mice led to less controlled growth of M. tuberculosis, indicating that ACKR2 has an important role also in immune activation. The role of ACKR2 in the lung was also studied in an allergen-induced airway disease model. Allergen-challenged ACKR2-deficient mice had more lung inflammation compared to WT counterparts, having more DCs, T cells, and eosinophils in the lung parenchyma and more eosinophils in airways. Surprisingly, ACKR2-deficient mice had reduced airway responses to methacholine compared to WT mice, indicating that ACKR2 has opposing effects on allergic inflammation and airway reactivity (44).

Contrasting results have been published on the role of ACKR2 expressed by LVs in intestinal inflammation. ACKR2 is overexpressed by LVs in the gut in inflammatory bowel disease, and it was found to have a protective role in a dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis mouse model (45). Indeed, *Ackr2^{-/-}* mice have increased levels of inflammatory chemokines and infiltrating leukocytes, and increased intestinal inflammation, weight loss, and disease activity index, compared to WT mice (45). On the contrary, using the same murine model of intestinal inflammation, reduced clinical symptoms and tissue pathology in response to DSS in ACKR2 deficient were observed compared to WT mice. This protection is due to increased secretion of IL-17A by $\gamma\delta$ -T cells in the lamina propria (46).

The role of ACKR2 in autoimmune diseases is also debated. ACKR2-deficient mice were described to be protected from the development of an experimental model of autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) due to impaired migration of DCs and inhibition of T cell priming (47). More recently, using the same EAE model, it was described that ACKR2-deficient mice are not protected from the development of the disease but, on the contrary, they develop worse clinical symptoms compared to WT mice due to increased innate B cell-dependent production of IL-17 (48). Finally, in a murine model of graft versus host disease, we have found that ACKR2-deficient mice are protected from the development of the disease due to increased number of inflammatory monocytes with enhanced immunosuppressive activity (49).

In conclusion, ACKR2 expressed by LVs has an antiinflammatory function by clearing chemokines present in inflamed tissues. This activity promotes the migration of DC to LN through LVs that is necessary for the induction of the adaptive response but that can be detrimental in autoimmune diseases. Conflicting phenotypes published could possibly be explained by the fact that ACKR2 is also controlling IL-17 production, a critical cytokine for inflammatory and autoimmune diseases.

The Role of LV ACKR2 in Cancer and Metastasis

In human cancer lesions, ACKR2 was found to be expressed by peritumoral LVs in oral squamous cell carcinomas and in colon cancer. Accordingly, murine models of inflammation-induced cancer in the skin and in the gut revealed that ACKR2 protects mice from the development of tumors by dampening inflammation (38, 45).

ACKR2 was found to be protective in cancer progression also when expressed by tumor cells, by inhibiting inflammatory chemokines and protumoral leukocyte infiltration. ACKR2 is expressed by vascular tumors with lymphatic origin or differentiation (23) and is highly expressed by Kaposi's sarcoma spindle cells (32, 50–52). In this latter tumor, we have found that ACKR2 expression is downregulated in more aggressive tumors by the activation of the KRAS/BRAF/ERK pathway, thus unleashing chemokine-mediated macrophage recruitment and their acquisition of an M2-like phenotype that sustains angiogenesis and tumor growth (52, 53).

ACKR2 was also found to be expressed in human breast cancer, and its expression predicts relapse-free survival (RFS) (54) while it is inversely correlated with axillary lymph node metastasis (55). Of note, a functional non-synonymous single nucleotide polymorphism of ACKR2 is associated with lymph node metastasis and RFS in breast cancer, indicating that the expression and function of ACKR2 in the host could also affect tumor progression (54, 56).

In conclusion, while it is clear that in inflammation-induced cancer ACKR2 expression by tumor cells inhibits cancer progression by decreasing macrophage infiltration and angiogenesis, further studies are necessary to understand the exact nature of the role of ACKR2 expressed by the host and how it can affect tumor progression and metastasis.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Lymphatic vessels have been traditionally considered as an inert drainage system, which passively transports fluids, proteins, and leukocytes. However, an increasing number of studies show that lymphatics play a much more active role, especially in the context of inflammation and ongoing immune responses. The expression of chemokine and chemokine receptors by LECs can be seen as evidence in support of an active role for lymphatics in regulating immunity. By the expression of ACKRs, LECs create and shape functional gradients of chemokines and modulate leukocyte recruitment. Moreover, they avoid inappropriate accumulation of chemokines and immune cells into inflamed tissues.

Here, we reported data demonstrating the essential role of ACKR2, expressed by LECs, in regulating chemokine concentration and leukocyte migration. This promotes the resolution of inflammatory responses in different pathological conditions including infection, allergy, and cancer. This evidence enables the speculation that ACKR2 could be considered as a potential

REFERENCES

- Griffith JW, Sokol CL, Luster AD. Chemokines and chemokine receptors: positioning cells for host defense and immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2014) 32:659–702. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120145
- Bacon K, Baggiolini M, Broxmeyer H, Horuk R, Lindley I, Mantovani A, et al. Chemokine/chemokine receptor nomenclature. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2002) 22:1067–8. doi:10.1089/107999002760624305
- Mantovani A. The chemokine system: redundancy for robust outputs. Immunol Today (1999) 20:254–7. doi:10.1016/S0167-5699(99)01469-3
- Le Y, Zhou Y, Iribarren P, Wang J. Chemokines and chemokine receptors: their manifold roles in homeostasis and disease. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2004) 1:95–104.
- Butcher EC, Picker LJ. Lymphocyte homing and homeostasis. Science (1996) 272:60–6. doi:10.1126/science.272.5258.60
- Balkwill F. Cancer and the chemokine network. Nat Rev Cancer (2004) 4:540–50. doi:10.1038/nrc1388
- Strieter RM, Burdick MD, Gomperts BN, Belperio JA, Keane MP. CXC chemokines in angiogenesis. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2005) 16:593–609. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2005.04.007
- Broxmeyer HE. Chemokines in hematopoiesis. Curr Opin Hematol (2008) 15:49–58. doi:10.1097/MOH.0b013e3282f29012
- Schwartz TW, Frimurer TM, Holst B, Rosenkilde MM, Elling CE. Molecular mechanism of 7TM receptor activation – a global toggle switch model. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* (2006) 46:481–519. doi:10.1146/annurev. pharmtox.46.120604.141218
- Mantovani A, Bonecchi R, Locati M. Tuning inflammation and immunity by chemokine sequestration: decoys and more. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2006) 6:907–18. doi:10.1038/nri1964
- Bachelerie F, Graham GJ, Locati M, Mantovani A, Murphy PM, Nibbs R, et al. New nomenclature for atypical chemokine receptors. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15:207–8. doi:10.1038/ni.2812
- Aebischer D, Iolyeva M, Halin C. The inflammatory response of lymphatic endothelium. *Angiogenesis* (2014) 17:383–93. doi:10.1007/s10456-013-9404-3
- Beauvillain C, Cunin P, Doni A, Scotet M, Jaillon S, Loiry ML, et al. CCR7 is involved in the migration of neutrophils to lymph nodes. *Blood* (2011) 117:1196–204. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-11-254490

therapeutic target to be induced in order to attenuate inflammation, e.g., during psoriasis and lung infection.

Even if the role of ACKR2 in inflammatory conditions has been clarified, further experimental studies are required to better understand its role in tumors. In this context, although an inverse correlation between ACKR2 expression and tumor stage was observed, it is unclear whether this correlation can be utilized as a clinical prognostic marker. Another challenging issue yet to be resolved is to understand whether ACKR2 could be a putative target for cancer immunotherapy. Indeed, it remains to be investigated if the activity of ACKR2 on lymphatics promotes or inhibits adaptive immune responses and whether ACKR2, by shaping chemokine gradients, can influence cancer cell dissemination to metastatic organs.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All the authors have contributed to this review by writing and critically evaluating the literature.

FUNDING

Research activities in the laboratory are supported by the Italian Association for Cancer Research.

- Forster R, Braun A, Worbs T. Lymph node homing of T cells and dendritic cells via afferent lymphatics. *Trends Immunol* (2012) 33:271–80. doi:10.1016/ j.it.2012.02.007
- Russo E, Teijeira A, Vaahtomeri K, Willrodt AH, Bloch JS, Nitschke M, et al. Intralymphatic CCL21 promotes tissue egress of dendritic cells through afferent lymphatic vessels. *Cell Rep* (2016) 14:1723–34. doi:10.1016/ j.celrep.2016.01.048
- Vigl B, Aebischer D, Nitschke M, Iolyeva M, Rothlin T, Antsiferova O, et al. Tissue inflammation modulates gene expression of lymphatic endothelial cells and dendritic cell migration in a stimulus-dependent manner. *Blood* (2011) 118:205–15. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-12-326447
- Kabashima K, Shiraishi N, Sugita K, Mori T, Onoue A, Kobayashi M, et al. CXCL12-CXCR4 engagement is required for migration of cutaneous dendritic cells. *Am J Pathol* (2007) 171:1249–57. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2007. 070225
- Johnson LA, Jackson DG. The chemokine CX3CL1 promotes trafficking of dendritic cells through inflamed lymphatics. *J Cell Sci* (2013) 126:5259–70. doi:10.1242/jcs.135343
- Mancardi S, Vecile E, Dusetti N, Calvo E, Stanta G, Burrone OR, et al. Evidence of CXC, CC and C chemokine production by lymphatic endothelial cells. *Immunology* (2003) 108:523–30. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2567.2003. 01613.x
- Irino T, Takeuchi H, Matsuda S, Saikawa Y, Kawakubo H, Wada N, et al. CC-chemokine receptor CCR7: a key molecule for lymph node metastasis in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *BMC Cancer* (2014) 14:291. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-14-291
- Zhuo W, Jia L, Song N, Lu XA, Ding Y, Wang X, et al. The CXCL12-CXCR4 chemokine pathway: a novel axis regulates lymphangiogenesis. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18:5387–98. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-0708
- Wick N, Haluza D, Gurnhofer E, Raab I, Kasimir MT, Prinz M, et al. Lymphatic precollectors contain a novel, specialized subpopulation of podoplanin low, CCL27-expressing lymphatic endothelial cells. *Am J Pathol* (2008) 173:1202–9. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2008.080101
- Nibbs RJ, Kriehuber E, Ponath PD, Parent D, Qin S, Campbell JD, et al. The beta-chemokine receptor D6 is expressed by lymphatic endothelium and a subset of vascular tumors. *Am J Pathol* (2001) 158:867–77. doi:10.1016/ S0002-9440(10)64035-7

- Neusser MA, Kraus AK, Regele H, Cohen CD, Fehr T, Kerjaschki D, et al. The chemokine receptor CXCR7 is expressed on lymphatic endothelial cells during renal allograft rejection. *Kidney Int* (2010) 77:801–8. doi:10.1038/ki.2010.6
- Heinzel K, Benz C, Bleul CC. A silent chemokine receptor regulates steadystate leukocyte homing in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) 104:8421–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.0608274104
- Malhotra D, Fletcher AL, Astarita J, Lukacs-Kornek V, Tayalia P, Gonzalez SF, et al. Transcriptional profiling of stroma from inflamed and resting lymph nodes defines immunological hallmarks. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13:499–510. doi:10.1038/ni.2262
- Bonecchi R, Graham GJ. Atypical chemokine receptors and their roles in the resolution of the inflammatory response. *Front Immunol* (2016) 7:224. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2016.00224
- Bonecchi R, Locati M, Galliera E, Vulcano M, Sironi M, Fra AM, et al. Differential recognition and scavenging of native and truncated macrophage-derived chemokine (macrophage-derived chemokine/CC chemokine ligand 22) by the D6 decoy receptor. J Immunol (2004) 172:4972–6. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.172.8.4972
- Bonecchi R, Borroni EM, Anselmo A, Doni A, Savino B, Mirolo M, et al. Regulation of D6 chemokine scavenging activity by ligand- and Rab11dependent surface up-regulation. *Blood* (2008) 112:493–503. doi:10.1182/ blood-2007-08-108316
- Borroni EM, Cancellieri C, Vacchini A, Benureau Y, Lagane B, Bachelerie F, et al. Beta-arrestin-dependent activation of the cofilin pathway is required for the scavenging activity of the atypical chemokine receptor D6. *Sci Signal* (2013) 6:1–11. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2003627
- Lee KM, Nibbs RJ, Graham GJ. D6: the 'crowd controller' at the immune gateway. *Trends Immunol* (2013) 34:7–12. doi:10.1016/j.it.2012.08.001
- McKimmie CS, Singh MD, Hewit K, Lopez-Franco O, Le Brocq M, Rose-John S, et al. An analysis of the function and expression of D6 on lymphatic endothelial cells. *Blood* (2013) 121:3768–77. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-04-425314
- Nibbs R, Graham G, Rot A. Chemokines on the move: control by the chemokine "interceptors" Duffy blood group antigen and D6. Semin Immunol (2003) 15:287–94. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2003.08.006
- Locati M, Torre YM, Galliera E, Bonecchi R, Bodduluri H, Vago G, et al. Silent chemoattractant receptors: D6 as a decoy and scavenger receptor for inflammatory CC chemokines. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2005) 16:679–86. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2005.05.003
- Lee KM, Danuser R, Stein JV, Graham D, Nibbs RJ, Graham GJ. The chemokine receptors ACKR2 and CCR2 reciprocally regulate lymphatic vessel density. *EMBO J* (2014) 33:2564–80. doi:10.15252/embj.201488887
- Jamieson T, Cook DN, Nibbs RJ, Rot A, Nixon C, Mclean P, et al. The chemokine receptor D6 limits the inflammatory response in vivo. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6:403–11. doi:10.1038/ni1182
- Martinez de la Torre Y, Locati M, Buracchi C, Dupor J, Cook DN, Bonecchi R, et al. Increased inflammation in mice deficient for the chemokine decoy receptor D6. *Eur J Immunol* (2005) 35:1342–6. doi:10.1002/eji.200526114
- Nibbs RJ, Gilchrist DS, King V, Ferra A, Forrow S, Hunter KD, et al. The atypical chemokine receptor D6 suppresses the development of chemically induced skin tumors. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:1884–92. doi:10.1172/JCI30068
- Shams K, Wilson GJ, Singh M, Van Den Bogaard EH, Le Brocq ML, Holmes S, et al. Spread of psoriasiform inflammation to remote tissues is restricted by the atypical chemokine receptor ACKR2. *J Invest Dermatol* (2016) 137:85–94. doi:10.1016/j.jid.2016.07.039
- Singh MD, King V, Baldwin H, Burden D, Thorrat A, Holmes S, et al. Elevated expression of the chemokine-scavenging receptor D6 is associated with impaired lesion development in psoriasis. *Am J Pathol* (2012) 181:1158–64. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.06.042
- Bazzan E, Saetta M, Turato G, Borroni EM, Cancellieri C, Baraldo S, et al. Expression of the atypical chemokine receptor D6 in human alveolar macrophages in COPD. *Chest* (2013) 143:98–106. doi:10.1378/chest.11-3220
- Mori M, Andersson CK, Graham GJ, Lofdahl CG, Erjefalt JS. Increased number and altered phenotype of lymphatic vessels in peripheral lung compartments of patients with COPD. *Respir Res* (2013) 14:65. doi:10.1186/ 1465-9921-14-65

- Di Liberto D, Locati M, Caccamo N, Vecchi A, Meraviglia S, Salerno A, et al. Role of the chemokine decoy receptor D6 in balancing inflammation, immune activation, and antimicrobial resistance in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205:2075–84. doi:10.1084/jem. 20070608
- Whitehead GS, Wang T, Degraff LM, Card JW, Lira SA, Graham GJ, et al. The chemokine receptor D6 has opposing effects on allergic inflammation and airway reactivity. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2007) 175:243–9. doi:10.1164/ rccm.200606-839OC
- 45. Vetrano S, Borroni EM, Sarukhan A, Savino B, Bonecchi R, Correale C, et al. The lymphatic system controls intestinal inflammation and inflammation-associated colon cancer through the chemokine decoy receptor D6. *Gut* (2010) 59:197–206. doi:10.1136/gut.2009.183772
- Bordon Y, Hansell CA, Sester DP, Clarke M, Mowat AM, Nibbs RJ. The atypical chemokine receptor D6 contributes to the development of experimental colitis. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:5032–40. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0802802
- Liu L, Graham GJ, Damodaran A, Hu T, Lira SA, Sasse M, et al. Cutting edge: the silent chemokine receptor D6 is required for generating T cell responses that mediate experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* (2006) 177:17–21. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.1.17
- Hansell CA, Maclellan LM, Oldham RS, Doonan J, Chapple KJ, Anderson EJ, et al. The atypical chemokine receptor ACKR2 suppresses Th17 responses to protein autoantigens. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2015) 93:167–76. doi:10.1038/ icb.2014.90
- Savino B, Castor MG, Caronni N, Sarukhan A, Anselmo A, Buracchi C, et al. Control of murine Ly6C(high) monocyte traffic and immunosuppressive activities by atypical chemokine receptor D6. *Blood* (2012) 119:5250–60. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-10-388082
- Daibata M, Matsuo Y, Machida H, Taguchi T, Ohtsuki Y, Taguchi H. Differential gene-expression profiling in the leukemia cell lines derived from indolent and aggressive phases of CD56+ T-cell large granular lymphocyte leukemia. *Int J Cancer* (2004) 108:845–51. doi:10.1002/ijc.11647
- Wu FY, Ou ZL, Feng LY, Luo JM, Wang LP, Shen ZZ, et al. Chemokine decoy receptor d6 plays a negative role in human breast cancer. *Mol Cancer Res* (2008) 6:1276–88. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-07-2108
- Savino B, Caronni N, Anselmo A, Pasqualini F, Borroni EM, Basso G, et al. ERK-dependent downregulation of the atypical chemokine receptor D6 drives tumor aggressiveness in Kaposi sarcoma. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2014) 2:679–89. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0202
- Bonecchi R, Savino B, Caronni N, Celesti G, Mantovani A, Locati M. Atypical chemokine receptor 2: a brake against Kaposi's sarcoma aggressiveness. *Oncoimmunology* (2014) 3:e955337. doi:10.4161/21624011.2014.955337
- Yu KD, Wang X, Yang C, Zeng XH, Shao ZM. Host genotype and tumor phenotype of chemokine decoy receptors integrally affect breast cancer relapse. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6:26519–27. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.4470
- 55. Zeng XH, Ou ZL, Yu KD, Feng LY, Yin WJ, Li J, et al. Absence of multiple atypical chemokine binders (ACBs) and the presence of VEGF and MMP-9 predict axillary lymph node metastasis in early breast carcinomas. *Med Oncol* (2014) 31:145. doi:10.1007/s12032-014-0145-y
- Yang C, Yu KD, Xu WH, Chen AX, Fan L, Ou ZL, et al. Effect of genetic variants in two chemokine decoy receptor genes, DARC and CCBP2, on metastatic potential of breast cancer. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e78901. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0078901

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Bonavita, Mollica Poeta, Setten, Massara and Bonecchi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Corrigendum: ACKR2: An Atypical Chemokine Receptor Regulating Lymphatic Biology

Ornella Bonavita^{1,2}, Valeria Mollica Poeta^{1,3}, Elisa Setten^{1,2}, Matteo Massara^{1,2} and Raffaella Bonecchi^{1,3*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and Reviewed by: Sonia Elhadad, Weill Cornell Medical College, USA

*Correspondence:

Raffaella Bonecchi raffaella.bonecchi@ humanitasresearch.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 21 March 2017 Accepted: 19 April 2017 Published: 11 May 2017

Citation:

Bonavita O, Mollica Poeta V, Setten E, Massara M and Bonecchi R (2017) Corrigendum: ACKR2: An Atypical Chemokine Receptor Regulating Lymphatic Biology. Front. Immunol. 8:520. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00520 ¹ Humanitas Clinical and Research Center, Rozzano, Italy, ² Department of Medical Biotechnologies and Translational Medicine, Università degli Studi di Milano, Rozzano, Italy, ³ Department of Biomedical Sciences, Humanitas University, Rozzano, Italy

Keywords: chemokine, chemokine receptor, atypical chemokine receptor, lymphatic vessels, inflammation

A corrigendum on

ACKR2: An Atypical Chemokine Receptor Regulating Lymphatic Biology

by Bonavita O, Mollica Poeta V, Setten E, Massara M, Bonecchi R. Front Immunol (2017) 7:691. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2016.00691

Missing Funding Number

There is an error in the Funding statement. In the original article, we neglected to include the number of the funder Italian Association for Cancer Research, AIRC IG 2014—15438. The authors apologize for this error and state that this does not change the scientific conclusions of the article in any way.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Bonavita, Mollica Poeta, Setten, Massara and Bonecchi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

21





T Cell Trafficking through Lymphatic Vessels

Morgan C. Hunter¹, Alvaro Teijeira² and Cornelia Halin^{1*}

¹ Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, ETH Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland, ² Immunology and Immunotherapy Department, CIMA, Universidad de Navarra, Pamplona, Spain

T cell migration within and between peripheral tissues and secondary lymphoid organs is essential for proper functioning of adaptive immunity. While active T cell migration within a tissue is fairly slow, blood vessels and lymphatic vessels (LVs) serve as speedy highways that enable T cells to travel rapidly over long distances. The molecular and cellular mechanisms of T cell migration out of blood vessels have been intensively studied over the past 30 years. By contrast, less is known about T cell trafficking through the lymphatic vasculature. This migratory process occurs in one manner within lymph nodes (LNs), where recirculating T cells continuously exit into efferent lymphatics to return to the blood circulation. In another manner, T cell trafficking through lymphatics, to migrate to draining LNs and back into blood. In this review, we highlight how the anatomy of the lymphatic vasculature supports T cell trafficking and review current knowledge regarding the molecular and cellular requirements of T cell migration through LVs. Finally, we summarize and discuss recent insights regarding the presumed relevance of T cell trafficking through afferent lymphatics.

Keywords: T cells, migration, trafficking, afferent, efferent, lymphatic vessels, lymph node

INTRODUCTION

In an antigen-inexperienced host, the frequency of naïve T cells specific for any given antigen is extremely low, several thousand at most (1, 2). Given that the diversity of possible antigens is almost countless and that T cell activation requires direct contact with antigen, naïve T cells constantly circulate through secondary lymphoid organs (SLOs) in pursuit of antigen (1, 2). Upon encountering antigen in SLOs, antigen-specific naïve T cells proliferate and become activated effector T cells (T_{eff}) that egress from SLOs and enter peripheral tissue at sites of inflammation (2, 3). Most T_{eff} die after antigen is cleared but a few antigen-experienced T cells remain for longterm protection and either develop into tissue-resident memory T cells (T_{RM}), into central memory T cells (T_{CM}) that recirculate between SLOs and blood, or into effector-memory T cells (T_{EM}) that circulate through blood and home to inflamed tissue (1, 2). In addition to the abovementioned antigen-experienced cell types, regulatory T cells (T_{regs}) also circulate between blood, tissue, and SLOs (2–4).

Throughout the life of a T cell, the blood and lymphatic vasculature act as highways for T cell circulation. While much is known about T cell migration across and within the blood vasculature, much less is known about T cell migration into and within the lymphatic vasculature. Since the late 1950s, cannulation studies in sheep and rats have helped develop our current understanding of the cell subsets that circulate through lymphatic vessels (LVs). More recent technical advances

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sonia Elhadad, Weill Cornell Medical College, USA

Reviewed by:

Theresa T. Lu, Weill Cornell Medical College, USA Susan Schwab, New York University School of Medicine, USA Jonathan Bromberg, University of Maryland, USA

*Correspondence:

Cornelia Halin cornelia.halin@pharma.ethz.ch

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 12 October 2016 Accepted: 05 December 2016 Published: 21 December 2016

Citation:

Hunter MC, Teijeira A and Halin C (2016) T Cell Trafficking through Lymphatic Vessels. Front. Immunol. 7:613. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00613

22

(summarized in **Box 1**) have helped to further improve our understanding of the cellular and molecular mechanisms of T cell migration through LVs. In this review, we first introduce the structure of the lymphatic vascular system and summarize current knowledge of the cellular composition of efferent and afferent lymph. We then review the mechanisms by which T cells exit from lymph nodes (LNs) into efferent lymphatics as well as emerging knowledge of T cell entry and migration within afferent lymphatics. Finally, new insights regarding the overall relevance of T cell circulation through the afferent lymphatic vasculature are discussed.

STRUCTURE OF THE LYMPHATIC VASCULATURE

The lymphatic system consists of central and peripheral lymphoid organs and a LV network that permeates most tissues of the body (32, 33). In peripheral tissues, extravasated fluid, macromolecules, and leukocytes, i.e., the main constituents of lymph, are taken up by a network of blind-ended lymphatic capillaries, which converge into larger collecting vessels that

drain into and through LNs (33). Upon passage through chains of tissue-draining LNs (dLNs), connected by adjoining collecting LVs, lymph is finally returned to the blood vasculature through the thoracic ducts, which merge into the subclavian vein (33) (**Figure 1A**).

Tissue fluid uptake and immune cell entry/transport into LVs is thought to mainly occur at the level of the initial lymphatic capillaries, where characteristic structural features support these processes. Lymphatic capillaries are composed of partially overlapping, oak leaf-shaped lymphatic endothelial cells (LECs) that are connected by discontinuous button-like cell-cell junctions (Figure 1B). Moreover, lymphatic capillaries are surrounded by a thin, highly fenestrated basement membrane (34, 35). Tissue fluid and leukocytes [as best shown for dendritic cells (DCs)] enter through the characteristic flaps between overlapping LECs (34, 35). Collecting LVs are structurally more specialized for fluid and immune cell transport (Figure 1C). Lymphatic collectors are composed of cuboidal LECs connected by continuous zipper-like cell-cell junctions and are surrounded by a continuous basement membrane and smooth muscle cell layer (34, 35). Intraluminal valves prevent the backflow of lymph, while contraction of smooth muscle cells helps to propagate lymph toward the dLN (36).

Tool	Description	Selected reference
Cannulation studies	This procedure involves the surgical insertion of cannula (tube) directly into an afferent or efferent vessel or into the cisterna chyli, to collect lymph fluid. The cellular composition of lymph is subsequently analyzed, typically by flow cytometry or microscopy methods	(5–9)
Adoptive transfer	In adoptive transfer experiments, cells are isolated from donor mice, fluorescently labeled (unless already marked by endogenous expression of a fluorophore or a congenic marker) and intravenously or subcutaneously injected into a recipient mouse. In some cases, T cells are subjected to an <i>in vitro</i> culturing step (e.g., <i>in vitro</i> activation) prior to injection. At defined time points after transfer, T cell numbers in lymph nodes (LNs) (or other tissue) are quantified by flow cytometry, LN sectioning and microscopy, or other means. While this experimental setup is technically straightforward, the transferred cells may differ from the endogenously migrating populations. Also, typically only a small fraction of cells injected subcutaneously actually migrate to dLNs or beyond	
Intravital microscopy (IVM)	This technique allows the study of migratory processes at the single-cell level and in real time. It involves fluorescence-) based time-lapse imaging by, e.g., confocal-/multiphoton- or stereomicroscopy. Several mouse reporter lines expressing a fluorescent protein in lymphatic vessels (LVs) have been generated (14–18). In the case of T cells, most studies have been performed with fluorescently labeled and adoptively transferred T cells, but endogenous models are also available (19–21)	
Intralymphatic injection	Microinjection of T cells directly into a LV upstream of a draining lymph node. Similar to adoptive transfer but permits the study of T cell entry specifically across the LN subcapsular sinus. This represents an elegant yet technically challenging method complementing IVM studies	
LN egress studies	This experimental setup allows quantifying dwell time of T cells in LNs. In a typical experiment, fluorescently labeled T cells are first transferred intravenously into a recipient mouse. After an equilibration phase, further T cell ingress into LNs is blocked by administration of entry-blocking antibodies (e.g., directed against the integrin subunit α4 or against L-selectin). Antibody treatment allows the uncoupling of T cell entry from exit, which continues to occur. Exit rates, for example, can be calculated by comparing fluorescent T cell numbers in LNs at the time of antibody injection to a later time point (e.g., 24 h later; flow cytometry-based quantification)	
Photoconvertible transgenic mice		



FIGURE 1 | T cell traffic through the lymphatic vascular system. (A) Recirculating effector-memory T cells in peripheral tissues ① enter afferent lymphatic vessels (LVs). The exact point of entry or the mode of intralymphatic movement has not been investigated so far. T cells that ② arrive in the lymph node (LN) subcapsular sinus (SCS) have been shown to cross the lymphatic endothelium into the LN parenchyma at the level of the ③ SCS or of the ④ medullary sinuses. Some T cells do not enter the LN parenchyma but ⑤ directly exit through the efferent LV located at the hilus region of the LN. Recirculating naïve and central memory T cells arrive in the LN either *via* the blood (high endothelial venules) or *via* the afferent LV draining from an upstream LN (i.e., efferent lymph). O T cells within the LN @ make random contact with the sinuses before entering and ⑥ actively crawling or passively flowing within the sinuses. T cells were observed to ③ cross the sinuses several times before finally being ④ passively carried away into the efferent LV. T cells in the efferent LV circulate through downstream LNs before being returned to the blood circulation via the thoracic duct. (B) Lymphatic capillaries are composed of oak leaf-shaped lymphatic endothelial cells (LECs), which partially overlap and are held together by button-like associated junctional adhesion molecules (red lines). This setup creates open flaps through which leukocytes, fluid, and macromolecules enter into the vessel lumen. (C) LECs in collecting vessels have a cuboidal shape and are connected by continuous cell-cell junctions (red lines). Collecting vessels contain intraluminal valves and are surrounded by a basement membrane and contracting smooth muscles cells (orange).

Collecting vessels enter the LN and convey lymph along the subcapsular sinus (SCS) and through the LN sinuses toward the efferent LV in the hilus region (37) (**Figure 1A**). Efferent lymph is then transported in the efferent collecting vessel to downstream LNs and is finally returned to the blood vasculature. Considering that LNs in mice and humans are typically arranged in chains (38), the efferent LV of a tissue-draining LN is conjointly the afferent LV of the next downstream LN. In this review, we will consider afferent lymph as lymph that has not previously passed through a LN, i.e., lymph that is derived solely from non-lymphoid tissue (as designated in **Figure 1A**).

CELLULAR COMPOSITION OF LYMPH

Most of our current knowledge on the cellular composition of lymph extends from cannulation studies (see **Box 1**). This relatively simple surgical model allows collection of lymph under physiologic conditions from a defined area of drainage over long periods of time (6, 39, 40)—and therefore most accurately reflects the composition of cells circulating through LVs. In rodents, efferent lymph can be collected from the cysterna chili in mice (8, 9, 41), or by cannulation of the thoracic duct in rats (5, 42). However, due to the small size of afferent LVs in mice and rats, cannulation of afferent LVs in rodents is very difficult. Correspondingly, most experimental studies comparing the composition of efferent and afferent lymph have been performed in larger animals like sheep (6, 7, 39, 40, 43–45).

Efferent Lymph

Cannulation studies have revealed that thoracic duct lymph (46–48) as well as efferent lymph collected after passage through one or more LNs is mainly constituted by T lymphocytes (6, 43, 44). More than 90% of lymphocytes in efferent lymph were shown to have initially entered the LN through high endothelial venules (HEVs) (39, 43). CD4⁺ T cells enter and recirculate through LNs more rapidly than CD8⁺ T cells (27). Accordingly, CD4⁺ T cells constitute the major cellular fraction in efferent lymph and outnumber CD8⁺ T cells at a ratio higher than that in blood (49, 50). Most T cells in efferent lymph collected from sheep exhibit a naïve phenotype, with a reported increase in the proportion of memory T cells in older animals (44, 51, 52).

Antigenic stimulation of LNs often leads to distinct phases in the efferent lymph response: an initial "LN shutdown" where lymphocyte output is decreased; a "recruitment phase" where lymphocyte output rises above resting levels; and a "resolution phase" where lymphocyte output and cellular composition return to resting levels (53–55). While in most cases a sequential egress of CD4⁺ and then CD8⁺ T cells has been reported (56–58), the dominance of a particular lymphocyte subset in efferent lymph appears to be dependent on the antigenic stimulus (45, 59–61).

Afferent Lymph

Compared to efferent lymph, the cellularity of afferent lymph is much lower (5-10%) under homeostatic conditions (6, 43, 44). While $\alpha\beta$ T lymphocytes represent the most abundant cell type of afferent lymph (80-90%), DCs (5-15%), monocytes, B cells, and few granulocytes are also routinely found in steady-state afferent lymph (39, 43). CD4+ T cells in afferent lymph collected from sheep outnumber CD8⁺ T cells by approximately fourfold to fivefold (6, 43, 44). As reported in sheep, CD4⁺ T cells are the dominant cell type in afferent lymph collected from superficial dermal LVs of healthy humans (62-64). T cells in afferent lymph of both humans and sheep exhibit an effector-memory (T_{EM}) phenotype, characterized by elevated expression of common T cell activation markers, adhesion molecules, and effector cytokines (44, 45, 63, 64). Although $\gamma\delta$ T cells are present in large numbers in afferent lymph from sheep (65), they are almost non-existent in lymph or blood in humans (63, 64) and so are not further discussed here.

As cannulation of LVs is difficult in mice, a lot of our current knowledge of the T cell populations migrating through afferent LVs in mice has come from other experimental techniques used to investigate leukocyte trafficking (see **Box 1**). Specifically, these include adoptive transfer experiments or experiments performed in transgenic mice in which migrating leukocytes can be tracked by photoconversion of endogenously expressed fluorescent proteins [e.g., Kaede mice (28)—see **Box 1**]. Conclusions drawn from these approaches in mice are in accordance with earlier cannulation studies in larger animals. Moreover, they have revealed that the CD4⁺T cell dominance in afferent lymph results

from more efficient CD4⁺ T cell migration from the skin to the dLN (7, 31). In Kaede mice, the majority of CD4⁺ T cells that migrated from the skin to the dLN expressed the common T cell activation marker CD44 as well as the skin-homing molecules C-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CCR4) and E-selectin ligands (30, 31). Approximately 25% of CD4⁺ T cells that migrated from the skin to the dLN were also found to express the T_{reg} transcription factor FOXP3+ (30). Similarly, others have reported that adoptively transferred Tregs enter afferent LVs and migrate from the skin to dLN in mice (66–68). Notably, T_{regs} are phenotypically similar to T_{EM} and are only distinguishable when specific T_{reg} markers are used. The fact that FOXP3, the most widely used T_{reg} marker, was only described approximately 13 years ago might explain why T_{regs} have thus far not been reported from cannulation studies performed in sheep and humans (which frequently date back to earlier times).

In contrast to the conventional viewpoint that naïve T cells exclusively recirculate between blood and SLOs, low numbers of naïve T cells have also been found in both homeostatic and inflamed non-lymphoid tissues and have been suggested to circulate through afferent LVs (20, 69, 70). Indeed, in adoptive transfer experiments in mice, naïve T cells were shown to avidly migrate from the skin to dLN (7, 10). However, it is important to consider that the majority of endogenous CD4⁺ T cells in the skin have an effector/memory-like phenotype (10, 71). Correspondingly, cannulation studies in humans and sheep, and studies in Kaede mice, suggest that naïve T cells constitute only a minor subset of T cells in afferent lymph under both steady-state (30, 44, 64) and inflammatory conditions (12, 30, 72).

Impact of Tissue Inflammation on Afferent Lymph Composition

Cannulation studies in sheep have revealed that acute skin inflammation, e.g., elicited by injection of complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA), induced a dramatic increase in granulocyte numbers in skin-draining afferent lymph, whereas CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells initially remained fairly stable (12, 53, 72, 73). By contrast, chronic inflammation, resulting from CFA-induced granuloma formation, was shown to lead to a substantial increase in CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell output in skin-draining afferent lymph (12, 72). Contrastingly, in Kaede mice, an acute contact hypersensitivity response elicited a striking increase in the number of T cells that migrated from the skin to the dLN (30). However, it needs to be considered that numbers of T cells in steady-state lymph of laboratory mice might be unnaturally low, because of the sterile housing conditions that lead to the formation of a reduced pool of effector-memory T cells populating peripheral tissues (74).

RECIRCULATION OF T CELLS THROUGH EFFERENT LYMPHATICS

Seminal studies performed in the late 1950s by Sir James Gowans were the first to show that lymphocytes constantly circulate between blood and SLOs (42, 46). Naïve T cells in the blood extravasate through HEVs into the LN *via* a multistep adhesion cascade and subsequently migrate to T cell areas in the paracortex

(75). Following entry into the LN, intranodal position, migration, and motility of T cells are mediated by C–C chemokine receptor type 7 (CCR7) and its two chemokine ligands, CCL19 and CCL21 (75, 76). Naïve T cells spend approximately 6–12 h surveying a LN for specific antigen and if undetected, transmigrate into cortical or medullary sinuses and exit through the efferent LV (28, 75). Below and in **Table 1**, we briefly review the chemotactic cues, adhesion molecules, and cellular processes involved in T cell egress from the LN into the efferent LVs.

T Cell Egress vs. Retention: Interplay of S1P₁, CD69, and CCR7

Early findings that pertussis toxin (a natural inhibitor of $G\alpha_{i-}$ protein-coupled receptors, such as chemokine receptors) inhibited the export of mature T cells from the thymus (84), suggested that egress of T cells from the LN could also be an active process. Studies on the immunosuppressive activity of Fingolimod (FTY720), a now approved treatment for multiple sclerosis (85), incited further research on the molecular mechanism of T cell exit from LNs. FTY720 induces sequestration of lymphocytes in SLOs through retention and "log jamming" of lymphocytes on the abluminal side of the lymphatic sinuses, thereby inhibiting lymphocyte egress into circulation and migration to sites of disease (86-88). Besides histologic analysis of lymphatic sinuses, efferent lymph cannulation studies and LN egress experiments, in which T cell homing into LNs is first blocked and T cell numbers subsequently quantified over time, have been instrumental for studying T cell exit into efferent LVs (see Box 1).

Role of S1P

Several studies have shown that the egress-blocking activity of FTY720 can mainly be attributed to the action of FTY720 on sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) receptors, in particular, S1P receptor 1 (S1P₁) expressed on T cells (8, 9, 89, 90). The natural ligand of S1P₁ is S1P, an endogenous sphingolipid that mediates diverse cellular processes, including cell survival, cytoskeletal rearrangements, and cellular chemotaxis (91, 92). S1P levels in tissues are tightly controlled by sphingosine kinase 1 and 2

(Sphk1/2)-mediated production and S1P degradation, which depends on S1P lyase and other enzymes (77, 93). While erythrocytes, red blood cells, and the blood endothelium constitute major cellular sources of plasma S1P, lymph S1P is derived independently from the blood (91, 94). In fact, LECs were identified as the major source of S1P in lymph (41).

S1P levels in the blood and in lymph are much higher than in lymphoid organs (77, 95). Low concentrations of S1P in lymphoid tissues and S1P abundance in lymph was shown to create a gradient across LECs, which induces transmigration of S1P₁-expressing T cells into the lymphatic sinuses and egress into efferent lymph (93, 96): acting as a functional antagonist, FTY720 induces downregulation and degradation of S1P₁ in T cells, thereby inhibiting S1P-mediated chemotaxis across the lymphatic sinuses (8). Similar to FTY720 treatment, adoptively transferred S1P₁-deficient T cells were found to "log jam" around medullary and cortical sinuses and failed to egress into efferent lymph (8, 9, 23, 41). An analogous egress defect could also be evoked when the S1P gradient in LNs was experimentally destroyed, by inhibiting S1P lyase (77), or upon genetic deletion of Sphk1 and Sphk2 in LECs (41).

Modulation of S1P₁ for Fine-Tuning T Cell Transit Time through LNs

Similar to FTY720, high concentrations of S1P are capable of inducing S1P₁ internalization in T cells (92, 97). Consequently, T cells in blood express low levels of S1P₁ (95). Following entry into LNs *via* HEVs, T cells begin to upregulate S1P₁ (95). Given that entry into LN sinuses, and subsequent egress from the LN, is S1P₁ dependent, T cell transit time through the LN is in some manner dependent on S1P₁-mediated resensitization to S1P in lymph. In addition to S1P-induced receptor internalization, the C-type lectin CD69 has also been reported to regulate S1P₁ surface expression in T cells. CD69 is an early T cell activation marker and is upregulated in T cells by various inflammatory mediators, such as type I interferons (78, 93). CD69 has been shown to interact with S1P₁, thereby inducing a receptor conformation similar to the ligand bound state, leading to S1P₁ internalization.

Molecule	Selected reference	Comment	
S1P ₁ /S1P	(8, 9, 41, 77)	S1P1-deficient T cells are retained in LNs; disruption of S1P gradient in LNs prevents T cell egress	
CD69	(78, 79)	CD69 expression induces S1P $_{\rm 1}$ internalization and degradation in T cells resulting in T cell retention in LNs	
C–C chemokine receptor type 7 (CCR7)	(22)	CCR7 ^{-/-} T cells egress more rapidly from LNs whereas CCR7 overexpressing T cells are retained	
CXCR4	(80)	Synergizes with CCR7 in retaining T cells in LNs	
eukocyte function-associated antigen 1 (LFA-1)/ ntercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1)	(26)	CD4+ LFA-1-/- T cells egress more rapidly from LNs.	
Common lymphatic endothelial and vascular endothelial eceptor-1 (CLEVER-1)	(81)	Blockade of CLEVER-1 reduces T cell binding to LN sinuses in situ In vivo involvement not confirmed thus far	
Jannose receptor (MR)/L-selectin	(82)	Blockade of MR/L-selectin reduces T cell binding to LN sinuses in situ In vivo involvement not demonstrated thus far	
9 integrin	(83)	Blockade of LEC-expressed $\alpha 9$ reduces T cell egress from LNs	

TABLE 1 | Molecules regulating T cell exit from lymph nodes (LNs) through efferent lymphatic vessels (LVs)

and degradation (78, 79). CD69 expression by recently activated T cells therefore serves to inhibit the egress promoting function of $S1P_1$ (24, 78, 79). However, activated T cells only transiently express CD69 (98). Accordingly, once activated T cells have undergone several rounds of division and have downregulated CD69, they start to re-express $S1P_1$ and appear in circulation (8, 22). Akin to CD69 regulated surface expression of $S1P_1$ on recently activated T cells, T cell receptor signaling (the first signal of T cell activation) has been reported to induce transcriptional downregulation of $S1P_1$ (8). Transcriptional restoration of $S1P_1$ is also likely to regulate T cell egress during an immune response.

Role of CCR7

In addition to S1P₁, CCR7 expression levels in T cells also impact the time T cells spend in LNs. Upon antigen recognition, activated T cells downregulate CCR7 (22). Fibroblastic reticular cells within the LN produce CCL21 and help generate a gradient where CCL21 levels are highest toward the LN center and decrease toward the peripheral medullary areas (25, 99). In addition to mediating intranodal positioning, migration, and motility (75), CCR7 also confers T cell retention within LNs (22). T cells devoid of CCR7 (CCR7-/-) egressed more rapidly than their wild-type (WT) counterparts, whereas transgenic T cells overexpressing CCR7 were retained in the LN for longer periods of time (22). Treatment with pertussis toxin restored egress competence of S1P₁-deficient lymphocytes and in mixed bone marrow chimeras FTY720 treatment increased the number of CCR7^{-/-} T cells found in efferent lymph relative to their WT counterparts (22). Collectively, these findings suggest that CCR7 on T cells promotes their retention in LNs and that egress signals through S1P₁ in part overcome CCR7-mediated retention (22). Interestingly, more CCR7^{+/-} than WT T cells entered sinuses, suggesting that the interplay between CCR7-mediated retention and S1P₁-mediated egress occurs at the level of entry into sinuses (22). More recently, it has also been reported that C-X-C chemokine receptor 4 (CXCR4) on T cells synergizes with CCR7 to retain both naïve and activated T cells in LNs (80).

Adhesion Molecules Involved in Egress across Sinuses

While it is well established that adhesion molecules and their integrin ligands play an important role in T cell entry into LNs through HEVs (100), not much is known about their role in T cell egress across lymphatic sinuses. A role for leukocyte function-associated antigen 1 (LFA-1) in delaying egress of T cells across lymphatic sinuses has recently been suggested. Following the probing of the surface of LN sinuses, CD4⁺ T cells devoid of LFA-1 had a greater tendency to egress across sinuses and spent less time in the LN than their WT counterparts (26). This distinction was lost in mice lacking the major LFA-1 ligand intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) (26).

In addition to LFA-1, the common lymphatic endothelial and vascular endothelial receptor-1 (CLEVER-1), as well as the macrophage mannose receptor (MR) or its ligand L-selectin have been implicated in T cell migration across lymphatic sinuses: when performing adhesion assays on LN sections, antibody-mediated blockade of CLEVER-1 or MR reduced binding of lymphocytes to sinus endothelium (81, 82). However, the *in vivo* involvement of these receptors in LN egress has not been demonstrated thus far. On the other hand, a possible role for the integrin $\alpha 9$ subunit in lymphocyte egress from inflamed LNs has recently been reported (83). Integrin $\alpha 9\beta 1$ is a well-described binding partner of the extracellular matrix component tenascin-C, and both $\alpha 9$ and tenascin-C reportedly are upregulated in medullary and cortical LN sinuses during inflammation. The study revealed that tenascin-C binding to LEC-expressed $\alpha 9\beta 1$ induced S1P production in LECs, establishing a mechanistic link between $\alpha 9$ integrin expression and S1P₁-mediated T cell egress. In fact, antibody-based blockade of $\alpha 9$ or tenascin-C deficiency resulted in impairment of T cell egress from inflamed LNs, reminiscent of treatment with FTY720 (83).

Cellular Insights into Egress from Intravital Microscopy (IVM)

T cell egress from LNs has not only been studied at the population level but also at the single-cell level using IVM (see Box 1). Such studies have confirmed previous histology-based studies showing that T cell migration and egress occurs both at the level of the cortical and medullary sinuses (23, 101). T cells were observed entering sinuses at multiple locations, however, occasionally two or more T cells entered at specific entry "hot spots" (23, 101). In cortical sinuses without flow, T cells migrated at the same speed as those in the parenchyma and occasionally exited sinuses back into the LN parenchyma (23, 24). In larger cortical sinuses with flow, T cells were more rounded, shared fairly uniform velocities, and had a lower frequency of exit back into the parenchyma (23, 24). T cells in the macrophage-rich medullary sinuses appeared to become poorly mobile and occasionally exited the sinuses and returned to the T cell zone (23). Following migration of T cells through cortical and medullary sinuses, T cells were released into the subcapsular region near the efferent vessel and moved off rapidly with lymph flow (23). Overall, T cell transit time through the LN appears to be determined by random walk encounters with lymphatic sinuses (24). Only at the level of the sinus do S1P₁expressing T cells start to sense S1P in lymph, which triggers their exit into the lymphatic compartment (22-24).

T CELL ENTRY AND MIGRATION WITHIN AFFERENT LVs

In comparison to T cell egress from LNs, little is known about T cell migration from peripheral tissue into afferent LVs. As already suggested by the dominance of CD4⁺ over CD8⁺ T cells in afferent lymph (43, 44, 62), CD4⁺ T cells migrate more efficiently through afferent LVs. Indeed, adoptive transfer studies (7), crawl-out experiments from murine skin explants (102), and studies in Kaede mice (31) uniformly demonstrate that CD4⁺ T cells more efficiently exit the tissue *via* afferent LVs. This is also reflected by emerging findings from many laboratories showing that under steady-state conditions most CD8⁺ T cells in peripheral organs form part of a slow-moving, skin-resident memory population [T_{RM}; reviewed in Ref. (103, 104)]. Although recent

studies indicate that a similar tissue-resident population also exists for CD4⁺ T cells (31), many CD4⁺ memory T cells seem to rapidly traffic through the dermis, forming part of a recirculating memory population (31, 102).

Although several molecules involved in T cell egress through afferent LVs have recently been identified, we still know fairly little about this process, particularly at the single-cell level. In fact, thus far only DC, but not T cell, migration through afferent LVs has been visualized using IVM (see **Box 1**). Interestingly, these findings have revealed that migration into and within afferent LVs occurs in a stepwise fashion: DCs enter LVs at the level of lymphatic capillaries and then crawl in a semi-directed manner within lymphatic capillaries (105-107). Only once they have reached contracting lymphatic collectors do cells switch from an active to passive mode of movement, i.e., they are passively carried away with the lymph flow toward the dLN. Similarly, neutrophils were recently found to actively crawl within dermal lymphatic capillaries (108). The reason why intralymphatic DCs and neutrophils only flow in lymphatic collectors is likely linked with the low flow conditions in lymphatic capillaries [reportedly ranging from 1 to 30 µm/s; (109, 110)], which are several orders of magnitude lower than blood flow in blood vascular capillaries (111) or peak lymph flow velocities measured in large contracting lymphatic collectors (112, 113). Although not demonstrated so far, it is therefore likely that T cell migration through lymphatic capillaries also involves an active, intraluminal crawling step (Figure 1A). In the following section, important molecules involved in T cell migration from the skin to the dLN will be discussed in greater detail (see also Table 2).

Chemotactic Exit and Retention Cues: CCR7, S1P1 and Others

Classical definitions outline that non-lymphoid tissue homing T_{EM} are devoid of CCR7 (119). However, in humans, CCR7 is expressed on the majority of T cells in blood, including those that express adhesion molecules required for homing to non-lymphoid tissue (120). Consistent with these findings, 40–50% of all skin-associated CD4⁺ T cells in humans (121) and mice (31) express CCR7. Several studies have identified CCR7 and its ligand CCL21, which is constitutive expressed by LVs (107, 122),

as one of the most important drivers of T cell migration to dLNs: adoptive transfer experiments (7, 10) and experiments performed in Kaede mice (31) have shown that compared to WT T cells, significantly fewer (in the order of 10-20%) CCR7^{-/-} CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cells migrated from the skin to the dLN. Moreover, in a model of allergic airway inflammation, CCR7^{-/-} CD4⁺ T_{EM} cells accumulated in the lung and airways (114). Similarly, CD4⁺ T_{EM} have been shown to accumulate within the epithelial tissues of CCR7^{-/-} mice (123), and CCR7^{-/-} $T_{\mbox{\scriptsize regs}}$ accumulated in inflamed skin (124). Although CCR7 appears to be crucial for T cell exit from homeostatic and acutely inflamed skin, its contribution to T cell exit from chronically inflamed skin appears to be more limited (11, 12). In the case of DCs, IVM studies have recently revealed that the CCR7/CCL21 axis mediates DC migration toward and into LVs (106, 122) and also impacts the directionality of DC crawling within lymphatic capillaries (107). By contrast, the exact contribution of CCR7 to T cell migration through afferent lymphatics has not been addressed so far.

Besides CCR7/CCL21, the second best described chemotactic pathway involved in T cell exit from skin is S1P₁/S1P. As mentioned, LECs are considered the major contributor to S1P levels in lymph (41). Overexpression of S1P₁ in CD8⁺ T cells prevented "settling" of T_{RM} in the intestine, kidney, salivary gland, and skin, suggesting S1P₁ enhanced exit *via* afferent LVs (125). Similar to S1P₁-overexpressing CD8⁺ T cells, CD69-deficient CD8⁺ T cells failed to persist in skin after HSV infection, and treatment with an S1P₁ agonist restored their retention within the skin (126). Correspondingly, surface expression of CD69 and transcriptional loss of S1P₁ is a hallmark for CD8⁺ T_{RM} (127–130).

In contrast to CD8⁺ T_{RM}, tissue-resident CD4⁺ T cells have been less well characterized and studied. In a study using Kaede mice (see **Box 1**), Bromley and colleagues identified one population of CD4 memory T cells that remained in the skin and a second population, termed recirculating memory CD4⁺ T cells (T_{RCM}), that migrated from the skin to the dLN (31). T_{RCM} expressed a novel cell surface phenotype (CCR7^{int/+}, CD62L^{int}, CD69⁻, CD103^{+/-}, CCR4^{+/-}, and E-selectin ligands⁺) and migrated in a CCR7-dependent manner (31). These cells displayed a trafficking behavior distinct from classical T_{EM} or T_{CM} cells in such that T_{RCM} migrated from skin to dLNs, and from circulation back into sites of unspecific cutaneous inflammation (31). The role of S1P in CD4⁺ T cell egress from skin has been addressed by two

TABLE 2 Molecules regulating T cell migration through afferent lymphatic vessels (LVs) into lymph nodes (LNs).					
Molecule	Selected reference	Comment			
CCR7	(7, 31, 114)	Adoptively transferred or endogenous CCR7-/- T cells have reduced migration from peripheral tissues to dLNs			
S1P ₁ /S1P	(10, 12)	Treatment of adoptively transferred CD4 ⁺ T cells or recipient mice with FTY720 or S1P significantly reduces T cell migration to dLNs			
CD44/mannose receptor (MR)	(115, 116)	T cell-expressed CD44 interacts with LEC-expressed MR during CD4+ and CD8+ T cell migration into afferent LVs			
Common lymphatic endothelial and vascular endothelial receptor-1 (CLEVER-1)	(117)	CLEVER-1 blockade decreases CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T cell migration from the skin to the dLN			
LT and VCAM-1	(67)	Shown to mediate migration of nTreg from skin to dLNs			
Macrophage scavenger receptor 1	(118)	Regulates lymphocyte entry into the LN parenchyma			
PLVAP (MECA-32)	(13)	Mediates lymphocyte entry across the subcapsular sinus into the LN parenchyma			

other recent studies (10, 12). Treatment of adoptively transferred T cells or of recipient mice with FTY720 or S1P significantly reduced T cell migration to the dLN (10, 12). Interestingly, acute inflammation was shown to increase S1P levels in the skin and also resulted in reduced migration of CD4⁺ T cells to the dLN (10). This suggests that acute inflammation might induce T cell retention in the tissue.

T cells that have migrated from the skin to the dLN display high expression of CCR7, CXCR4, and $S1P_1$ (7, 10). In contrast to the involvement of CCR7 and S1P1, CXCR4 was reported to have no role in T cell migration from homeostatic (10) or inflamed skin to the dLN (11). By contrast, in a pancreatic islet transplantation model, CCR2, CCR5, and CXCR3 reportedly contributed to the migration of natural T_{regs} (n T_{regs}) from the allograft to the dLN (66, 68). While LECs constitutively produce CXCL12, CCL21, and S1P (41, 131), they are also able to upregulate inflammatory chemokines under conditions of tissue inflammation (131, 132). This upregulation occurs in a stimulus-specific manner (131) and may serve to fine-tune leukocyte recruitment into LVs. Although not specifically studied so far, changes in the chemokine expression profile of LECs might also explain the reduced CCR7 and S1P dependence of T cell tissue exit observed from chronically but not from acutely inflamed skin (12). On the other hand, it has to be considered that most studies investigating T cell tissue exit have been performed using adoptively transferred T cells, which might not completely reflect the chemokine (or adhesion molecule) requirements of endogenous T cells.

Adhesion Molecules Involved in Entry and Migration within Afferent LVs MR and CLEVER-1

Few adhesion molecules have thus far been implicated in T cell exit from skin. The MR (82), which has been shown to mediate T cell binding to lymphatic sinuses in LNs (82), is also expressed on efferent and afferent LVs (133, 134). Interaction of MR with its T cell-expressed binding partner CD44 reportedly mediates CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell exit from the skin (115, 116). Similarly, CLEVER-1 is expressed on both efferent and afferent LVs and has been shown to mediate T cell entry into afferent LVs (81, 117, 135). Blockade of CLEVER-1 markedly decreased CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell migration from the skin to the dLN in both mice and rabbits (117).

VCAM-1, Selectins, and Their Ligands

A recent study suggested a role for LEC-expressed VCAM-1 in homeostatic migration of nT_{reg} but not of naïve CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cells from skin to the dLN (67). VCAM-1 is a known target of LT β R (136) and blockade of LT β R reduced nT_{reg} exit from the skin (67). Similarly, fewer nT_{reg} devoid of the LT β R ligand, LT α , exited from the skin (67). As with ICAM-1, VCAM-1 expression is induced on afferent LVs during inflammatory conditions (131, 132). Whether VCAM-1 might more broadly support T cell migration through afferent LVs in the context of tissue inflammation remains to be determined. With regard to the involvement of selectins, T cell migration from homeostatic skin to dLNs was found to occur normally in mice lacking the ligands for P-, E-, and L-selectins or upon adoptive transfer of $CD62L^{-/-}$ T cells (10). However, it is noteworthy that P-selectin is also upregulated on afferent LVs during contact hypersensitivity-induced inflammation (131). This raises the question whether inflammation-induced selectins and their ligands might play a role in T cell exit under inflammatory conditions.

Insights into T Cell Entry into the LN from Afferent LVs

While several studies highlight the entry of T cells through HEVs or the migration of T cells within LNs (75, 137), few have focused on the entry of T cells into LNs from afferent LVs. Braun and colleagues investigated this entry pathway by performing time-lapse imaging in the popliteal LN following microinjection of T cells directly into the cannulated afferent LV (25). This study revealed that most naïve CD4+ T cells were passively transported in the SCS to peripheral medullary sinuses where they either directly transmigrated, or first crawled within the peripheral medullary sinuses before transmigrating into the LN parenchyma at the level of the medullary sinuses (25). As reported for T cell egress from the LN parenchyma into lymphatic sinuses (23, 101), several T cells occasionally crossed the sinus floor at specific transmigration "hot spots" (25). Interestingly, naïve CD4+ T cells entered across the medullary sinuses in a CCR7-independent manner, but subsequently preferentially migrated within the medulla toward the paracortical T cell zone by means of a CCR7-skewed random walk (25).

In contrast to T cells, injected DCs were able to directly transmigrate the SCS floor of the LN, allowing for a more direct access of the LN parenchyma (25). On the other hand, T cells injected after pre-injection of DCs now transmigrated the SCS floor on the afferent side of the LN and avidly migrated inward at sites of DC transmigration (25). These findings suggested that DCs induced local changes in the SCS floor during transmigration that facilitated direct entry of T cells into the LN parenchyma. Considering that afferent lymph typically contains both T cells and DCs that arrive simultaneously in the subcapsular space, it will be interesting to further explore LN entry from afferent LVs in an endogenous setup.

Other studies have suggested that T cells might enter the LN parenchyma directly through the SCS: as early as 4 h after adoptive transfer into the footpad of mice, T cells could be detected within the LN parenchyma in close proximity to the SCS (13, 118). Moreover, macrophage scavenger receptor 1, a molecule expressed on LECs of the SCS, but not on the medullary or cortical sinuses, was recently found to regulate lymphocyte entry into the LN parenchyma (118). Furthermore, the same group previously reported the involvement of plasmalemma vesicle-associated protein (PLVAP, also known as MECA-32) in lymphocyte entry across the SCS into the LN parenchyma (13). PLVAP is expressed by LECs in lymphatic sinuses where it forms diaphragms that overlay the entry to the FRC conduit system. This generates a sort of molecular sieve that restricts the access of soluble antigen into the conduit system and hence into the LN parenchyma. Interestingly, PLVAP also appeared to regulate

T cell entry into the LN, supposedly by supporting transcellular diapedesis across the SCS (13).

PURPOSE OF T CELL MIGRATION THROUGH AFFERENT LVs

As we gain more insight into T cell trafficking through LVs, our knowledge regarding the biological significance of this migratory process continues to grow. In the case of migration through efferent LVs, there is overwhelming evidence that this migratory step is crucial for immune surveillance: naïve T cells and T_{CM} constantly recirculate through blood, SLOs, and lymphatics in pursuit of antigen (1-3). Blocking this important migratory step, e.g., with FTY720, inhibits T cells recirculation and represents a powerful strategy for inducing immunosuppression, e.g., in the context of autoimmunity. On the other hand, recent data indicate that T cell trafficking through afferent LVs may not only occur to promote immune surveillance but may additionally have immune-dampening effects and serve to avoid overshooting T cell-mediated inflammatory responses. In the following section, these hypotheses shall be discussed in greater detail.

Role of T Cell Circulation through Afferent LVs in Immune Surveillance

T cell recirculation through afferent LVs is thought to contribute to immune surveillance by constantly replenishing the T cell pool in peripheral tissues with new antigenic specificities. However, increasing evidence suggests that recirculating T cells do not provide complete protection of peripheral tissues, and that T_{RM} play a more important role in this process (104, 138). Although mainly studied for CD8⁺ T cells and in a limited number of infection models, T_{RM} (typically CD69^{hi}, CD103^{hi}, E-cadherin^{hi}, S1PR₁^{lo}, and CCR7^{lo}) have been shown to provide immediate protection against reinfection (104, 139). Current evidence suggests that T_{RM} differentiate from T_{eff}, remain resident within the tissue for long periods of time (>1 year in mice) and predominate at sites of infection or inflammation (104, 140, 141). Although there is some evidence that T_{RM} proliferate locally, it is unknown whether T_{RM} are ever replaced by circulating T cells (139, 142, 143). The protective mechanisms of T_{RM} are not yet fully known, but evidence suggests that T_{RM} functionally delay pathogen spread and further act as an antigen-specific sensor that "sounds the alarm" for the recruitment of circulating T cells (104). The relative contribution of resident and circulating T cells in pathogen clearance remains unknown and might be highly context dependent, e.g., dependent on the type of infection and the specific requirement for CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cells for immune control (104, 139).

Role of T_{reg} Tissue Exit in Controlling Immune Responses in dLNs

Previous studies have shown that the local ratio of T_{regs} to T_{eff} at inflamed sites is a critical determinant for the outcome of inflammation (144–146). In support of this notion, adoptively transferred CCR7^{-/-} T_{regs} that accumulated in the skin of mice

controlled Th1-mediated inflammation more efficiently than WT T_{regs} (124). While these findings suggest that retention of T_{regs} within peripheral tissue promotes resolution of inflammation, large numbers of T_{regs} reportedly exit the skin during a cutaneous immune response in mice (30).

CD4⁺ T_{regs} control both priming and expansion of T_{eff} in SLOs and the activation of T_{eff} in the skin (147–150). Several islet allograft survival studies highlight Treg migration to dLNs as a prerequisite for efficient downregulation of the ongoing allograft response (66–68, 151). Only T_{regs} within the skin, or having previously exited the skin via afferent LVs, reportedly displayed an activated phenotype (66). Upon adoptive transfer of egressincompetent T_{reg} into the graft, graft survival was shorter than that for WT T_{regs} (66-68). Similarly, in a study using Kaede mice, T_{regs} that migrated from inflamed skin had an activated phenotype, inhibited immune responses more robustly than LN-resident Trees, and were able to recirculate back to the skin (30). These findings suggest that Trees that have exited the skin via afferent LVs restrict LN immune responses (and consequently tissue inflammation) and recirculate back to inflamed tissue to help further control local immune responses.

Role of Tissue Exit of Bystander T Cells in Resolving Local Inflammation

The extent of tissue inflammation often correlates with the number and composition of infiltrating T cells, which itself is dependent on T cell recruitment from blood, survival in the tissue, and, last but not least, on T cell exit through afferent LVs. Interestingly, two recent studies have shown that the ability of T cells to exit inflamed tissues has an impact on the degree of tissue inflammation. In mouse models of delayed-type hypersensitivity and TNF-driven Crohn's-like ileitis, reduced exit of CCR7^{-/-} T cells from the site of inflammation translated into enhanced and prolonged inflammation (152, 153). Similarly, T cells overexpressing CCR7 had an enhanced capacity to exit from inflamed skin and accelerated resolution of inflammation (152). However, depending on the experimental setup, these experiments might have to be interpreted with caution because of the confounding influence of autoimmunity observed in CCR7^{-/-} mice, which might be due to other factors in addition to limited exit from peripheral tissues (76).

While recruitment into tissue is independent of the antigen specificity of T cells (154, 155), exit of T cells from inflamed tissues appears to be at least in part antigen dependent (152, 156). In a mouse model of delayed-type hypersensitivity, transgenic CD4+ Th1 cells, co-injected with DCs that were pulsed with cognate antigen, displayed reduced migration from inflamed skin to the dLN relative to polyclonal CD4+ Th1 cells (152). Similarly, a significantly reduced number of antigen-specific cytotoxic CD8+ T cells (Tc1), in comparison to antigen-unspecific Tc1 cells, migrated from the lung to the dLN in influenza-infected animals (156). These findings suggest that upon recognition of antigen, T cells have an impaired "tissue exit program" and are retained at the effector site, while antigen non-specific bystander T cells continue to exit via the afferent LVs in a CCR7-dependent manner (156). This mechanism is likely in place to reduce unnecessary tissue damage through bystander T cells.

CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK

In addition to cannulation studies, which have for more than six decades provided insights into the cellular composition of lymph, newer techniques such as adoptive transfer studies, LN egress studies or experiments performed in Kaede mice have considerably accelerated our recent gain of knowledge regarding the molecular mechanism of T cell trafficking through LVs. At the same time, IVM studies have provided further insight into the dynamics of these processes, by visualizing the single-cell behavior and anatomic location of T cell migration toward, across, and within LVs. While T cell egress from LNs into efferent LVs has been quite intensively studied, we still know comparably little about T cell migration into and within afferent LVs, or about the subsequent T cell entry step into the parenchyma of a dLN. In the future, it will be important to better characterize the distinct T cell subsets migrating through afferent LVs and the molecules involved in their trafficking. Moreover, the importance of tissue-resident vs. recirculating memory T cells will need to be addressed in more models. Given that CD4⁺ T cells constitute the main cell types recirculating through afferent LVs, this will be particularly relevant in the case of CD4+ T cell-dependent immunity. At the same time, it will also be important to carefully chose the right animal models when studying these processes: the fact that only few memory T cells are present in peripheral tissues of laboratory mice held under optimized hygienic conditions, and that these mice respond differently to immunologic challenges in comparison to mice housed under less hygienic environments (74), indicate that our preferred experimental setups might not represent a faithful model for studying the importance of recirculating vs. tissue-resident T cells in immune recall responses.

REFERENCES

- von Andrian UH, Mackay CR. Advances in immunology: T-cell function and migration – two sides of the same coin. *New Engl J Med* (2000) 343(14):1020–33. doi:10.1056/NEJM200010053431407
- Masopust D, Schenkel JM. The integration of T cell migration, differentiation and function. Nat Rev Immunol (2013) 13(5):309–20. doi:10.1038/nri3442
- Lewis M, Tarlton JF, Cose S. Memory versus naive T-cell migration. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2008) 86(3):226–31. doi:10.1038/sj.icb.7100132
- Li MO, Rudensky AY. T cell receptor signalling in the control of regulatory T cell differentiation and function. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2016) 16(4):220–33. doi:10.1038/nri.2016.26
- Bollman JL, Cain JC, Grindlay JH. Techniques for the collection of lymph from the liver, small intestine, or thoracic duct of the rat. *J Lab Clin Med* (1948) 33(10):1349–52.
- 6. Hall JG, Morris B. The output of cells in lymph from the popliteal node of sheep. *Q J Exp Physiol Cogn Med Sci* (1962) 47:360–9.
- Debes GF, Arnold CN, Young AJ, Krautwald S, Lipp M, Hay JB, et al. Chemokine receptor CCR7 required for T lymphocyte exit from peripheral tissues. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6(9):889–94. doi:10.1038/ni1238
- Matloubian M, Lo CG, Cinamon G, Lesneski MJ, Xu Y, Brinkmann V, et al. Lymphocyte egress from thymus and peripheral lymphoid organs is dependent on S1P receptor 1. *Nature* (2004) 427(6972):355–60. doi:10.1038/ nature02284
- Halin C, Scimone ML, Bonasio R, Gauguet JM, Mempel TR, Quackenbush E, et al. The S1P-analog FTY720 differentially modulates T-cell homing via HEV: T-cell-expressed S1P1 amplifies integrin activation in peripheral lymph nodes but not in Peyer patches. *Blood* (2005) 106(4):1314–22. doi:10.1182/ blood-2004-09-3687

On the other hand, we also still know very little about the potential function of recirculating T cells in dampening acute immune responses, possibly *via* tissue exit of T_{regs} or of T cells with irrelevant antigenic specificities. Recent observations that migration of DCs and neutrophils through afferent LVs involves active semi-directed migration within lymphatic capillaries suggest that the migratory process itself is more complex and might serve other purposes than the mere transport of cells to the dLN. Thus, in spite of recent advances regarding the molecular control of T cell traffic through LVs, we still know little about the biological relevance of these processes, particularly with regard to migration through afferent LVs. Ultimately, more insight into both the molecular mechanisms and the relevance are expected to contribute to identifying new targets for immunomodulatory therapies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All the authors jointly wrote the manuscript and prepared the figures.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the members of the Halin lab for continual discussion and support.

FUNDING

CH gratefully acknowledges financial support from the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNF—grant 310030_156269).

- Ledgerwood LG, Lal G, Zhang N, Garin A, Esses SJ, Ginhoux F, et al. The sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor 1 causes tissue retention by inhibiting the entry of peripheral tissue T lymphocytes into afferent lymphatics. *Nat Immunol* (2008) 9(1):42–53. doi:10.1038/ni1534
- Geherin SA, Wilson RP, Jennrich S, Debes GF. CXCR4 is dispensable for T cell egress from chronically inflamed skin via the afferent lymph. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(4):e95626. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0095626
- Brown MN, Fintushel SR, Lee MH, Jennrich S, Geherin SA, Hay JB, et al. Chemoattractant receptors and lymphocyte egress from extralymphoid tissue: changing requirements during the course of inflammation. *J Immunol* (2010) 185(8):4873–82. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000676
- Rantakari P, Auvinen K, Jappinen N, Kapraali M, Valtonen J, Karikoski M, et al. The endothelial protein PLVAP in lymphatics controls the entry of lymphocytes and antigens into lymph nodes. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16(4):386–96. doi:10.1038/ni.3101
- Bianchi R, Teijeira A, Proulx ST, Christiansen AJ, Seidel CD, Rulicke T, et al. A transgenic Prox1-Cre-tdTomato reporter mouse for lymphatic vessel research. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(4):e0122976. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0122976
- Choi I, Chung HK, Ramu S, Lee HN, Kim KE, Lee S, et al. Visualization of lymphatic vessels by Prox1-promoter directed GFP reporter in a bacterial artificial chromosome-based transgenic mouse. *Blood* (2011) 117(1):362–5. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-07-298562
- Hagerling R, Pollmann C, Kremer L, Andresen V, Kiefer F. Intravital two-photon microscopy of lymphatic vessel development and function using a transgenic Prox1 promoter-directed mOrange2 reporter mouse. *Biochem Soc Trans* (2011) 39(6):1674–81. doi:10.1042/BST20110722
- Truman LA, Bentley KL, Smith EC, Massaro SA, Gonzalez DG, Haberman AM, et al. ProxTom lymphatic vessel reporter mice reveal Prox1

expression in the adrenal medulla, megakaryocytes, and platelets. Am J Pathol (2012) 180(4):1715–25. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.12.026

- Martinez-Corral I, Olmeda D, Dieguez-Hurtado R, Tammela T, Alitalo K, Ortega S. In vivo imaging of lymphatic vessels in development, wound healing, inflammation, and tumor metastasis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(16):6223–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1115542109
- Veiga-Fernandes H, Coles MC, Foster KE, Patel A, Williams A, Natarajan D, et al. Tyrosine kinase receptor RET is a key regulator of Peyer's patch organogenesis. *Nature* (2007) 446(7135):547–51. doi:10.1038/nature05597
- Weninger W, Carlsen HS, Goodarzi M, Moazed F, Crowley MA, Baekkevold ES, et al. Naive T cell recruitment to nonlymphoid tissues: a role for endothelium-expressed CC chemokine ligand 21 in autoimmune disease and lymphoid neogenesis. *J Immunol* (2003) 170(9):4638–48. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.170.9.4638
- Matheu MP, Othy S, Greenberg ML, Dong TX, Schuijs M, Deswarte K, et al. Imaging regulatory T cell dynamics and CTLA4-mediated suppression of T cell priming. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:6219. doi:10.1038/ncomms7219
- 22. Pham TH, Okada T, Matloubian M, Lo CG, Cyster JG. S1P1 receptor signaling overrides retention mediated by G alpha i-coupled receptors to promote T cell egress. *Immunity* (2008) 28(1):122–33. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2007.11.017
- Grigorova IL, Schwab SR, Phan TG, Pham TH, Okada T, Cyster JG. Cortical sinus probing, S1P1-dependent entry and flow-based capture of egressing T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(1):58–65. doi:10.1038/ni.1682
- Grigorova IL, Panteleev M, Cyster JG. Lymph node cortical sinus organization and relationship to lymphocyte egress dynamics and antigen exposure. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107(47):20447–52. doi:10.1073/pnas.1009968107
- 25. Braun A, Worbs T, Moschovakis GL, Halle S, Hoffmann K, Bolter J, et al. Afferent lymph-derived T cells and DCs use different chemokine receptor CCR7-dependent routes for entry into the lymph node and intranodal migration. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(9):879–87. doi:10.1038/ni.2085
- Reichardt P, Patzak I, Jones K, Etemire E, Gunzer M, Hogg N. A role for LFA-1 in delaying T-lymphocyte egress from lymph nodes. *EMBO J* (2013) 32(6):829–43. doi:10.1038/emboj.2013.33
- Mandl JN, Liou R, Klauschen F, Vrisekoop N, Monteiro JP, Yates AJ, et al. Quantification of lymph node transit times reveals differences in antigen surveillance strategies of naive CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2012) 109(44):18036–41. doi:10.1073/pnas.1211717109
- Tomura M, Yoshida N, Tanaka J, Karasawa S, Miwa Y, Miyawaki A, et al. Monitoring cellular movement in vivo with photoconvertible fluorescence protein "Kaede" transgenic mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105(31):10871–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.0802278105
- Shand FH, Ueha S, Otsuji M, Koid SS, Shichino S, Tsukui T, et al. Tracking of intertissue migration reveals the origins of tumor-infiltrating monocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111(21):7771–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1402914111
- Tomura M, Honda T, Tanizaki H, Otsuka A, Egawa G, Tokura Y, et al. Activated regulatory T cells are the major T cell type emigrating from the skin during a cutaneous immune response in mice. *J Clin Invest* (2010) 120(3):883–93. doi:10.1172/JCI40926
- Bromley SK, Yan S, Tomura M, Kanagawa O, Luster AD. Recirculating memory T cells are a unique subset of CD4+ T cells with a distinct phenotype and migratory pattern. *J Immunol* (2013) 190(3):970–6. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1202805
- Oliver G, Alitalo K. The lymphatic vasculature: recent progress and paradigms. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol (2005) 21:457–83. doi:10.1146/annurev. cellbio.21.012704.132338
- Cueni LN, Detmar M. The lymphatic system in health and disease. *Lymphat Res Biol* (2008) 6(3–4):109–22. doi:10.1089/lrb.2008.1008
- Baluk P, Fuxe J, Hashizume H, Romano T, Lashnits E, Butz S, et al. Functionally specialized junctions between endothelial cells of lymphatic vessels. *J Exp Med* (2007) 204(10):2349–62. doi:10.1084/jem.20062596
- Pflicke H, Sixt M. Preformed portals facilitate dendritic cell entry into afferent lymphatic vessels. J Exp Med (2009) 206(13):2925–35. doi:10.1084/ jem.20091739
- Makinen T, Norrmen C, Petrova TV. Molecular mechanisms of lymphatic vascular development. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2007) 64(15):1915–29. doi:10.1007/ s00018-007-7040-z
- 37. Willard-Mack CL. Normal structure, function, and histology of lymph nodes. *Toxicol Pathol* (2006) 34(5):409–24. doi:10.1080/01926230600867727

- Harrell MI, Iritani BM, Ruddell A. Lymph node mapping in the mouse. J Immunol Methods (2008) 332(1-2):170-4. doi:10.1016/j.jim.2007.11.012
- Hall JG, Morris B. The Origin of the cells in the efferent lymph from a single lymph node. *J Exp Med* (1965) 121:901–10. doi:10.1084/jem.121.6.901
- Hall JG, Morris B. The lymph-borne cells of the immune response. Q J Exp Physiol Cogn Med Sci (1963) 48:235–47.
- Pham TH, Baluk P, Xu Y, Grigorova I, Bankovich AJ, Pappu R, et al. Lymphatic endothelial cell sphingosine kinase activity is required for lymphocyte egress and lymphatic patterning. *J Exp Med* (2009) 207(1):17–27. doi:10.1084/ jem.20091619
- 42. Gowans JL. The recirculation of lymphocytes from blood to lymph in the rat. *J Physiol* (1959) 146(1):54–69. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1959.sp006177
- Smith JB, McIntosh GH, Morris B. The traffic of cells through tissues: a study of peripheral lymph in sheep. J Anat (1970) 107(Pt 1):87–100.
- Mackay CR, Marston WL, Dudler L. Naive and memory T cells show distinct pathways of lymphocyte recirculation. *J Exp Med* (1990) 171:801–17. doi:10.1084/jem.171.3.801
- Haig DM, Hopkins J, Miller HR. Local immune responses in afferent and efferent lymph. *Immunology* (1999) 96(2):155–63. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2567. 1999.00681.x
- 46. Gowans JL. The effect of the continuous re-infusion of lymph and lymphocytes on the output of lymphocytes from the thoracic duct of unanaesthetized rats. *Br J Exp Pathol* (1957) 38(1):67–78.
- Wivel NA, Mandel MA, Asofsky RM. Ultrastructural study of thoracic duct lymphocytes of mice. *Am J Anat* (1970) 128(1):57–72. doi:10.1002/ aja.1001280106
- Bierman HR, Byron RL Jr, Kelly KH, Gilfillan RS, White LP, Freeman NE, et al. The characteristics of thoracic duct lymph in man. *J Clin Invest* (1953) 32(7):637–49. doi:10.1172/JCI102776
- Maddox JF, Mackay CR, Brandon MR. Surface antigens, SBU-T4 and SBU-T8, of sheep T lymphocyte subsets defined by monoclonal antibodies. *Immunology* (1985) 55(4):739–48.
- Mackay CR, Kimpton WG, Brandon MR, Cahill RN. Lymphocyte subsets show marked differences in their distribution between blood and the afferent and efferent lymph of peripheral lymph nodes. *J Exp Med* (1988) 167(6):1755–65. doi:10.1084/jem.167.6.1755
- Mackay CR, Andrew DP, Briskin M, Ringler DJ, Butcher EC. Phenotype, and migration properties of three major subsets of tissue homing T cells in sheep. *Eur J Immunol* (1996) 26(10):2433–9. doi:10.1002/eji.1830261025
- Mackay CR, Marston WL, Dudler L, Spertini O, Tedder TF, Hein WR. Tissue-specific migration pathways by phenotypically distinct subpopulations of memory T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (1992) 22(4):887–95. doi:10.1002/ eji.1830220402
- Cahill RN, Frost H, Trnka Z. The effects of antigen on the migration of recirculating lymphocytes through single lymph nodes. *J Exp Med* (1976) 143(4):870–88. doi:10.1084/jem.143.4.870
- Frost H. The effect of antigen on the output of recirculating T and B lymphocytes from single lymph nodes. *Cell Immunol* (1978) 37(2):390–6. doi:10.1016/0008-8749(78)90207-1
- McConnell I, Hopkins J. Lymphocyte traffic through antigen-stimulated lymph nodes. I. Complement activation within lymph nodes initiates cell shutdown. *Immunology* (1981) 42(2):217–23.
- Bujdoso R, Young P, Hopkins J, Allen D, McConnell I. Non-random migration of CD4 and CD8 T cells: changes in the CD4:CD8 ratio and interleukin 2 responsiveness of efferent lymph cells following in vivo antigen challenge. *Eur J Immunol* (1989) 19(10):1779–84. doi:10.1002/eji.1830191003
- Innes EA, Panton WR, Sanderson A, Thomson KM, Wastling JM, Maley S, et al. Induction of CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses in efferent lymph responding to *Toxoplasma gondii* infection: analysis of phenotype and function. *Parasite Immunol* (1995) 17(3):151–60. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3024.1995. tb01017.x
- Haig DM, Deane DL, Myatt N, Thomson J, Entrican G, Rothel J, et al. The activation status of ovine CD45R+ and CD45R- efferent lymph T cells after ORF virus reinfection. J Comp Pathol (1996) 115(2):163–74. doi:10.1016/ S0021-9975(96)80038-7
- Bird P, Blacklaws B, Reyburn HT, Allen D, Hopkins J, Sargan D, et al. Early events in immune evasion by the lentivirus maedi-visna occurring within infected lymphoid tissue. *J Virol* (1993) 67(9):5187–97.

- Gohin I, Olivier M, Lantier I, Pepin M, Lantier F. Analysis of the immune response in sheep efferent lymph during *Salmonella* abortusovis infection. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol* (1997) 60(1–2):111–30. doi:10.1016/ S0165-2427(97)00090-1
- Sanchez-Cordon PJ, Perez de Diego AC, Gomez-Villamandos JC, Sanchez-Vizcaino JM, Pleguezuelos FJ, Garfia B. Comparative analysis of cellular immune responses and cytokine levels in sheep experimentally infected with bluetongue virus serotype 1 and 8. *Vet Microbiol* (2015) 177(1–2):95–105. doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2015.02.022
- Sokolowski J, Jakobsen E, Johannessen JV. Cells in peripheral leg lymph of normal men. *Lymphology* (1978) 11(4):202–7.
- Olszewski WL, Grzelak I, Ziolkowska A, Engeset A. Immune cell traffic from blood through the normal human skin to lymphatics. *Clin Dermatol* (1995) 13(5):473–83. doi:10.1016/0738-081X(95)00087-V
- 64. Yawalkar N, Hunger RE, Pichler WJ, Braathen LR, Brand CU. Human afferent lymph from normal skin contains an increased number of mainly memory/ effector CD4(+) T cells expressing activation, adhesion and co-stimulatory molecules. *Eur J Immunol* (2000) 30(2):491–7. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(20002)30:2<491::AID-IMMU491>3.3.CO;2-8
- Geherin SA, Lee MH, Wilson RP, Debes GF. Ovine skin-recirculating gammadelta T cells express IFN-gamma and IL-17 and exit tissue independently of CCR7. Vet Immunol Immunopathol (2013) 155(1–2):87–97. doi:10.1016/ j.vetimm.2013.06.008
- Zhang N, Schroppel B, Lal G, Jakubzick C, Mao X, Chen D, et al. Regulatory T cells sequentially migrate from inflamed tissues to draining lymph nodes to suppress the alloimmune response. *Immunity* (2009) 30(3):458–69. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.12.022
- Brinkman CC, Iwami D, Hritzo MK, Xiong Y, Ahmad S, Simon T, et al. Treg engage lymphotoxin beta receptor for afferent lymphatic transendothelial migration. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:12021. doi:10.1038/ncomms12021
- Xiong Y, Ahmad S, Iwami D, Brinkman CC, Bromberg JS. T-bet regulates natural regulatory T cell afferent lymphatic migration and suppressive function. J Immunol (2016) 196(6):2526–40. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1502537
- 69. Cose S, Brammer C, Khanna KM, Masopust D, Lefrancois L. Evidence that a significant number of naive T cells enter non-lymphoid organs as part of a normal migratory pathway. *Eur J Immunol* (2006) 36(6):1423–33. doi:10.1002/eji.200535539
- Krakowski ML, Owens T. Naive T lymphocytes traffic to inflamed central nervous system, but require antigen recognition for activation. *Eur J Immunol* (2000) 30(4):1002–9. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(200004) 30:4<1002::AID-IMMU1002>3.0.CO;2-2
- Bos JD, Zonneveld I, Das PK, Krieg SR, van der Loos CM, Kapsenberg ML. The skin immune system (SIS): distribution and immunophenotype of lymphocyte subpopulations in normal human skin. *J Invest Dermatol* (1987) 88(5):569–73. doi:10.1111/1523-1747.ep12470172
- 72. Smith JB, McIntosh GH, Morris B. The migration of cells through chronically inflamed tissues. *J Pathol* (1970) 100(1):21–9. doi:10.1002/path.1711000104
- Haig D, Deane D, Percival A, Myatt N, Thomson J, Inglis L, et al. The cytokine response of afferent lymph following orf virus reinfection of sheep. *Vet Dermatol* (1996) 7(1):11–20. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3164.1996.tb00221.x
- Beura LK, Hamilton SE, Bi K, Schenkel JM, Odumade OA, Casey KA, et al. Normalizing the environment recapitulates adult human immune traits in laboratory mice. *Nature* (2016) 532(7600):512–6. doi:10.1038/nature17655
- Girard JP, Moussion C, Forster R. HEVs, lymphatics and homeostatic immune cell trafficking in lymph nodes. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2012) 12(11):762–73. doi:10.1038/nri3298
- Forster R, Davalos-Misslitz AC, Rot A. CCR7 and its ligands: balancing immunity and tolerance. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2008) 8(5):362–71. doi:10.1038/ nri2297
- Schwab SR, Pereira JP, Matloubian M, Xu Y, Huang Y, Cyster JG. Lymphocyte sequestration through S1P lyase inhibition and disruption of S1P gradients. *Science* (2005) 309(5741):1735–9. doi:10.1126/science.1113640
- Shiow LR, Rosen DB, Brdickova N, Xu Y, An J, Lanier LL, et al. CD69 acts downstream of interferon-alpha/beta to inhibit S1P1 and lymphocyte egress from lymphoid organs. *Nature* (2006) 440(7083):540–4. doi:10.1038/ nature04606
- Bankovich AJ, Shiow LR, Cyster JG. CD69 suppresses sphingosine 1-phosophate receptor-1 (S1P1) function through interaction with membrane helix 4. *J Biol Chem* (2010) 285(29):22328–37. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.123299

- Nakai A, Hayano Y, Furuta F, Noda M, Suzuki K. Control of lymphocyte egress from lymph nodes through beta2-adrenergic receptors. *J Exp Med* (2014) 211(13):2583–98. doi:10.1084/jem.20141132
- Irjala H, Elima K, Johansson EL, Merinen M, Kontula K, Alanen K, et al. The same endothelial receptor controls lymphocyte traffic both in vascular and lymphatic vessels. *Eur J Immunol* (2003) 33(3):815–24. doi:10.1002/ eji.200323859
- Irjala H, Johansson EL, Grenman R, Alanen K, Salmi M, Jalkanen S. Mannose receptor is a novel ligand for L-selectin and mediates lymphocyte binding to lymphatic endothelium. *J Exp Med* (2001) 194(8):1033–42. doi:10.1084/ jem.194.8.1033
- Ito K, Morimoto J, Kihara A, Matsui Y, Kurotaki D, Kanayama M, et al. Integrin alpha9 on lymphatic endothelial cells regulates lymphocyte egress. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A* (2014) 111(8):3080–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.1311022111
- Chaffin KE, Perlmutter RM. A pertussis toxin-sensitive process controls thymocyte emigration. *Eur J Immunol* (1991) 21(10):2565–73. doi:10.1002/ eji.1830211038
- Sharma S, Mathur AG, Pradhan S, Singh DB, Gupta S. Fingolimod (FTY720): first approved oral therapy for multiple sclerosis. *J Pharmacol Pharmacother* (2011) 2(1):49–51. doi:10.4103/0976-500X.77118
- 86. Chiba K, Yanagawa Y, Masubuchi Y, Kataoka H, Kawaguchi T, Ohtsuki M, et al. FTY720, a novel immunosuppressant, induces sequestration of circulating mature lymphocytes by acceleration of lymphocyte homing in rats. I. FTY720 selectively decreases the number of circulating mature lymphocytes by acceleration of lymphocyte homing. *J Immunol* (1998) 160(10):5037–44.
- Yanagawa Y, Masubuchi Y, Chiba K. FTY720, a novel immunosuppressant, induces sequestration of circulating mature lymphocytes by acceleration of lymphocyte homing in rats, III. Increase in frequency of CD62L-positive T cells in Peyer's patches by FTY720-induced lymphocyte homing. *Immunology* (1998) 95(4):591–4. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2567.1998. 00639.x
- Mandala S, Hajdu R, Bergstrom J, Quackenbush E, Xie J, Milligan J, et al. Alteration of lymphocyte trafficking by sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor agonists. *Science* (2002) 296(5566):346–9. doi:10.1126/science.1070238
- Brinkmann V, Davis MD, Heise CE, Albert R, Cottens S, Hof R, et al. The immune modulator FTY720 targets sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277(24):21453–7. doi:10.1074/jbc.C200176200
- Graeler M, Goetzl EJ. Activation-regulated expression and chemotactic function of sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors in mouse splenic T cells. *FASEB J* (2002) 16(14):1874–8. doi:10.1096/fj.02-0548com
- Schwab SR, Cyster JG. Finding a way out: lymphocyte egress from lymphoid organs. Nat Immunol (2007) 8(12):1295–301. doi:10.1038/ni1545
- Lee MJ, Van Brocklyn JR, Thangada S, Liu CH, Hand AR, Menzeleev R, et al. Sphingosine-1-phosphate as a ligand for the G protein-coupled receptor EDG-1. *Science* (1998) 279(5356):1552–5. doi:10.1126/science.279. 5356.1552
- Cyster JG, Schwab SR. Sphingosine-1-phosphate and lymphocyte egress from lymphoid organs. Annu Rev Immunol (2012) 30:69–94. doi:10.1146/ annurev-immunol-020711-075011
- Venkataraman K, Lee YM, Michaud J, Thangada S, Ai Y, Bonkovsky HL, et al. Vascular endothelium as a contributor of plasma sphingosine 1-phosphate. *Circ Res* (2008) 102(6):669–76. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.107.165845
- Lo CG, Xu Y, Proia RL, Cyster JG. Cyclical modulation of sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 1 surface expression during lymphocyte recirculation and relationship to lymphoid organ transit. *J Exp Med* (2005) 201(2):291–301. doi:10.1084/jem.20041509
- Rosen H, Goetzl EJ. Sphingosine 1-phosphate and its receptors: an autocrine and paracrine network. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2005) 5(7):560–70. doi:10.1038/ nri1650
- Liu CH, Thangada S, Lee MJ, Van Brocklyn JR, Spiegel S, Hla T. Ligandinduced trafficking of the sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor EDG-1. *Mol Biol Cell* (1999) 10(4):1179–90. doi:10.1091/mbc.10.4.1179
- Lambrecht BN, Pauwels RA. Fazekas De St Groth B. Induction of rapid T cell activation, division, and recirculation by intratracheal injection of dendritic cells in a TCR transgenic model. *J Immunol* (2000) 164(6):2937–46. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.164.6.2937
- Worbs T, Mempel TR, Bolter J, von Andrian UH, Forster R. CCR7 ligands stimulate the intranodal motility of T lymphocytes in vivo. *J Exp Med* (2007) 204(3):489–95. doi:10.1084/jem.20061706

- Carman CV, Martinelli RT. Lymphocyte-endothelial interactions: emerging understanding of trafficking and antigen-specific immunity. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:603. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00603
- 101. Wei SH, Rosen H, Matheu MP, Sanna MG, Wang SK, Jo E, et al. Sphingosine 1-phosphate type 1 receptor agonism inhibits transendothelial migration of medullary T cells to lymphatic sinuses. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6(12):1228–35. doi:10.1038/ni1269
- 102. Gebhardt T, Whitney PG, Zaid A, Mackay LK, Brooks AG, Heath WR, et al. Different patterns of peripheral migration by memory CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. *Nature* (2011) 477(7363):216–9. doi:10.1038/nature10339
- Gebhardt T, Mueller SN, Heath WR, Carbone FR. Peripheral tissue surveillance and residency by memory T cells. *Trends Immunol* (2013) 34(1):27–32. doi:10.1016/j.it.2012.08.008
- Mueller SN, Mackay LK. Tissue-resident memory T cells: local specialists in immune defence. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2016) 16(2):79–89. doi:10.1038/ nri.2015.3
- 105. Nitschke M, Aebischer D, Abadier M, Haener S, Lucic M, Vigl B, et al. Differential requirement for ROCK in dendritic cell migration within lymphatic capillaries in steady-state and inflammation. *Blood* (2012) 120(11):2249–58. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-03-417923
- 106. Tal O, Lim HY, Gurevich I, Milo I, Shipony Z, Ng LG, et al. DC mobilization from the skin requires docking to immobilized CCL21 on lymphatic endothelium and intralymphatic crawling. *J Exp Med* (2011) 208(10):2141–53. doi:10.1084/jem.20102392
- 107. Russo E, Teijeira A, Vaahtomeri K, Willrodt AH, Bloch JS, Nitschke M, et al. Intralymphatic CCL21 promotes tissue egress of dendritic cells through afferent lymphatic vessels. *Cell Rep* (2016) 14(7):1723–34. doi:10.1016/ j.celrep.2016.01.048
- Hampton HR, Bailey J, Tomura M, Brink R, Chtanova T. Microbe-dependent lymphatic migration of neutrophils modulates lymphocyte proliferation in lymph nodes. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:7139. doi:10.1038/ncomms8139
- Berk DA, Swartz MA, Leu AJ, Jain RK. Transport in lymphatic capillaries. II. Microscopic velocity measurement with fluorescence photobleaching. *Am J Physiol* (1996) 270(1 Pt 2):H330–7.
- 110. Swartz MA, Berk DA, Jain RK. Transport in lymphatic capillaries. I. Macroscopic measurements using residence time distribution theory. *Am J Physiol* (1996) 270(1 Pt 2):H324–9.
- Popel AS, Johnson PC. Microcirculation and hemorheology. Annu Rev Fluid Mech (2005) 37:43–69. doi:10.1146/annurev.fluid.37.042604.133933
- 112. Dixon JB, Zawieja DC, Gashev AA, Cote GL. Measuring microlymphatic flow using fast video microscopy. J Biomed Opt (2005) 10(6):064016. doi:10.1117/1.2135791
- Dixon JB, Greiner ST, Gashev AA, Cote GL, Moore JE, Zawieja DC. Lymph flow, shear stress, and lymphocyte velocity in rat mesenteric prenodallymphatics. *Microcirculation* (2006) 13(7):597–610. doi:10.1080/10739680600893909
- Bromley SK, Thomas SY, Luster AD. Chemokine receptor CCR7 guides T cell exit from peripheral tissues and entry into afferent lymphatics. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6(9):895–901. doi:10.1038/ni1240
- 115. Salmi M, Karikoski M, Elima K, Rantakari P, Jalkanen S. CD44 binds to macrophage mannose receptor on lymphatic endothelium and supports lymphocyte migration via afferent lymphatics. *Circ Res* (2013) 112(12):1577–82. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.300476
- 116. Marttila-Ichihara F, Turja R, Miiluniemi M, Karikoski M, Maksimow M, Niemela J, et al. Macrophage mannose receptor on lymphatics controls cell trafficking. *Blood* (2008) 112(1):64–72. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-10-118984
- 117. Karikoski M, Irjala H, Maksimow M, Miiluniemi M, Granfors K, Hernesniemi S, et al. Clever-1/Stabilin-1 regulates lymphocyte migration within lymphatics and leukocyte entrance to sites of inflammation. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) 39(12):3477–87. doi:10.1002/eji.200939896
- 118. Iftakhar EKI, Fair-Makela R, Kukkonen-Macchi A, Elima K, Karikoski M, Rantakari P, et al. Gene-expression profiling of different arms of lymphatic vasculature identifies candidates for manipulation of cell traffic. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2016) 113(38):10643–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1602357113
- 119. Sallusto F, Lenig D, Forster R, Lipp M, Lanzavecchia A. Two subsets of memory T lymphocytes with distinct homing potentials and effector functions. *Nature* (1999) 401(6754):708–12. doi:10.1038/44385
- 120. Campbell JJ, Murphy KE, Kunkel EJ, Brightling CE, Soler D, Shen Z, et al. CCR7 expression and memory T cell diversity in humans. *J Immunol* (2001) 166(2):877–84. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.166.2.877

- 121. Clark RA, Chong B, Mirchandani N, Brinster NK, Yamanaka K, Dowgiert RK, et al. The vast majority of CLA+ T cells are resident in normal skin. *J Immunol* (2006) 176(7):4431–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.7.4431
- 122. Weber M, Hauschild R, Schwarz J, Moussion C, de Vries I, Legler DF, et al. Interstitial dendritic cell guidance by haptotactic chemokine gradients. *Science* (2013) 339(6117):328–32. doi:10.1126/science.1228456
- 123. Hopken UE, Wengner AM, Loddenkemper C, Stein H, Heimesaat MM, Rehm A, et al. CCR7 deficiency causes ectopic lymphoid neogenesis and disturbed mucosal tissue integrity. *Blood* (2007) 109(3):886–95. doi:10.1182/ blood-2006-03-013532
- 124. Menning A, Hopken UE, Siegmund K, Lipp M, Hamann A, Huehn J. Distinctive role of CCR7 in migration and functional activity of naive- and effector/memory-like Treg subsets. *Eur J Immunol* (2007) 37(6):1575–83. doi:10.1002/eji.200737201
- 125. Skon CN, Lee JY, Anderson KG, Masopust D, Hogquist KA, Jameson SC. Transcriptional downregulation of S1pr1 is required for the establishment of resident memory CD8+ T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(12):1285–93. doi:10.1038/ni.2745
- 126. Mackay LK, Braun A, Macleod BL, Collins N, Tebartz C, Bedoui S, et al. Cutting edge: CD69 interference with sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor function regulates peripheral T cell retention. *J Immunol* (2015) 194(5):2059–63. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1402256
- 127. Mackay LK, Rahimpour A, Ma JZ, Collins N, Stock AT, Hafon ML, et al. The developmental pathway for CD103(+)CD8+ tissue-resident memory T cells of skin. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(12):1294–301. doi:10.1038/ni.2744
- 128. Wakim LM, Woodward-Davis A, Liu R, Hu Y, Villadangos J, Smyth G, et al. The molecular signature of tissue resident memory CD8 T cells isolated from the brain. *J Immunol* (2012) 189(7):3462–71. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1201305
- 129. Sathaliyawala T, Kubota M, Yudanin N, Turner D, Camp P, Thome JJ, et al. Distribution and compartmentalization of human circulating and tissueresident memory T cell subsets. *Immunity* (2013) 38(1):187–97. doi:10.1016/ j.immuni.2012.09.020
- Iijima N, Iwasaki A. T cell memory. A local macrophage chemokine network sustains protective tissue-resident memory CD4 T cells. *Science* (2014) 346(6205):93–8. doi:10.1126/science.1257530
- 131. Vigl B, Aebischer D, Nitschke M, Iolyeva M, Rothlin T, Antsiferova O, et al. Tissue inflammation modulates gene expression of lymphatic endothelial cells and dendritic cell migration in a stimulus-dependent manner. *Blood* (2011) 118(1):205–15. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-12-326447
- Johnson LA, Clasper S, Holt AP, Lalor PF, Baban D, Jackson DG. An inflammation-induced mechanism for leukocyte transmigration across lymphatic vessel endothelium. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203(12):2763–77. doi:10.1084/jem.20051759
- Takahashi K, Donovan MJ, Rogers RA, Ezekowitz RA. Distribution of murine mannose receptor expression from early embryogenesis through to adulthood. *Cell Tissue Res* (1998) 292(2):311–23. doi:10.1007/s004410051062
- 134. Linehan SA, Martinez-Pomares L, Stahl PD, Gordon S. Mannose receptor and its putative ligands in normal murine lymphoid and nonlymphoid organs: in situ expression of mannose receptor by selected macrophages, endothelial cells, perivascular microglia, and mesangial cells, but not dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* (1999) 189(12):1961–72. doi:10.1084/jem.189. 12.1961
- Salmi M, Koskinen K, Henttinen T, Elima K, Jalkanen S. CLEVER-1 mediates lymphocyte transmigration through vascular and lymphatic endothelium. *Blood* (2004) 104(13):3849–57. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-01-0222
- 136. Dejardin E, Droin NM, Delhase M, Haas E, Cao Y, Makris C, et al. The lymphotoxin-beta receptor induces different patterns of gene expression via two NF-kappaB pathways. *Immunity* (2002) 17(4):525–35. doi:10.1016/ S1074-7613(02)00423-5
- Luster AD, Alon R, von Andrian UH. Immune cell migration in inflammation: present and future therapeutic targets. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6(12):1182–90. doi:10.1038/ni1275
- 138. Mackay LK, Stock AT, Ma JZ, Jones CM, Kent SJ, Mueller SN, et al. Long-lived epithelial immunity by tissue-resident memory T (TRM) cells in the absence of persisting local antigen presentation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(18):7037–42. doi:10.1073/pnas.1202288109
- 139. Mueller SN, Zaid A, Carbone FR. Tissue-resident T cells: dynamic players in skin immunity. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:332. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00332

- 140. Gaide O, Emerson RO, Jiang X, Gulati N, Nizza S, Desmarais C, et al. Common clonal origin of central and resident memory T cells following skin immunization. *Nat Med* (2015) 21(6):647–53. doi:10.1038/nm.3860
- 141. Zaid A, Mackay LK, Rahimpour A, Braun A, Veldhoen M, Carbone FR, et al. Persistence of skin-resident memory T cells within an epidermal niche. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2014) 111(14):5307–12. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1322292111
- 142. Wakim LM, Waithman J, van Rooijen N, Heath WR, Carbone FR. Dendritic cell-induced memory T cell activation in nonlymphoid tissues. *Science* (2008) 319(5860):198–202. doi:10.1126/science.1151869
- 143. Cuburu N, Graham BS, Buck CB, Kines RC, Pang YY, Day PM, et al. Intravaginal immunization with HPV vectors induces tissue-resident CD8+ T cell responses. J Clin Invest (2012) 122(12):4606–20. doi:10.1172/ JCI63287
- 144. Siegmund K, Feuerer M, Siewert C, Ghani S, Haubold U, Dankof A, et al. Migration matters: regulatory T-cell compartmentalization determines suppressive activity in vivo. *Blood* (2005) 106(9):3097–104. doi:10.1182/ blood-2005-05-1864
- 145. Yurchenko E, Tritt M, Hay V, Shevach EM, Belkaid Y, Piccirillo CA. CCR5dependent homing of naturally occurring CD4+ regulatory T cells to sites of *Leishmania major* infection favors pathogen persistence. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203(11):2451–60. doi:10.1084/jem.20060956
- 146. Lehtimaki S, Savinko T, Lahl K, Sparwasser T, Wolff H, Lauerma A, et al. The temporal and spatial dynamics of Foxp3+ Treg cell-mediated suppression during contact hypersensitivity responses in a murine model. *J Invest Dermatol* (2012) 132(12):2744–51. doi:10.1038/jid.2012.212
- 147. Honda T, Otsuka A, Tanizaki H, Minegaki Y, Nagao K, Waldmann H, et al. Enhanced murine contact hypersensitivity by depletion of endogenous regulatory T cells in the sensitization phase. *J Dermatol Sci* (2011) 61(2):144–7. doi:10.1016/j.jdermsci.2010.11.001
- 148. Dubois B, Chapat L, Goubier A, Papiernik M, Nicolas JF, Kaiserlian D. Innate CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells are required for oral tolerance and inhibition of CD8+ T cells mediating skin inflammation. *Blood* (2003) 102(9):3295–301. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-03-0727
- 149. Tang Q, Adams JY, Tooley AJ, Bi M, Fife BT, Serra P, et al. Visualizing regulatory T cell control of autoimmune responses in nonobese diabetic mice. *Nat Immunol* (2006) 7(1):83–92. doi:10.1038/ni1289
- 150. Kish DD, Gorbachev AV, Fairchild RL. CD8+ T cells produce IL-2, which is required for CD(4+)CD25+ T cell regulation of effector CD8+ T cell

development for contact hypersensitivity responses. J Leukoc Biol (2005) 78(3):725-35. doi:10.1189/jlb.0205069

- Huang MT, Lin BR, Liu WL, Lu CW, Chiang BL. Lymph node trafficking of regulatory T cells is prerequisite for immune suppression. *J Leukoc Biol* (2016) 99(4):561–8. doi:10.1189/jlb.1A0715-296R
- Gomez D, Diehl MC, Crosby EJ, Weinkopff T, Debes GF. Effector T cell egress via afferent lymph modulates local tissue inflammation. *J Immunol* (2015) 195(8):3531–6. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1500626
- 153. McNamee EN, Masterson JC, Veny M, Collins CB, Jedlicka P, Byrne FR, et al. Chemokine receptor CCR7 regulates the intestinal TH1/TH17/Treg balance during Crohn's-like murine ileitis. *J Leukoc Biol* (2015) 97(6):1011–22. doi:10.1189/jlb.3HI0614-303R
- 154. Stephens R, Randolph DA, Huang G, Holtzman MJ, Chaplin DD. Antigennonspecific recruitment of Th2 cells to the lung as a mechanism for viral infection-induced allergic asthma. *J Immunol* (2002) 169(10):5458–67. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.169.10.5458
- Ely KH, Cauley LS, Roberts AD, Brennan JW, Cookenham T, Woodland DL. Nonspecific recruitment of memory CD8+ T cells to the lung airways during respiratory virus infections. *J Immunol* (2003) 170(3):1423–9. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.170.3.1423
- 156. Jennrich S, Lee MH, Lynn RC, Dewberry K, Debes GF. Tissue exit: a novel control point in the accumulation of antigen-specific CD8 T cells in the influenza a virus-infected lung. *J Virol* (2012) 86(7):3436–45. doi:10.1128/ JVI.07025-11

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer TL and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation, and the handling Editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2016 Hunter, Teijeira and Halin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Shaping of Peripheral T Cell Responses by Lymphatic Endothelial Cells

Marion Humbert, Stéphanie Hugues* and Juan Dubrot*

Department of Pathology and Immunology, University of Geneva Medical School, Geneva, Switzerland

Lymph node stromal cells (LNSCs) have newly been promoted to the rank of new modulators of T cell responses. The different non-hematopoietic cell subsets in lymph node (LN) were considered for years as a simple scaffold, forming routes and proper environment for antigen (Ag)-lymphocyte encountering. Deeper characterization of those cells has recently clearly shown their impact on both dendritic cell and T cell functions. In particular, lymphatic endothelial cells (LECs) control lymphocyte trafficking and homeostasis in LNs and limit adaptive immune responses. Therefore, the new role of LECs in shaping immune responses has drawn the attention of immunologists. Striking is the discovery that LECs, among other LNSCs, ectopically express a large range of peripheral tissue-restricted Ags (PTAs), and further present PTA-derived peptides through major histocompatibility class I molecules to induce self-reactive CD8+ T cell deletional tolerance. In addition, both steady-state and tumor-associated LECs were described to be capable of exogenous Ag cross-presentation. Whether LECs can similarly impact CD4+ T cell responses through major histocompatibility class II restricted Ag presentation is still a matter of debate. Here, we review and discuss our current knowledge on the contribution of Ag-presenting LECs as regulators of peripheral T cell responses in different immunological contexts, including autoimmunity and cancer.

Keywords: lymphatic endothelial cells, peripheral tissue antigens, antigen presentation, immunomodulation, tolerance

INTRODUCTION

The lymphatic system comprises a network of vessels together with lymphoid tissues all over the body that drain the extracellular compartment from most of the tissues. It transports lymph fluid, which is composed of immune cells and proteins drained from interstitial tissues, and helps to dispose of toxins and other unwanted components from the body. Lymphocytes follow the lymphatic system to migrate to infection sites, which supports and facilitates immune responses against potential harms. Frequently underestimated by scientists, the importance of lymphatics in controlling the immune system beyond the regulation of leukocyte trafficking has reached a new level with recent discoveries.

The initial observations of the lymphatic system date back to the Ancient Greece, referred to as "white blood." However, it was in the seventeenth century that Asellius formally discovered the lymphatic vessels or, what he called, the "milky veins" from mesenteries in dogs (1). Several diseases have been described to result from failures in the lymphatic system, some of them having life-threatening consequences, such as lymphedema (2). Even more strikingly, the role of lymphatics in

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sonia Elhadad, Weill Cornell Medical College, USA

Reviewed by:

Hideki Nakano, National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, USA Ingrid E. Dumitriu, St. George's University of London, UK Beth Ann Tamburini, University of Colorado Denver, USA

*Correspondence:

Stéphanie Hugues stephanie.hugues@unige.ch; Juan Dubrot juan.dubrotarmendariz@unige.ch

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 21 October 2016 Accepted: 22 December 2016 Published: 12 January 2017

Citation:

Humbert M, Hugues S and Dubrot J (2017) Shaping of Peripheral T Cell Responses by Lymphatic Endothelial Cells. Front. Immunol. 7:684. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00684

36

tumor spreading is known since the eighteenth century. Despite the ancient knowledge in the lymphatic system organization, our understanding in its multiple functions has rapidly evolved thanks to the unveiling of lymphatic endothelial cell (LEC) specific markers, such as the surface protein Lyve-1 or the transcription factor Prox-1, which are lacking in other endothelial cells. Several studies have subsequently demonstrated that LECs impact immune responses in many ways, including the modulation of immune cell migration and encounter, effector functions, and survival. In this review, we discuss our current understanding of the imunoregulatory properties of LECs. We specifically discuss the ability of LECs to directly impact T cell responses by presenting endogenous or exogenous antigens (Ags) to T cells in lymph nodes (LNs), and therefore to shape Ag-specific peripheral T cell responses in the context of autoimmunity and cancers.

ORIGIN AND TYPES OF LYMPHATICS

LEC Development

Nowadays, it is well accepted and documented that, during embryogenesis, LECs differentiate from specialized angioblasts in the developing veins (3, 4). Nevertheless, this has been controversial for long until just few decades ago due to, in particular, the lack of knowledge on lymphatic-specific markers. Two different hypotheses raised in early twentieth century debated the possible origin of the lymphatic system. On one hand, studies on embryonic cats suggested that primary lymph sacs arised from mesenchymal progenitors (5). On the other hand, intravenous injection of ink in pig embryos revealed that lymph sacs developed from budding of embryonic veins (6, 7). The identification of the vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 (VEGFR-3) (8) reinforced the latter hypothesis of a common origin for both lymphatic and blood endothelial cells (BECs). In adulthood, VEGFR-3 expression is restricted to LECs (8, 9). However, it is also expressed by angioblasts and developing veins during embryonic development (8, 10, 11). Impaired development of both lymphatic and blood endothelium in VEGFR-3-deficient mice suggested a common progenitor for LECs and BECs (11). Further ratification of VEGFR-3 requirement for lymphatic development was provided by studies modulating the expression of its main ligand, the vascular endothelial growth factor C (VEGF-C). Overexpression of VEGF-C induced lymphatic sprouting and lymphangiogenesis (12-14).

The identification of the homeobox gene Prox-1 in 1993 led few years later to the final confirmation of the theory proposing the venous origin of lymphatics. Deletion of Prox-1 in mice results in the absence of early lymphatic endothelial differentiation and, as a consequence, Prox-1 knockout mice totally lack the lymphatic system (10, 15). Prox-1 expression in particular cells of the embryonic veins at E9.5 starts the lymphatic polarization and imprints the LEC signature (10, 15, 16). Transcriptome studies showed high proximity in LECs and BECs gene expression profiles. However, Prox-1 acts as the specific regulator of genes that are inversely regulated in a type-specific manner (17, 18). Indeed, potentially all venous endothelial cells may give rise to blood or lymphatic endothelium as demonstrated by Prox-1-induced reprograming when overexpressed in BECs (16). After development, functional Prox-1 is required to maintain the lymphatic phenotype (19). The molecular mechanisms of Prox-1-driven lymphatic differentiation have been reviewed recently (4). In addition, recent studies in zebrafish validated the molecular mechanisms governing lymphatic development, further demonstrating that the vast majority of cells contributing to LECs in thoracic ducts of zebrafish raised from primitive veins (3, 20). Later in development, however, the origin of organspecific lymphatic vasculature might be slightly different. Using cell-fate mapping technologies, a recent publication suggested a combination of venous- and non-venous-derived LECs in the developing cardiac lymphatics (21). This spatiotemporal discrepancy may explain the difficulties experienced in obtaining a fully convincing explanation in the origin of LECs.

The specification of LECs during development entails structural and functional differences between blood and lymphatic systems. In sharp contrast to the circular and closed blood vasculature, lymphatic circulation appears as a linear- and blind-ended circuit. Capillaries of the lymphatic system drain interstitial fluids from peripheral organs and tissues thanks to the particular organization of LECs in the terminal lymphatics. The uptake of interstitial fluid, macromolecules, and cells is possible due to the highly permeable thin-walled capillary vessels composed of a single layer of LECs, which are not covered by pericytes or smooth muscle cells and have little or no basement membrane (22). Lymphatic capillaries exhibit discontinuous or "button-like" junctions where the interjunctional gaps act as sites of leukocyte entry into the vessels (23, 24). Terminal lymphatic capillaries are linked to the surrounding extracellular matrix by anchoring filaments that sense changes in interstitial pressures during inflammation. This results in vessel lumen and junction aperture, therefore facilitating the uptake of tissue-derived fluids. Deeper, lymphatics change from a drainage-prone phenotype to a collector vessel morphology specialized in lymph transport. Collecting lymphatics are surrounded by pericytes and smooth muscle cells and possess a basement membrane, displaying continuous "zipper-like" junctions. The presence of valves (22, 23) ensures the lymph circulation while preventing retrograde flow.

Main LEC Types

Lymphatic vessels are present in almost all the vascularized organs, with the exception of the bone marrow. LEC immune modulatory properties represent a growing research area. LN LECs being the most characterized subset and representing the objective of this review is not discussed in this section.

However, lessons taken from studies performed during the last decade clearly establish different functions and possible roles for LECs from different anatomic locations. Deeper and careful future analyses will identify specific immunoregulatory features of distinct LEC populations.

For decades, lymphatic drainage was suggested to be involved in local immune responses (25). Dendritic cells (DCs) draw all the attention in initiating and eliciting tolerance or activation of the immune system. However, the role of lymph drainage in modulating adaptive immunity and tolerance remained largely unexplored. K14-VEGFR-3-Ig mice express soluble VEGFR-3-Ig *via* the keratin 14 promoter, resulting in a lack of lymphatic growth, which is restricted to the skin, and in a drop in fluid clearance (26). In these mice, local lymphatic drainage appeared to be critical for humoral immunity and acquired tolerance, while T cell responses remained delayed but mostly unaffected. There is no doubt that additional mechanisms and functions of dermal LECs will be discovered in the future.

LSECs could be seen as LEC counterparts in the liver. First described in 1970 (27), LSECs possess a high ability to filter fluids, solutes, and particles from hepatic circulation, occupy a large surface area exposed to blood that carries external food and commensal bacterial Ag, and are known to cross-present exogenous Ag to T cells (28).

A traditional dogma states the immune privilege and lack of lymphatic system in the central nervous system (CNS). This idea has persisted despite the notion of immune surveillance of T cells in the brain (29). A recent and elegant study identified for the first time the lymphatic vasculature in a specific area of the meninges lining the dural sinuses (30). The vessels express LEC-specific markers such as Lyve-1, Prox-1, or Podoplanin and drain the cerebrospinal fluid to deep cervical LNs. These findings provide new insights in the establishment and progression of some neurological diseases involving immune cell contribution, such as multiple sclerosis or Alzheimer's. Moreover, CNS-resident stromal fibroblastic and endothelial cells were shown to guide antiviral CD8⁺ T cell responses in a model of virus-induced neuroinflammation (31). The production of CCR7 ligands CCL19 and CCL21 by CNS stromal cells was found critical for the induction of viral-specific T cell recruitment and the support of local T cell reactivation. Whether newly discovered CNS lymphatics (30) similarly contribute to neuroinflammatory immunopathologies remains to be determined.

Lymphatic development in the tumor microenvironment, known as tumor lymphangiogenesis, has been extensively studied. The participation of tumor lymphatics in the spread of the disease, or metastasis, has been studied for many years. In fact, most human melanomas and carcinomas metastasize through the lymphatic system (32). The presence of tumor-associated LECs correlates with bad clinical outcome in several types of cancer (33) and therapies aiming the blockade of tumor lymphangiogenesis are being considered for treatment of such malignancies (34). Growing evidence highlight the impact of tumor-associated LECs in dampening antitumor immunity. How interactions between lymphatics and T cells in the context of tumor development will further alter T cell responses is discussed below.

Ag PRESENTATION INDEPENDENT IMPACT OF LECs ON PERIPHERAL T CELL RESPONSES

Hallmarks of T cell immunity include the generation of pathogenspecific effector responses to confer protection against a large range of invaders, without causing unwanted self-tissue damage. Naïve T cells constantly scan for their cognate Ag. However, given the extremely low frequency of T cells being specific for a particular peptide–major histocompatibility (MHC) complex (35, 36), this challenging task is strictly located into highly organized secondary lymphoid organs (SLOs), such as LNs, Peyer's patches (PPs), and the spleen. These SLOs contain both tissue-derived and blood-borne Ags, therefore facilitating naïve T cell-Ag encounter, and subsequent T cell activation and differentiation into T cell effectors. This part summarizes the different pathways by which LECs will impact T cell outcome inside and after exiting LNs.

Ag Delivery to LNs

As described before, LNs are connected to lymphatics, which drain peripheral tissue-derived fluids. By connecting tissues to draining LNs, LECs facilitate the passive entry of tissue-derived Ags that can thereby be captured, processed, and presented by resident DCs to T cells entering LNs through high endothelial venules (37, 38). Soluble Ags are immediately sampled by LN DCs, whereas particles carrying Ags, such as exosomes, apoptotic bodies or microvesicles, which have not been captured by subcapsular sinus macrophages, flow to LN medullary sinuses where they can be sampled by DCs (39). LECs also support the active migration of tissue-resident DCs into LNs. DC migration from tissues to draining LNs via lymphatic vessels is an important way to present Ags and activate naïve T cells. DCs enter afferent lymphatics through preformed portals (40), independent of integrin-mediated adhesion (41). However, LECs upregulate adhesion molecules upon inflammation, further favoring DC access to lymphatic vessels (42). In addition, expression of CLEC2 (a C-type lectin receptor) by DCs promotes their migration to LNs via lymphatics through interaction with its ligand gp38 (Podoplanin), which is expressed by both LECs and fibroblastic reticular cells (FRCs) (43).

Modulation of DC Functions

Tissue-resident DCs having acquired peripheral Ags subsequently migrate through afferent lymphatics into LNs in a CCR7-dependent manner. However, the lymphatic system does not only support DC migration from tissues to LNs. Indeed, close interactions between migrating DCs and LECs induce phenotypic and functional changes in DCs. First, contacts between TNF- α -stimulated LECs and DCs lead to decreased expression of costimulatory molecules by DCs in vitro, thus impairing DC ability to induce T cell proliferation (44). LECmediated regulation of DC functions is dependent on interactions between CD11b (Mac-1) on DCs and ICAM-1 on LECs (44). Interestingly, LECs are able to inhibit the function of LPS-activated DCs, suggesting once again a regulatory role for LECs in the resolution phase of inflammation. A recent report demonstrated that LECs function as reservoirs of peripheral tissue-restricted Ags (PTAs), which are subsequently acquired and presented by DCs to induce T cell anergy, therefore contributing to peripheral CD4⁺ T cell tolerance (45).

T Cell Homeostasis

While T cell migration inside LNs is mainly driven by CCL19 and CCL21 produced by FRCs (46), naive and memory T lymphocyte maintenance in SLOs is highly dependent on IL-7. Together with FRCs (47), LECs represent an important source of IL-7 *in vivo*, regulating lymphocyte homeostasis and access to SLOs. IL-7-GFP

knock-in mice exhibit moderate GFP expression in LN-FRCs, whereas high levels were detected in both LN LECs and tissue LECs (48, 49). Similarly, LECs were shown to be the major source of IL-7 in both human and murine LNs (50). Furthermore, LECs not only produce IL-7 but also express the IL-7 receptor chains IL-7Rα and CD132, suggesting a possible role for IL-7 as an autocrine mediator of lymphatic drainage. IL-7-stimulated LECs induced lymphangiogenesis in the cornea of mice in vitro, whereas in IL-7R $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice, lymphatic drainage was compromised (51). In addition, IL-7 upregulation by both FRCs and LECs is essential for LN reconstruction and remodeling following viral infection or avascular transplantation (50). This suggests that IL-7 production in LN after resolution of an infection could be involved in memory T cell homeostasis. Accordingly, IL-7 promotes the development, the proliferation, and the survival of memory CD8+ T cells (52, 53).

T Cell Egress from LNs

T cell egress from LNs is dependent on their expression of the sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) receptor (S1PR1). Using mice lacking S1P selectively in LECs while maintaining normal blood S1P, Cyster and collaborators have shown that LECs are an in vivo source of S1P in LNs, allowing T cell egress from LNs and PPs (54). S1PR1 expression is downregulated by blood circulating lymphocytes, and upregulated in LNs. Interactions between S1P-producing LECs and S1P1R-expressing T cells promote LN egress by overcoming retention signals mediated by CCR7 (55, 56). Although steady-state LECs express low levels of S1P, its production is upregulated in medullary sinus LECs upon PAMP/DAMP-mediated inflammation, suggesting that high S1P-expressing LECs can promote effector T cell egress from LNs in pathogenic situations. In contrast, in non-infectious sterile inflammatory contexts, low S1P-producing LECs would rather dampen T cell effector functions by favoring T cell retention in LNs.

T Cell Migration in Tumor-Associated Lymphatics

Increasing evidence suggest that tumor-associated lymphatics not only simply function as tumor cell transporters but also play additional important roles impacting tumor development. Accordingly, not only metastatic but also primary tumor progression can be affected by modulating tumor-associated lymphatic expansion. In the context of solid tumors, lymph flow from tumors is elevated, driving intense interstitial flow in the tumor stroma and increasing lymphatic drainage from the tumor to the draining LN (57). Combined with a suppressive cytokine environment, it is therefore possible that increased tumor Ags drainage could promote tumor-specific T cell dysfunction, including anergy and apoptosis. In addition, the lymph supports cells migrating from tissues, in particular CCR7⁺ DCs, a phenomenon shown to be critical for initiating antitumor immune responses (58).

Tumor infiltration by T cells is one of the key steps in antitumor immunity. While cytotoxic T lymphocyte infiltration correlates with good prognosis, accumulation of T regulatory cells (Treg) or naïve T cells is detrimental for the clinical outcome (59, 60). Likewise, expression of CCL21 in the tumor promotes immune escape and tumor progression (61), which may be explained, at least in part, by the enhancement of naïve T cell recruitment. Although T cell receptor (TCR)-transgenic tumor-infiltrating naïve T cells may be activated *in situ* (62), it is unlikely, given the immunosuppressive tumor-related environment, that this will lead to fully competent effector T cell differentiation. In this regard, it is still to be demonstrated whether CCL21-producing LECs contribute to this effect. How LECs contribute to the overall tolerogenic properties of the tumor microenvironment is still an open question.

We have demonstrated that the lymphangiogenic growth factor VEGF-C produced in the tumor promoted immunological tolerance in murine melanoma (63). VEGF-C protected tumors against preexisting antitumor immunity and promoted local deletion of tumor-specific CD8⁺ T cells (63, 64). Our findings introduce a new role for lymphatics in promoting tumor development and suggest that lymphatic endothelium in the local microenvironment may be a novel target for immunomodulation. Supporting those hypotheses there is a recent publication demonstrating that following exposure to tumor-derived factors, FRCs of the tumor-draining LNs adapt on multiple levels to exhibit features associated with immunosuppression, such as decreased production of IL-7 and CCL19/21 (65). Whether a similar profound reprograming occurs to LECs in tumor-draining LNs remains to be determined.

Ag PRESENTATION-DEPENDENT IMPACT OF LECs ON PERIPHERAL T CELL RESPONSES

In addition to their ability to modulate T cell responses by impacting immune cell migration, interactions, and homeostasis, LECs can also function as Ag-presenting cells through several mechanisms and directly influence peripheral T cell outcome.

Presentation of Endogenously Expressed PTAs to T Cells by LECs

In order to prevent autoimmunity, thymocytes go through a process of negative selection, part of the so-called central tolerance, allowing the deletion of autoreactive T cell clones before they exit from the thymus to enter into the periphery [reviewed in Ref. (66, 67)]. In the thymus, medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTECs) promiscuously express PTAs, Ag that are normally expressed in the periphery (68, 69). The expression of a vast majority of PTAs in mTECs is regulated by transcription factors (70), including the autoimmune regulator (Aire), mutations in Aire leading to severe autoimmune disorders (71, 72). PTAs can be either directly presented by mTECs to the thymocytes, acquired from mTECs by thymus-resident DCs or acquired in tissues by migrating DCs or plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs), and cross-presented to the thymocytes (73-76) (Figure 1A). Thymocytes expressing a TCR with a too high affinity for self-Ag/MHC complexes undergo clonal deletion (73-75). A fraction of the CD4+ thymocytes having a TCR with a high affinity differentiates into thymus-derived Tregs (tTregs), previously called natural Tregs (nTregs), and expresses



FIGURE 1 | **Maintenance of T cell tolerance**. (**A**) Schematic view of thymic central tolerance, reviewed in Ref. (67). After positive selection (not depicted), simple positive (SP) thymocytes undergo a process of negative selection. Thymus-resident conventional dendritic cells (cDCs) and peripheral tissue-restricted antigens (Ags) (PTA) (green)-expressing medullary thymic epithelial cells, as well as peripheral plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) and cDCs, that have acquired Ag (yellow) in the periphery and migrate to the thymus, present self-peptide major histocompatibility complex (MHC) complexes to SP thymocytes. Thymocytes expressing a T cell receptor (TCR) with high affinity for self (dark colors) are clonally deleted. SP expressing a TCR with intermediate affinity differentiate into thymus-derived T regulatory cell (Treg) (medium colors). Low-affinity TCR-expressing SP (light colors) exit from the thymus and enter the periphery, however comprising some self-reactive T cells (dark colors) that escaped central tolerance. (**B**) Peripheral T cell tolerance in the lymph nodes (LNs). References related to lymph node stromal cell contributions are indicated (numbers). Self-Ag-specific T cell tolerance is further maintained in the periphery in LNs. cDCs and pDCs acquire Ag from peripheral tissues (yellow) and migrate to LNs to present endogenously expressed PTAs (pink), as well as peptide–MHC-II complexes acquired from cDCs, therefore contributing to peripheral T cell tolerances. Extrathymic autoimmune regulator (Aire)-expressing cells (eTACs) present endogenously expressed PTAs. The outcome of Ag presentation by each cell subtype is depicted in the figure. Cell migration and Ag transfer are represented by dotted and dashed arrows, respectively. exo Ags, exogenous antigens; migr. cDC, migratory cDC; pTreg, peripherally induced Treg; thym. cDC, thymus-resident cDC.

the transcription factor Foxp3 (77). A population of CD8⁺ Foxp3⁺ tTregs has also been described (78–81). However, some autoreactive—non-Treg—T cells do escape thymic central tolerance mechanisms and reach the periphery (82, 83), as a result from either an absence of specific self-Ag presentation in the thymus, or a lack of deletion due to a TCR exhibiting an affinity for self-Ag/MHC complexes below the negative selection threshold (84) (**Figure 1A**).

Therefore, additional mechanisms, called peripheral tolerance mechanisms, have evolved to maintain T cell tolerance apart from the thymus [reviewed in Ref. (66, 85)]. Cross-tolerance induction by peripheral DCs has been extensively studied and reviewed over the past two decades (86); immature DCs acquire Ag through the phagocytosis of apoptotic cells in peripheral tissues to present them to T cells in SLOs (87-89). In the absence of costimulatory signals, Ag presentation leads to CD4+ and CD8+ T cell clonal deletion (physical elimination) or anergy (functional inactivation) and/or to the induction of peripherally induced Tregs (pTregs), previously called induced Tregs (iTregs) in the presence of anti-inflammatory factors (77, 90-92). Both resident and migratory DCs, including pDCs, contribute to this process in the LNs (93-96) (Figure 1B). Nevertheless, emerging evidence demonstrates that peripheral tolerance does not exclusively rely on DCs. Lymph node stromal cells (LNSCs), and in particular LECs, also play an important role in the maintenance of peripheral tolerance (Figure 1B).

PTA-specific Expression by LECs

The discovery of the ectopic PTA expression by mTECs in the thymus was the first example that cells of non-hematopoietic origin present endogenously expressed self-Ag to T cells (68, 69). Using GFAP-HA or iFABP-tOVA transgenic mouse models, in which hemagglutinin (HA) or a truncated form of ovalbumin (tOVA) are expressed as self-Ag in enteric glial cells (EGCs) or mature intestinal epithelial cells (IECs), respectively, it was shown few years ago that the EGC-associated HA or IEC-associated tOVA proteins were unexpectedly expressed not only by EGCs or IECs but also by CD45-negative stromal cells, in all LNs and not exclusively in mesenteric LNs. Those LNSCs were able to process endogenously expressed self-proteins into antigenic peptides to directly present these Ag to CD8⁺ T cells in SLOs, making them functionally similar to mTECs in the thymus (97-100). Moreover, it was shown in non-transgenic mouse models that LNSCs naturally express PTAs and directly present them to CD8⁺ T cells. Among other examples, LNSCs ectopically express tyrosinase (tyr), while its expression is normally confined to melanocytes (101). It was later shown that LECs are the only cells ectopically expressing this Ag in the LN (102, 103). Indeed, using CD31 and gp38 (Podoplanin) as markers to distinguish the LNSC subtypes, it was observed that each subtype expresses a distinct set of PTAs, with some PTAs exclusively expressed in one specific LNSC subset and some others redundantly expressed (102, 103) (Figure 1B). This suggests a non-redundant role for the different LNSC subtypes in the tolerization of various self-specific T cells. In addition, the expression of PTAs by LECs is subanatomically compartmentalized, with a high expression of PTAs observed only in LN medullary sinus LECs (104).

In mTECs, the expression of most, but not all, PTAs is regulated by Aire (70, 71). In the LN, a rare bone marrowderived population was described to express Aire and was called extrathymic Aire-expressing cells (eTACs). Consequently, eTACs express various PTAs in an Aire-dependent manner, and present them through major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I) and MHC-II molecules to induce CD8+ T cell deletion (105), and CD4⁺ T cell anergy (106), respectively (Figure 1B). On the contrary, PTAs expressed by non-hematopoietic LNSCs, including LECs, are not dependent on Aire (103). The regulation of the expression of the pancreatic self-Ag Ppy by LECs in pancreatic LNs depends on the transcriptional regulator Deaf1, which, together with Aire, belongs to the SAND gene family (107, 108). Interestingly, variant isoforms of Deaf1 in mice and human display an impaired Ppy expression, and were linked to autoimmune type I diabetes (107). The fact that LNSCs do not express Aire may explain the low overlapping PTA expression in mTECs and LNSCs (109), therefore suggesting a complementary contribution of mTECs and LNSCs in T cell tolerance induction and maintenance. Future investigations will identify other transcription factors, selectively or commonly expressed by LNSC subsets, which promote different PTA expression.

PTA Presentation by LECs to T Cells

LNSCs not only endogenously express PTAs but also the direct presentation of PTA-derived peptides in the context of MHC-I molecules to CD8⁺ T cells leads to their clonal deletion and subsequent tolerance induction (97, 98, 101) (Figure 1B). In the GFAP-HA or iFABP-tOVA models mentioned above, the lack of presentation of HA or tOVA by enteric stromal cells to HA- or tOVA-specific CD8⁺ T cells was associated with enteric autoimmunity. Among other LNSC subsets, LECs are involved in this CD8⁺ T cell deletional tolerance and are necessary and sufficient for the induction of peripheral tolerance to some self-Ag, like Tyr, an autoantigen associated with autoimmune vitiligo (102, 103, 107). These studies show a crucial role for LECs in the maintenance of peripheral tolerance.

Nevertheless, the ability of LNSCs, and in particular LECs, to directly present endogenously expressed PTAs in the context of MHC-II molecules to CD4⁺ T cells is still a matter of debate, as well as the subsequent impact on CD4⁺ T cell outcome. We have previously shown that the endogenous expression of MHC-II molecules is regulated in LECs, BECs, and FRCs by the promoter IV (pIV) of the master regulator CIITA (110). One study has however demonstrated that the adoptive transfer of HA-specific TCR transgenic CD4⁺ T cells (6.5) in GFAP-HA transgenic mice, in which HA is expressed as an autoantigen by EGCs, did not dampen lethal enteric autoimmunity (98). However, as mentioned by the authors, the absence of direct presentation of HA peptide by LNSCs to HA-specific CD4⁺ T cells in their model does not rule out a possible upregulation of MHC-II molecules in LNSCs and a direct presentation under pro-inflammatory conditions (98). Indeed, several studies that will be discussed later in this review have suggested that LNSCs, among which LECs, upregulate MHC-II molecules at their surface upon inflammation (110, 111).

For their part, Engelhard and colleagues claim that LECs are unable to present endogenously expressed PTAs (β -galactosidase, membrane-bound HA or I-E α in their models) to CD4⁺ T cells, not related to Ag localization but due to a lack of H2-M expression in LECs, which would prevent the loading of peptides onto MHC-II molecules (45). However, this study was carried out in the steady state, whereas LECs, BECs, and FRCs, that express IFN- γ inducible-CIITA pIV, might require IFN- γ to upregulate H-2M molecules, as they do for MHC-II expression, these two genes being co-regulated by CIITA (112). Moreover, Mebius and colleagues observed the presence of mRNA transcripts for H2-M in LECs, among other MHC-II-related molecules (113).

Mebius and colleagues identified that in transgenic mice expressing OVA under the control of the keratin 14 promoter (K14mOVA mice), OVA was unexpectedly expressed in LECs. In addition, OVA⁺ LEC were able to present OVA peptides through MHC-II to OTII cells in vitro, leading to an increased Foxp3+ OT-II cells Treg homeostasis (113). Using LN transplantation experiments, the authors further suggested that the presentation of endogenously expressed self-Ag by LNSCs, and especially by LECs, contribute in vivo to the maintenance of Foxp3+ CD4+ Tregs in the periphery (Figure 1B) (113). Finally, lentiviral vectors allowing the selective transduction of MHC-II⁺ nonhematopoietic cells with MHC-II- and MHC-I-restricted HY male-derived epitopes induced T cell hyporesponsiveness/ anergy of HY-specific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in female mice (114). Moreover, in Marilyn TCR transgenic mice expressing HY-specific CD4+ T cells, increased conversion of effector CD4⁺ T cells into CD25⁺ Foxp3⁺ pTregs was observed (114). Whether these effects were due to a direct Ag presentation of endogenously expressed HY to CD4+ T cells by gp38+ stromal cells, i.e., LECs and FRCs in the LN, remains to be determined. Indeed, as stated by the authors, they cannot rule out that other, non-DC, hematopoietic cell types could contribute to the presentation of HY Ags, due to undesired transduction and subsequent direct Ag presentation and/or Ag transfer to stromal cells (110, 114). Despite a lack of demonstration of direct Ag presentation by gp38⁺ stromal cells and the lack of distinction between the contribution of the different stromal cell subtypes in this model, these data are in accordance with the results of Baptista et al., as mentioned above (113).

Molecular Pathways Involved in LEC-Mediated Peripheral T Cell Tolerance

The molecular pathways involved in the clonal deletion of CD8⁺ T cells by LNSCs, and in particular by LECs, are not fully elucidated. Using the iFABP-tOVA transgenic mouse model described above, in which tOVA is expressed as a self-Ag in the intestinal epithelium, it was shown that the induction of CD8⁺ T cell tolerance requires PD-1:PD-L1 interaction, as the disruption of this pathway leads to severe intestinal enteric autoimmune disorder (115). More specifically, in a model of adoptive transfer of Tyr-specific TCR transgenic CD8⁺ T cells (FH T cells) into Tyr-expressing bone marrow chimeric mice, in which either radiosensitive hematopoietic or radioresistant non-hematopoietic cells lacked PD-L1 expression, FH T cells

were deleted only when PD-L1 was expressed by the nonhematopoietic LN compartment (116). Moreover, among the LNSC subsets, LECs were the ones expressing the highest level of PD-L1, with medullary sinuses LECs being the highest expressers. In addition, LECs do not express costimulatory molecules at their surface. The administration of agonistic anti-4-1BB antibodies prevented the deletion of FH CD8+ T cells. The lack of costimulation through 4-1BB by LECs would lead to PD-1 upregulation by FH T cells, as Tyr presentation by LECs led to a higher expression of PD-1 by FH T cells, an effect that was suppressed upon agonistic anti-4-1BB antibody administration. This would, in turn, prevent CD25 upregulation, which is necessary for CD8⁺ T cells survival. Indeed, CD25 expression on FH T cells was upregulated only in the presence of agonistic anti-4-1BB or blocking anti-PD-L1 antibodies after Tyr presentation by LECs (116). Hence, in this model, LECs are responsible for the presentation of the endogenously expressed Tyr, which, together with a combination of a lack of costimulation and a provision of co-inhibitory signal, leads to Tyr-specific CD8+ T cell deletion (116). The high expression of PD-L1 in LECs is likely regulated by lymphotoxin β receptor (Lt β r), as the treatment of mice with anti-Ltßr antibodies led to decreased PD-L1 expression in LECs (104). Using μ MT^{-/-}, CD3 $\epsilon^{-/-}$, and Rag1^{-/-} mice, it was further shown that B cells are required for the expression of the adhesion molecule MadCAM-1 at the surface of LECs in the medulla, itself necessary for the expression of PD-L1. On the contrary, T cells seemed to suppress PD-L1 expression in LECs through mechanisms that have not been deciphered yet (104). Finally, it was suggested that the expression of MHC-II on LECs would be involved in the induction of CD8+ T cells tolerance to endogenously expressed self-Ag in LECs by engaging the inhibitory molecule LAG-3. Indeed, after adoptive transfer of β -gal-specific TCR transgenic CD8⁺ T cells (Bg1 cells) into Prox-1xβgal mice, in which β -gal is selectively expressed by LECs, the proliferation of Bg1 cells was increased following administration of blocking anti-LAG-3 antibodies, which was acting in synergy with anti-PD-L1 blocking antibodies (45).

We previously showed that high PD-L1 expression by LECs correlate with their unique ability, compared to other LNSC subsets, to induce CD4⁺ T cell apoptosis after presentation of DC-acquired peptide–MHC-II complexes (110). Although the molecular mechanisms accounting for the induction of tolerance to MHC-II-restricted self-Ag endogenously expressed and directly presented by LECs to CD4⁺ T cells have not been elucidated so far, they are thus likely to involve PD-L1 expression by LECs, as in the case of CD8⁺ T cells.

Ag Acquisition and Presentation by LECs to T Cells

The lymphatic system, by controlling Ag availability, constitutes one of the first checkpoints for immune responses (100). It is not surprising then that LECs, which have early access to any given Ag, display different mechanisms for Ag uptake and processing (**Figure 2**). Indeed, recent work revealed that Ag trafficking can be observed at more levels than the classical concept of LECs as lymph carriers. Complex interactions between



cells (LECs). Interactions with dendritic cells (DCs) underlie complex mechanisms of Ag transfer in both directions. On one hand, LECs act as Ag reservoirs for DCs which can uptake LEC-derived Ag. The mechanisms accounting for this phenomenon remain however unclear. On the other hand, LECs acquire peptide–MHC-II complexes from DCs in a cell-cell contact dependent manner (DC-derived Ag is depicted in yellow). DC-derived exosomes might also be implicated. Peripheral tissue-restricted Ags (PTA) (in pink) expressed by LEC can be loaded into MHC-I molecules. Intracellular pathways of degradation of such PTAs have however been not investigated. Moreover, whether PTA can be incorporated in MHC-II compartments is still a matter of debate. Alternatively, LECs possess the ability to uptake exogenous lymph-borne and tumor-derived Ag that can be incorporated in MHC-I pathway in a TAP-1-dependent manner. Related references are indicated in numbers.

LECs and DCs (45, 110, 117) depict an exciting picture of Ag bidirectional exchange that ultimately may serve to modulate the overall magnitude of the immune response (**Figure 2**).

Uptake of Exogenous Ag

It has been extensively demonstrated in several mouse and human models that LECs exhibit an active endocytotic capacity (38, 118). They are able to uptake exogenous molecules and, depending on their location, process Ag for cross-presentation and cross-priming of Ag-specific CD8⁺ T cells (63, 64) (**Figure 2**). Interestingly, Ag-loaded primary LN LECs were shown to be capable of cross-priming Ag-specific CD8⁺ T cells in a TAP1dependent manner (64). As described above for endogenous PTA presentation, Ag-loaded LECs induced T cell apoptosis, the lack of expression of costimulatory molecules being the most extended explanation. LECs neither express nor upregulate the costimulatory molecules CD40, CD80, and CD86 following TLR engagement or in presence of IFN- γ or TNF- α (110, 116). While LECs upregulate the immunostimulatory molecules HVEM, CD48, and MHC-II under such conditions (116), they also upregulate PD-L1 (102, 110, 119). Pointing at the same direction, Ag cross-presentation by LSECs induces tolerized CD8⁺ T cells in the liver. In this context, PD-L1 expression was also relevant for such outcome (120). Interestingly, in the absence of inflammation, surviving LSEC-educated T cells had an Ag-experienced central memory-like phenotype in SLOS (121). Furthermore, LSEC-primed memory T cells could be reactivated *in vitro* and *in vivo* in an Ag-specific manner, and they could contribute to a viral challenge (121).

The direct contribution of Ag presentation by LECs to CD4⁺ viral immunity is still a matter of debate. As mentioned above, LECs serve as Ag reservoir during viral infections (117) (**Figure 2**). Nonetheless, genetic ablation of MHC-II in radioresistant stromal cells in LNs resulted in longer maintenance of Ag-specific CD4⁺ T cells (122). Specific impact of LN LECs and mechanisms accounting for such effects should be yet clarified.

Cellular Ag Transfer

The hallmark of professional APCs is the constitutive cell surface presence of MHC-II and their ability for Ag processing and presentation (123). Constitutive MHC-II expression is restricted to a small number of cells of the immune system. Nonetheless, there are many different cell types from both hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic origins that can indeed express MHC-II and interact with CD4⁺ T cells in the periphery (100, 124, 125).

As mentioned above, LECs constitute such non-professional APC cell types that express MHC-II in an IFN-y-dependent manner. Indeed, MHC-II expression in LN LECs has been reported at both transcriptional and protein expression levels (102, 110, 111). By using transgenic mouse models lacking the different CIITA promoters, we have previously demonstrated that steady-state levels of MHC-II molecules on the surface of LECs and other stromal subsets in LNs reflect a combination of IFN-y-inducible basal activity and acquired peptide:MHC-II complexes from DCs (110). The acquired MHC-II molecules were loaded with DC-derived Ags, licensing LECs to induce anergy and increased cell death Ag-specific CD4+ T cells (Figures 1B and 2). Lack of measurable productive T cell responses has been one of the major difficulties preventing the clarification of the impact of Ag presentation by LECs on CD4+ T cell outcome. As for CD8+ T cell responses, the absence of costimulatory signals, such as CD80 or CD86 and the constitutive expression of PD-L1 by LECs, preclude the possibility of functional effector CD4+ T cell priming. In this regard, it has been shown that human LN-derived LECs fail to induce allogeneic CD4+ T cell proliferation even after IFN-γ stimulation (119). In these particular in vitro settings, LECs were unable to induce proliferation of either naïve or memory CD4⁺ T cells.

Membrane exchange between cells is not uncommon in immunology (126). Peptide:MHC-I and MHC-II complexes have been shown to be transferred between DC and tumor cells (127) or infected cells (128), as well as between DCs (129). Ag transfer can occur as peptide exchange on cell surfaces. Peptide epitopes can bind directly on cell surface or early endosomal MHC molecules (130), where both MHC-I and MHC-II are receptive for lymphborne peptide binding. This might be particularly relevant in the context of self-tolerance, since recent analyses showed that the human lymph peptidome contains predominantly self-peptides, including products derived from extracellular processing of proteins (131). Exosomes were also implicated in the transfer of peptide:MHC-II complexes from DCs to LNSCs (110), and they cannot be excluded to contribute to alternative Ag trafficking (**Figure 2**).

Antigen transfer between LECs and DCs is, however, not restricted to one direction. Indeed, the transfer of PTAs specifically expressed in LECs to hematopoietic cells has been described (45) (**Figure 2**). Neither membrane-bound nor cytoplasmic PTAs were directly presented by LECs to prime Ag-specific CD4⁺ T cell responses. As mentioned above, this was attributed to the lower expression of H2-M in LECs compared to professional APCs, which is required for peptide binding into the MHC-II groove. Instead, peptides derived from PTAs expressed by LECs were found to be loaded onto MHC-II in DCs (45). While the exchange mechanism is still open to examination, it was reported not to be dependent on recognition of apoptotic cells or DC phagocytosis. These complementary bidirectional observations highlight the close relationship and communication between professional APCs and LECs to enable MHC-II presentation.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Increasing evidence suggest that lymphatics are much more than simple pipes that drain tissue-derived fluids containing proteins, particles, and cells. Through the expression of different surface molecules and the production of soluble factors, LECs indeed modulate immune responses in many ways, including the active regulation of cellular migration, interactions, and functions. Recent studies have highlighted a possible role for LECs as direct instructors of T cell immunity. Indeed, the discovery that LNSCs, including LECs, ectopically express tissue-derived Ags, a feature thought to be restricted to mTECs and thymic central T cell tolerance, has pushed forward LECs to potentially function as Ag-presenting cells. Accordingly, the selective expression of model Ags in LECs leads to an Ag-specific recognition by T cells, which, after an early step of activation and proliferation, are either inactivated or deleted. Therefore, the presentation of endogenously expressed Ags by LECs seems to contribute to peripheral T cell tolerance. Studies have also suggested that LECs acquire exogenous Ags by distinct pathways, including direct uptake, or cell-membrane transfer, and present them to induce T cell dysfunction. The molecular mechanisms contributing to LEC ability to inactivate T cells are still not fully elucidated. However, a consensus candidate, PD-L1, the ligand for programcell death 1 receptor expressed by T cells, emerged from several recent studies to be highly expressed by LECs, and important to mediate T cell tolerance. Although pioneering studies suggest that Ag-presenting LNSCs are sufficient to maintain peripheral T cell tolerance, the specific contribution of LECs remains to be addressed. Likewise, substantial differences among LECs from distinct anatomical locations entail different functions. Specific roles of local LECs should be carefully dissected in order to fully understand how they differentially impact T cell responses. In addition, most studies so far have been performed in steady state, and the contribution of Ag presentation by LECs under different pathological conditions in shaping of peripheral T cell responses remains to be determined. In addition, future studies will assess how current therapies for cancer or autoimmune diseases aiming at modulating immune cell functions, specifically alter the ability of LECs to impact T cell responses.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SH, JD, and MH have developed the concept, wrote the manuscript, prepared the figures, and critically read, revised, and approved the manuscript.

FUNDING

SH's laboratory is supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation (310030_166541), the European Research Council (281365), and the Swiss MS Society.

REFERENCES

- 1. Asellius G. De Lactibus Sive Lacteis Venis. Milan: Mediolani (1627).
- Witte MH, Bernas MJ, Martin CP, Witte CL. Lymphangiogenesis and lymphangiodysplasia: from molecular to clinical lymphology. *Microsc Res Tech* (2001) 55(2):122–45. doi:10.1002/jemt.1163.abs
- Nicenboim J, Malkinson G, Lupo T, Asaf L, Sela Y, Mayseless O, et al. Lymphatic vessels arise from specialized angioblasts within a venous niche. *Nature* (2015) 522(7554):56–61. doi:10.1038/nature14425
- Choi I, Lee S, Hong YK. The new era of the lymphatic system: no longer secondary to the blood vascular system. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* (2012) 2(4):a006445. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a006445
- Huntington GSM, McClure CFW. The anatomy and development of the jugular lymph sac in the domestic cat (*Felis domestica*). Am J Anat (1910) (10):177–311.
- Sabin FR. On the origin of the lymphatic system from the veins and the development of the lymph hearts and thoracic duct in the pig. Am J Anat (1902) 1:367–691. doi:10.1002/aja.1000010310
- Sabin FR. On the development of the superficial lymphatics in the skin of the pig. Am J Anat (1904) 3(2):183–95. doi:10.1002/aja.1000030205
- Kaipainen A, Korhonen J, Mustonen T, van Hinsbergh VW, Fang GH, Dumont D, et al. Expression of the FMS-like tyrosine kinase 4 gene becomes restricted to lymphatic endothelium during development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (1995) 92(8):3566–70. doi:10.1073/pnas.92.8.3566
- 9. Oliver G. Lymphatic vasculature development. Nat Rev Immunol (2004) 4(1):35–45. doi:10.1038/nri1258
- Wigle JT, Harvey N, Detmar M, Lagutina I, Grosveld G, Gunn MD, et al. An essential role for Prox1 in the induction of the lymphatic endothelial cell phenotype. *EMBO J* (2002) 21(7):1505–13. doi:10.1093/emboj/21.7.1505
- Dumont DJ, Jussila L, Taipale J, Lymboussaki A, Mustonen T, Pajusola K, et al. Cardiovascular failure in mouse embryos deficient in VEGF receptor-3. *Science* (1998) 282(5390):946–9. doi:10.1126/science.282.5390.946
- Kukk E, Lymboussaki A, Taira S, Kaipainen A, Jeltsch M, Joukov V, et al. VEGF-C receptor binding and pattern of expression with VEGFR-3 suggests a role in lymphatic vascular development. *Development* (1996) 122(12):3829–37.
- Saaristo A, Veikkola T, Tammela T, Enholm B, Karkkainen MJ, Pajusola K, et al. Lymphangiogenic gene therapy with minimal blood vascular side effects. *J Exp Med* (2002) 196(6):719–30. doi:10.1084/jem.20020587
- Jeltsch M, Kaipainen A, Joukov V, Meng X, Lakso M, Rauvala H, et al. Hyperplasia of lymphatic vessels in VEGF-C transgenic mice. *Science* (1997) 276(5317):1423–5. doi:10.1126/science.276.5317.1423
- Wigle JT, Oliver G. Prox1 function is required for the development of the murine lymphatic system. *Cell* (1999) 98(6):769–78. doi:10.1016/ S0092-8674(00)81511-1
- Petrova TV, Mäkinen T, Mäkelä TP, Saarela J, Virtanen I, Ferrell RE, et al. Lymphatic endothelial reprogramming of vascular endothelial cells by the Prox-1 homeobox transcription factor. *EMBO J* (2002) 21(17):4593–9. doi:10.1093/emboj/cdf470
- Hirakawa S, Hong YK, Harvey N, Schacht V, Matsuda K, Libermann T, et al. Identification of vascular lineage-specific genes by transcriptional profiling of isolated blood vascular and lymphatic endothelial cells. *Am J Pathol* (2003) 162(2):575–86. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63851-5
- Podgrabinska S, Braun P, Velasco P, Kloos B, Pepper MS, Skobe M. Molecular characterization of lymphatic endothelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) 99(25):16069–74. doi:10.1073/pnas.242401399
- Johnson NC, Dillard ME, Baluk P, McDonald DM, Harvey NL, Frase SL, et al. Lymphatic endothelial cell identity is reversible and its maintenance requires Prox1 activity. *Genes Dev* (2008) 22(23):3282–91. doi:10.1101/ gad.1727208
- Yaniv K, Isogai S, Castranova D, Dye L, Hitomi J, Weinstein BM, et al. Live imaging of lymphatic development in the zebrafish. *Nat Med* (2006) 12(6):711–6. doi:10.1038/nm1427
- Klotz L, Norman S, Vieira JM, Masters M, Rohling M, Dubé KN, et al. Cardiac lymphatics are heterogeneous in origin and respond to injury. *Nature* (2015) 522(7554):62–7. doi:10.1038/nature14483
- Alitalo K, Tammela T, Petrova TV. Lymphangiogenesis in development and human disease. *Nature* (2005) 438(7070):946–53. doi:10.1038/nature04480

- Baluk P, Fuxe J, Hashizume H, Romano T, Lashnits E, Butz S, et al. Functionally specialized junctions between endothelial cells of lymphatic vessels. J Exp Med (2007) 204(10):2349–62. doi:10.1084/jem.20062596
- 24. Tammela T, Saaristo A, Holopainen T, Lyytikkä J, Kotronen A, Pitkonen M, et al. Therapeutic differentiation and maturation of lymphatic vessels after lymph node dissection and transplantation. *Nat Med* (2007) 13(12):1458–66. doi:10.1038/nm1689
- Friedlaender MH, Chisari FV, Baer H. The role of the inflammatory response of skin and lymph nodes in the induction of sensitization to simple chemicals. *J Immunol* (1973) 111(1):164–70.
- Thomas SN, Rutkowski JM, Pasquier M, Kuan EL, Alitalo K, Randolph GJ, et al. Impaired humoral immunity and tolerance in K14-VEGFR-3-Ig mice that lack dermal lymphatic drainage. *J Immunol* (2012) 189(5):2181–90. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103545
- Wisse E. An electron microscopic study of the fenestrated endothelial lining of rat liver sinusoids. *J Ultrastruct Res* (1970) 31(1):125–50. doi:10.1016/ S0022-5320(70)90150-4
- Limmer A, Ohl J, Kurts C, Ljunggren HG, Reiss Y, Groettrup M, et al. Efficient presentation of exogenous antigen by liver endothelial cells to CD8+ T cells results in antigen-specific T-cell tolerance. *Nat Med* (2000) 6(12):1348–54. doi:10.1038/82161
- Mohammad MG, Tsai VW, Ruitenberg MJ, Hassanpour M, Li H, Hart PH, et al. Immune cell trafficking from the brain maintains CNS immune tolerance. J Clin Invest (2014) 124(3):1228–41. doi:10.1172/JCI71544
- Louveau A, Smirnov I, Keyes TJ, Eccles JD, Rouhani SJ, Peske JD, et al. Structural and functional features of central nervous system lymphatic vessels. *Nature* (2015) 523(7560):337–41. doi:10.1038/nature14432
- Cupovic J, Onder L, Gil-Cruz C, Weiler E, Caviezel-Firner S, Perez-Shibayama C, et al. Central Nervous system stromal cells control local CD8(+) T cell responses during virus-induced neuroinflammation. *Immunity* (2016) 44(3):622–33. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.12.022
- Leong SP, Nakakura EK, Pollock R, Choti MA, Morton DL, Henner WD, et al. Unique patterns of metastases in common and rare types of malignancy. *J Surg Oncol* (2011) 103(6):607–14. doi:10.1002/jso.21841
- 33. Stacker SA, Williams SP, Karnezis T, Shayan R, Fox SB, Achen MG. Lymphangiogenesis and lymphatic vessel remodelling in cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2014) 14(3):159–72. doi:10.1038/nrc3677
- Dieterich LC, Detmar M. Tumor lymphangiogenesis and new drug development. Adv Drug Deliv Rev (2016) 99(Pt B):148–60. doi:10.1016/ j.addr.2015.12.011
- Moon JJ, Chu HH, Pepper M, McSorley SJ, Jameson SC, Kedl RM, et al. Naive CD4(+) T cell frequency varies for different epitopes and predicts repertoire diversity and response magnitude. *Immunity* (2007) 27(2):203–13. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2007.07.007
- Obar JJ, Khanna KM, Lefrancois L. Endogenous naive CD8+ T cell precursor frequency regulates primary and memory responses to infection. *Immunity* (2008) 28(6):859–69. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.04.010
- Roozendaal R, Mempel TR, Pitcher LA, Gonzalez SF, Verschoor A, Mebius RE, et al. Conduits mediate transport of low-molecular-weight antigen to lymph node follicles. *Immunity* (2009) 30(2):264–76. doi:10.1016/ j.immuni.2008.12.014
- 38. Sixt M, Kanazawa N, Selg M, Samson T, Roos G, Reinhardt DP, et al. The conduit system transports soluble antigens from the afferent lymph to resident dendritic cells in the T cell area of the lymph node. *Immunity* (2005) 22(1):19–29. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2004.11.013
- Gerner MY, Torabi-Parizi P, Germain RN. Strategically localized dendritic cells promote rapid T cell responses to lymph-borne particulate antigens. *Immunity* (2015) 42(1):172–85. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2014.12.024
- Pflicke H, Sixt M. Preformed portals facilitate dendritic cell entry into afferent lymphatic vessels. J Exp Med (2009) 206(13):2925–35. doi:10.1084/ jem.20091739
- Lämmermann T, Bader BL, Monkley SJ, Worbs T, Wedlich-Söldner R, Hirsch K, et al. Rapid leukocyte migration by integrin-independent flowing and squeezing. *Nature* (2008) 453(7191):51–5. doi:10.1038/ nature06887
- 42. Johnson LA, Clasper S, Holt AP, Lalor PF, Baban D, Jackson DG. An inflammation-induced mechanism for leukocyte transmigration across lymphatic

vessel endothelium. J Exp Med (2006) 203(12):2763–77. doi:10.1084/ jem.20051759

- Acton SE, Astarita JL, Malhotra D, Lukacs-Kornek V, Franz B, Hess PR, et al. Podoplanin-rich stromal networks induce dendritic cell motility via activation of the C-type lectin receptor CLEC-2. *Immunity* (2012) 37(2):276–89. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.05.022
- Podgrabinska S, Kamalu O, Mayer L, Shimaoka M, Snoeck H, Randolph GJ, et al. Inflamed lymphatic endothelium suppresses dendritic cell maturation and function via Mac-1/ICAM-1-dependent mechanism. *J Immunol* (2009) 183(3):1767–79. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0802167
- Rouhani SJ, Eccles JD, Riccardi P, Peske JD, Tewalt EF, Cohen JN, et al. Roles of lymphatic endothelial cells expressing peripheral tissue antigens in CD4 T-cell tolerance induction. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:6771. doi:10.1038/ ncomms7771
- Luther SA, Bidgol A, Hargreaves DC, Schmidt A, Xu Y, Paniyadi J, et al. Differing activities of homeostatic chemokines CCL19, CCL21, and CXCL12 in lymphocyte and dendritic cell recruitment and lymphoid neogenesis. *J Immunol* (2002) 169(1):424–33. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 169.1.424
- Link A, Vogt TK, Favre S, Britschgi MR, Acha-Orbea H, Hinz B, et al. Fibroblastic reticular cells in lymph nodes regulate the homeostasis of naive T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8(11):1255–65. doi:10.1038/ni1513
- Hara T, Shitara S, Imai K, Miyachi H, Kitano S, Yao H, et al. Identification of IL-7-producing cells in primary and secondary lymphoid organs using IL-7-GFP knock-in mice. *J Immunol* (2012) 189(4):1577–84. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1200586
- Miller CN, Hartigan-O'Connor DJ, Lee MS, Laidlaw G, Cornelissen IP, Matloubian M, et al. IL-7 production in murine lymphatic endothelial cells and induction in the setting of peripheral lymphopenia. *Int Immunol* (2013) 25(8):471–83. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxt012
- Onder L, Narang P, Scandella E, Chai Q, Iolyeva M, Hoorweg K, et al. IL-7producing stromal cells are critical for lymph node remodeling. *Blood* (2012) 120(24):4675–83. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-03-416859
- Iolyeva M, Aebischer D, Proulx ST, Willrodt AH, Ecoiffier T, Häner S, et al. Interleukin-7 is produced by afferent lymphatic vessels and supports lymphatic drainage. *Blood* (2013) 122(13):2271–81. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-01-478073
- Schluns KS, Kieper WC, Jameson SC, Lefrancois L. Interleukin-7 mediates the homeostasis of naive and memory CD8 T cells in vivo. *Nat Immunol* (2000) 1(5):426–32. doi:10.1038/80868
- Schluns KS, Lefrancois L. Cytokine control of memory T-cell development and survival. Nat Rev Immunol (2003) 3(4):269–79. doi:10.1038/ nri1052
- Pham TH, Baluk P, Xu Y, Grigorova I, Bankovich AJ, Pappu R, et al. Lymphatic endothelial cell sphingosine kinase activity is required for lymphocyte egress and lymphatic patterning. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(1):17–27. doi:10.1084/ jem.20091619
- Grigorova IL, Schwab SR, Phan TG, Pham TH, Okada T, Cyster JG. Cortical sinus probing, S1P1-dependent entry and flow-based capture of egressing T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(1):58–65. doi:10.1038/ni.1682
- Pham TH, Okada T, Matloubian M, Lo CG, Cyster JG. S1P1 receptor signaling overrides retention mediated by G alpha I-coupled receptors to promote T cell egress. *Immunity* (2008) 28(1):122–33. doi:10.1016/ j.immuni.2007.11.017
- Swartz MA, Lund AW. Lymphatic and interstitial flow in the tumour microenvironment: linking mechanobiology with immunity. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12(3):210–9. doi:10.1038/nrc3186
- Roberts EW, Broz ML, Binnewies M, Headley MB, Nelson AE, Wolf DM, et al. Critical role for CD103(+)/CD141(+) dendritic cells bearing CCR7 for tumor antigen trafficking and priming of T cell immunity in melanoma. *Cancer Cell* (2016) 30(2):324–36. doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2016.06.003
- Galon J, Costes A, Sanchez-Cabo F, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Lagorce-Pages C, et al. Type, density, and location of immune cells within human colorectal tumors predict clinical outcome. *Science* (2006) 313(5795):1960–4. doi:10.1126/science.1129139
- Fridman WH, Pagès F, Sautès-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12(4):298–306. doi:10.1038/nrc3245

- Shields JD, Kourtis IC, Tomei AA, Roberts JM, Swartz MA. Induction of lymphoidlike stroma and immune escape by tumors that express the chemokine CCL21. *Science* (2010) 328(5979):749–52. doi:10.1126/ science.1185837
- Thompson ED, Enriquez HL, Fu YX, Engelhard VH. Tumor masses support naive T cell infiltration, activation, and differentiation into effectors. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(8):1791–804. doi:10.1084/jem.20092454
- Lund AW, Duraes FV, Hirosue S, Raghavan VR, Nembrini C, Thomas SN, et al. VEGF-C promotes immune tolerance in B16 melanomas and cross-presentation of tumor antigen by lymph node lymphatics. *Cell Rep* (2012) 1(3):191–9. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2012.01.005
- 64. Hirosue S, Vokali E, Raghavan VR, Rincon-Restrepo M, Lund AW, Corthésy-Henrioud P, et al. Steady-state antigen scavenging, crosspresentation, and CD8+T cell priming: a new role for lymphatic endothelial cells. *J Immunol* (2014) 192(11):5002–11. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1302492
- Riedel A, Shorthouse D, Haas L, Hall BA, Shields J. Tumor-induced stromal reprogramming drives lymph node transformation. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(9):1118–27. doi:10.1038/ni.3492
- Xing Y, Hogquist KA. T-cell tolerance: central and peripheral. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2012) 4(6). doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a006957
- Klein L, Kyewski B, Allen PM, Hogquist KA. Positive and negative selection of the T cell repertoire: what thymocytes see (and don't see). *Nat Rev Immunol* (2014) 14(6):377–91. doi:10.1038/nri3667
- Kyewski B, Rottinger B, Klein L. Making central T-cell tolerance efficient: thymic stromal cells sample distinct self-antigen pools. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* (2000) 251:139–45.
- Derbinski J, Schulte A, Kyewski B, Klein L. Promiscuous gene expression in medullary thymic epithelial cells mirrors the peripheral self. *Nat Immunol* (2001) 2(11):1032–9. doi:10.1038/ni723
- Derbinski J, G\u00e4bler J, Brors B, Tierling S, Jonnakuty S, Hergenhahn M, et al. Promiscuous gene expression in thymic epithelial cells is regulated at multiple levels. J Exp Med (2005) 202(1):33–45. doi:10.1084/jem.20050471
- Anderson MS, Venanzi ES, Klein L, Chen Z, Berzins SP, Turley SJ, et al. Projection of an immunological self shadow within the thymus by the Aire protein. *Science* (2002) 298(5597):1395–401. doi:10.1126/science.1075958
- Liston A, Gray DH, Lesage S, Fletcher AL, Wilson J, Webster KE, et al. Gene dosage – limiting role of Aire in thymic expression, clonal deletion, and organ-specific autoimmunity. *J Exp Med* (2004) 200(8):1015–26. doi:10.1084/jem.20040581
- Gallegos AM, Bevan MJ. Central tolerance to tissue-specific antigens mediated by direct and indirect antigen presentation. *J Exp Med* (2004) 200(8):1039–49. doi:10.1084/jem.20041457
- Koble C, Kyewski B. The thymic medulla: a unique microenvironment for intercellular self-antigen transfer. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206(7):1505–13. doi:10.1084/jem.20082449
- Bonasio R, Scimone ML, Schaerli P, Grabie N, Lichtman AH, von Andrian UH. Clonal deletion of thymocytes by circulating dendritic cells homing to the thymus. *Nat Immunol* (2006) 7(10):1092–100. doi:10.1038/ni1106-1234b
- Hadeiba H, Lahl K, Edalati A, Oderup C, Habtezion A, Pachynski R, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells transport peripheral antigens to the thymus to promote central tolerance. *Immunity* (2012) 36(3):438–50. doi:10.1016/ j.immuni.2012.01.017
- Abbas AK, Benoist C, Bluestone JA, Campbell DJ, Ghosh S, Hori S, et al. Regulatory T cells: recommendations to simplify the nomenclature. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(4):307–8. doi:10.1038/ni.2554
- Cosmi L, Liotta F, Lazzeri E, Francalanci M, Angeli R, Mazzinghi B, et al. Human CD8+CD25+ thymocytes share phenotypic and functional features with CD4+CD25+ regulatory thymocytes. *Blood* (2003) 102(12):4107–14. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-04-1320
- Ménager-Marcq I, Pomié C, Romagnoli P, van Meerwijk JP. CD8+CD28regulatory T lymphocytes prevent experimental inflammatory bowel disease in mice. *Gastroenterology* (2006) 131(6):1775–85. doi:10.1053/ j.gastro.2006.09.008
- Vuddamalay Y, Attia M, Vicente R, Pomié C, Enault G, Leobon B, et al. Mouse and human CD8(+) CD28(low) regulatory T lymphocytes differentiate in the thymus. *Immunology* (2016) 148(2):187–96. doi:10.1111/ imm.12600

- Pomie C, Menager-Marcq I, van Meerwijk JP. Murine CD8+ regulatory T lymphocytes: the new era. *Hum Immunol* (2008) 69(11):708–14. doi:10.1016/j.humimm.2008.08.288
- Lohse AW, Dinkelmann M, Kimmig M, Herkel J, Meyer zum Büschenfelde KH. Estimation of the frequency of self-reactive T cells in health and inflammatory diseases by limiting dilution analysis and single cell cloning. *J Autoimmun* (1996) 9(5):667–75. doi:10.1006/jaut.1996.0087
- Anderson AC, Nicholson LB, Legge KL, Turchin V, Zaghouani H, Kuchroo VK. High frequency of autoreactive myelin proteolipid protein-specific T cells in the periphery of naive mice: mechanisms of selection of the self-reactive repertoire. *J Exp Med* (2000) 191(5):761–70. doi:10.1084/jem.191.5.761
- Enouz S, Carrié L, Merkler D, Bevan MJ, Zehn D. Autoreactive T cells bypass negative selection and respond to self-antigen stimulation during infection. J Exp Med (2012) 209(10):1769–79. doi:10.1084/jem.20120905
- Walker LS, Abbas AK. The enemy within: keeping self-reactive T cells at bay in the periphery. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2002) 2(1):11–9. doi:10.1038/ nri701
- Steinman RM, Turley S, Mellman I, Inaba K. The induction of tolerance by dendritic cells that have captured apoptotic cells. *J Exp Med* (2000) 191(3):411–6. doi:10.1084/jem.191.3.411
- Kurts C. Cross-presentation: inducing CD8 T cell immunity and tolerance. J Mol Med (2000) 78(6):326–32. doi:10.1007/s001090000108
- Adler AJ, Marsh DW, Yochum GS, Guzzo JL, Nigam A, Nelson WG, et al. CD4+ T cell tolerance to parenchymal self-antigens requires presentation by bone marrow-derived antigen-presenting cells. *J Exp Med* (1998) 187(10):1555–64. doi:10.1084/jem.187.10.1555
- Heath WR, Kurts C, Miller JF, Carbone FR. Cross-tolerance: a pathway for inducing tolerance to peripheral tissue antigens. *J Exp Med* (1998) 187(10):1549–53. doi:10.1084/jem.187.10.1549
- Steinman RM, Hawiger D, Nussenzweig MC. Tolerogenic dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol (2003) 21:685–711. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.21.120601.141040
- Blander JM, Medzhitov R. Toll-dependent selection of microbial antigens for presentation by dendritic cells. *Nature* (2006) 440(7085):808–12. doi:10.1038/ nature04596
- Wilson NS, El-Sukkari D, Belz GT, Smith CM, Steptoe RJ, Heath WR, et al. Most lymphoid organ dendritic cell types are phenotypically and functionally immature. *Blood* (2003) 102(6):2187–94. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-02-0513
- Allan RS, Smith CM, Belz GT, van Lint AL, Wakim LM, Heath WR, et al. Epidermal viral immunity induced by CD8alpha+ dendritic cells but not by Langerhans cells. *Science* (2003) 301(5641):1925–8. doi:10.1126/ science.1087576
- Allan RS, Waithman J, Bedoui S, Jones CM, Villadangos JA, Zhan Y, et al. Migratory dendritic cells transfer antigen to a lymph node-resident dendritic cell population for efficient CTL priming. *Immunity* (2006) 25(1):153–62. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.04.017
- Lukacs-Kornek V, Burgdorf S, Diehl L, Specht S, Kornek M, Kurts C. The kidney-renal lymph node-system contributes to cross-tolerance against innocuous circulating antigen. *J Immunol* (2008) 180(2):706–15. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.180.2.706
- Guery L, Hugues S. Tolerogenic and activatory plasmacytoid dendritic cells in autoimmunity. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:59. doi:10.3389/fimmu. 2013.00059
- Lee JW, Epardaud M, Sun J, Becker JE, Cheng AC, Yonekura AR, et al. Peripheral antigen display by lymph node stroma promotes T cell tolerance to intestinal self. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8(2):181–90. doi:10.1038/ni1427
- Magnusson FC, Liblau RS, von Boehmer H, Pittet MJ, Lee JW, Turley SJ, et al. Direct presentation of antigen by lymph node stromal cells protects against CD8 T-cell-mediated intestinal autoimmunity. *Gastroenterology* (2008) 134(4):1028–37. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2008.01.070
- Collier AY, Lee JW, Turley SJ. Self-encounters of the third kind: lymph node stroma promotes tolerance to peripheral tissue antigens. *Mucosal Immunol* (2008) 1(4):248–51. doi:10.1038/mi.2008.19
- Hirosue S, Dubrot J. Modes of antigen presentation by lymph node stromal cells and their immunological implications. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:446. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00446

- 101. Nichols LA, Chen Y, Colella TA, Bennett CL, Clausen BE, Engelhard VH. Deletional self-tolerance to a melanocyte/melanoma antigen derived from tyrosinase is mediated by a radio-resistant cell in peripheral and mesenteric lymph nodes. *J Immunol* (2007) 179(2):993–1003. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.179.2.993
- 102. Fletcher AL, Lukacs-Kornek V, Reynoso ED, Pinner SE, Bellemare-Pelletier A, Curry MS, et al. Lymph node fibroblastic reticular cells directly present peripheral tissue antigen under steady-state and inflammatory conditions. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(4):689–97. doi:10.1084/jem.20092642
- 103. Cohen JN, Guidi CJ, Tewalt EF, Qiao H, Rouhani SJ, Ruddell A, et al. Lymph node-resident lymphatic endothelial cells mediate peripheral tolerance via Aire-independent direct antigen presentation. J Exp Med (2010) 207(4): 681–8. doi:10.1084/jem.20092465
- 104. Cohen JN, Tewalt EF, Rouhani SJ, Buonomo EL, Bruce AN, Xu X, et al. Tolerogenic properties of lymphatic endothelial cells are controlled by the lymph node microenvironment. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(2):e87740. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0087740
- 105. Gardner JM, Devoss JJ, Friedman RS, Wong DJ, Tan YX, Zhou X, et al. Deletional tolerance mediated by extrathymic Aire-expressing cells. *Science* (2008) 321(5890):843–7. doi:10.1126/science.1159407
- 106. Gardner JM, Metzger TC, McMahon EJ, Au-Yeung BB, Krawisz AK, Lu W, et al. Extrathymic Aire-expressing cells are a distinct bone marrow-derived population that induce functional inactivation of CD4(+) T cells. *Immunity* (2013) 39(3):560–72. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.005
- 107. Yip L, Su L, Sheng D, Chang P, Atkinson M, Czesak M, et al. Deaf1 isoforms control the expression of genes encoding peripheral tissue antigens in the pancreatic lymph nodes during type 1 diabetes. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(9):1026–33. doi:10.1038/ni.1773
- Gibson TJ, Ramu C, Gemund C, Aasland R. The APECED polyglandular autoimmune syndrome protein, AIRE-1, contains the SAND domain and is probably a transcription factor. *Trends Biochem Sci* (1998) 23(7):242–4. doi:10.1016/S0968-0004(98)01231-6
- 109. Metzger TC, Anderson MS. Control of central and peripheral tolerance by Aire. *Immunol Rev* (2011) 241(1):89–103. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X. 2011.01008.x
- 110. Dubrot J, Duraes FV, Potin L, Capotosti F, Brighouse D, Suter T, et al. Lymph node stromal cells acquire peptide-MHCII complexes from dendritic cells and induce antigen-specific CD4(+) T cell tolerance. *J Exp Med* (2014) 211(6):1153–66. doi:10.1084/jem.20132000
- 111. Malhotra D, Fletcher AL, Astarita J, Lukacs-Kornek V, Tayalia P, Gonzalez SF, et al. Transcriptional profiling of stroma from inflamed and resting lymph nodes defines immunological hallmarks. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13(5):499–510. doi:10.1038/ni.2262
- Reith W, LeibundGut-Landmann S, Waldburger JM. Regulation of MHC class II gene expression by the class II transactivator. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2005) 5(10):793–806. doi:10.1038/nri1708
- Baptista AP, Roozendaal R, Reijmers RM, Koning JJ, Unger WW, Greuter M, et al. Lymph node stromal cells constrain immunity via MHC class II self-antigen presentation. *Elife* (2014) 3. doi:10.7554/eLife.04433
- 114. Ciré S, Da Rocha S, Ferrand M, Collins MK, Galy A. In vivo gene delivery to lymph node stromal cells leads to transgene-specific CD8+ T cell anergy in mice. *Mol Ther* (2016) 24(11):1965–73. doi:10.1038/mt.2016.168
- 115. Reynoso ED, Elpek KG, Francisco L, Bronson R, Bellemare-Pelletier A, Sharpe AH, et al. Intestinal tolerance is converted to autoimmune enteritis upon PD-1 ligand blockade. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(4):2102–12. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0802769
- 116. Tewalt EF, Cohen JN, Rouhani SJ, Guidi CJ, Qiao H, Fahl SP, et al. Lymphatic endothelial cells induce tolerance via PD-L1 and lack of costimulation leading to high-level PD-1 expression on CD8 T cells. *Blood* (2012) 120(24):4772–82. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-04-427013
- 117. Tamburini BA, Burchill MA, Kedl RM. Antigen capture and archiving by lymphatic endothelial cells following vaccination or viral infection. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:3989. doi:10.1038/ncomms4989
- 118. Fruhwürth S, Pavelka M, Bittman R, Kovacs WJ, Walter KM, Röhrl C, et al. High-density lipoprotein endocytosis in endothelial cells. *World J Biol Chem* (2013) 4(4):131–40. doi:10.4331/wjbc.v4.i4.131
- 119. Nörder M, Gutierrez MG, Zicari S, Cervi E, Caruso A, Guzmán CA. Lymph node-derived lymphatic endothelial cells express functional costimulatory

molecules and impair dendritic cell-induced allogenic T-cell proliferation. *FASEB J* (2012) 26(7):2835–46. doi:10.1096/fj.12-205278

- Diehl L, Schurich A, Grochtmann R, Hegenbarth S, Chen L, Knolle PA. Tolerogenic maturation of liver sinusoidal endothelial cells promotes B7-homolog 1-dependent CD8+ T cell tolerance. *Hepatology* (2008) 47(1):296–305. doi:10.1002/hep.21965
- Böttcher JP, Schanz O, Wohlleber D, Abdullah Z, Debey-Pascher S, Staratschek-Jox A, et al. Liver-primed memory T cells generated under noninflammatory conditions provide anti-infectious immunity. *Cell Rep* (2013) 3(3):779–95. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2013.02.008
- 122. Abe J, Shichino S, Ueha S, Hashimoto S, Tomura M, Inagaki Y, et al. Lymph node stromal cells negatively regulate antigen-specific CD4+ T cell responses. *J Immunol* (2014) 193(4):1636–44. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1302946
- Roche PA, Furuta K. The ins and outs of MHC class II-mediated antigen processing and presentation. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2015) 15(4):203–16. doi:10.1038/nri3818
- 124. Duraes FV, Thelemann C, Sarter K, Acha-Orbea H, Hugues S, Reith W. Role of major histocompatibility complex class II expression by nonhematopoietic cells in autoimmune and inflammatory disorders: facts and fiction. *Tissue Antigens* (2013) 82(1):1–15. doi:10.1111/tan.12136
- 125. Kambayashi T, Laufer TM. Atypical MHC class II-expressing antigenpresenting cells: can anything replace a dendritic cell? *Nat Rev Immunol* (2014) 14(11):719–30. doi:10.1038/nri3754
- 126. Davis DM. Intercellular transfer of cell-surface proteins is common and can affect many stages of an immune response. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2007) 7(3):238–43. doi:10.1038/nri2020

- 127. Zhang QJ, Li XL, Wang D, Huang XC, Mathis JM, Duan WM, et al. Trogocytosis of MHC-I/peptide complexes derived from tumors and infected cells enhances dendritic cell cross-priming and promotes adaptive T cell responses. *PLoS One* (2008) 3(8):e3097. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003097
- Wakim LM, Bevan MJ. Cross-dressed dendritic cells drive memory CD8+ T-cell activation after viral infection. *Nature* (2011) 471(7340):629–32. doi:10.1038/nature09863
- 129. de Heusch M, Blocklet D, Egrise D, Hauquier B, Vermeersch M, Goldman S, et al. Bidirectional MHC molecule exchange between migratory and resident dendritic cells. *J Leukoc Biol* (2007) 82(4):861–8. doi:10.1189/jlb.0307167
- Griffin JP, Chu R, Harding CV. Early endosomes and a late endocytic compartment generate different peptide-class II MHC complexes via distinct processing mechanisms. *J Immunol* (1997) 158(4):1523–32.
- Clement CC, Santambrogio L. The lymph self-antigen repertoire. Front Immunol (2013) 4:424. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00424

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Humbert, Hugues and Dubrot. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Bidirectional Crosstalk between Lymphatic Endothelial Cell and T Cell and Its Implications in Tumor Immunity

Kim Pin Yeo and Veronique Angeli*

Immunology Programme, Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Yoon Loo Lin School of Medicine, Life Science Institute, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore

Lymphatic vessels have been traditionally considered as passive transporters of fluid and lipids. However, it is apparent from recent literature that the function of lymphatic vessels is not only restricted to fluid balance homeostasis but also extends to regulation of immune cell trafficking, antigen presentation, tolerance, and immunity, all which may impact the progression of inflammatory responses and diseases such as cancer. The lymphatic system and the immune system are intimately connected, and there is emergent evidence for a crosstalk between T cell and lymphatic endothelial cell (LEC). This review describes how LECs in lymph nodes can affect multiple functional properties of T cells and the impact of these LEC-driven effects on adaptive immunity and, conversely, how T cells can modulate LEC growth. The significance of such crosstalk between T cells and LECs in cancer will also be discussed.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sonia Elhadad, Weill Cornell Medical College, USA

Reviewed by:

Hideki Ogura, Yale University, USA Antoine Louveau, University of Virginia, USA

> *Correspondence: Veronique Angeli micva@nus.edu.sg

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 02 December 2016 Accepted: 18 January 2017 Published: 06 February 2017

Citation:

Yeo KP and Angeli V (2017) Bidirectional Crosstalk between Lymphatic Endothelial Cell and T Cell and Its Implications in Tumor Immunity. Front. Immunol. 8:83. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00083 Keywords: lymphatic endothelial cells, T cell, lymph node, cancer, inflammation, tolerance, cytokine

LYMPH NODE (LN) ARCHITECTURE

Lymph nodes are strategically positioned and highly organized organs that serve as "rendezvous" points for dendritic cells (DCs), T cells, and B cells. The maintenance of LN structure and compartmentalization are essential for the elicitation and development of effective immune response. LN can be subdivided into three main regions, namely, the cortex, the paracortex, and the medulla. Encapsulated LNs receive lymph from peripheral tissue and organs through the afferent lymphatic. Molecules, antigens, microorganisms, and cells such as lymphocytes and antigen-presenting cells (APCs) within the lymph are emptied into to the subcapsular sinus (SCS) of the LN. Subcapsular and medullary sinuses are directly interconnected, and hence, lymph-borne cells, fluid, and soluble molecules can pass through LN without percolating through the cortex (1). Within the SCS resides CD169-expressing macrophage and DC; these cells capture large molecules, particles, and microorganisms; and then display antigens to the lymphocytes (2-4). Densely packed B cells and follicular dendritic cells (FDCs) are organized into discrete B cell follicles in the cortex. FDCs cluster in the center of the follicles and form a dense network in which B cells contact with the antigens. Lymphocytes mainly enter LNs from the blood via high endothelial venules (HEVs) (5). T cell zones of the paracortex contain CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells and subsets of DCs in close contact with a network of conduits formed by fibroblastic reticular cells (FRCs). The medulla is composed of a three-dimensional labyrinthine structure of sinus channels starting as cortical sinusoids and expands to become wider medullary sinuses that finally drain collectively into the efferent lymphatic vessel (6).

Lymph nodes consist of not only hematopoietic cells (CD45⁺) but also heterogeneous populations of non-hematopoietic cells (CD45⁻). Currently, there are five major stromal cell subsets that have been characterized, namely, the marginal reticular cells (MRCs), FRCs, lymphatic endothelial cells (LECs), blood endothelial cells (BECs), and FDCs. They can be identified by their anatomical location within the LN and by the expression of CD31, podoplanin (also known as Gp38), CD35 (complement receptor 1), and mucosal addressin cell adhesion molecule-1 (MadCAM-1). MRCs and FRCs express Gp38 but not CD35 and CD31. MRCs can be delineated from FRCs not only by their expression of MadCAM-1 but also by their localization in the outer follicular region immediately underneath the SCS (7). LECs express both CD31 and Gp38, whereas BECs express only CD31. FDCs are centrally located within B cell follicles and are often classified based on the expression of CD21/CD35 (8), FDC-M1 (9), and FDC-M2 (complement C4) (10). Conventionally, stromal cells have long been perceived to provide structural support to the LNs during homeostasis and inflammation. Emerging evidence also indicates that stromal compartments of LNs play active roles in the immune response through their interactions with hematopoietic cells. We will briefly discuss here the role of FRCs as it has been covered recently in excellent reviews (11-13), and this review focuses on LECs.

FIBROBLASTIC RETICULAR CELLS

Fibroblastic reticular cells are resident mesenchymal cells, primarily residing in the T cells zone and capable of secreting and forming an elaborate reticular network within the LN. Single layer of FRCs enwrap extracellular matrix (ECM) that consists of a central core formed by 20-200 parallel bundles of fibrillar collagens (I and III) and intervening matrix of fibrils (14-16). These collagen bundles are surrounded by a layer of fibrillin-constituted microfibrils that are further ensheathed by a unique basement membrane-type structure (15, 16). In addition, stabilizing and cross-linking molecules such as fibromodulin, decorin, and lumican are also associated with the collagen fibers (17). FRCs also express other ECM component including ER-TR7 and common basement membrane component such as laminin and fibronectin (13). Integrin subunits and adhesion ligands such as intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-I) and vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 are also found in FRCs (13). The threedimensional tubular conduit system formed by FRCs extend the SCS throughout the T cell zone and form a contiguous lumen with fluid channels around the HEVs (18). Small lymph-borne molecules including chemokines and antigens from upstream periphery are transported within the core of FRC conduits from the SCS toward the HEVs. Molecules of high molecular mass (>70 kDa) cannot gain access to the conduit lumen and hence circumvent the lymphoid compartment and drained along the sinuses into the efferent lymphatic vessels (1, 4). Large particles including whole virus particles can also be captured by SCS macrophages and presented to migrating B cells in the underlying follicles (2, 4, 19).

In addition to acting as a key structural component in the LNs, FRCs are actively engaged in functional interactions

with hematopoietic cells by forming conduits for antigens and inflammatory stimuli (1, 18), maintaining T cell survival (20), providing "tracks" and chemokines cue to guide cellular movement (21, 22), and supporting DC-T-B cell interactions during immune response (23) and peripheral tolerance (24–26). Disruption of FRC integrity and organization in the LNs during viral infection leads to profound loss of immunocompetence (27) strongly underscoring the roles of FRCs in maintaining proper immune response.

LYMPHATIC ENDOTHELIAL CELLS

Lymphatic vessels are present in most tissues and are important for maintenance of fluid homeostasis, immune cells trafficking, and movement of soluble antigens (28). Lymph from upstream peripheral tissues first passes through the SCS, a space underneath the collagen-rich fibrous capsule that covers the LN. The floor of SCS is lined by LECs expressing lymphatic vessel endothelial hyaluronan receptor 1 (LYVE-1) and is interspersed with CD169⁺ macrophages and DCs. From there, lymph percolates through the highly branched medullary sinuses and blind-ended cortical sinuses before leaving the LNs via the efferent lymphatic vessel (6). Cortical LECs form the vessels and branch into the T cell zone and have been indicated to facilitate B and T cell egress (29-31). Medullary sinuses lined by LYVE-1+ endothelium are found at LN exit within the medulla. Recently, the markers to delineate the LECs located in the SCS, cortex, and medulla have been reported and include programmed death ligand 1 (PD-L1), ICAM-1, MadCAM-1, and lymphotoxin ß receptor (32).

Research on LN LECs in the past decades has demonstrated that lymphatic vessels are not "inert conduits" but rather plastic structures that actively sense and respond to changes in the peripheral tissue environment. For example, inflammation induced by bacterial pathogen, immunization in the presence of complete Freund's adjuvant, and contact sensitization have been shown to promote the growth of lymphatic vessels from preexisting ones, a process named lymphangiogenesis, in LNs (33-37). Furthermore, it becomes apparent that such lymphatic remodeling in LN can have important biological consequences including modulation of inflammation and adaptive immune responses (38-41). Indeed, a growing body of evidence is now demonstrating that LECs themselves can help shape adaptive immune responses through their interactions with key immune cells including DCs, macrophages, and lymphocytes. Owing to their migration through and within lymphatic vessels and their anatomical distribution in LNs, T cells frequently encounter LECs. This review focuses on the crosstalk between T cells and LECs in LNs and its immunological consequences.

LN LECs CONTROL T CELL POOL

LECs Regulate T Cell Migration to, within, and out of LN

We will briefly discuss in this section how LECs attract and facilitate the trafficking of T cells from the periphery to LN

and within the LN since this topic has been covered in depth in excellent reviews (42, 43). Although LECs have been shown to express a large number of chemokines that attract T cells (38), the role of CCL21 is the most established in the homing of naïve, memory, and T regulatory (Treg) T cells to LNs. The signaling induced by CCL21 binding to its receptor, CCR7, on the surface of migratory T cells is critical for T cell trafficking from the periphery to the LN as shown in mice deficient for CCR7 ligands (44). Then, LECs in the cortical sinuses regulate intranodal lymphocyte trafficking by collecting lymphocytes for further transit to medullary sinuses (45). Moreover, lymphocytes can frequently move from the lymphatic sinuses back to the LN parenchyma (45). In line with these findings, it was reported that lymph-borne lymphocytes are passively transported into the peripheral medullary sinuses. Subsequently, they enter the LN parenchyma independently of CCR7 signals by migrating into adjacent peripheral medullary cords (46).

Medullary sinuses are directly connected to the efferent lymphatic vessel and have been proposed in addition to cortical sinuses as exit routes for the egress of lymphocytes from LNs (29, 30, 45). The molecular mechanisms of lymphocyte egress mediated by LECs remain elusive, and further investigations will be needed to explain how medullary sinuses can serve as both entry and egress structures for T cells. Most work on T cell egress has focused on mechanisms that lymphocytes uses to reach efferent lymphatic vessels and has identified sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P)/S1P1 as a critical signal axis in promoting T cell egress (47). S1P levels are low in LN parenchyma but high in lymph fluid, thus creating a gradient. This S1P gradient guides T cells exhibiting decreased CCR7-retention signals from LN parenchyma into medullary and cortical sinuses and ultimately facilitates T cell egress (48). Notably, S1P in cortical sinuses and efferent lymph has been shown to be produced by LYVE-1+ LECs. Mice lacking specifically S1P kinase, the enzyme responsible for S1P synthesis, in LECs show compromised T cell egress (49). It is well established that local immune responses and inflammation are accompanied by alterations in the trafficking of lymphocytes through LNs. Specifically, the entry of lymphocytes into LNs increased, whereas their egress into efferent lymph is temporarily inhibited for few hours to days, depending on the nature of the stimulus (50-52). Few years ago, we reported that inflammation in LN, as it evolves from early to late phases, can induce a biphasic remodeling of lymphatic network, with the SCSs being expanded first, followed by the cortical and medullary sinuses. We showed that the early expansion of SCSs enhances the migration of DCs from the periphery, whereas the preferential expansion of cortical and medullary sinuses at later stages of inflammation supports the restoration of lymphocyte egress to steady-state levels (53).

LN LECs Support the Survival of T Cells

Several emerging evidence indicates that LECs may not only regulate the homeostasis of T cells in LNs through the modulation of their migration but also their survival. Interleukin (IL)-7 binds to IL-7R α chain in combination with the common- γ chain and is essential for T lymphocyte homeostasis within the secondary lymphoid organs. IL-7 expression *in vivo*, which

appears to limit the size of the lymphocyte pool, was thought to be regulated by IL-7 receptor α (IL-7R α)-mediated consumption rather than the rate of IL-7 expression (54, 55). However, this concept has been recently challenged by a study showing that IL-7 expression can be induced in the liver in response to Toll-like receptor signaling and can directly control T cell responses (56). In line with this latter study, an earlier report by the same group demonstrated that excessive IL-6 expression increases IL-7 expression, which in turn was associated with the development of autoimmune reaction (57). These studies underscore that production of IL-7 by non-hematopoietic cells is tightly and dynamically regulated. In LNs, IL-7 provides antiapoptotic and proliferative signals to naïve and memory T cells (58–61). Although FRCs have been shown to be a major producer of IL-7 in LNs (20), it appears now evident that LECs are also an important source of IL-7 in murine and human LNs (62, 63). Interestingly, during inflammation-induced LN remodeling that influences intranodal lymphocyte dynamics, IL-7-expressing cortical sinus LECs have been shown to be essential for LN remodeling (63). In line with the role of IL-7 in maintaining memory T cells, a recent study revealed that LECs in lungs from mouse and humans can support the survival of memory T-helper cells through the production of IL-7 and IL-33 during allergic airway inflammation (64). IL-33 is a proinflammatory cytokine that initiates chronic inflammation in the lung, and its receptor is highly expressed on memory Th2 cells. IL-33 has been shown to directly induce memory Th2 cells to produce IL-5 and induces eosinophilic inflammation. Although this study focuses on lung LECs, it raises the possibility that LECs through the production of diverse cytokines may control the survival of pathogenic T cells during chronic inflammation, which in turn may have serious pathological consequences. Furthermore, the fact that IL-7 has been shown to mediate the transition from effector into memory T cells (65, 66) may also suggest the potential implication of LECs in shaping T cell differentiation in LNs during immune response.

LN LECs REGULATE T CELL ACTIVATION

LN LECs Function as APCs for Peripheral T Cell Tolerance

Peripheral immune tolerance is generally ascribed to quiescent tissue-resident DCs cross-presentation of tissue-associated antigens to self-reactive T cells that have escaped thymic negative selection (67). More recently, accumulating evidence demonstrates that direct presentation of self-antigens by LN stromal cell subsets including FRCs and LECs can also mediate peripheral tolerance (25, 26, 68). Among LN stromal cell populations, LECs are likely the first cells that are in direct contact with the antigens, danger signals, and immune cells that carry peripheral blueprint to the draining LN. LECs express MHC class I (68–70) and MHC class II (41, 71, 72) and are capable of inducing T cell tolerance directly and suppressing DC-mediated T cell activation. In addition, T cell activation is also affected by the cytokine environment and relative balance between costimulatory and inhibitory signals from the APCs (41, 71, 73–75).

There are several potential pathways by which LECs can induce T cell tolerance. For instance, LN LECs express multiple peripheral tissue antigens (PTAs) (25, 69). In steady state, LECs lack costimulatory molecules such as CD80, CD86, or 4-1BBL that normally drive immunogenic T cell response. Instead, high expression of PD-L1 on LECs and engagement with its receptor on T cells predispose them to promote peripheral T cell tolerance (41). In a model of LEC-induced tolerance of melanocytes differentiation protein tyrosinase-specific CD8+ T cells, lack of stimulation through 4-1BB led to rapid and increased expression level of PD-1. Signaling through PD-1 inhibits upregulation of IL-2R on CD8⁺ T cells, culminating in apoptotic death associated with the loss of IL-2 prosurvival signaling (41). On the other hand, rescue of tyrosinase-specific CD8⁺ T cells by interfering PD-1 signaling or providing costimulatory signals gain effector function and induce autoimmune vitiligo, demonstrating that LECs are important and specialized APCs for peripheral T cell tolerance (41). This latter finding is in line with the observation in severe enteric autoimmunity that loss of PD-1/PD L1 inhibitory pathway blocks CD8+ T cell tolerance to intestinal self-antigens (76). It is worth to note that tyrosinase and PD-L1 are expressed at higher levels in LN LECs as opposed to LECs in periphery (diaphragm or colon), indicating that the LN microenvironment endows LN LECs with tolerogenic properties not found in tissue LECs (32). Given that LECs express various PTAs, dysregulation of LEC-associated tolerance is likely expected to contribute to the development of several autoimmune disorders.

In addition to transcriptionally expressed PTAs, LN LECs have also been shown to scavenge and cross-present exogenous antigen to naïve CD8+ T cells in the model of B16 F10 melanoma expressing the foreign antigen ovalbumin (OVA) and overexpressing vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-C (70). VEGF-C-induced LN lymphangiogenesis suppresses anti-tumor immunity by local deletion of OVA-specific CD8+ T cells, which in turn drives disease progression and metastatic outgrowth. Similar observation was also reported under homeostatic conditions whereby intradermal injection of fluorescently labeled OVA protein was engulfed by LN LECs, processed, and presented on MHC class I to cognate CD8+ T cells in a TAP1-dependent manner (77). Such T cell/LEC interaction was shown to lead to decreased cytokine production and increased expression of Annexin V and exhaustion markers (PD-1, CD80, and CTLA-4) in vitro (77). These experimental findings suggest that regardless of the source of antigen (exogenous or endogenous), constitutive expression of inhibitory molecules and lack of costimulatory molecules on LECs will predominantly induce peripheral tolerance.

Furthermore, LECs express intermediate levels of MHC class II molecules suggesting that they might also tolerize CD4⁺ T cells (41, 71). MHC class II on LECs has shown to be either acquired from the DCs or endogenously expressed (24, 72). Rouhani et al. employed transgenic systems where antigens β -galactosidase (β -gal) and hemagglutinin (HA) were conditionally expressed in LECs under the control of Prox-1 and LYVE-1 promoters (72). Both CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cell receptors are available in these models and hence allowing comparative evaluation of the ability of LECs to drive tolerance to epitopes from the same protein

presented by either MHC class I or MHC class II molecules. The authors demonstrated that PTA β -gal and HA epitopes on MHC class I were directly presented to CD8⁺ T cells, whereas these epitopes on MHC class II molecules were not presented to CD4⁺ T cells both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Instead, these antigens were transferred to DC and then presented to CD4⁺ T cell to induce anergy. Therefore, LECs serve as a reservoir and repertoire of PTAs in the LN that may be acquired by DCs to induce tolerogenic CD4⁺ T cells. Similarly, Dubrot et al. showed that LECs acquire peptide: MHC class II complexes from DCs (24). However, in contrast to Rouhani et al., these complexes were not observed to be transferred back to LECs in sufficient quantities to induce CD4⁺ T cells recognition and subsequent antigen-specific T cells apoptosis.

LN LECs Modulate DC Functions

LECs may also regulate T cell activation indirectly by modulating antigen-presenting functions of DCs. Under steady state, immature DCs typically capture autoantigens from apoptotic cells, migrate to LNs, and promote T cell tolerance (78-80). Exposure of DCs to danger signals during inflammation or infection increases the expression of MHC class II molecules, costimulatory molecules, and cytokine that ultimately can trigger immunity and prevent tolerance. LECs have been shown to attenuate T cell response by suppressing DC maturation (73, 74, 81). Direct contact of immature DCs with an inflamed, TNF- α stimulated LECs decreases expression of CD86 on DCs, dampening their ability to stimulate T cell proliferation (81). This interaction was mediated by the binding of ICAM-1 on LECs to Mac-1 on DCs and was observed in the absence of PAMPs (81). LECs also restrain T cell proliferation through upregulation of nitric oxide synthase-2 and production of NO in response to interferon (IFN)- γ and TNF- α released from activated T cells (73). Furthermore, IFN- γ -stimulated cultured human LN LEC produces inhibitory indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase that in turn impairs CD4⁺ T cell proliferation (74). Interestingly, in different contexts such as viral challenge and subunit vaccination, viral antigens are captured and archived in LECs and subsequently transferred to DCs for the maintenance of memory T cells and enhancement of protective immunity (82). Therefore, crosstalk between LECs and DCs within the LN can either drive tolerogenic or immunogenic responses depending on the antigenic stimuli, immune cells encountered, and the type of inflammatory challenges.

LN LECs Archive Antigens

Several studies have reported that persistence of virally associated antigens after acute infection and subsequent viral clearance or so-called the reservoir of antigens was localized within the LNs draining the site of initial infection (82–86). A recent report demonstrated that LN LECs retain persisting antigens for weeks after vaccination (82). This antigen archiving was dependent on the induction of LN lymphatic proliferation. However, LECs did not present directly the archived antigen to T cells but instead required hematopoietic APCs. The number and percentage of CD8⁺ T cell-producing IFN- γ and IL-2 were significantly increased when antigen was retained in LECs.

Notably, we previously reported that LN lymphangiogenesis persists during prolonged inflammation (53). Thus, it is plausible that the persistence of an expanded LN lymphatic network after viral infection or vaccination may allow the long-term storage of viral antigens. As a consequence, ongoing antigen presentation and recognition by memory T cells may lead to selective enrichment of virus-specific memory T cells in the draining LN even after the clearance of the infectious agent. This enriched population of antigen-specific T cells may provide more rapid effector responses in the periphery and better control of secondary infections.

T CELLS CONTROL LEC GROWTH UPON INFLAMMATION

Because lymphangiogenesis in LN has been shown to have diverse functional consequences on inflammation and immune responses depending on the context and timeframe of its occurrence (39, 40), this process is expected to be highly regulated. Indeed, a large number of studies have identified cellular and molecular mechanisms promoting the growth of lymphatic vessels. In contrast, little knowledge is currently available on pathways counter-regulating lymphangiogenesis. Both non-immune and immune cells have been described to orchestrate the expansion of lymphatic vessel network within LN. Interestingly, among immune cells, B and T cells have been shown to have opposite effects, namely, B cells support inflammatory lymphangiogenesis in LNs, whereas T cells have antilymphangiogenic effects. The first evidence supporting a role for T cells as negative regulators of LEC growth arises from a mouse study in which T cells were ablated using athymic mice (37). This antilymphangiogenic effect of T cells in the athymic mice was restored by the adoptive transfer of CD4+ or CD8+ T cells. This study suggests that both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells may harbor an antilymphangiogenic property. Other studies in different mouse models of inflammatory lymphangiogenesis have further confirmed the regulatory function of CD4⁺ T cells on LEC growth (34, 87). In the model of LN lymphangiogenesis induced by bacterial lipopolysaccharide, the authors demonstrated that the secretion of IFN- γ by T cells accounts for the inhibitory effect of T cells on LN lymphangiogenesis (37). Moreover, in line with an earlier study (88), they showed using in vitro cultured LECs that IFN-γ can act directly on LECs and affect their proliferation and survival (see Table 1) (37, 88).

These two latter studies provided the first evidence for a role of cytokines in controlling the expansion of lymphatic vessels. Since then, this notion has been further validated by several recent studies reporting the effect of other cytokines including IL-10, IL-17, TGF- β , and IL-4/IL-13 on LEC growth *in vitro* and/ or in diverse models of inflammatory or *de novo* lymphangiogenesis induced in LN or other tissues (**Table 1**). From these studies, it becomes apparent that (i) cytokines are not always antilymphangiogenic; (ii) one given cytokine may have prolymphangiogenic or antilymphangiogenic properties depending on the context in which lymphatic growth occurs; and (iii) modulation of lymphatic proliferation, survival, and migration by

cytokines can be mediated by a direct effect on LECs or indirectly by controlling the expression of lymphangiogenic factors such as VEGF-A, -C, and -D. Interestingly, all these cytokines can be secreted by different CD4⁺ T subsets including Th1, Th2, Th17, and Treg cells raising the possibility that different T cell subsets recruited to LN may affect LEC growth. Although this notion is indirectly supported by the studies cited in **Table 1** and a recent study reporting the effect of Treg on lymphatic transport in a mouse model of lymphedema (100), direct evidence for a role of these T cell subsets and their cytokines in controlling LN lymphangiogenesis is lacking.

IMPLICATIONS OF LEC IMMUNOMODULATORY PROPERTIES IN CANCER PROGRESSION

The ever-growing research on tumor biology, immunology, and lymphatic biology has recently highlighted the multifaceted roles of lymphatic vessels in shaping tumor immunity and in cancer progression. One of the cardinal functions of lymphatic vessel is to transport components of the local tissue containing interstitial solutes, cytokines, growth factors, and immune cells to the downstream LN for the maintenance of tissue fluid homeostasis and peripheral immune tolerance. Tumor cells can "hijack" the lymphatic and induce the expansion of lymphatic vessels for their dissemination, colonization, and the formation of metastasis in the tumor-draining LNs (101, 102) (Figure 1). Via the lymphatic route, tumor cells can also modify the microenvironment of the metastatic organs from the distal sites before their arrivalreferred to premetastatic niche. LN lymphangiogenesis preceding metastasis is an important mechanism and is associated with cancer progression (103-106).

Moreover, LN LECs express several chemokines that can attract cancer cells expressing the cognate chemokine receptors. For instance, constitutive CCL21 expression by LEC can serve as a guide for CCR7-expressing breast cancer and melanoma cells invading the LNs (107). Overexpression of CCR7 in melanoma has been shown to promote LN metastasis in mice (108), and CCR7 expression in human cancer samples correlates positively with LN metastasis (109–111). Upregulation of CXCL12 expression has been reported to enhance LN metastasis of CXCR4⁺ tumor cells (112). CCL1 is another chemokine produced by the SCS LEC, which has been shown to control CCR8⁺ tumor cell entry and subsequent migration and colonization in the LN cortex (113). Blocking of CCL1-CCR8 signaling results in the arrest of tumor cells at the junction of the afferent lymphatic vessels and the LN.

As discussed earlier, LN LECs can profoundly affect T cell survival, fate, and activation that can be of significant importance in tumor immune responses (**Figure 1**). The primary tumor is connected to the downstream afferent lymphatic vessel and draining LNs, and this connection may allow the entry of tumor-derived factors to the draining LNs and consequently may alter regional immune responses. Such alterations were reported to occur even before LN metastasis (114). Moreover, owing to the lack of costimulatory molecules

TABLE 1 | Cytokines regulating lymphatic endothelial cell (LEC) growth.

Cytokine	Mechanism	Model system	Reference
Interferon (IFN)-γ	Inhibits proliferation and migration	Cultured pig thoracic duct LEC	(88)
	Increases apoptosis		
	Inhibits lymph node (LN) lymphangiogenesis	LPS-induced LN lymphangiogenesis in mouse; Lewis Lung carcinoma cell implantation in mouse	(37)
	Inhibits proliferation and tube formation; downregulates Prox-1 LYVE-1and podoplanin expression	Cultured murine thoracic duct LEC	
Interleukin (IL)-4/IL-13	Inhibits LN lymphangiogenesis	CFA/ovalbumin-induced LN lymphangiogenesis	(34)
	Inhibits corneal lymphangiogenesis	Mouse model of suture-induced corneal neovascularization	(89)
	Inhibits proliferation, tube formation and migration; increases apoptosis	Cultured human dermal LEC	
	Inhibits lung and trachea lymphangiogenesis	Mouse model of allergen-induced asthma	(90)
	Inhibits proliferation, tube formation and downregulates Prox-1 and LYVE-1 expression	Cultured murine LN LEC and human dermal LECs	
	Increases skin lymphangiogenesis and promotes recruitment of macrophages and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-C expression	K14-IL-4 transgenic mouse	(91)
IL-17	Increases corneal lymphangiogenesis via VEGFR-3/VEGF-C/-D pathway	Mouse model of cornea micropocket and Th17- dominant autoimmune dry eye disease	(92)
	Increases proliferation and tube formation via VEGFR-3-dependent pathway	Cultured human dermal LECs	
IL-10	Increases lymphangiogenesis and promotes VEGF-C production by macrophages	Mouse model of suture-induced corneal neovascularization	(93)
	No direct effect on LEC	Cultured human dermal LECs	
TGF-β	Inhibits lymphangiogenesis	Mouse model of chronic peritonitis	(94)
	Inhibits proliferation, tube formation, and migration; downregulates Prox-1 and LYVE-1 expression	Cultured human dermal LEC	
	Inhibits proliferation and tube formation	Cultured human dermal LEC	(95)
	Independent of VEGF-C/-D		
	Inhibits lymphangiogenesis	Mouse lymphedema model	(96)
	Promotes lymphangiogenesis and upregulates VEGF-C expression	Rat model of unilateral ureteral obstruction	(97)
	Promotes lymphangiogenesis and upregulates VEGF-C expression	Rat model of peritoneal fibrosis	(98)
	Enhances branching and sprouting of lymphatic network in embryonic skin	E13.5–15.5 mouse embryos	(99)
	Attenuates LEC proliferation	Cultured human dermal microvascular LECs	

expression and high levels of inhibitory ligand PD-L1 on LN LECs, lymphatic antigen presentation *via* MHC-I can induce deletional tolerance, a mechanism by which tumor cells may evade host immunity (41, 69, 70). VEGF-C-induced LN lymphangiogenesis can further promote immune tolerance in B16 melanoma-implanted mouse model (70). However, these studies suggest that manipulating LEC-associated tolerance or cancer dissemination may create opportunities for a new generation of antitumor immunotherapy. Importantly, cancer immunotherapies targeting the immune checkpoints, PD-1 and PD-L1, are revolutionizing current cancer treatments (115, 116). In humans, anti-PD-1 antibodies that target tumor-specific T cells (117–119) and anti-PD-L1 antibodies that bind

to ligand expressed by the tumor and intratumor immune cells (120, 121) show promising clinical benefits. One can speculate that targeting this PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint *via* systemic administration may also interrupt the tolerogenic signaling pathway between LN LECs and CD8⁺ T cells. Perhaps, a more LN-specific delivery of these blocking antibodies or other anticancer vaccine may lead to a greater impact on antitumor immune responses (122).

Although LN LECs may contribute to immune suppressive environment within the tumor-draining LNs (whether by direct interaction with CD8⁺T cells or by draining the immunosuppressive cytokines from the upstream tumors), their roles in tumor immune surveillance cannot be neglected (**Figure 1**). Indeed,



circulating tumor-specific T cells in metastatic melanoma patients are functional although those isolated from tumordraining LNs exhibit exhausted characteristics (decreased IFN- γ and increased CTLA-4 and LAG-3 expression) (123). Interestingly, co-administration of anti-CTLA-4 and PD-1 antibodies reverses T cell exhaustion by increasing effector T cell activity and cytokine production and hence augmenting tumor inhibition (124). Tumor immunity was examined in the context of impaired lymphatic function using a kCYC transgenic mouse model expressing Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpes virus latent-cycle gene, *k-cyclin*, and under the control of VEGFR-3 promoter (101). In this model, antigen-presenting ability of DCs and cytotoxicity of CD8⁺ T cells isolated from the draining LNs of *kCYC* mice were attenuated. Furthermore, adoptive transfer of CD8⁺ T cells derived from kCYC mice to naïve WT mice show impaired antitumor function (101). In another model of dermal lymphatic insufficiency (K14-VEGFR3-Ig mice), implanted melanoma grew robustly and

exhibited marked reduction in leukocyte infiltration compared with those implanted in control mice, suggesting that lymphatic vessels are essential for the generation of tumor immune responses (125). In addition, we showed in a spontaneous mouse model of uveal melanoma that early resection of TDLNs promotes primary tumor growth, cancer cell dissemination, and metastasis (102). Even though we did not examine the role of immune responses in the absence of tumor-draining LNs, it is plausible that uncontrollable growth of primary tumor may be due to the lack of antitumor immunity since the depletion of CD8⁺ T cells accelerates tumor growth and dissemination in the same model (126). These reports strongly indicate that functional lymphatic and presence of tumor-draining LNs are required for cancer immune surveillance. To further support this, current cancer immunotherapies targeting the immune checkpoints have demonstrated and supported the evidence that antitumor immunity exists even in the most advanced stages of cancer (116, 127-129).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The ever-growing research on lymphatic biology has clearly identified LECs as key players in regulating adaptive immunity particularly by affecting T cell functions. However, the dynamics of T cells/LECs interactions and their immunological consequences in the context of cancer need to be further delineated. LN LECs are intricately affected by peripheral tumor, tumor-associated factors, and immune cells that in turn enhance tumor cell dissemination and drive the balance between host immunity and tolerance. Hence, LN LECs may represent a potential therapeutic target in addition to immunotherapy strategies for cancer progression and metastasis. Although tumor-associated LN lymphangiogenesis can contribute to tumor dissemination and increased immune tolerance, LN LECs are also important for the communication

REFERENCES

- Gretz JE, Norbury CC, Anderson AO, Proudfoot AE, Shaw S. Lymphborne chemokines and other low molecular weight molecules reach high endothelial venules via specialized conduits while a functional barrier limits access to the lymphocyte microenvironments in lymph node cortex. *J Exp Med* (2000) 192:1425–40. doi:10.1084/jem.192. 10.1425
- Carrasco YR, Batista FD. B cells acquire particulate antigen in a macrophage-rich area at the boundary between the follicle and the subcapsular sinus of the lymph node. *Immunity* (2007) 27:160–71. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2007.06.007
- Gerner MY, Torabi-Parizi P, Germain RN. Strategically localized dendritic cells promote rapid T cell responses to lymph-borne particulate antigens. *Immunity* (2015) 42:172–85. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.12.024
- Junt T, Moseman EA, Iannacone M, Massberg S, Lang PA, Boes M, et al. Subcapsular sinus macrophages in lymph nodes clear lymph-borne viruses and present them to antiviral B cells. *Nature* (2007) 450:110–4. doi:10.1038/ nature06287
- Girard JP, Springer TA. High endothelial venules (HEVs): specialized endothelium for lymphocyte migration. *Immunol Today* (1995) 16:449–57. doi:10.1016/0167-5699(95)80023-9
- Forster R, Braun A, Worbs T. Lymph node homing of T cells and dendritic cells via afferent lymphatics. *Trends Immunol* (2012) 33:271–80. doi:10.1016/j.it.2012.02.007
- Katakai T, Suto H, Sugai M, Gonda H, Togawa A, Suematsu S, et al. Organizer-like reticular stromal cell layer common to adult secondary lymphoid organs. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:6189–200. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.181.9.6189
- Roozendaal R, Carroll MC. Complement receptors CD21 and CD35 in humoral immunity. *Immunol Rev* (2007) 219:157–66. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2007.00556.x
- Kranich J, Krautler NJ, Heinen E, Polymenidou M, Bridel C, Schildknecht A, et al. Follicular dendritic cells control engulfment of apoptotic bodies by secreting Mfge8. J Exp Med (2008) 205:1293–302. doi:10.1084/jem. 20071019
- Taylor PR, Pickering MC, Kosco-Vilbois MH, Walport MJ, Botto M, Gordon S, et al. The follicular dendritic cell restricted epitope, FDC-M2, is complement C4; localization of immune complexes in mouse tissues. *Eur J Immunol* (2002) 32:1888–96. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200207)32: 7<1883::AID-IMMU1888>3.0.CO;2-8
- Brown FD, Turley SJ. Fibroblastic reticular cells: organization and regulation of the T lymphocyte life cycle. J Immunol (2015) 194:1389–94. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1402520
- Fletcher AL, Acton SE, Knoblich K. Lymph node fibroblastic reticular cells in health and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2015) 15:350–61. doi:10.1038/ nri3846

between tumors and immune cells to mount antitumor immune responses. For these reasons, combined research on immunology, lymphatic, and tumor biology is essential to further elucidate the immunological roles of LN LECs in cancer and their impact on disease progression.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All the authors listed have written the manuscript and VA approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from National Medical Research Council, Ministry of Education, and National Research Foundation to VA.

- Mueller SN, Germain RN. Stromal cell contributions to the homeostasis and functionality of the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2009) 9:618–29. doi:10.1038/nri2588
- Hayakawa M, Kobayashi M, Hoshino T. Microfibrils: a constitutive component of reticular fibers in the mouse lymph node. *Cell Tissue Res* (1990) 262:199–201. doi:10.1007/BF00327763
- Kaldjian EP, Gretz JE, Anderson AO, Shi Y, Shaw S. Spatial and molecular organization of lymph node T cell cortex: a labyrinthine cavity bounded by an epithelium-like monolayer of fibroblastic reticular cells anchored to basement membrane-like extracellular matrix. *Int Immunol* (2001) 13:1243–53. doi:10.1093/intimm/13.10.1243
- Sixt M, Kanazawa N, Selg M, Samson T, Roos G, Reinhardt DP, et al. The conduit system transports soluble antigens from the afferent lymph to resident dendritic cells in the T cell area of the lymph node. *Immunity* (2005) 22:19–29. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2004.11.013
- Lammermann T, Sixt M. The microanatomy of T-cell responses. *Immunol Rev* (2008) 221:26–43. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00592.x
- Gretz JE, Anderson AO, Shaw S. Cords, channels, corridors and conduits: critical architectural elements facilitating cell interactions in the lymph node cortex. *Immunol Rev* (1997) 156:11–24. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.1997. tb00955.x
- Phan TG, Grigorova I, Okada T, Cyster JG. Subcapsular encounter and complement-dependent transport of immune complexes by lymph node B cells. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8:992–1000. doi:10.1038/ni1494
- Link A, Vogt TK, Favre S, Britschgi MR, Acha-Orbea H, Hinz B, et al. Fibroblastic reticular cells in lymph nodes regulate the homeostasis of naive T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8:1255–65. doi:10.1038/ni1513
- Bajenoff M, Egen JG, Koo LY, Laugier JP, Brau F, Glaichenhaus N, et al. Stromal cell networks regulate lymphocyte entry, migration, and territoriality in lymph nodes. *Immunity* (2006) 25:989–1001. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2006.10.011
- 22. Worbs T, Mempel TR, Bolter J, von Andrian UH, Forster R. CCR7 ligands stimulate the intranodal motility of T lymphocytes in vivo. *J Exp Med* (2007) 204:489–95. doi:10.1084/jem.20061706
- Katakai T, Hara T, Lee JH, Gonda H, Sugai M, Shimizu A. A novel reticular stromal structure in lymph node cortex: an immuno-platform for interactions among dendritic cells, T cells and B cells. *Int Immunol* (2004) 16:1133–42. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxh113
- 24. Dubrot J, Duraes FV, Potin L, Capotosti F, Brighouse D, Suter T, et al. Lymph node stromal cells acquire peptide-MHCII complexes from dendritic cells and induce antigen-specific CD4(+) T cell tolerance. *J Exp Med* (2014) 211:1153–66. doi:10.1084/jem.20132000
- Fletcher AL, Lukacs-Kornek V, Reynoso ED, Pinner SE, Bellemare-Pelletier A, Curry MS, et al. Lymph node fibroblastic reticular cells directly present peripheral tissue antigen under steady-state and inflammatory conditions. J Exp Med (2010) 207:689–97. doi:10.1084/jem. 20092642

- Lee JW, Epardaud M, Sun J, Becker JE, Cheng AC, Yonekura AR, et al. Peripheral antigen display by lymph node stroma promotes T cell tolerance to intestinal self. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8:181–90. doi:10.1038/ ni1427
- Schacker TW, Brenchley JM, Beilman GJ, Reilly C, Pambuccian SE, Taylor J, et al. Lymphatic tissue fibrosis is associated with reduced numbers of naive CD4+ T cells in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *Clin Vaccine Immunol* (2006) 13:556–60. doi:10.1128/CVI.13.5.556-560.2006
- Alitalo K. The lymphatic vasculature in disease. Nat Med (2011) 17:1371–80. doi:10.1038/nm.2545
- Grigorova IL, Schwab SR, Phan TG, Pham TH, Okada T, Cyster JG. Cortical sinus probing, S1P1-dependent entry and flow-based capture of egressing T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:58–65. doi:10.1038/ni.1682
- Pham TH, Okada T, Matloubian M, Lo CG, Cyster JG. S1P1 receptor signaling overrides retention mediated by G alpha i-coupled receptors to promote T cell egress. *Immunity* (2008) 28:122–33. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2007.11.017
- Sinha RK, Park C, Hwang IY, Davis MD, Kehrl JH. B lymphocytes exit lymph nodes through cortical lymphatic sinusoids by a mechanism independent of sphingosine-1-phosphate-mediated chemotaxis. *Immunity* (2009) 30(3):434–46. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.12.018
- Cohen JN, Tewalt EF, Rouhani SJ, Buonomo EL, Bruce AN, Xu X, et al. Tolerogenic properties of lymphatic endothelial cells are controlled by the lymph node microenvironment. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e87740. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0087740
- Angeli V, Ginhoux F, Llodra J, Quemeneur L, Frenette PS, Skobe M, et al. B cell-driven lymphangiogenesis in inflamed lymph nodes enhances dendritic cell mobilization. *Immunity* (2006) 24:203–15. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2006.01.003
- 34. Avraham T, Zampell JC, Yan A, Elhadad S, Weitman ES, Rockson SG, et al. Th2 differentiation is necessary for soft tissue fibrosis and lymphatic dysfunction resulting from lymphedema. *FASEB J* (2013) 27:1114–26. doi:10.1096/fj.12-222695
- Halin C, Tobler NE, Vigl B, Brown LF, Detmar M. VEGF-A produced by chronically inflamed tissue induces lymphangiogenesis in draining lymph nodes. *Blood* (2007) 110:3158–67. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-01-066811
- Kataru RP, Jung K, Jang C, Yang H, Schwendener RA, Baik JE, et al. Critical role of CD11b+ macrophages and VEGF in inflammatory lymphangiogenesis, antigen clearance, and inflammation resolution. *Blood* (2009) 113:5650–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-09-176776
- Kataru RP, Kim H, Jang C, Choi DK, Koh BI, Kim M, et al. T lymphocytes negatively regulate lymph node lymphatic vessel formation. *Immunity* (2011) 34:96–107. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.12.016
- Card CM, Yu SS, Swartz MA. Emerging roles of lymphatic endothelium in regulating adaptive immunity. J Clin Invest (2014) 124:943–52. doi:10.1172/ JCI73316
- Kim H, Kataru RP, Koh GY. Inflammation-associated lymphangiogenesis: a double-edged sword? J Clin Invest (2014) 124:936–42. doi:10.1172/ JCI71607
- Tan KW, Chong SZ, Angeli V. Inflammatory lymphangiogenesis: cellular mediators and functional implications. *Angiogenesis* (2014) 17:373–81. doi:10.1007/s10456-014-9419-4
- Tewalt EF, Cohen JN, Rouhani SJ, Guidi CJ, Qiao H, Fahl SP, et al. Lymphatic endothelial cells induce tolerance via PD-L1 and lack of costimulation leading to high-level PD-1 expression on CD8 T cells. *Blood* (2012) 120:4772–82. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-04-427013
- Girard JP, Moussion C, Forster R. HEVs, lymphatics and homeostatic immune cell trafficking in lymph nodes. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2012) 12:762–73. doi:10.1038/nri3298
- Johnson LA, Jackson DG. Cell traffic and the lymphatic endothelium. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2008) 1131:119–33. doi:10.1196/annals.1413.011
- Forster R, Davalos-Misslitz AC, Rot A. CCR7 and its ligands: balancing immunity and tolerance. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2008) 8:362–71. doi:10.1038/ nri2297
- Grigorova IL, Panteleev M, Cyster JG. Lymph node cortical sinus organization and relationship to lymphocyte egress dynamics and antigen exposure. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107:20447–52. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1009968107

- 46. Braun A, Worbs T, Moschovakis GL, Halle S, Hoffmann K, Bolter J, et al. Afferent lymph-derived T cells and DCs use different chemokine receptor CCR7-dependent routes for entry into the lymph node and intranodal migration. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12:879–87. doi:10.1038/ni.2085
- Schwab SR, Cyster JG. Finding a way out: lymphocyte egress from lymphoid organs. Nat Immunol (2007) 8:1295–301. doi:10.1038/ni1545
- Lo CG, Xu Y, Proia RL, Cyster JG. Cyclical modulation of sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 1 surface expression during lymphocyte recirculation and relationship to lymphoid organ transit. J Exp Med (2005) 201:291–301. doi:10.1084/jem.20041509
- Pham TH, Baluk P, Xu Y, Grigorova I, Bankovich AJ, Pappu R, et al. Lymphatic endothelial cell sphingosine kinase activity is required for lymphocyte egress and lymphatic patterning. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207:17–27. doi:10.1084/jem.20091619
- Cahill RN, Frost H, Trnka Z. The effects of antigen on the migration of recirculating lymphocytes through single lymph nodes. J Exp Med (1976) 143:870–88. doi:10.1084/jem.143.4.870
- 51. Hall JG, Morris B. The immediate effect of antigens on the cell output of a lymph node. *Br J Exp Pathol* (1965) 46:450–4.
- Mackay CR, Marston W, Dudler L. Altered patterns of T cell migration through lymph nodes and skin following antigen challenge. *Eur J Immunol* (1992) 22:2205–10. doi:10.1002/eji.1830220904
- Tan KW, Yeo KP, Wong FH, Lim HY, Khoo KL, Abastado JP, et al. Expansion of cortical and medullary sinuses restrains lymph node hypertrophy during prolonged inflammation. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:4065–80. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1101854
- Ma A, Koka R, Burkett P. Diverse functions of IL-2, IL-15, and IL-7 in lymphoid homeostasis. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2006) 24:657–79. doi:10.1146/ annurev.immunol.24.021605.090727
- Mazzucchelli R, Durum SK. Interleukin-7 receptor expression: intelligent design. Nat Rev Immunol (2007) 7:144–54. doi:10.1038/nri2023
- Sawa Y, Arima Y, Ogura H, Kitabayashi C, Jiang JJ, Fukushima T, et al. Hepatic interleukin-7 expression regulates T cell responses. *Immunity* (2009) 30:447–57. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.01.007
- 57. Sawa S, Kamimura D, Jin GH, Morikawa H, Kamon H, Nishihara M, et al. Autoimmune arthritis associated with mutated interleukin (IL)-6 receptor gp130 is driven by STAT3/IL-7-dependent homeostatic proliferation of CD4+ T cells. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203:1459–70. doi:10.1084/ jem.20052187
- Mackall CL, Fry TJ, Gress RE. Harnessing the biology of IL-7 for therapeutic application. Nat Rev Immunol (2011) 11:330–42. doi:10.1038/nri2970
- Schluns KS, Kieper WC, Jameson SC, Lefrancois L. Interleukin-7 mediates the homeostasis of naive and memory CD8 T cells in vivo. *Nat Immunol* (2000) 1:426–32. doi:10.1038/80868
- Schluns KS, Lefrancois L. Cytokine control of memory T-cell development and survival. Nat Rev Immunol (2003) 3:269–79. doi:10.1038/nri1052
- 61. Surh CD, Sprent J. Homeostasis of naive and memory T cells. *Immunity* (2008) 29:848–62. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.11.002
- Hara T, Shitara S, Imai K, Miyachi H, Kitano S, Yao H, et al. Identification of IL-7-producing cells in primary and secondary lymphoid organs using IL-7-GFP knock-in mice. *J Immunol* (2012) 189:1577–84. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1200586
- Onder L, Narang P, Scandella E, Chai Q, Iolyeva M, Hoorweg K, et al. IL-7-producing stromal cells are critical for lymph node remodeling. *Blood* (2012) 120:4675–83. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-03-416859
- 64. Shinoda K, Hirahara K, Iinuma T, Ichikawa T, Suzuki AS, Sugaya K, et al. Thy1+IL-7+ lymphatic endothelial cells in iBALT provide a survival niche for memory T-helper cells in allergic airway inflammation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2016) 113:E2842–51. doi:10.1073/pnas.1512600113
- Kondrack RM, Harbertson J, Tan JT, McBreen ME, Surh CD, Bradley LM. Interleukin 7 regulates the survival and generation of memory CD4 cells. *J Exp Med* (2003) 198:1797–806. doi:10.1084/jem.20030735
- Woodland DL, Kohlmeier JE. Migration, maintenance and recall of memory T cells in peripheral tissues. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2009) 9:153–61. doi:10.1038/ nri2496
- Belz GT, Behrens GM, Smith CM, Miller JF, Jones C, Lejon K, et al. The CD8alpha(+) dendritic cell is responsible for inducing peripheral self-tolerance to tissue-associated antigens. *J Exp Med* (2002) 196:1099–104. doi:10.1084/jem.20020861

- Nichols LA, Chen Y, Colella TA, Bennett CL, Clausen BE, Engelhard VH. Deletional self-tolerance to a melanocyte/melanoma antigen derived from tyrosinase is mediated by a radio-resistant cell in peripheral and mesenteric lymph nodes. *J Immunol* (2007) 179:993–1003. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.179.2.993
- Cohen JN, Guidi CJ, Tewalt EF, Qiao H, Rouhani SJ, Ruddell A, et al. Lymph node-resident lymphatic endothelial cells mediate peripheral tolerance via Aire-independent direct antigen presentation. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207:681–8. doi:10.1084/jem.20092465
- Lund AW, Duraes FV, Hirosue S, Raghavan VR, Nembrini C, Thomas SN, et al. VEGF-C promotes immune tolerance in B16 melanomas and cross-presentation of tumor antigen by lymph node lymphatics. *Cell Rep* (2012) 1:191–9. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2012.01.005
- Malhotra D, Fletcher AL, Astarita J, Lukacs-Kornek V, Tayalia P, Gonzalez SF, et al. Transcriptional profiling of stroma from inflamed and resting lymph nodes defines immunological hallmarks. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13:499–510. doi:10.1038/ni.2262
- Rouhani SJ, Eccles JD, Riccardi P, Peske JD, Tewalt EF, Cohen JN, et al. Roles of lymphatic endothelial cells expressing peripheral tissue antigens in CD4 T-cell tolerance induction. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:6771. doi:10.1038/ ncomms7771
- Lukacs-Kornek V, Malhotra D, Fletcher AL, Acton SE, Elpek KG, Tayalia P, et al. Regulated release of nitric oxide by nonhematopoietic stroma controls expansion of the activated T cell pool in lymph nodes. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12:1096–104. doi:10.1038/ni.2112
- 74. Norder M, Gutierrez MG, Zicari S, Cervi E, Caruso A, Guzman CA. Lymph node-derived lymphatic endothelial cells express functional costimulatory molecules and impair dendritic cell-induced allogenic T-cell proliferation. *FASEB J* (2012) 26:2835–46. doi:10.1096/fj.12-205278
- Podgrabinska S, Braun P, Velasco P, Kloos B, Pepper MS, Skobe M. Molecular characterization of lymphatic endothelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) 99:16069–74. doi:10.1073/pnas.242401399
- Reynoso ED, Elpek KG, Francisco L, Bronson R, Bellemare-Pelletier A, Sharpe AH, et al. Intestinal tolerance is converted to autoimmune enteritis upon PD-1 ligand blockade. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:2102–12. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0802769
- 77. Hirosue S, Vokali E, Raghavan VR, Rincon-Restrepo M, Lund AW, Corthesy-Henrioud P, et al. Steady-state antigen scavenging, cross-presentation, and CD8+ T cell priming: a new role for lymphatic endothelial cells. *J Immunol* (2014) 192:5002–11. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1302492
- Hawiger D, Inaba K, Dorsett Y, Guo M, Mahnke K, Rivera M, et al. Dendritic cells induce peripheral T cell unresponsiveness under steady state conditions in vivo. J Exp Med (2001) 194:769–79. doi:10.1084/jem.194.6.769
- Steinman RM, Hawiger D, Nussenzweig MC. Tolerogenic dendritic cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2003) 21:685–711. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.21. 120601.141040
- Steinman RM, Turley S, Mellman I, Inaba K. The induction of tolerance by dendritic cells that have captured apoptotic cells. *J Exp Med* (2000) 191:411–6. doi:10.1084/jem.191.3.411
- Podgrabinska S, Kamalu O, Mayer L, Shimaoka M, Snoeck H, Randolph GJ, et al. Inflamed lymphatic endothelium suppresses dendritic cell maturation and function via Mac-1/ICAM-1-dependent mechanism. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:1767–79. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0802167
- Tamburini BA, Burchill MA, Kedl RM. Antigen capture and archiving by lymphatic endothelial cells following vaccination or viral infection. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:3989. doi:10.1038/ncomms4989
- Jelley-Gibbs DM, Brown DM, Dibble JP, Haynes L, Eaton SM, Swain SL. Unexpected prolonged presentation of influenza antigens promotes CD4 T cell memory generation. J Exp Med (2005) 202:697–706. doi:10.1084/ jem.20050227
- Kim TS, Hufford MM, Sun J, Fu YX, Braciale TJ. Antigen persistence and the control of local T cell memory by migrant respiratory dendritic cells after acute virus infection. J Exp Med (2010) 207:1161–72. doi:10.1084/ jem.20092017
- Takamura S, Roberts AD, Jelley-Gibbs DM, Wittmer ST, Kohlmeier JE, Woodland DL. The route of priming influences the ability of respiratory virus-specific memory CD8+ T cells to be activated by residual antigen. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207:1153–60. doi:10.1084/jem.20090283

- Zammit DJ, Turner DL, Klonowski KD, Lefrancois L, Cauley LS. Residual antigen presentation after influenza virus infection affects CD8 T cell activation and migration. *Immunity* (2006) 24:439–49. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2006.01.015
- Zampell JC, Yan A, Elhadad S, Avraham T, Weitman E, Mehrara BJ. CD4(+) cells regulate fibrosis and lymphangiogenesis in response to lymphatic fluid stasis. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e49940. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0049940
- Shao X, Liu C. Influence of IFN-alpha and IFN-gamma on lymphangiogenesis. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2006) 26:568–74. doi:10.1089/jir.2006. 26.568
- Savetsky IL, Ghanta S, Gardenier JC, Torrisi JS, Garcia Nores GD, Hespe GE, et al. Th2 cytokines inhibit lymphangiogenesis. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0126908. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0126908
- Shin K, Kataru RP, Park HJ, Kwon BI, Kim TW, Hong YK, et al. TH2 cells and their cytokines regulate formation and function of lymphatic vessels. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:6196. doi:10.1038/ncomms7196
- Shi VY, Bao L, Chan LS. Inflammation-driven dermal lymphangiogenesis in atopic dermatitis is associated with CD11b+ macrophage recruitment and VEGF-C up-regulation in the IL-4-transgenic mouse model. *Microcirculation* (2012) 19:567–79. doi:10.1111/j.1549-8719.2012.00189.x
- Chauhan SK, Jin Y, Goyal S, Lee HS, Fuchsluger TA, Lee HK, et al. A novel pro-lymphangiogenic function for Th17/IL-17. *Blood* (2011) 118:4630–4. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-01-332049
- Hos D, Bucher F, Regenfuss B, Dreisow ML, Bock F, Heindl LM, et al. IL-10 indirectly regulates corneal lymphangiogenesis and resolution of inflammation via macrophages. *Am J Pathol* (2016) 186:159–71. doi:10.1016/j. ajpath.2015.09.012
- Oka M, Iwata C, Suzuki HI, Kiyono K, Morishita Y, Watabe T, et al. Inhibition of endogenous TGF-beta signaling enhances lymphangiogenesis. *Blood* (2008) 111:4571–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-10-120337
- Clavin NW, Avraham T, Fernandez J, Daluvoy SV, Soares MA, Chaudhry A, et al. TGF-beta1 is a negative regulator of lymphatic regeneration during wound repair. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol (2008) 295:H2113–27. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00879.2008
- Avraham T, Daluvoy S, Zampell J, Yan A, Haviv YS, Rockson SG, et al. Blockade of transforming growth factor-beta1 accelerates lymphatic regeneration during wound repair. *Am J Pathol* (2010) 177:3202–14. doi:10.2353/ ajpath.2010.100594
- Suzuki Y, Ito Y, Mizuno M, Kinashi H, Sawai A, Noda Y, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta induces vascular endothelial growth factor-C expression leading to lymphangiogenesis in rat unilateral ureteral obstruction. *Kidney Int* (2012) 81:865–79. doi:10.1038/ki.2011.464
- Kinashi H, Ito Y, Mizuno M, Suzuki Y, Terabayashi T, Nagura F, et al. TGF-beta1 promotes lymphangiogenesis during peritoneal fibrosis. J Am Soc Nephrol (2013) 24:1627–42. doi:10.1681/ASN.2012030226
- James JM, Nalbandian A, Mukouyama YS. TGFbeta signaling is required for sprouting lymphangiogenesis during lymphatic network development in the skin. *Development* (2013) 140:3903–14. doi:10.1242/ dev.095026
- 100. Gousopoulos E, Proulx ST, Bachmann SB, Scholl J, Dionyssiou D, Demiri E, et al. Regulatory T cell transfer ameliorates lymphedema and promotes lymphatic vessel function. *JCI Insight* (2016) 1:e89081. doi:10.1172/jci. insight.89081
- 101. Kimura T, Sugaya M, Oka T, Blauvelt A, Okochi H, Sato S. Lymphatic dysfunction attenuates tumor immunity through impaired antigen presentation. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6:18081–93. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.4018
- 102. Pin YK, Khoo K, Tham M, Karwai T, Hwee TC, Puaux AL, et al. Lymphadenectomy promotes tumor growth and cancer cell dissemination in the spontaneous RET mouse model of human uveal melanoma. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6:44806–18. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.6326
- Harrell MI, Iritani BM, Ruddell A. Tumor-induced sentinel lymph node lymphangiogenesis and increased lymph flow precede melanoma metastasis. *Am J Pathol* (2007) 170:774–86. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2007.060761
- 104. Hirakawa S, Brown LF, Kodama S, Paavonen K, Alitalo K, Detmar M. VEGF-C-induced lymphangiogenesis in sentinel lymph nodes promotes tumor metastasis to distant sites. *Blood* (2007) 109:1010–7. doi:10.1182/ blood-2006-05-021758

- 105. Hirakawa S, Kodama S, Kunstfeld R, Kajiya K, Brown LF, Detmar M. VEGF-A induces tumor and sentinel lymph node lymphangiogenesis and promotes lymphatic metastasis. *J Exp Med* (2005) 201:1089–99. doi:10.1084/jem.20041896
- 106. Watanabe M, Tanaka H, Ohira M, Yoshii M, Sakurai K, Toyokawa T, et al. Intranodal lymphangiogenesis precedes development of lymph node metastasis and accelerates progression of gastric cancer. J Gastrointest Surg (2014) 18:481–90. doi:10.1007/s11605-013-2407-y
- 107. Muller A, Homey B, Soto H, Ge N, Catron D, Buchanan ME, et al. Involvement of chemokine receptors in breast cancer metastasis. *Nature* (2001) 410:50–6. doi:10.1038/35065016
- 108. Wiley HE, Gonzalez EB, Maki W, Wu MT, Hwang ST. Expression of CC chemokine receptor-7 and regional lymph node metastasis of B16 murine melanoma. J Natl Cancer Inst (2001) 93:1638–43. doi:10.1093/ jnci/93.21.1638
- 109. Cabioglu N, Yazici MS, Arun B, Broglio KR, Hortobagyi GN, Price JE, et al. CCR7 and CXCR4 as novel biomarkers predicting axillary lymph node metastasis in T1 breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 11:5686–93. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0014
- 110. Ishigami S, Natsugoe S, Nakajo A, Tokuda K, Uenosono Y, Arigami T, et al. Prognostic value of CCR7 expression in gastric cancer. *Hepatogastroenterology* (2007) 54:1025–8.
- 111. Mashino K, Sadanaga N, Yamaguchi H, Tanaka F, Ohta M, Shibuta K, et al. Expression of chemokine receptor CCR7 is associated with lymph node metastasis of gastric carcinoma. *Cancer Res* (2002) 62:2937–41.
- 112. Kim M, Koh YJ, Kim KE, Koh BJ, Nam DH, Alitalo K, et al. CXCR4 signaling regulates metastasis of chemoresistant melanoma cells by a lymphatic metastatic niche. *Cancer Res* (2010) 70:10411–21. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-10-2591
- 113. Das S, Sarrou E, Podgrabinska S, Cassella M, Mungamuri SK, Feirt N, et al. Tumor cell entry into the lymph node is controlled by CCL1 chemokine expressed by lymph node lymphatic sinuses. J Exp Med (2013) 210:1509–28. doi:10.1084/jem.20111627
- 114. Mansfield AS, Holtan SG, Grotz TE, Allred JB, Jakub JW, Erickson LA, et al. Regional immunity in melanoma: immunosuppressive changes precede nodal metastasis. *Mod Pathol* (2011) 24:487–94. doi:10.1038/ modpathol.2010.227
- 115. Sharma P, Allison JP. The future of immune checkpoint therapy. *Science* (2015) 348:56–61. doi:10.1126/science.aaa8172
- 116. Smyth MJ, Ngiow SF, Ribas A, Teng MW. Combination cancer immunotherapies tailored to the tumour microenvironment. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2016) 13:143–58. doi:10.1038/nrclinonc.2015.209
- 117. Taube JM, Anders RA, Young GD, Xu H, Sharma R, McMiller TL, et al. Colocalization of inflammatory response with B7-h1 expression in human melanocytic lesions supports an adaptive resistance mechanism of immune escape. *Sci Transl Med* (2012) 4:127ra137. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed. 3003689
- 118. Taube JM, Klein A, Brahmer JR, Xu H, Pan X, Kim JH, et al. Association of PD-1, PD-1 ligands, and other features of the tumor immune microenvironment with response to anti-PD-1 therapy. *Clin Cancer Res* (2014) 20:5064–74. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-3271

- 119. Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, Shintaku IP, Taylor EJ, Robert L, et al. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. *Nature* (2014) 515:568–71. doi:10.1038/nature13954
- 120. Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, Hwu WJ, Topalian SL, Hwu P, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 366:2455–65. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200694
- 121. Herbst RS, Soria JC, Kowanetz M, Fine GD, Hamid O, Gordon MS, et al. Predictive correlates of response to the anti-PD-L1 antibody MPDL3280A in cancer patients. *Nature* (2014) 515:563-7. doi:10.1038/ nature14011
- 122. Jeanbart L, Ballester M, de Titta A, Corthesy P, Romero P, Hubbell JA, et al. Enhancing efficacy of anticancer vaccines by targeted delivery to tumor-draining lymph nodes. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2014) 2:436–47. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0019-T
- 123. Baitsch L, Baumgaertner P, Devevre E, Raghav SK, Legat A, Barba L, et al. Exhaustion of tumor-specific CD8(+) T cells in metastases from melanoma patients. J Clin Invest (2011) 121:2350–60. doi:10.1172/JCI46102
- 124. Duraiswamy J, Kaluza KM, Freeman GJ, Coukos G. Dual blockade of PD-1 and CTLA-4 combined with tumor vaccine effectively restores T-cell rejection function in tumors. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:3591–603. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-4100
- 125. Lund AW, Wagner M, Fankhauser M, Steinskog ES, Broggi MA, Spranger S, et al. Lymphatic vessels regulate immune microenvironments in human and murine melanoma. *J Clin Invest* (2016) 126:3389–402. doi:10.1172/JCI79434
- 126. Eyles J, Puaux AL, Wang X, Toh B, Prakash C, Hong M, et al. Tumor cells disseminate early but immunosurveillance limits metastatic outgrowth in a mouse model of melanoma. *J Clin Invest* (2010) 120(6):2030–9. doi:10.1172/ JCI42002
- 127. Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2010) 363:711–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1003466
- 128. Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med (2012) 366:2443–54. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa 1200690
- 129. Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Rizvi NA, Lesokhin AM, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med (2013) 369:122–33. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1302369

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Yeo and Angeli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Tumor-Associated Lymphatic Vessels Upregulate PDL1 to Inhibit T-Cell Activation

Lothar C. Dieterich^{1*}, Kristian Ikenberg^{1,2}, Timur Cetintas¹, Kübra Kapaklikaya¹, Cornelia Hutmacher¹ and Michael Detmar^{1*}

¹ Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology (ETH) Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland, ²Department of Pathology and Molecular Pathology, University Hospital Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Tumor-associated lymphatic vessels (LVs) play multiple roles during tumor progression, including promotion of metastasis and regulation of antitumor immune responses by delivering antigen from the tumor bed to draining lymph nodes (LNs). Under steady-state conditions, LN resident lymphatic endothelial cells (LECs) have been found to maintain peripheral tolerance by directly inhibiting autoreactive T-cells. Similarly, tumor-associated lymphatic endothelium has been suggested to reduce antitumor T-cell responses, but the mechanisms that mediate this effect have not been clarified. Using two distinct experimental tumor models, we found that tumor-associated LVs gain expression of the T-cell inhibitory molecule PDL1, similar to LN resident LECs, whereas tumor-associated blood vessels downregulate PDL1. The observed lymphatic upregulation of PDL1 was likely due to IFN-g released by stromal cells in the tumor microenvironment. Furthermore, we found that blocking PDL1 results in increased T-cell stimulation by antigen-presenting LECs in vitro. Taken together, our data suggest that peripheral, tumor-associated lymphatic endothelium contributes to T-cell inhibition, by a mechanism similar to peripheral tolerance maintenance described for LN resident LECs. These findings may have clinical implications for cancer therapy, as lymphatic expression of PDL1 could represent a new biomarker to select patients for immunotherapy with PD1 or PDL1 inhibitors.

OPEN ACCESS

University of Milan, Italy

Reviewed by: Matthias Clauss,

Silvia Della Bella.

Edited by:

Indiana University Bloomington, USA José Mordoh, Fundación Instituto Leloir, Argentina

*Correspondence:

Lothar C. Dieterich lothar.dieterich@pharma.ethz.ch; Michael Detmar michael.detmar@pharma.ethz.ch

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 17 October 2016 Accepted: 16 January 2017 Published: 03 February 2017

Citation:

Dieterich LC, Ikenberg K, Cetintas T, Kapaklikaya K, Hutmacher C and Detmar M (2017) Tumor-Associated Lymphatic Vessels Upregulate PDL1 to Inhibit T-Cell Activation. Front. Immunol. 8:66. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00066 Keywords: peripheral tolerance, immune checkpoint, tumor vasculature, lymph node, PD1, abortive proliferation, T-cell exhaustion, tumor-induced immunosuppression

INTRODUCTION

The lymphatic system comprises lymphatic capillaries and collecting vessels, as well as lymph nodes (LNs), and it exerts several essential functions in the body. Lymphatic vessels (LVs) take up interstitial fluid in peripheral tissues and transport it back to the blood circulation, thus maintaining basic tissue fluid homeostasis. At the same time, the lymphatic system provides a route for the recirculation of immune cells, such as memory T-cells, which constantly patrol the body, shuttling between the blood circulation and peripheral tissues. Similarly, dendritic cells and other antigen-presenting cells (APCs) use LVs to transport antigen taken up in the periphery to draining LNs, where they make contact with naive T- and B-lymphocytes to initiate adaptive immune responses. Consequently, the lymphatic system is closely connected to the immune system and the regulation of immune responses (1).

In pathological conditions, such as acute and chronic inflammation or cancer, peripheral LVs, and also draining LNs, undergo a dramatic expansion which is mediated by the enlargement of existing vessels as well as induction of de novo LV formation (lymphangiogenesis) (2-4). These effects are predominantly mediated by lymphangiogenic growth factors such as VEGF-C, produced at the site of inflammation or neoplastic growth. VEGF-C acts locally on nearby LVs, but may also be transported *via* the lymph to the draining LNs (5). Depending on the type of the inflammatory insult, the outcome of this expansion (and the concomitant increase in fluid drainage) may have beneficial or negative effects for the patient. For example, we and others have found that activation of LV expansion by administering VEGF-C decreases acute and chronic skin inflammation as well as rheumatoid arthritis (6-8), likely due to increased drainage of inflammatory factors and activated immune cells away from the site of inflammation. On the other hand, in cancer patients, an increased LV density in and around the tumor facilitates the lymphogenous spread of tumor cells and consequently correlates with LN metastasis and a poor prognosis (3, 4). At the same time, deficient lymphatic drainage in experimental tumor models reduces tumor inflammation and infiltration by immune effector cells, probably due to a lack of tumor-derived antigen reaching the local LNs which results in a state of "immunologic ignorance" of the tumor (9, 10).

Apart from these drainage-related effects, lymphatic endothelial cells (LECs) are also increasingly recognized as direct regulators of the immune system. LECs may act as nonprofessional APCs, expressing both MHC class I and class II molecules, which enable them to directly interact with T-cells and to modulate their activation status. This immune-regulatory function of LECs is particularly well studied in the case of LN resident LECs. Victor Engelhard and coworkers reported that LN LECs, but not LECs in peripheral LVs, express various selfantigens, including the melanocyte-specific antigen tyrosinase. Furthermore, LECs present peptides derived from these selfantigens on MHCI complexes to CD8+ T-cells and inhibit their activation in an antigen-dependent manner, thus eliminating autoreactive T-cells and maintaining peripheral tissue tolerance (11–13). LN LECs have also been found to take up free antigen from the lymph and to cross-present it to CD8+ T-cells, which may result in blunted T-cell responses to exogenous antigens (14). Taken together, the current data point to LN LECs being broadly inhibitory for CD8+ T-cells, both toward endogenous and exogenous antigens, at least under steady-state conditions. Whether LN LECs similarly interact with and inhibit CD4+ T-cells has remained somewhat controversial. On the one hand, LN LECs do express MHCII, but their ability to load it with antigen-derived peptides appears to be impaired due to a lack of H2-M expression (15). On the other hand, transfer of peptide-loaded MHCII complexes and/or antigen between LN LECs and other APCs, such as dendritic cells, has been reported, indicating that LN LECs may indeed play a role in the regulation of CD4+ T-cell responses (15, 16).

Various mechanisms how LN LECs control T-cells have been suggested, including a relative lack of co-stimulatory molecules and inhibition of T-cells *via* interaction of MHCII with LAG3 on the T-cell surface (11, 12, 15). In addition, LN LECs have been found to constitutively express the immune checkpoint molecule PDL1 (also called CD274 or B7H1), which inhibits T-cells *via* activation of the PD1 receptor, typically inducing a state of T-cell unresponsiveness termed "T-cell exhaustion" (17). However, in the case of peripheral tolerance induced by LN LECs *in vivo*, the effect on transferred autoreactive T-cells was reported to differ substantially from classical exhaustion, as those T-cells initially proliferated but subsequently became eliminated from the recipient mice (12), a process which has been termed "abortive proliferation." In any case, the precise role of PDL1 expression in this process has not been entirely elucidated.

Steady-state PDL1 expression in LN LECs has been reported to be dependent on lymphotoxin signaling in the LN microenvironment (11). Additionally, PDL1 expression is inducible in various cell types, such as myeloid cells and endothelial cells (ECs), by inflammatory cytokines, particularly by IFN-g (18, 19). Therefore, PDL1 acts as a negative feedback regulator of Th1/CD8+ T-cell immune responses, which are characterized by high IFN-g release. Correspondingly, acute skin inflammation induced by repeated application of the contact sensitizer oxazolone, which triggers a Th1-biased immune response, resulted in a strong upregulation of PDL1 mRNA in isolated LECs (20). Similarly, PDL1 was upregulated in LECs upon antigen-specific interaction with CD8+ T-cells *in vitro* (14).

With regards to cancer, the role of LECs in regulating T-cell immunity is incompletely understood. Overexpression of VEGF-C in the B16F10 mouse melanoma model has been reported to decrease endogenous CD8+ T-cell responses against a model antigen (ovalbumin) and to turn these tumors refractory to adoptive T-cell transfer with OT-1 T-cells. Furthermore, these authors observed presentation of tumor antigen by peripheral and LN LECs, suggesting that LECs may contribute directly to the inhibition of T-cell-mediated antitumor immune responses (21). However, the mechanisms behind the T-cell inhibition by tumor-associated LECs have not been investigated so far.

We hypothesized that tumor-associated LECs might upregulate PDL1 in response to tumor-derived signals, and might thus contribute to the inhibition of tumor specific T-cells. Using two distinct syngeneic tumor models in different mouse strains, namely intradermal injection of VEGF-C overexpressing B16F10 melanomas and an orthotopic breast cancer model (4T1), we found that PDL1 is significantly upregulated in peripheral, tumor-associated LVs, presumably in response to IFN-g secreted by cells present in the tumor stroma. Using ovalbumin as model antigen, we provide direct evidence that PDL1 indeed reduces the stimulation of CD8+ T-cells by antigen-presenting LECs.

RESULTS

PDL1 Is Upregulated in Tumor-Associated LVs

Previously, LVs in B16F10 melanomas overexpressing VEGF-C were reported to inhibit specific T-cell immunity (21), but the molecular mechanisms behind this inhibition have remained unclear. To investigate whether PDL1 is expressed in

tumor-associated LVs, we implanted VEGF-C overexpressing B16F10 melanoma cells [B16F10-VEGFC (22)] intradermally into syngeneic C57BL/6 mice, and analyzed the expression of PDL1 by immunofluorescence staining of tumor sections 2 weeks later. Using LYVE-1 staining to identify LVs within the tumor mass and in the tumor periphery, we found increased PDL1 staining within the lymphatic endothelium of tumor-associated LVs, compared to LVs in the back skin of naive C57BL/6 mice (**Figure 1A**). In addition, diffuse PDL1 staining in a subset of tumor cells and in single, tumor-infiltrating cells could be observed. Image-based quantification of the PDL1 staining intensity in LYVE-1+ LVs confirmed a significant upregulation of the protein in intratumoral LVs but not in peritumoral LVs (**Figure 1B**).

To test whether lymphatic PDL1 expression is dependent on the tumor type, high expression of VEGF-C, or on the background mouse strain used, we next investigated PDL1 expression in a second, unrelated tumor model. 4T1 mammary carcinoma cells were implanted orthotopically in syngeneic hosts (Balb/c), and immunofluorescence stainings for PDL1 were performed 3 weeks later. Similar to what we found in melanomas, intratumoral LVs in 4T1 tumors also expressed PDL1, whereas PDL1 was not expressed by peritumoral LVs and LVs of the abdominal skin and the mammary fat pad of naive Balb/c mice (**Figures 1C,D**).

As PDL1 might be expressed by various cell types, including immune cells which sometimes reside in very close proximity to LVs and may thus confound the microscopic analysis, we next performed FACS analyses of primary B16F10-VEGFC and 4T1 tumors compared to the corresponding control tissues. Antibodies against CD45, CD31, and podoplanin (PDPN) were used to differentiate between immune cells, blood vascular endothelial cells (BECs), and LECs (**Figure 2A**). Analysis of the fluorescence intensity confirmed that in both tumor models,



FIGURE 1 | **PDL1 is expressed in tumor-associated lymphatic vessels (LVs).** (**A**) Representative images of LVs (stained for LYVE-1, red) in control (Ctr) back skin (C57BL/6 background, top row) and B16F10-VEGFC melanoma (bottom row) co-stained for PDL1 (green). (**B**) Quantification of PDL1 staining intensity within the LYVE-1+ area of LVs in control back skin (N = 98 vessels from 10 individual mice), in the inner tumor mass of B16F10-VEGFC tumors (N = 17 vessels from six individual mice) and in the tumor periphery (N = 34 vessels from seven individual mice). (**C**) Similar to the B16F10-VEGFC model, PDL1 staining in LYVE-1-positive LVs was absent in the abdominal skin of BALB/c mice (top row) but was observed in 4T1 breast cancer-associated LVs (bottom row). (**D**) Quantification of PDL1 staining intensity within the LYVE-1+ area of LVs in control abdominal skin (N = 42 vessels from five individual mice), in the inner tumor mass of 4T1 tumors (N = 40 vessels from six individual mice), and in the tumor periphery (N = 35 vessels from five individual mice).



total endothelial cells (ECs) were identified as CD31+CD45- cells in a control skin sample (pre-gated for living singlets). Right panel: LECs were differentiated from BECs by staining for podoplanin (PDPN). (B) Example histogram of PDL1 staining intensity measured by FACS in LECs of control (Ctr) back skin and B16F10-VEGFC tumors. (C) Quantification of staining intensity in control (Ctr) back skin and B16F10-VEGFC due to the social definition of staining intensity in control addominal skin and 4T1 tumors. (E) Quantification of staining intensity in control addominal skin and 4T1 tumors. (F) Quantification of PDL1 staining intensity in BECs of B16F10-VEGFC tumors. (N = 4 mice/group; one out of two experiments with similar results is shown). (F,G) Quantification of PDL1 staining intensity in BECs of B16F10-VEGFC tumors [(F), N = 5 mice/group) and of 4T1 tumors [(G), N = 4 mice/group; one out of two experiments with similar results is shown].

tumor-associated LECs expressed higher levels of PDL1 than LECs in normal skin (**Figures 2B–E**). It is of interest that PDL1 expression on BECs showed the opposite behavior, with a significant reduction in PDL1 expression in tumor-associated BECs compared to normal skin BECs (**Figures 2F,G**), indicating that BECs react very differently to stimuli derived from the tumor microenvironment. To investigate whether PDL1 expression by LVs might be induced only in very late stages of tumor growth, and might thus not be relevant for the inhibition of T-cell responses, which are likely triggered during the early growth phase of tumors, we next analyzed lymphatic PDL1 expression already 8 days after 4T1 implantation. Similar to our observation at the 3-week time point, we found PDL1 induced in LECs and reduced in BECs (Figure S1 in Supplementary Material).

PDL1 Expression in LN Stromal Cells Is Not Affected by the Presence of an Upstream Tumor

Lymph node LECs have previously been reported to express PDL1 under steady-state conditions, depending on lymphotoxin signaling (11). Cytokines and growth factors drained from an upstream inflammatory site or a tumor mediate expansion of the lymphatic vasculature of the draining LN [reviewed in Ref. (2)], but their effect on the PDL1 expression by LN LECs has not been investigated. We therefore analyzed the PDL1 expression in the major LN stromal cell subsets [CD31+/podoplanin+ LECs, CD31+/podoplanin- BECs, CD31-/podoplanin+ follicular reticular cells (FRCs), and CD31-/podoplanin- double negative (DN) cells; Figure 3A] in tumor draining inguinal LNs and in inguinal LNs of naive mice. In agreement with previous reports (12), we found that LECs expressed the highest PDL1 levels among those cell types. The surface levels of PDL1 did not change significantly in response to the presence of an upstream tumor (Figure 3B). BECs also expressed considerable amounts of PDL1 on their cell surface. In line with our observations in primary tumors, PDL1 expression on LN BECs was reduced in tumor bearing mice, especially in the 4T1 breast cancer model (Figure 3C). PDL1 expression in FRCs and in DN cells was generally very low and was only slightly increased by the presence of an upstream tumor (Figures 3D,E). Taken together, these data indicate that LN LEC expression of PDL1 is constitutively high and is not affected by cytokines or other factors drained from upstream tumors.

PDL1 Expression in LECs Is Regulated by IFN-g

To elucidate how PDL1 expression is regulated in tumorassociated LECs, we treated immortalized mouse LECs (imLECs) with several (lymph-) angiogenic growth factors (VEGF-A, VEGF-C) and inflammatory cytokines (IFN-g, TNF-a), all of which are commonly expressed in the microenvironment of various tumors. Using qPCR, we found a strong upregulation of PDL1 mRNA expression in imLECs treated with IFN-g (up to 40-fold after 24 h). TNF-a had only very minor effects on PDL1 expression (up to twofold induction), whereas VEGF-A and VEGF-C had no effect at all (**Figure 4A**). IFN-g mediated induction of PDL1 expression was also reflected at the protein level: using FACS analysis, we found that imLECs constitutively express PDL1 on their surface and dramatically upregulated it upon treatment with IFN-g for 24 h (Figures 4B,C). To test whether tumor cells can directly induce PDL1 expression in LECs via secretion of one or several soluble factors (e.g., IFN-g), we treated imLECs with conditioned media from B16F10-VEGFC and 4T1 cells. Using qPCR and FACS, we only detected a minor induction of PDL1 by tumor cell conditioned media (Figures 4D-F). In line with this, IFN-g expression was not detectable in cultured B16F10-VEGFC cells and in 4T1 cells (data not shown), whereas IFN-g expression in total tumor tissue was readily detectable and was increased compared to the skin of corresponding naive mice in both tumor models (Figures 4G,H). Taken together, these findings suggest that cells present in the tumor stroma, for example infiltrating immune cells, are responsible for the induction of PDL1 expression in tumor-associated LVs via secretion of IFN-g.

T-Cells Physically Interact with Tumor-Associated LVs *In Vivo*

Previously, it has been reported that in VEGF-C overexpressing B16F10 melanomas, adoptively transferred T-cells were often clustering around tumor-associated LVs, indicating a physical interaction between T-cells and LECs (21). Using double immunofluorescence stainings for the lymphatic marker LYVE-1 and for CD4 or CD8 to identify helper T-cells and cytotoxic T-cells in B16F10-VEGFC tumors, we found that endogenous T-cells, although relatively few in number, occasionally interacted with LECs, both at the luminal and the abluminal side of the endothelium (Figure 5A). Very similar results were obtained when we analyzed 4T1 breast cancer tissue (Figure 5B). Given that tumor-associated LVs express elevated levels of PDL1, this finding suggests that tumor-infiltrating T-cells may receive inhibitory signals from LECs either while still residing in the tumor stroma, or upon exiting it *via* the lymphatic system in route toward the draining LNs.

PDL1 Inhibits Antigen-Dependent Activation of T-Cells by LECs

Previously, it has been reported that presentation of the ovalbumin-derived, MHCI-restricted peptide SIINFEKL by cultured imLECs to OT-1 CD8+ T-cells reduces their activation as compared to peptide-presenting dendritic cells, with a blunted upregulation of CD25 and reduced expression of IFN-g by OT-1 cells (14). Whereas upregulation of PDL1 by peptide-presenting imLECs was observed, its role in imLEC-OT-1 interaction was not investigated (14). We hypothesized that PDL1 expressed (and upregulated) by antigen-presenting imLECs might at least in part be responsible for the reduced OT-1 stimulation. Using the same in vitro model system, we confirmed that imLECs upregulate surface PDL1 upon SIINFEKL peptide presentation to OT-1 T-cells, whereas PDL1 was not upregulated in absence of a specific antigen (Figure 6A). Next, we used a PDL1-blocking antibody to determine the role of PDL1 during imLEC-mediated OT-1 activation. FACS analyses revealed that blockade of PDL1







increased the expression of CD25 and IFN-g in OT-1 cells upon coculture with SIINFEKL-presenting imLECs (**Figures 6B–D**). Increased activation of OT-1 cells after PDL1 blockade also resulted in an elevated capacity to kill ovalbumin-expressing B16F10 tumor cells *in vitro* (Figure S2A in Supplementary Material). Interestingly, we also observed a strong upregulation of PDL1 by antigen-stimulated OT-1 T-cells themselves (Figure S2B in Supplementary Material), likely due to a paracrine effect of





T-cell secreted IFN-g. Thus, it is possible that the increased activation of OT-1 T-cells by antigen-presenting imLECs after PDL1 blockade is partly due to inhibition of OT-1 expressed PDL1, in addition to imLEC expressed PDL1. Therefore, we performed additional experiments in which PDL1 was specifically blocked on the surface of imLECs before coculture with OT-1 cells. Also in this setting, we found a potentiating effect of PDL1 blockade on OT-1 stimulation, resulting in elevated CD25 expression (Figure S2C in Supplementary Material), strongly suggesting that LEC expressed PDL1 indeed contributes to LEC-mediated T-cell inhibition.

DISCUSSION

Adaptive immune responses require the cooperation between cells of the immune system and the lymphatic vasculature. LNs are the principal site where naive T- and B-lymphocytes encounter antigen and where the decision is taken whether these lymphocytes become primed to proliferate and develop into effector cells, or whether they enter anergy, or even become eliminated (peripheral tolerance). Foreign and self-antigens are transported to the LNs *via* the lymphatic system, either as "cargo" transported by professional APCs, or as free molecules or complexes carried with



the lymph flow. Once arrived at the LN, antigens are transferred into the T- and B-cell zones, either by the LN conduit system, or by LN resident or migratory APCs.

With regards to tumor immunology, some priming of naive T-cells has been reported to occur within the tumor microenvironment [reviewed in Ref. (23)]; yet, draining LNs are still the primary site for the mounting of adaptive immune responses. Consequently, using transgenic mice, a lack of or disturbed lymphatic draining from the tumor site resulted in reduced immune activation, immune cell infiltration into the tumor, and cytokine release (9, 10), indicating that antigen transport by LVs is required for efficient antitumor immune responses. On the other hand, induction of lymphangiogenesis by forced expression of VEGF-C resulted in a blunted T-cell response in the B16F10 melanoma model (21), suggesting that the lymphatic endothelium, within the tumor and/or the draining LNs, has a direct, T-cell inhibitory function. Interestingly, tumor-associated LECs have been reported to present tumorderived antigen (ovalbumin) on MHCI (21). Using the same tumor model (VEGF-C expressing B16F10 melanoma), we demonstrate here that tumor-associated LECs upregulate the T-cell inhibitory immune checkpoint molecule PDL1. Our data also show that this is neither dependent on the tumor model (B16F10) nor on the genetic background (C57BL6) or the experimental overexpression of VEGF-C, as PDL1 was also

upregulated in a completely unrelated tumor model, the 4T1 breast cancer model in the Balb/c background.

Presentation of antigen on MHCI in combination with PDL1 expression has been found to be a specific feature of LN LECs (11, 12). This phenomenon has been linked to the maintenance of peripheral immune tolerance, as LN LECs express and present various self-antigens, at least under steady-state conditions, reminiscent of the thymic epithelium which is responsible for central tolerance (13). The fact that PDL1 is upregulated on tumorassociated LECs as found here, as well as in acutely inflamed LECs (20), suggests that under pathological conditions, a very similar T-cell inhibitory mechanism is activated in peripheral LVs as well. Of note, we and others have shown that induction of lymphangiogenesis in inflammatory conditions ameliorates inflammation and promotes resolution (6-8). It is tempting to speculate that direct inhibition of T-cells, in addition to increased lymph drainage, may contribute to this effect. In the tumor context, multiple pathways and factors have been identified that inhibit the activity of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, resulting in T-cell anergy or exhaustion. Peripheral LECs presenting tumor-derived antigens with concomitant PDL1 upregulation by tumor-associated LECs may to some extent contribute to overall T-cell inhibition in the tumor microenvironment, which is consistent with the observations made before (21). On the other hand, it is intriguing that PDL1 expression on tumor-associated LVs may particularly affect antigen-experienced T-cells, including memory T-cells, which have the capacity to recirculate from the tumor site to the circulation *via* the lymphatic system. Therefore, further studies are highly warranted to elucidate whether tumor-associated LECs particularly inhibit the development of memory responses. Inhibition of recirculating T-cells entering LVs may also have a negative impact on the priming of additional naive T-cells in downstream LNs.

PDL1 is an IFN-g target gene in microvascular ECs (18), and our data reveal that IFN-g treatment induces PDL1 expression in cultured LECs as well. As we found IFN-g to be expressed in the tumor microenvironment of both tumor models that we studied, we suggest that the observed PDL1 upregulation in tumorassociated LECs is in fact mediated by IFN-g. Consistently, we found no major PDL1 induction by tumor cell conditioned media, which did not contain significant amounts of this cytokine. Therefore, the regulation of PDL1 in LVs in the periphery differs from that in the LNs, where it was reported to be dependent on lymphotoxin, a specific activator of non-canonical NF-kB signaling (11). As we found no significant effect of TNF-a on PDL1 expression, at least in vitro, it is likely that only the non-canonical, but not the canonical, NF-kB pathway regulates PDL1 expression in LN LECs. In line with this concept, the PDL1 expression in LN LECs was not affected by the presence of a tumor and thus, by tumor-derived factors drained to the LNs.

Surprisingly, we observed the opposite effect on tumor-associated blood vessels. In contrast to LECs, we found that peripheral BECs in the skin express PDL1 under steady-state conditions, but that they downregulate it in presence of a tumor. Possibly, PDL1 upregulation by IFN-g is blocked in tumor-associated BECs due to high expression of VEGF-A and the induction of angiogenesis, which may interfere with inflammatory activation of BECs (24, 25). Functionally, PDL1 expression on BECs has been reported to inhibit autoreactive CD8+ T-cells in a myocarditis model (26), indicating that reduced PDL1 expression in tumor-associated BECs might facilitate infiltration of activated effector T-cells into the tumor stroma. However, further studies are needed to test this hypothesis and to investigate whether the PDL1 expression level on tumor BECs is higher in tumor models that show no T-cell infiltration at all.

Despite the findings that PDL1 is constitutively expressed by LN LECs (11, 12) and that it is upregulated on tumor-associated LECs as identified here, its precise role in LEC-mediated T-cell inhibition is not entirely clear. Treating naive mice with PDL1blocking antibodies resulted in the development of autoimmune vitiligo after transfer of T-cells specific for the melanocytespecific antigen tyrosinase (12). Using chimeric mice carrying PDL1-/- bone marrow, it was furthermore reported that the inhibition of autoreactive T-cells was mediated by a PDL1+, radioresistant stromal cell type, consistent with LN LECs being responsible for the maintenance of peripheral tolerance toward tyrosinase in this model (12). Similarly, cultured LECs presenting the ovalbumin-derived SIINFEKL peptide to OT-1 CD8+ T-cells have been described to upregulate PDL1 and to activate OT-1 cells much less effectively than dendritic cells, resulting in reduced expression of the activation marker CD25 and production of IFN-g (14). Nonetheless, no direct evidence that PDL1 expression by LECs is indeed required and/or sufficient for T-cell inhibition has been published so far. Using the same in vitro system of cultured LECs presenting the SIINFEKL peptide to OT-1 cells, we reveal here that inhibition of PDL1 with a blocking antibody indeed increases CD25 and IFN-g expression by OT-1 cells, and harnesses them for killing of ovalbumin-expressing tumor cells. As OT-1 cells themselves strongly upregulate PDL1 in this setting (indicating that PDL1 expression might serve as a sensitive marker of T-cell activation), we also pre-blocked PDL1 specifically on the LEC surface before coculturing them with OT-1 cells. This way of PDL1 blockade is conceivably less efficient than adding the blocking antibodies throughout the coculture period, due to additional PDL1 upregulation by the imLECs during this time period. Furthermore, dynamic antibody binding and dissociation may still result in some PDL1 blockade on the OT-1 T-cells during the coculture. Nonetheless, our observation that the activation of OT-1 cells was increased even in this setting further supports the notion that LEC expressed PDL1 at least partially dampens the activation of T-cells by antigen-presenting LECs. However, based on our data, an additional role of T-cell expressed PDL1 acting as a negative feedback regulator of T-cell activation cannot be entirely excluded at this moment.

Clinically, the PDL1 expression in cancer has lately received considerable attention due to the development of highly potent PD1-blocking antibodies (nivolumab and pembrolizumab) as well as PDL1-blocking antibodies (e.g., atezolizumab and durvalumab) which show dramatic improvements of outcome in melanoma patients or are in advanced clinical studies, respectively (27). However, only a subset of patients profits from the treatment, and the search for predictive biomarkers to reliably identify those patients is ongoing. PDL1 expression on cancer cells is currently regarded as such a biomarker and has recently been approved by the US Food and Drug Administration as a companion or complementary diagnostic test for certain specific tumor entities. However, there are difficulties and inconsistencies in the clinical protocols to determine the rate of PDL1+ cancer cells in biopsy material as there is no fully standardized detection antibody, definition of cutoffs for the evaluation of the stainings, tissue preparation, and processing protocols available yet. Furthermore, it is debatable whether the currently widely used detection in cancer cells itself is the optimal predictive marker (28). In this regard, it is interesting that a recent study performed in patients with multiple different tumor types found that PDL1 expression in stromal cells, including tumor-infiltrating leukocytes, was superior in predicting patients who would benefit from treatment with a new PDL1-blocking antibody currently under development (29). Furthermore, there is growing evidence that at least for some malignancies, patients treated with anti-PD1 antibodies have a survival benefit independent of the expression of its ligand PDL1 on tumor cells (30). Thus, it is likely that additional (stromal) cell types are involved in the inhibition of antitumor T-cell responses via the PDL1-PD1 axis. In the light of our findings presented here, assessment of the vascular PDL1 expression may yield additional predictive accuracy and may further improve the selection of patients to undergo treatment with PD1 or PDL1 inhibitors in the future.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell Lines

B16F10 cells expressing luciferase and human VEGF-C have been generated and described previously (22). Cells were cultured in DMEM containing Glutamax, pyruvate, 10% FBS, and penicillin/ streptomycin (all from Gibco/Thermo Fisher). G418 (1.5 mg/ml, Roche) was added to the culture medium to ensure stable expression of the VEGF-C transgene. 4T1 mammary carcinoma cells expressing luciferase (Caliper Life Sciences) were maintained in DMEM supplemented with L-glutamine, 10% FBS, and penicillin/streptomycin under standard culture conditions (37°C, 5% CO₂). ImLECs isolated from H-2Kb-tsA58 (Immorto) mice have been described previously (20) and were maintained on collagen type I (Advanced Biomatrix)/fibronectin (Millipore) coated dishes (10 µg/ml each) in Ham's F12/DMEM supplemented with 20% FBS, 56 µg/ml heparin (Sigma), 10 µg/ml EC growth supplement (Abd Serotec/BioRad), penicillin/streptomycin, and 1 U/ml recombinant mouse IFN-g (Peprotech) at 33°C, 5% CO₂. Before experiments, cells were cultured at 37°C without IFN-g for at least 72 h, which leads to a reduction of the polyoma T antigen in these cells.

Mice and Tumor Models

C57BL/6 and Balb/c wild-type mice were obtained from Janvier. OT-1 transgenic mice were kindly provided by Dr. Roman Spörri and Dr. Annette Oxenius, ETH Zurich. All mice were bred in house under SOPF conditions. For the B16F10-VEGFC melanoma model, C57BL/6 mice were depilated on the back and 2×10^5 tumor cells suspendend in 20 µl PBS were injected intradermally into the flank. For the 4T1 breast cancer model, 1×10^5 tumor cells suspended in 50 µl PBS were injected into the fourth mammary fat pad of Balb/c mice. The primary tumor growth was monitored for 2 weeks (B16F10-VEGFC) or 3 weeks (4T1) before tissues were prepared for analysis as described below. In case of the 4T1 model, some FACS analyses were already performed at day 8 after implantation. All tumor studies were performed in agreement with the regulations of the local ethical board (Kantonales Veterinäramt Zürich, license 12/15).

Immunofluorescence Staining and Image Analysis

Tumors were dissected, embedded in OCT compound, snap frozen, and stored at -80° C until preparation of cryosections (7 µm). For stainings, sections were air-dried, fixed in ice-cold acetone and 80% methanol, rehydrated in PBS, and subsequently blocked in PBS + 0.2% BSA, 5% donkey serum, 0.3% Triton-X100, and 0.05% NaN₃ (blocking solution). Primary antibodies [rabbit anti-LYVE-1 (1:600, Angiobio), rat anti-PDL1 (2 µg/ml, clone 10F.9G2, Biolegend), rat anti-CD4 (5 µg/ml, clone H129.19, BD), and rat anti-CD8 (5 µg/ml, clone 53.6-7, BD)] suspended in blocking solution were incubated at room temperature for 2 h or at 4°C over night, followed by extensive washing and incubation with Alexa488 or Alexa594-conjugated secondary antibodies (donkey anti-rat, donkey anti-rabbit, 10 µg/ml, Life Technologies/Thermo Fisher) together with Hoechst33342 (2 µg/ml, Sigma) for nuclear counterstaining. Finally, slides were washed extensively again and mounted using Mowiol.

Images were taken on a Zeiss Axioskop 2 mot plus with a 10× or a 20× objective, or a Zeiss LSM780 inverted confocal microscope at 20×. Image analysis was performed using ImageJ (NIH). To determine the staining intensity of PDL1 in LVs, LYVE-1+ vessels were selected by thresholding, using size exclusion to exclude single LYVE-1+ macrophages. Subsequently, the average PDL1 staining intensity within each LV was measured.

FACS Analysis of Tumor Tissue and LNs

For FACS analysis of tumors and control tissues (back skin and abdominal skin, respectively), the tissue was dissected, minced, and digested in a collagenase solution [5 mg/ml Collagenase II (Sigma), 40 µg/ml DNaseI (Roche)] for 30 min at 37°C. The digested tissue was passed through a cell strainer before erythrocyte lysis with PharmLyse (BD). After washing and a second filtration step, the cell suspension was labeled with fluorescently tagged antibodies [hamster anti-podoplanin-PE (1:400, clone 8.1.1, eBioscience), rat anti-CD31-APC (1:300, clone MEC13.3, BD), rat anti-CD45-APC/Cy7 (1:200, clone 30-F11, Biolegend), and rat anti-PDL1-PE/Cy7 (1:200, clone 10F.9G2, Biolegend)]. 7AAD (Biolegend) was used for life/dead discrimination. Inguinal LNs were processed essentially as described before (31). In brief, the capsule of dissected LNs was ruptured and the tissue was digested with 1 mg/ml Collagenase IV (Gibco)/40 µg/ml DNaseI for 20 min at 37°C to release the majority of the immune cells. The remaining stromal fragments were washed twice, digested with 3.5 mg/ml Collagenase IV/40 µg/ml DNaseI for 15 min at 37°C, and disaggregated by pipetting in presence of 0.5 mM EDTA. After filtration, the stromal cell enriched cell suspension was stained as described above. Data were acquired on a FACS CANTO (BD) and analyzed using FlowJo (Treestar Inc.).

LEC Stimulation In Vitro

imLECs were starved over night in Ham's F12/DMEM + 1% FBS and subsequently stimulated with VEGF-A (20 ng/ml, Cell Sciences), VEGF-C (200 ng/ml, R&D), IFN-g (100 ng/ml, Peprotech), or TNF-a (40 ng/ml, Peprotech). Tumor cell conditioned media were prepared by culturing 1×10^7 B16F10-VEGFC or 4T1 cells in medium supplemented with 1% FBS for 72 h. The conditioned media were centrifuged, filtered through a 0.45 µm filter, and stored at -80°C until use. ImLECs were stimulated with 50% conditioned media in Ham's F12/DMEM + 1% FBS. DMEM with Glutamax and pyruvate, or DMEM with L-glutamine (both with 1% FBS) served as control media. For FACS analysis, LECs were washed with PBS and trypsinized with 0.01% trypsin/ EDTA. Cells were labeled with primary antibody (rat anti-PDL1, 2 µg/ml, clone 10F.9G2, Biolegend), washed and labeled with a secondary antibody (donkey anti-rat-Alexa488, 10 µg/ml, Life Technologies/Thermo Fisher). 7AAD was used for life/dead discrimination. Data were acquired on a FACS CANTO and analyzed using FlowJo.

RNA Extraction and qPCR

RNA from stimulated LECs was extracted at the indicated time points using the Nucleospin RNA kit (Macherey-Nagel)

according to the manufacturer's instructions. Total tumor and control tissue RNA was extracted from cryosections using the RNeasy Plus Micro kit (Qiagen). All RNA was reverse transcribed using the High Capacity cDNA kit (Applied Biosystems/Thermo Fisher). qPCR analyses were performed on a 7900HT FAST instrument (Applied Biosystems/Thermo Fisher) in triplicate using SYBRGreen (Roche). RPLP0 was used as internal reference gene. Relative expression (RE) calculated according to the formula $\text{RE}_{\text{geneX}} = 2^{-(Ct_{\text{geneX}} - Ct_{\text{RPLP0}})}$ and was expressed as fold change normalized to the control condition. The primer sequences used for qPCR were RPLP0 fwd: AGATTCGGGATATGCTGTTGG, rev: TCGGGTCCTAGACCAGTGTTC; PDL1 fwd: ACAAG CGAATCACGCTGAAAG, rev: GGCCTGACATATTAGTTCA TGCT; and IFNG fwd: ACACTGCATCTTGGCTTTGC, rev: CTGGCTCTGCAGGATTTTCA.

OT-1 T-Cell Activation and Tumor Cell Killing Assay

For OT-1 stimulation experiments, CD8+ OT-1 T-cells were isolated from the spleens of naive OT-1 mice using CD8+ MACS beads (Miltenyi) according to the manufacturer's instructions. ImLECs were starved over night in Ham's F12/DMEM + 1% FBS, pulsed with 1 ng/ml SIINFEKL peptide (AnaSpec) for 1 h, and washed three times with PBS. Subsequently, OT-1 and peptidepulsed imLECs were cocultured for 24 h at a 10:1 ratio in the presence of 10 µg/ml PDL1-blocking antibody (clone 10F.9G2, Biolegend) or control rat IgG (Sigma). For analysis of T-cell activation, OT-1 cells were harvested and stained with rat anti-CD8-FITC (1:200, clone 53.6-7, BD), rat anti-PDL1-PE (1:200, clone MIH5, eBioscience), and rat anti-CD25-PerCP (1:200, clone PC61, Biolegend). Intracellular staining for IFN-g (1:200, clone XMG1.2 conjugated to APC, Biolegend) was done using the Cytofix/Cytoperm kit (BD) and fixable Zombi-NIR (BioLegend) was used for life/dead discrimination. For imLEC pre-blocking experiments, the PDL1-blocking antibody was incubated with the imLECs together with the SIINFEKL peptide pulse before washing and coculture with OT-1 cells. For tumor cell killing assays, OT-1 cells were stimulated with peptide-pulsed imLECs as described above and subsequently cocultured with B16F10 cells expressing ovalbumin at a 1:5 target:effector ratio for 8 h. Zombi-NIR was used to determine the ratio of dead and life tumor cells. All activation and killing assays were performed in triplicate. Data were acquired on a FACS CANTO and analyzed using FlowJo.

REFERENCES

- Betterman KL, Harvey NL. The lymphatic vasculature: development and role in shaping immunity. *Immunol Rev* (2016) 271(1):276–92. doi:10.1111/ imr.12413
- Dieterich LC, Seidel CD, Detmar M. Lymphatic vessels: new targets for the treatment of inflammatory diseases. *Angiogenesis* (2014) 17(2):359–71. doi:10.1007/s10456-013-9406-1
- Dieterich LC, Detmar M. Tumor lymphangiogenesis and new drug development. Adv Drug Deliv Rev (2016) 99(Pt B):148–60. doi:10.1016/j. addr.2015.12.011
- Stacker SA, Williams SP, Karnezis T, Shayan R, Fox SB, Achen MG. Lymphangiogenesis and lymphatic vessel remodelling in cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2014) 14(3):159–72. doi:10.1038/nrc3677

Statistical Analyses

All statistical analyses were performed with GraphPad Prism 5 (GraphPad Software Inc.). All bars indicate mean + SD. Student's *t*-test was used to compare two groups, one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post-test was used to compare more than two groups, and two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-test was used to compare data grouped by two variables. A *p*-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant (indicated by asterisks).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LD designed and performed experiments, analyzed and interpreted the data, and wrote the manuscript. KI, TC, KK, and CH performed experiments, and analyzed and interpreted the data. MD designed experiments, interpreted data, and revised the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Catharina Seidel, Dr. Sun-Young Yoon, and Dr. Sarah Klein for help with tumor studies, Jeannette Scholl for excellent technical support, and the Scientific Center for Optical and Electron Microscopy (ScopeM) of the ETH Zurich for microscopy support.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Swiss National Science Foundation grants 310030B_147087 and 310030_166490, European Research Council grant LYVICAM, Oncosuisse, Krebsliga Zurich, and Leducq Foundation Transatlantic Network of Excellence grant Lymph Vessels in Obesity and Cardiovascular Disease (11CVD03) (all to MD), by the Sassella Foundation (15/04) and Promedica Foundation (to KI), and by an ETH Zurich career seed grant (SEED-71 16-1) (to LD).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fimmu.2017.00066/ full#supplementary-material.

- Hirakawa S, Brown LF, Kodama S, Paavonen K, Alitalo K, Detmar M. VEGF-C-induced lymphangiogenesis in sentinel lymph nodes promotes tumor metastasis to distant sites. *Blood* (2007) 109(3):1010–7. doi:10.1182/ blood-2006-05-021758
- Huggenberger R, Siddiqui SS, Brander D, Ullmann S, Zimmermann K, Antsiferova M, et al. An important role of lymphatic vessel activation in limiting acute inflammation. *Blood* (2011) 117(17):4667–78. doi:10.1182/ blood-2010-10-316356
- Huggenberger R, Ullmann S, Proulx ST, Pytowski B, Alitalo K, Detmar M. Stimulation of lymphangiogenesis via VEGFR-3 inhibits chronic skin inflammation. J Exp Med (2010) 207(10):2255–69. doi:10.1084/jem. 20100559
- 8. Zhou Q, Guo R, Wood R, Boyce BF, Liang Q, Wang YJ, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor C attenuates joint damage in chronic inflammatory
arthritis by accelerating local lymphatic drainage in mice. *Arthritis Rheum* (2011) 63(8):2318–28. doi:10.1002/art.30421

- Lund AW, Wagner M, Fankhauser M, Steinskog ES, Broggi MA, Spranger S, et al. Lymphatic vessels regulate immune microenvironments in human and murine melanoma. *J Clin Invest* (2016) 126(9):3389–402. doi:10.1172/ JCI79434
- Kimura T, Sugaya M, Oka T, Blauvelt A, Okochi H, Sato S. Lymphatic dysfunction attenuates tumor immunity through impaired antigen presentation. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6(20):18081–93. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.4018
- Cohen JN, Tewalt EF, Rouhani SJ, Buonomo EL, Bruce AN, Xu X, et al. Tolerogenic properties of lymphatic endothelial cells are controlled by the lymph node microenvironment. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(2):e87740. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0087740
- Tewalt EF, Cohen JN, Rouhani SJ, Guidi CJ, Qiao H, Fahl SP, et al. Lymphatic endothelial cells induce tolerance via PD-L1 and lack of costimulation leading to high-level PD-1 expression on CD8 T cells. *Blood* (2012) 120(24):4772–82. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-04-427013
- Cohen JN, Guidi CJ, Tewalt EF, Qiao H, Rouhani SJ, Ruddell A, et al. Lymph node-resident lymphatic endothelial cells mediate peripheral tolerance via Aire-independent direct antigen presentation. J Exp Med (2010) 207(4):681–8. doi:10.1084/jem.20092465
- Hirosue S, Vokali E, Raghavan VR, Rincon-Restrepo M, Lund AW, Corthesy-Henrioud P, et al. Steady-state antigen scavenging, cross-presentation, and CD8+ T cell priming: a new role for lymphatic endothelial cells. *J Immunol* (2014) 192(11):5002–11. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1302492
- Rouhani SJ, Eccles JD, Riccardi P, Peske JD, Tewalt EF, Cohen JN, et al. Roles of lymphatic endothelial cells expressing peripheral tissue antigens in CD4 T-cell tolerance induction. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:6771. doi:10.1038/ ncomms7771
- Dubrot J, Duraes FV, Potin L, Capotosti F, Brighouse D, Suter T, et al. Lymph node stromal cells acquire peptide-MHCII complexes from dendritic cells and induce antigen-specific CD4(+) T cell tolerance. *J Exp Med* (2014) 211(6):1153–66. doi:10.1084/jem.20132000
- Wherry EJ. T cell exhaustion. Nat Immunol (2011) 12(6):492–9. doi:10.1038/ ni.2035
- Eppihimer MJ, Gunn J, Freeman GJ, Greenfield EA, Chernova T, Erickson J, et al. Expression and regulation of the PD-L1 immunoinhibitory molecule on microvascular endothelial cells. *Microcirculation* (2002) 9(2):133–45. doi:10.1038/sj/mn/7800123
- Freeman GJ, Long AJ, Iwai Y, Bourque K, Chernova T, Nishimura H, et al. Engagement of the PD-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation. *J Exp Med* (2000) 192(7):1027–34. doi:10.1084/jem.192.7.1027
- Vigl B, Aebischer D, Nitschke M, Iolyeva M, Rothlin T, Antsiferova O, et al. Tissue inflammation modulates gene expression of lymphatic endothelial cells and dendritic cell migration in a stimulus-dependent manner. *Blood* (2011) 118(1):205–15. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-12-326447
- 21. Lund AW, Duraes FV, Hirosue S, Raghavan VR, Nembrini C, Thomas SN, et al. VEGF-C promotes immune tolerance in B16 melanomas and

cross-presentation of tumor antigen by lymph node lymphatics. *Cell Rep* (2012) 1(3):191–9. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2012.01.005

- 22. Proulx ST, Luciani P, Christiansen A, Karaman S, Blum KS, Rinderknecht M, et al. Use of a PEG-conjugated bright near-infrared dye for functional imaging of rerouting of tumor lymphatic drainage after sentinel lymph node metastasis. *Biomaterials* (2013) 34(21):5128–37. doi:10.1016/j. biomaterials.2013.03.034
- Broz ML, Krummel MF. The emerging understanding of myeloid cells as partners and targets in tumor rejection. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2015) 3(4):313–9. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0041
- Huang H, Langenkamp E, Georganaki M, Loskog A, Fuchs PF, Dieterich LC, et al. VEGF suppresses T-lymphocyte infiltration in the tumor microenvironment through inhibition of NF-kappaB-induced endothelial activation. *FASEB J* (2015) 29(1):227–38. doi:10.1096/fj.14-250985
- 25. Dirkx AE, oude Egbrink MG, Castermans K, van der Schaft DW, Thijssen VL, Dings RP, et al. Anti-angiogenesis therapy can overcome endothelial cell anergy and promote leukocyte-endothelium interactions and infiltration in tumors. *FASEB J* (2006) 20(6):621–30. doi:10.1096/fj.05-4493com
- Grabie N, Gotsman I, DaCosta R, Pang H, Stavrakis G, Butte MJ, et al. Endothelial programmed death-1 ligand 1 (PD-L1) regulates CD8+ T-cell mediated injury in the heart. *Circulation* (2007) 116(18):2062–71. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.709360
- Niezgoda A, Niezgoda P, Czajkowski R. Novel approaches to treatment of advanced melanoma: a review on targeted therapy and immunotherapy. *Biomed Res Int* (2015) 2015:851387. doi:10.1155/2015/851387
- Patel SP, Kurzrock R. PD-L1 expression as a predictive biomarker in cancer immunotherapy. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2015) 14(4):847–56. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-14-0983
- Herbst RS, Soria JC, Kowanetz M, Fine GD, Hamid O, Gordon MS, et al. Predictive correlates of response to the anti-PD-L1 antibody MPDL3280A in cancer patients. *Nature* (2014) 515(7528):563–7. doi:10.1038/nature14011
- Brahmer J, Reckamp KL, Baas P, Crino L, Eberhardt WE, Poddubskaya E, et al. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in advanced squamous-cell nonsmall-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med (2015) 373(2):123–35. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1504627
- Broggi MA, Schmaler M, Lagarde N, Rossi SW. Isolation of murine lymph node stromal cells. J Vis Exp (2014) (90):e51803. doi:10.3791/51803

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Dieterich, Ikenberg, Cetintas, Kapaklikaya, Hutmacher and Detmar. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Role of the Tumor Vasculature in the Host Immune Response: Implications for Therapeutic Strategies Targeting the Tumor Microenvironment

Shona A. Hendry^{1,2}, Rae H. Farnsworth³, Benjamin Solomon⁴, Marc G. Achen^{2,3}, Steven A. Stacker^{2,3} and Stephen B. Fox^{1*}

¹ Department of Pathology, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ²The Sir Peter MacCallum Department of Oncology, University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ³Tumour Angiogenesis and Microenvironment Program, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ⁴Department of Medical Oncology, Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Silvia Della Bella, University of Milan, Italy

Reviewed by: Samuel Bertin,

University of California San Diego, USA Timothy Padera, Massachusetts General Hospital, USA

> *Correspondence: Stephen B. Fox stephen.fox@petermac.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 17 October 2016 Accepted: 07 December 2016 Published: 20 December 2016

Citation:

Hendry SA, Farnsworth RH, Solomon B, Achen MG, Stacker SA and Fox SB (2016) The Role of the Tumor Vasculature in the Host Immune Response: Implications for Therapeutic Strategies Targeting the Tumor Microenvironment. Front. Immunol. 7:621. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00621 Recently developed cancer immunotherapy approaches including immune checkpoint inhibitors and chimeric antigen receptor T cell transfer are showing promising results both in trials and in clinical practice. These approaches reflect increasing recognition of the crucial role of the tumor microenvironment in cancer development and progression. Cancer cells do not act alone, but develop a complex relationship with the environment in which they reside. The host immune response to tumors is critical to the success of immunotherapy; however, the determinants of this response are incompletely understood. The immune cell infiltrate in tumors varies widely in density, composition, and clinical significance. The tumor vasculature is a key component of the microenvironment that can influence tumor behavior and treatment response and can be targeted through the use of antiangiogenic drugs. Blood vascular and lymphatic endothelial cells have important roles in the trafficking of immune cells, controlling the microenvironment, and modulating the immune response. Improving access to the tumor through vascular alteration with antiangiogenic drugs may prove an effective combinatorial strategy with immunotherapy approaches and might be applicable to many tumor types. In this review, we briefly discuss the host's immune response to cancer and the treatment strategies utilizing this response, before focusing on the pathological features of tumor blood and lymphatic vessels and the contribution these might make to tumor immune evasion.

Keywords: endothelial cells, lymphatic endothelial cells, angiogenesis inhibitors, tumor immune evasion, immunotherapy

INTRODUCTION

The interaction between tumor cells and the microenvironment in which they exist is increasingly recognized as a key player in the development and progression of cancer. The microenvironment of a tumor includes the blood and lymphatic vasculatures, stroma, nerves, and cells of the immune system, which may be resident in the involved tissue or recruited from the periphery. The hallmarks

of cancer include features of the tumor cells themselves, such as replicative immortality and resistance to cell death, as well as features relating to the microenvironment, such as induction of angiogenesis and evasion of the immune response (1). Successful reversal of this immune evasion by checkpoint inhibitors is now a clinical reality, with inhibitors of cytotoxic T lymphocyteassociated protein-4 (CTLA-4) as well as programed cell death protein-1 (PD-1) and programed death ligand-1 (PD-L1) delivering durable responses in a subset of patients with a range of cancer types including melanoma (2, 3), urothelial carcinoma (4), Hodgkin lymphoma (5), non-small cell lung carcinoma (6-8), Merkel cell carcinoma (9), and squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (10). In addition, decades of research into the use of adoptive cell transfer and genetic engineering of tumor killing T cells has resulted in breakthrough therapy designation of anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cell transfer for use in B-acute lymphoblastic leukemia (11). However, there is marked variability in patient response to immune checkpoint blockade (12), and the use of CAR T cells against solid tumors has seen little success in the clinic (13).

Immunotherapy, particularly checkpoint inhibitors, differs from conventional cancer therapies. A complex intermediate step is introduced by activating the host's immune system, instead of a direct toxic effect on tumor cells or targeting of a tumor cell-specific mutation. Understanding the tumor microenvironment is critical to understanding the exact mechanisms of actions of these therapies and predicting response. There is a clear need for robust microenvironmental biomarkers to direct therapeutic strategies. The presence of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) is correlated with improved prognosis in many tumor types, as well as improved response to some conventional therapies and most immunotherapies (14). Tumors can exert direct effects to adapt to, escape, and suppress antitumor immunity, which is reviewed in Ref. (15). The access of immune cells to the tumor is a critical factor in the efficacy of both adoptive cell transfer and immune checkpoint inhibition, and the role of the tumor vasculature in providing or blocking access to the tumor is likely to prove an important consideration in immunotherapeutic strategies. In addition, blood vessels, lymphatic vessels, and the hypoxic tumor environment have important immunomodulatory roles, which contribute to the immune evasion of tumors. In this review, we provide a brief overview of factors affecting the host immune response to tumors and current immunotherapy approaches, which show exciting clinical results. We then focus on the molecular and mechanical features of the tumor vasculature that modulate the host antitumor immune response and consider the implications of these interactions for potential therapeutic approaches to enhance immunotherapy.

THE HOST IMMUNE RESPONSE TO TUMORS

For an effective host immune response, the tumor must be recognized as foreign and the immune effector cells must be able to access the tumor to destroy it. It is well established that tumors are antigenic and able to induce a systemic, tumorspecific immune response (16, 17). Unstable tumor genomes contain many mutations that generate altered protein products, which have the potential to be recognized as foreign by the host immune system during surveillance. The tumors must therefore develop mechanisms of evading this immune response in order to establish, grow, and eventually metastasize. For example, circulating T cells specific to tumor antigens can be demonstrated in patients with metastatic melanoma, yet the tumor progresses (18, 19).

There is wide variation in the immune cell infiltrate seen in solid tumors, both within and between different tumor types, which is illustrated in Figure 1. This can provide important prognostic and predictive information. The density of TILs correlates with improved survival in many tumors ranging from melanoma to colorectal cancer, renal cell carcinoma, and non-small cell lung carcinoma (20). However, specific immune cell subsets modify this association, including regulatory T cells (Tregs), myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), and tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) (20, 21). The presence of TILs has also been shown to be predictive of response to conventional anticancer treatment, for example, anti-HER2/ neu therapy and trastuzumab and anthracycline chemotherapy in breast cancer (22). A classification of tumors based on their immune phenotypes has been proposed, both as a broad conceptual approach (23, 24) and as specific quantitative scoring (21). Broadly, tumors can be classified as "T-cell inflamed" or "non-inflamed" based on the presence or absence of CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells within the tumor (23). For example, Figure 1A shows a basal phenotype breast carcinoma with a



FIGURE 1 | Photomicrographs comparing a heavy lymphocytic infiltrate in a basal phenotype breast carcinoma (A), with a sparse infiltrate in a different basal phenotype breast carcinoma (B) (H&E, original magnification 200x). A similar contrast is seen between a marked CD8⁺ T cell infiltrate in a mismatch repair-deficient colon cancer (C), and the sparse infiltrate in a mismatch repair proficient colon cancer (D). CD8⁺ T cells are seen both within the tumor epithelium (closed arrowhead) and in the tumor stroma (open arrowhead) (CD8 immunohistochemical stain, original magnification 200x).

florid lymphocytic infiltrate, whereas **Figure 1B**, which is also a basal phenotype breast carcinoma, shows very few TILs. Even in melanoma, widely accepted as an immunogenic tumor and the solid tumor in which immunotherapy has had the most success, approximately 40% of tumors display a non-inflamed phenotype (24). The existence of an inflamed phenotype is supported by gene expression profiling of tumors, through which a subset of tumors rich in immune-related gene transcripts has been identified in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma, colorectal carcinoma, and melanoma (25–27). A multitude of different scoring systems and methodologies have been proposed to describe the immune infiltrate in tumors, with variable reproducibility and practicality (21, 28, 29). As such, use of these scoring systems is limited in routine pathology practice, despite the valuable information they could convey.

It is hypothesized that the mutational load of the tumor correlates with the presence of an immune infiltrate, due to the greater potential for neoantigen formation. In support of this hypothesis is the evidence that mismatch repair deficient tumors with vast mutational loads show higher immune cell infiltrates than mismatch repair proficient tumors (30) (for example, see Figures 1C,D, respectively). The tumor types showing high levels of response to immune checkpoint blockade-melanoma, smoking associated lung cancer, and urothelial cancer-are the tumor types with the highest overall mutational loads (31). However, this correlation is weak at an individual tumor level, as the presence of mutations does not necessarily result in neoantigen formation, and multiple factors are involved in the presentation of antigens to elicit an immune response (32, 33). In addition, the extent and composition of the immune infiltrate varies widely between individual tumors within these highly mutated types (29, 34). Features of the microenvironment, including blood and lymphatic vessel structure, stromal fibroblasts, and extracellular matrix, may contribute to this variation by modulating the access of immune cells to the tumor and their activation and function in the tumor microenvironment.

Trafficking of effector T cells to tumors is complex and tightly regulated. T cell migration, activation, and differentiation are intricately linked processes. Following activation by antigenpresenting cells (APCs), T cells upregulate chemokine receptors and ligands for endothelial adhesion molecules. Binding of inflammatory chemokines enhances adhesion and extravasation, allowing effector T cells to enter the tumor microenvironment (35, 36). Levels of chemokines within tumors, particularly the CXCR3 ligands CXCL9 and CXCL10, have been shown to correlate with T cell infiltration into tumors and enhanced antitumor responses (37, 38). Chemokine/chemokine receptor mismatching is postulated as an important mechanism of reduced T cell trafficking into tumors (35). Post-translational modification of chemokines can also affect immune cell infiltration. For example, nitration of CCL2 as a result of the intratumoral production of reactive nitrogen species can reduce T cell infiltration into tumors, while macrophages and MDSCs can still be attracted by nitrated CCL2 (39).

Once arriving within the tumor microenvironment, T cells must also proliferate locally, as evidenced by the enrichment of cancer-specific T cells in the tumor compared to the peripheral blood (40). A range of cellular, metabolic, and molecular features of the tumor microenvironment contribute to limit the proliferation and activation of antitumor immune effector cells. Activation of CD8⁺ T cells requires APCs that can efficiently cross-present antigen. However, hypoxia in the tumor microenvironment can impair the maturation and differentiation of dendritic cells (DCs) and polarize macrophages to an immunosuppressive phenotype (41). Nutritional depletion, hypoxia, and reactive nitrogen species, features characteristic of the abnormal metabolic environment of tumors, can limit the activation of T cells and induce apoptosis [reviewed in Ref. (42)]. Enzymes contributing to immunosuppression are also found in the tumor microenvironment. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) is an intracellular enzyme preferentially expressed by subsets of APCs, which functions to catalyze catabolism of tryptophan to kynurenine (43). Depletion of tryptophan and accumulation of kynurenine in the tumor microenvironment impairs DC function and limits the clonal expansion of T cells (44), induces CD8⁺ T cell anergy (45), and promotes T_{reg} induction and activation (46, 47). IDO has been implicated in resistance to immune checkpoint inhibitors (48), and blockade of the IDO pathway is under investigation in clinical trials (49). Depletion of L-arginine in the microenvironment can also result in the impairment of T cell function. Enzymes of the arginase and nitric oxide synthase (NOS) families control the metabolism of L-arginine [reviewed in Ref. (50)]. Expression of inducible NOS and arginase-1 has been demonstrated to limit T cell responses and promote the immunosuppressive microenvironment in different tumor types (51-53). These metabolic features of the tumor microenvironment combine with cellular mechanisms such as the expression of coinhibitory immune checkpoint molecules [reviewed elsewhere (54)] to control the activity and proliferation of immune cells in the tumor microenvironment. Both exclusion of immune cells and inhibition of their function clearly contribute to the creation of an immunosuppressive microenvironment, which allows tumor immune evasion. The contribution of the tumor vasculature to T cell trafficking, the regulation of endothelial adhesion molecule expression, and the creation of an immunosuppressive microenvironment are discussed in the following sections.

CURRENT THERAPIES UTILIZING THE HOST IMMUNE RESPONSE

Tumors that do support T cell trafficking and show high levels of immune cell infiltration appear to use a range of immunosuppressive pathways to evade the host response. An important immune evasion strategy is the use of inhibitory signaling pathways, known as immune checkpoints, which are part of the physiological process of peripheral tolerance, designed to protect against autoimmunity (55). In this process, self-antigens taken up by APCs will be presented to T cells without the appropriate coactivation signals such as the binding of CD80 or CD86 to CD28, or in the presence of co-inhibitory signals such as the binding of PD-1 to PD-L1. This results in anergy or deletion of the self-reactive T cell. Tumors can co-opt these signaling pathways to evade the immune response, by expressing high levels of co-inhibitory molecules such as PD-L1 (54). Release of these immune checkpoints through the use of inhibitory monoclonal antibodies targeting CTLA-4, PD-1, or PD-L1 can result in durable antitumor responses in a subset of patients (2–7, 56, 57). Responses have been demonstrated across multiple tumor types; however, the selection of patients likely to respond remains problematic (12). The presence of TILs is critical to the success of these immune checkpoint inhibitors (58).

An alternative approach that utilizes the host immune response to fight tumors is termed adoptive cell transfer. Here, TILs are isolated from the patient's tumor tissue, expanded *ex vivo* and reintroduced into the patient's blood stream. This approach has a number of limitations and to date has seen minimal success in the clinic (59). Genetic modification of the T cells can improve tumor cell specificity and enhance activation (59). CARs include a specific antigen-binding domain and an intracellular signaling domain, which allow MHC-independent activation of T cells. Limited success has been seen in the use of CAR T cell and adoptive cell transfer against solid tumors compared to impressive results in hematological malignancies (13).

A limiting factor in the efficacy of CAR T cells in solid tumors is the lack of infiltration into the tumor itself. This therapeutic approach has seen the most success in B cell leukemia, in which the tumor cells express a common and specific antigen (CD19) and are easily accessible, as they are circulating in the peripheral blood (11). Infiltration of solid tumors by the transferred T cells is required for efficacy (60); however, it has been demonstrated in both humans and mice that only a small fraction of transferred T cells reach the tumor tissue (35). Following transfer, CAR T cells may be readily identifiable in peripheral blood, but scant in the tumor tissue (61). It has also been shown that mesothelintargeted CAR T cells demonstrated markedly superior efficacy in an orthotopic mouse model of mesothelioma when delivered regionally rather than systemically (62). Current clinical trials are investigating methods to overcome this suboptimal trafficking of CAR T cells, including altering the chemokine milieu of the tumor and expressing matched chemokine receptors on the engineered T cells (35, 63). Investigations into local delivery approaches are also ongoing (13).

IS THERE AN ACCESS ISSUE?

The existence of the non-inflamed tumor phenotype and the lack of success of CAR T cell therapy in solid tumors support the concept that exclusion of immune cells from the microenvironment plays an important role in the immune escape of tumors. It has been recognized that the tumor vasculature is part of the permissive microenvironment that prevents the immune rejection of tumors (64). Understanding the important in selecting appropriate therapeutic strategies to enhance the potential of immunotherapy. The immunomodulatory effects of tumor blood vessels and lymphatics are also important targets in understanding and manipulating the tumor microenvironment.

ROLE OF THE TUMOR VASCULATURE IN IMMUNE CELL EXCLUSION

Molecular Mechanisms

Specialized endothelial cells line the blood and lymphatic vessels of the body and act in a variety of ways to control the delivery and removal of oxygen, nutrients, and circulating cells to the tissues. Endothelial cells are active participants in the immune response to inflammation (65), through their role in regulating the trafficking and activation of immune cells. A summary of the alterations in leukocyte-endothelium interactions seen in tumors is provided in Figure 2. Migration of leukocytes (lymphocytes, monocytes, and granulocytes) from the blood vessels into peripheral tissues is a multistep process involving rolling, slow rolling, activation, firm adhesion, adhesion strengthening, intraluminal crawling, and transcellular and paracellular migration (66). E-selectin and P-selectin on endothelial cells and L-selectin on granulocytes, monocytes, and most lymphocytes mediate rolling through interaction with P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 and other glycosylated ligands (66). Selectins require shear stress resulting from the flow of blood to support adhesion (67). Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) is a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily that plays an important role in the adhesion cascade, participating in rolling, firm adhesion, and transcellular migration (68). ICAM-1 and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1), another immunoglobulin superfamily member (69), are located on the luminal surfaces of endothelial cells and bind to the integrins such as lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 (LFA-1) and very late antigen-4 (VLA-4), respectively (70, 71). LFA-1 is expressed on lymphocytes, monocytes, and neutrophils, whereas VLA-4 is expressed on lymphocytes and monocytes (72). Clustering of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 is also a critical step in transendothelial migration, and blocking this clustering is sufficient to prevent migration of leukocytes expressing LFA-1 or VLA-4 (73). Expression of vascular adhesion molecules in intratumoral blood vessels is correlated with the number of TILs. E-selectin is required for T cell extravasation in skin, and expression of E-selectin in cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma and Merkel cell carcinoma correlates with infiltration by CD8⁺ T cells and better prognosis (74, 75). Medullary breast carcinomas are defined in part by a florid lymphocytic infiltrate and showed a higher expression of ICAM-1 on intratumoral blood vessels than ductal breast carcinomas of no special type (76).

Inflammatory signals are required to upregulate expression of ICAM-1, which can be expressed by a range of cells in addition to endothelial cells, including fibroblasts, thymic epithelial cells, macrophages, and follicular DCs (70). In addition to mediating the adhesion of leukocytes to endothelial cells, ICAM-1:LFA-1 interactions also participate in the formation of an immune synapse between T cells and APCs (77). A mature immune synapse requires molecular interactions mediating adhesion, antigen presentation, and costimulation or inhibition. A synapse may also form within the docking structure forming the adhesion between endothelial cells and lymphocytes (78). Inflammatory cytokines IL-1, TNF α and, to a lesser degree, IFN γ , cause a rapid rise in the expression of ICAM-1 on cultured endothelial cells (79).



Different cell types may vary as to which inflammatory signals are capable of inducing ICAM-1 expression (77).

Adhesion molecules including ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and E-selectin may be absent or expressed at low levels on tumor vasculature, despite the inflammatory microenvironment of the tumor. Pro-inflammatory pathways are induced in tumor cells by oncogenic activation of transcription factors such as HIF-1 α and NF κ B, resulting in the high levels of inflammatory mediators detected in most solid tumors (80). However, this inflammatory environment appears to fail to induce the expression of vascular adhesion molecules on intratumoral vessels. This has been demonstrated in experimental models of melanoma and carcinoma (81), as well as in human cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma,

Merkel cell carcinoma, and metastatic melanoma tissue (74, 75, 82). This lack of responsiveness to inflammatory signals has been termed endothelial anergy (83) and may play an important role in the exclusion of antitumor immune effector cells from the tumor microenvironment.

Evidence suggests that endothelial anergy is due at least in part to angiogenic factors (84, 85), a range of molecules including vascular endothelial growth factor-A (VEGF-A), VEGF-C, VEGF-D, and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), some of which are produced in response to tissue hypoxia. The tumor microenvironment is characteristically hypoxic due to disordered and loosely regulated angiogenesis that fails to adequately supply the expanding tumor mass (86). This hypoxia leads to stabilization and nuclear accumulation of hypoxia-inducible factors (HIF-1 α and HIF-2 α), transcription factors that lead to upregulation of angiogenic factors, and other molecules that act to improve tissue oxygenation. VEGF-A can be secreted by tumor cells and TAMs and is overexpressed in the majority of solid tumors (87, 88). VEGF-A and bFGF, also a strong mitogenic factor for endothelium produced by tumor cells, contribute to the suppression of ICAM-1 in tumors (84). This downregulation of adhesion molecules in response to angiogenic factors has been demonstrated in vitro (83, 84, 89, 90) and in mouse tumor models (85, 91, 92). As described above, tumor vasculature appears unresponsive to inflammatory signals that mediate the expression of adhesion molecules through the NFkB signaling pathway. bFGF can block this stimulation by preventing the degradation of pathway inhibitor Ik $\beta\alpha$, thus stopping the translocation of NFkB to the nucleus and activation of target gene transcription (93).

The concept of endothelial anergy and the downregulation of adhesion molecules mediated by angiogenic factors is supported by the evidence that antiangiogenic therapy results in increased expression of adhesion molecules on tumor vasculature (94). Angiostatic therapy using platelet factor 4, anginex, angiostatin, or endostatin results in upregulation of ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and E-selectin in animal models and in vitro (94, 95) and also reinstates the responsiveness of the endothelium to inflammatory signals (94). These anti-angiogenic peptides showed promising anti-tumor effects in initial pre-clinical trials, however have failed to demonstrate efficacy in human cancers and are no longer being clinically investigated (96). Multi-target tyrosine kinase inhibitors such as SU6668, sunitinib, and sorafenib are a more promising antiangiogenic treatment approach and are approved for the treatment of some human cancers such as the highly angiogenic renal cell carcinoma (96). These small molecules inhibit the activation of a range of tyrosine kinase receptors, including vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 (VEGFR-1), VEGFR-2, and fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR-1), receptors for angiogenic factors VEGF-A, VEGF-C, and VEGF-D, and bFGF, as well as growth factor receptors such as platelet-derived growth factor receptor-\u03b3 (PDGFR\u03b3) and c-kit. Use of SU6668, a small molecule inhibitor of VEGFR-2, FGFR-1, and PDGFRβ, blocked the actions of bFGF and showed reversal of adhesion molecule downregulation in a mouse model of metastatic breast cancer (89). A number of pre-clinical studies have shown that various antiangiogenic therapies, including tyrosine kinase inhibitors and inhibitory monoclonal antibodies against VEGF-A and VEGFR-2, may help to increase tumor infiltration by lymphocytes (97-108). These are summarized in Table 1 and discussed further in Section "Implications for Treatment Strategies". It would be of interest to delineate the extent to which this increased infiltration is due to reversal of endothelial anergy or alternatively due to blockade of the direct effects of VEGF-A on tumor cells, stromal cells, or immune cells, or alteration of the hypoxic microenvironment. Initial clinical studies also support an increase in tumor infiltration by immune cells with the combination of immunotherapies and antiangiogenic agents, summarized in Table 2 and discussed further in Section "Implications for Treatment Strategies" (109, 110). To the best of our knowledge, reversal of endothelial anergy in human tumors by antiangiogenic agents remains to be

conclusively demonstrated. Further investigations of changes in adhesion molecule expression and lymphocyte infiltration resulting from antiangiogenic drugs currently approved for use in the clinic, which largely target the VEGF-VEGFR signaling pathway, may provide useful information and should be a high priority.

In addition to VEGF-A and bFGF, other angiogenic and tumor-associated factors may also contribute to the exclusion of TILs. VEGF-C and VEGF-D are closely related members of the VEGF family that promote angiogenesis, lymphangiogenesis, and cancer metastasis (118-122). These factors can be secreted by tumor cells, immune cells, and tumor-associated fibroblasts (123-125). In human breast carcinoma, higher levels of VEGF-C and VEGF-D were seen in ductal carcinomas compared to medullary carcinomas and correlated with decreased ICAM-1 expression and lower numbers of infiltrating lymphocytes (76). Other growth factors including placenta growth factor (PIGF) and epidermal growth factor have also been shown to downregulate ICAM-1 expression in vitro (126). Epidermal growth factor-like domain 7 (EGFL7) is secreted by normal blood endothelial cells, at sites of pathological angiogenesis, and by tumor cells (127, 128). Higher levels of EGFL7 have been correlated with poor prognosis in some tumor types such as colorectal cancer (127). Delfortrie et al. have shown that EGFL7 also functions to decrease levels of adhesion molecules ICAM-1 and VCAM-1, resulting in a reduction in TILs (128).

Endothelin-1 (ET-1) is a molecule that plays a role in both angiogenesis and controlling the trafficking of immune cells. ET-1 acts through two receptors, the endothelin A receptor (ETAR) and the endothelin B receptor (ETBR) (129). ET-1, ETAR, and ETBR expression is correlated with VEGF-A expression and microvessel density in breast and ovarian carcinoma (130). Messenger RNA profiling of microdissected endothelial cells from ovarian cancer showed overexpression of ETBR in tumors lacking infiltrating lymphocytes (131). The binding of ET-1 to ETBR prevented T cell adhesion to endothelium, even in the presence of the inflammatory cytokine $TNF\alpha$, an additional mechanism of endothelial anergy (131). Findings suggesting selectivity in lymphocyte extravasation due to ETBR expression were reported for glial tumors (132). Glioblastomas with higher numbers of ETBR-expressing vessels showed lower infiltration by cytotoxic T cells and higher numbers of regulatory T cells. Cytotoxic T cells infiltrated around ETBR-negative blood vessels, but were absent around vessels expressing ETBR (132). Similar findings were seen in primary central nervous system lymphoma, in which both endothelial and tumor cells expressed ETBR (133). However, no correlation between ETBR expression and TILs was seen in oral squamous cell carcinoma (134). Blockade of ETBR increased T cell adhesion to endothelium through the upregulation and clustering of ICAM-1 (131). Blockade of ETBR was also shown to increase T cell homing to tumors and increase the effectiveness of cancer vaccines in mice (131).

Selective extravasation of different leukocyte subsets may also be mediated by additional molecules including common lymphatic endothelial and vascular endothelial receptor-1 (CLEVER-1) (135) and Fas ligand (FasL) (136). CLEVER-1, also known as stabilin-1 and FEEL-1, is a multifunctional scavenging receptor expressed constitutively on lymphatic endothelial cells

TABLE 1 | Summary of pre-clinical studies combining antiangiogenic therapies and immunotherapy.

Antiangiogenic therapy	Immunotherapy	Tumor model	Results of combination therapies compared with immunotherapy alone	Reference
Neutralizing anti-VEGF-A antiboo	lies			
Anti-mouse VEGF-A antibody	Peptide-pulsed dendritic cell vaccination	MethA sarcoma and D549 xenograft in mice	Decreased tumor growthImproved survival	Gabrilovich et al. (111)
Anti-mouse VEGF-A antibody, B20-4.1.1-PHAGE	Adoptive transfer of tumor-specific T cells	B16 melanoma in syngeneic C57BL/6J mice	 Decreased tumor growth Improved survival Increased T cell infiltration into tumor Different effects with different doses 	Shrimali et al. (97)
Bevacizumab	Adoptive transfer of cytokine-induced killer cells (CIK)	Human lung adenocarcinoma xenografts (A549) in mice	 Improved CIK homing and infiltration 	Tao et al. (98)
Ligand traps				
sVEGFR-1/R-2	GM-CSF secreting tumor cell vaccination	Melanoma (B16) and colon carcinoma (CT26) in mice	 Improved survival Increased number of activated DCs and TILs Decreased number of regulatory T cells 	Li et al. (99)
Aflibercept	Recombinant TMEV Xho1-OVA8 antitumor vaccine	Glioma (GL261) in mice	Delayed tumor progressionImproved survival	Renner et al. (112)
Neutralizing anti-VEGFR-2 antibo	odies			
Anti-VEGFR-2 antibody, DC101	HER2/Neu targeted vaccination	Spontaneous breast carcinoma in FVB and Neu-N mice	 Reduction in tumor growth and improved immune responses in FVB mice Efficacy in Neu-N mice required depletion of T_{regs} 	Manning et al. (100)
Anti-VEGFR-2 antibody, DC101	Whole cancer tissue cell vaccination	Breast carcinoma (MMTV-PyVT) in mice	 Improved survival Polarized macrophages to M1 phenotype Improved T cell infiltration 	Huang et al. (101)
Angiostatic peptides				
Recombinant adenovirus expressing antiangiogenic factors endostatin and PEDF	Recombinant adenovirus expressing IL-12 and GM-CSF	Viral-induced woodchuck hepatocellular carcinoma	 Reduction in tumor volume Increased apoptosis Increased TILs 	Huang et al. (102)
Recombinant adenovirus expressing antiangiogenic factors endostatin and PEDF	Recombinant adenovirus expressing IL-12 and GM-CSF	Implanted hepatocellular carcinoma (BNL) in mice and chemically induced HCC in rats	 Reduction in tumor volume Increased apoptosis Increased TILs Immunotherapy alone was effective for smaller tumors, but combination therapy more effective against larger tumors 	Chan et al. (103)
Recombinant human endostatin	Adoptive transfer of CIK	Lung adenocarcinoma xenografts (A549, SPC-A1, Lewis lung carcinoma) in mice	 Increased CIK homing Increased TILs Decreased immunosuppressive cells 	Shi et al. (113)
Aginex, peptide targeting galectin-1	Adoptive T cell transfer	Melanoma (B16) in mice	 Restored adhesion molecule expression and T cell infiltration Significant reduction in tumor growth 	Dings et al. (105)
Multi-target tyrosine kinase inhib	pitors			
SU6668	B7.2-lgG/TC vaccination	Breast carcinoma (4T1) in mice	 Increased CD8+ TILs Decreased tumor growth Decreased formation of distant metastasis 	Huang et al. (106)
Sunitinib	IL-12 and 4-1BB activation	Colon carcinoma xenografts (MCA26) in mice	 Modulation of immune infiltrate composition and polarization toward effector phenotype Improved survival 	Ozao-Choy et al. (114)

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Antiangiogenic therapy	Immunotherapy	Tumor model	Results of combination therapies compared with immunotherapy alone	Reference
Sunitinib or sorafenib	rMVA-CEA-TRICOM vaccine	Colon carcinoma (MC38-CEA) and breast cancer (4T1) in mice	Marked reduction in tumor volumeIncrease in tumor antigen-specific TILs	Farsaci et al. (107)
Sunitinib	Glucocorticoid-induced TNFR-related protein (GITR)	Liver metastasis of renal cell carcinoma (RENCA) in mice	Reduction in number and size of tumorsIncreased activation of immune cells	Yu et al. (115)
Others				
$TNF\alpha$ -RGR protein fusion	Adoptive T cell transfer and anti-Tag vaccination	RIP1-Tag5 transgenic mouse (pancreatic insulinomas)	 Improved survival Joh Increased TILs et a Promotes M1 polarization of macrophages 	
Trebananib (blocks interaction between angiogenic factors angiopoietin 1 and 2 with receptor Tie2)	Antigen-specific cytotoxic T cell transfer	Carcinoma cell lines MDA-MB-231 (breast), LNCaP (prostate), and OV17-1 (ovarian)	 Increased ICAM-1 expression Improved CTL lysis 	Grenga et al. (116)

(LECs) and type 2 macrophages and induced by inflammation on blood endothelial cells (137, 138). Functions have been demonstrated to include both lymphocyte trafficking and adherence of cancer cells to lymphatic endothelium (139, 140). In a mouse model of melanoma, levels of CLEVER-1 correlated with increased infiltration by FoxP3⁺ T_{regs} and type II macrophages. Following administration of anti-CLEVER-1 antibody, numbers of T_{regs} and type II macrophages were reduced, and there was increased immune activation and decreased tumor growth (135). FasL mediates T cell apoptosis and can be induced on blood vascular endothelial cells in solid tumors by tumor-derived VEGF-A, prostaglandin E2, and IL-10 (136). Endothelial FasL is able to kill activated T lymphocytes, but CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells are resistant to FasL-mediated killing due to high levels of antiapoptotic protein c-FLIP (136). Endothelial FasL expression correlated with lower numbers of CD8⁺ T cells in a range of cancer types. Blockade of VEGF-A, prostaglandins, or FasL resulted in increased CD8⁺ T cell infiltration and impaired tumor growth (136).

In addition to effects on the tumor vasculature, hypoxia and angiogenic factors such as VEGF-A also have direct immunomodulatory effects, which are summarized in Figure 3. As mentioned above, hypoxia-inducible factors are transcription factors activated by low tissue oxygen levels sensed by hydroxylase enzymes (141). HIFs control the transcription of various genes involved in the adaptation to hypoxic conditions, and also have a number of direct effects on immune cells. In hypoxic tumors, macrophages are polarized toward an immunosuppressive M2 phenotype, MDSCs accumulate and DC maturation and differentiation is impaired, inhibiting the activation of T cells (41). Cytotoxic T cells show increased lytic capacity under hypoxic conditions, but decreased proliferation and differentiation (41). Hypoxic stress increases secretion of CCL28 and CXCL12 by tumor cells, thereby attracting regulatory T cells (142, 143). HIF-1 α also directly binds to a hypoxia response element in the promoter of the gene encoding immune checkpoint molecule PD-L1, and hypoxia thereby increases expression of PD-L1 on MDSCs, tumor cells, DCs, and macrophages (144). VEGF-A also directly enhances the expression of PD-1, TIM-3, and CTLA-4 on intratumoral CD8⁺ T cells, contributing to T cell anergy (145). These data suggest an important role for hypoxia, angiogenesis, and the endothelium in creating a permissive microenvironment to prevent the immune rejection of tumors.

Mechanical Properties

The tumor vasculature may also contribute to the exclusion of effector lymphocytes from the tumor microenvironment by physical means. In normal immune responses, T cells exit the vasculature predominantly in the post-capillary venule, a site of low shear stress where adhesion molecules are preferentially expressed (78, 146). Newly formed blood vessels within tumors, however, are structurally and functionally abnormal, lacking the specialized organization of normal tissue vasculature (147). Tumor vessels are heterogeneous, tortuous, and irregularly branched (148, 149). The vessel walls are leaky with wide junctions between endothelial cells, increased fenestrations and loss, or abnormalities of the surrounding pericytes and basement membranes. Tumor endothelial cells lose polarity, can detach, and stratify (149). The normal laminar flow of blood is disrupted, and with it, the margination, rolling, and adhesion of lymphocytes. Areas of stagnation and increased interstitial fluid pressure are also present, resulting in heterogeneous tumor perfusion (150). The delivery of chemotherapeutic agents is hampered by this chaotic and inefficient tumor blood flow (149, 151), and access of antitumor lymphocytes may also be impaired.

Shear stress, the parallel force applied to the endothelial lining of blood vessels by laminar blood flow in normal vasculature, is a key regulator of vascular physiology (152). Endothelial cells respond to shear stress through mechanosensory molecules including CD31 (platelet endothelial adhesion molecule) and VE-cadherin, which can activate various signaling pathways leading to complex and context-dependent effects on endothelial

Antiangiogenic therapy	Immunotherapy	Tumor type	Results/status	Reference; trial number
Bevacizumab (anti-VEGF-A antibody)	lpilimumab (CTLA-4 inhibitor)	Metastatic melanoma	 Increased CD8⁺ TILs and macrophages Changes in circulating immune cell composition Mild increase in toxicity compared to level expected for ipilimumab alone Overall response rate 11% 	Hodi et al. (109); Phase I
Bevacizumab	Ipilimumab	Glioblastoma	 Partial response rate 31% Stable disease 31% Treatment well tolerated 	Carter et al. (117); Phase I
Bevacizumab	Atezolizumab (PD-L1 inhibitor)	Metastatic renal cell carcinoma	 Partial response rate 40% Stable disease 40% Treatment well tolerated Increased immune cell infiltrate and Th1 gene expression 	Wallin et al. (110); Phase I
Bevacizumab	Ipilimumab	Metastatic melanoma	Completed	NCT01743157; Phase I-II
Bevacizumab	Ipilimumab	Unresectable stage III or IV melanoma	Active	NCT00790010; Phase I
Bevacizumab	lpilimumab	Unresectable stage III or IV melanoma	Recruiting	NCT01950390; Phase II
Bevacizumab	Nivolumab (PD-1 inhibitor)	Metastatic renal cell carcinoma	Recruiting	NCT02210117; Phase I
Bevacizumab	Pembrolizumab (PD-1 inhibitor)	Brain metastasis in melanoma or non-small cell lung cancer	Recruiting	NCT02681549; Phase II
Bevacizumab	Pembrolizumab	Recurrent glioblastoma	Active	NCT02337491; Phase II
Bevacizumab	Pembrolizumab	Metastatic renal cell carcinoma	Active	NCT02348008; Phase lb and ll
Bevacizumab and hypofractionated stereotactic irradiation	Pembrolizumab	Glioblastoma	Recruiting	NCT02313272; Phase I
Bevacizumab or sunitinib	Atezolizumab	Metastatic renal cell carcinoma	Recruiting	NCT02420821; Phase III
Bevacizumab	Atezolizumab	Stage IV non-squamous, non-small cell lung cancer	Recruiting	NCT02366143; Phase III
Ziv-aflibercept (ligand trap)	Pembrolizumab	Advanced solid tumors	Recruiting	NCT02298959; Phase I
MEDI3617 (anti-angiopoietin-2 antibody)	Tremelimumab (CTLA-4 inhibitor)	Advanced solid tumors	Recruiting	NCT02141542; Phase I

TABLE 2 | Summary of published and ongoing clinical trials combining antiangiogenic therapies and immunotherapy.

adhesion molecule expression (153). In tumors, the disrupted and sluggish blood flow in tumors due to abnormal vasculature results in lower levels of shear stress (154). A threshold level of shear stress is required for the expression of E-selectin, P-selectin, and L-selectin, which mediate leukocyte rolling (67). Low shear stress can enhance expression of adhesion molecules on endothelial cells, particularly ICAM-1, but can also decrease the responsiveness of the endothelium to inflammatory signals such as TNF α , thus becoming an additional promoter of endothelial anergy (155). Low shear can also upregulate VEGF-A expression by tumor cells (154), which may modulate adhesion molecule expression and perpetuate angiogenesis. The direct effects of the mechanical properties of abnormal tumor blood vessels on immune cell extravasation remain to be fully elucidated.

Pericytes and vascular smooth muscle cells are contractile cells that surround and interact with the endothelial cell layer of blood vessels. Pericytes are required for vessel stabilization and maturation, and in tumor vessels they are often immature, less abundant, and loosely attached (156). Recruitment of pericytes to immature and proliferating blood vessels involves, among others, the PDGF/PDGFR β and angiopoietin (Ang)-1/Tie2 signaling pathways (157). Disrupting pericyte coverage through targeting



of the PDGF/PDGFRß pathway results in increased vessel leakiness, decreased tumor vascularity, and decreased tumor growth, particularly when combined with anti-VEGF-A treatment (158-160). Conversely, promotion of pericyte coverage and pericyte-endothelial cell interactions through activation of VEGFR and PDGFR^β has been proposed to enhance vessel stabilization and normalization (160). During changes in oxygen availability, Ang2 can bind to Tie2 on endothelial cells, thus blocking the binding of Ang1, releasing the pericyte, and destabilizing the vessel (161). Inhibition of Ang2 can improve pericyte coverage and normalize tumor vessels in mouse models (162). Clinical trials of pericyte modulation by PDGFR^β inhibition alone have been largely disappointing (163, 164). Other approaches to modulate pericyte coverage require further investigation in the clinic. To the best of our knowledge, no clinical trials have yet examined the effect of vascular normalization due to pericyte modulation on lymphocyte infiltration. However, pericytes may however have additional immunomodulatory effects. Hong et al. demonstrated an increase in MDSCs in tumors grown in a pericyte deficient mouse model, due to IL-6 production in the hypoxic tumor microenvironment (165). MDSC levels decreased when pericyte coverage was restored (165). In human breast cancers, MDSC gene expression correlated with decreased pericyte gene expression and poor prognosis (165). Pericyte coverage is thus an important

consideration in vascular normalization studies and may play a role in creation of the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment. Rgs5, one of a family of molecules that inhibits signaling by G protein-coupled receptors, is expressed by pericytes and hypoxic endothelial cells and has been shown to be overexpressed in tumor vasculature (166, 167). Loss of Rgs5 in mice results in pericyte maturation, vascular normalization, improved oxygenation, and reduced vessel leakiness (166). Importantly, it was also found that tumor infiltration by both endogenous and adoptively transferred lymphocytes was increased in Rgs5-deficient mice (166). This finding supports the hypothesis that physical normalization of the blood vessels and their supporting cells improves immune cell extravasation. Human RGS5 shows high homology to the mouse gene and appears to perform similar functions (168), although data describing its role in human tumors are limited.

The abnormal, poorly organized structure of tumor blood vessel walls results in leakiness and extravasation of fluid into the tumor microenvironment (169). Angiogenic factors also contribute to this leakiness. VEGF-A was initially described as vascular permeability factor (170) due to its marked enhancement of vessel permeability and is found in high levels in malignant effusions (171). However, data appear to suggest that this permeability of tumor blood vessels does not result in increased lymphocyte extravasation. As discussed above, expression of angiogenic

factors instead correlates with reduced TILs (76, 172). Use of antiangiogenic therapy and vascular normalization can improve lymphocyte infiltration into tumors, discussed further below. Lymphocyte extravasation requires controlled molecular regulation and as such increased vessel wall permeability, and fluid extravasation alone may not increase the lymphocyte infiltration in the tumor.

HIGH ENDOTHELIAL VENULES AND THE RECRUITMENT OF NAÏVE T CELLS

High endothelial venules (HEVs) are specialized post-capillary venules normally found in secondary lymphoid organs including lymph nodes and Peyer's patches, characterized histologically by their cuboidal "high" endothelial lining. They are adapted to promote trafficking of naïve lymphocytes into the lymphoid organ, expressing specific addressins including peripheral node addressin (PNAd) and mucosal addressin (MAdCAM-1). Activated lymphocytes, including effector T cells and memory T cells, can also be recruited by HEVs into lymph nodes under inflammatory conditions through the upregulation of VCAM-1, E-selectin, and P-selectin (173). Blood vessels with morphological and immunohistochemical features of HEVs have been identified in a range of human tumors, including breast, ovarian, colorectal, and lung cancers (174). The presence of HEVs correlates strongly with the presence of CD8⁺ effector T cells as well as B cells and Th1 cells (174), often organized as tertiary lymphoid structures, that is, ectopic lymphoid structures with all the characteristics of lymph nodes (175). Evidence suggests that these local tertiary lymphoid structures may play a role in recruitment and priming of naïve T cells and promote differentiation into tumor-specific effector T cells, within the tumor microenvironment itself (176). Interestingly, both positive and negative effects on antitumor immunity have been associated with tertiary lymphoid structures and lymph node-like vasculature (177, 178). The recruitment of naïve T cells and differentiation into effector T cells seen in some settings (177) contrasts with the recruitment of MDSCs and differentiation of T_{regs} seen in others (178). The inflammatory context in which these tertiary lymphoid structures develop may help to explain these findings.

LYMPHANGIOGENESIS, INTERSTITIAL FLUID PRESSURE, AND IMMUNE EVASION

Recent work has established a key role of LECs in inducing immune tolerance, both in peripheral tissues and the draining lymph node. Tumors and their microenvironments promote lymphangiogenesis and lymphatic remodeling through both molecular and mechanical means. VEGF-C and VEGF-D signaling *via* interactions with VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 are important drivers of tumor lymphangiogenesis, promoting intratumoral and peritumoral lymphatic growth and metastasis (179). These growth factors may be secreted by tumor cells, immune cells, and stromal cells (123–125).

As described in previous sections, loosely regulated angiogenesis in tumors results in abnormal, leaky blood vessels. In conjunction with alterations in the stroma and extracellular matrix surrounding the tumor, this results in increased interstitial fluid pressure within the tumor (180). Interstitial fluid pressure within tumors can measure up to 60 mmHg, whereas normal tissue has a range of -3 to +3 mmHg (180). This pressure gradient causes an increase in interstitial flow at the tumor margin, and increased lymphatic drainage by peritumoral lymphatics (181). Increased interstitial fluid and lymphatic flow has a number of effects on the tumor microenvironment, contributing to peritumoral lymphangiogenesis, altering the extracellular matrix and fibroblast differentiation, and promoting the development of lymphoid-like features (178, 181). These lymphoid-like stromal features such as CCL21 expression, required for the homing of naïve T cells, are important components of the tertiary lymphoid structures seen in tumors, which, as discussed above, can show both positive and negative associations with antitumor immunity. Lymphatic flow can also induce the upregulation of transforming growth factor beta $(TGF\beta)$ by fibroblasts, leading to myofibroblast differentiation, contraction, and matrix stiffening (182). TGFB also dampens the innate immune response through effects on the maturation of DCs, natural killer (NK) cells, T cells, neutrophils, and macrophages and supports the differentiation and induction of regulatory T cells (183). TGF β has been suggested as a link between the mechanics of interstitial fluid pressure, lymphatic flow, and the development of an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment (181).

ROLE OF LECs IN IMMUNE SUPPRESSION AND TOLERANCE

Peripheral tolerance is the process by which self-reactive T cells that escape thymic selection are deleted or rendered anergic. Lymphatic flow and the delivery of lymph fluid to the lymph node are required for the induction of new peripheral tolerance (184, 185). Hence, the increased lymphatic flow seen draining tumors may play a critical role in the development of a permissive immune microenvironment. Induction of peripheral tolerance in the draining lymph node is a multistep process involving the transport of antigens and APCs to the lymph node, antigen presentation in the lymph node, and activation of inhibitory pathways including deletion of reactive T cells, anergy, and T_{reg} induction. LECs, both in peripheral tissues and in the lymph node, and lymph node stromal cells have important roles in the induction of tolerance, which is summarized in **Figure 4**.

The development of peripheral tolerance depends on the delivery of soluble antigens and tissue-resident APCs to the draining lymph node. Migration of tissue DCs into initial lymphatics is dependent on CCR7 expression by activated DCs and CCL21 expression on LECs (178). Antigens are carried in the interstitial fluid through the button junctions of the initial lymphatics. Once at the draining lymph node, DCs are guided to the paracortical T cell zone by CCL21 and CCL19. Small antigens are directed into the lymph node *via* intricate conduits, then taken up and



FIGURE 4 | Lymphatic endothelial cells may contribute to the development of tolerance to tumor antigens by antigen presentation to CD8⁺ I cells in the absence of costimulatory molecules such as CD80/CD86, or in the presence of co-inhibitory molecules such as PD-L1 and LAG3. Peripheral tissue antigens or tumor antigens may be transferred from LECs to dendritic cells, which present these antigens to CD4⁺ T cells in the absence of costimulatory molecules, thereby inducing anergy. Stimulation of LECs by VEGF-C and inflammatory cytokines TNF α and IFN γ can reduce CD86 expression on dendritic cells and produce IDO, which depletes tryptophan from the microenvironment, thereby preventing the activation of T cells. DC, dendritic cell; IDO, indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase; IFN γ , interferon-gamma; LEC, lymphatic endothelial cell; PTA, peripheral tissue antigen; TNF α , tumor necrosis factor-alpha; VEGF-C, vascular endothelial growth factor-C.

processed by lymph node-resident DCs, while larger antigens are captured and processed by sinus macrophages (186, 187).

Stromal cells within the lymph node, including LECs and fibroblast reticular cells (FRCs), play important structural and physiological roles in the functions of the node. LECs and FRCs express MHC class I molecules as do nearly all nucleated cells (188). However, LECs and FRCs participate in the process of peripheral immune tolerance through ectopic expression of tissue-specific antigens on MHC class I, for example, antigens usually restricted to melanocytes, intestinal epithelium or pancreas, and presentation of these antigens to CD8⁺ T cells (188, 189). These antigens are not scavenged from the lymph fluid but directly expressed in both an autoimmune regulator (Aire)-dependent manner, as is seen in central tolerance in the thymus, and also in an Aireindependent manner (188). The costimulatory molecules CD40, CD80, and CD86 are not expressed on LECs and FRCs; however, the inhibitory molecule PD-L1 is expressed at high levels (190). Hence, presentation of antigens by LECs and FRCs can result in deletional tolerance of the reactive CD8+ T cells. In addition to this presentation of self-antigens, LECs activated by VEGF-C have

also been shown to scavenge and cross-present tumor antigens, leading to the apoptosis of tumor-specific CD8⁺ T cells (181). MHC class II, expressed by professional APCs including DCs and B cells, is also expressed at low levels by lymph node LECs but not tissue LECs. LECs do not appear to present endogenous antigen on MHC class II molecules but instead act as a reservoir for transfer of antigen to DCs for effective presentation to CD4⁺ T cells (191). In addition, MHC class II may be a ligand for the coinhibitory molecule LAG3, resulting in induction of CD8⁺ T cell tolerance through synergy with PD-1/PD-L1 signaling (191).

Lymphatic endothelial cells and FRCs also prevent the expansion of the activated T cell pool in lymph nodes by expression of NOS 2 and production of nitric oxide (192). LECs stimulated by inflammatory cytokines TNF α and IFN γ can also suppress the ability of DCs to activate and induce T cell proliferation by reducing the expression of the costimulatory molecule CD86 (193) and activating production of IDO (194), an enzyme of the innate immune system that depletes tryptophan, an amino acid essential for the activation of T cells. These features of lymph node stromal cells contribute to ongoing suppression of any immune

reactions to self-antigens and may contribute to suppression of responses to tumor antigens.

The contribution of lymphatic flow to tumor immune evasion is supported by the evidence that a permissive environment is created in tumor-draining lymph nodes, the so-called "metastatic niche" [reviewed elsewhere (195)]. The presence of tumor cells in the sentinel lymph node, that is, the first lymph node draining the region of the tumor, is associated with disease progression and often changes clinical management. It is now well established that the sentinel node undergoes changes in stromal and immune cell composition, even before the arrival of tumor cells (196). Lymphangiogenesis and lymphatic remodeling in the lymph node, driven by VEGF-A, VEGF-C, and VEGF-D, are important components of the pre-metastatic niche (197-199). HEVs, which normally support extravasation of naïve lymphocytes into the lymph node parenchyme, are also remodeled, becoming dilated and losing their typical "high" morphology and other molecular characteristics important for lymphocyte trafficking (199, 200). VEGF-D can suppress the proliferation of typical versus remodeled HEVs in the draining lymph node (199). In addition, the recruitment of naïve lymphocytes to the lymph node is impaired in tumor-draining nodes through loss of expression of CCL21 in HEVs, whereas recruitment of inflammatory cell subsets is enhanced in larger venules (201). While tumor-secreted factors such as VEGFs can act directly on LECs and HEVs in lymph nodes, HEV morphology and function are known to be dependent on lymphatic drainage, particularly the trafficking of DCs (202). Therefore, it is likely that lymphatic flow, HEV function, and immune cell composition in tumor-draining lymph nodes are strongly interrelated. The composition and function of immune cells is known to be altered in tumor-draining lymph nodes, with a lower percentage of effector T cells, loss or immaturity of DCs, and higher numbers of T_{regs} (196). In addition, effector T cells in tumor-draining lymph nodes may be functionally tolerant (203). In a mouse melanoma model, tumor cells implanted into lymph nodes unrelated to the primary tumor were rejected by a specific CD8⁺ T cell response (204). However, tumor cells introduced into the tumor-draining lymph nodes were able to successfully implant following anergy of the reactive T cells due to MHC class I presentation of tumor antigens (204).

The relationship between tumor lymphangiogenesis, lymphatic remodeling, and the immune response is not yet fully elucidated with some apparently contradictory reports in the literature. Lymphatic vessel density at the invasive margins of tumors has been shown to correlate with metastasis and reduced overall survival in many tumor types, including melanoma, breast cancer, colorectal cancer, and lung cancer [reviewed elsewhere (179)]. Expression of lymphangiogenic factors and their receptors can also be prognostic and predictive of metastatic disease in these tumors. Interactions between VEGF-D and VEGFR-3 can promote the early events of lymphatic metastasis, as demonstrated in a VEGF-D-driven mouse tumor model (205). The proximity of tumor cells expressing VEGF-D to small lymphatic vessels can also be an important determinant of metastasis (206). For the reasons outlined above, increased lymphatic vessel density and lymphatic flow is thought to increase peripheral tolerance and enhance the immunosuppressive microenvironment of both the tumor site and the draining lymph node. Surprisingly, a recent study of human colorectal cancers found that lymphatic vessel density at the invasive margin correlated with the cytotoxic T cell density and inversely correlated with the risk of metastasis (207). Recent analysis of The Cancer Genome Atlas data of human metastatic melanoma samples has shown a correlation between levels of lymphatic gene expression and expression of genes associated with immune infiltration (208). In a mouse model of melanoma, it was found that mice lacking dermal lymphatics showed a lower immune cell infiltrate than mice with intact lymphatic drainage, but that adoptive T cell transfer was more effective in the absence of lymphatic vessels (208). This finding was hypothesized to be due to the lack of T_{regs} and suppressive macrophages in the tumor microenvironment, allowing the transferred T cells to exert their cytotoxic effects (208). Further investigation of the contribution of lymphatic vessels to the immune infiltrate in tumors and the development of an immunosuppressive environment is needed.

ROLE OF BLOOD VASCULAR ENDOTHELIAL CELLS IN IMMUNE SUPPRESSION AND TOLERANCE

Blood vessel endothelial cells (BECs) also function as semiprofessional APCs and can modulate the T cell response. BECs constitutively express both MHC class I and MHC class II molecules and upregulate these in response to inflammatory signals (78). They possess antigen-processing machinery and have been shown to take up and present antigens in vivo and in vitro (209). Critical costimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 are not expressedon cultured human endothelial cells, rendering them unable to stimulate naïve CD8+ T cells (210). However, limited activation of memory CD8⁺ T cells that have less stringent costimulatory requirements has been observed (210). Co-inhibitory molecules including PD-L1 and PD-L2 can be expressed by endothelial cells (209, 211). Expression of these immune checkpoint molecules is upregulated by TNF α and can inhibit CD8⁺ T cell activation (211). Huang et al. demonstrated that endothelial cells derived from B cell lymphomas can express the co-inhibitory molecule TIM-3, which correlated with increased growth and dissemination of lymphoma in a mouse model (212). Expression of the immunosuppressive enzyme IDO has also been demonstrated in endothelial cells in renal cell carcinoma (213).

B7-H3 and B7-H4 are members of the B7 family of immune regulatory molecules, which includes PD-L1 (B7-H1) and PD-L2 (B7-DC) (214). Both molecules are thought to function as co-inhibitory signals limiting T cell activation (215, 216). Expression of B7-H3 on tumor cells and the endothelium of tumor-associated vasculature has been described in ovarian, endometrial, and cervical carcinomas and correlated with higher grade and poor prognosis (217–219). Interestingly, in cervical carcinomas, endothelial B7-H3 expression inversely correlated with CD8⁺ T cell infiltration (219), whereas there was no correlation in endometrial carcinomas (218). Expression of B7-H3 and B7-H4 has also been demonstrated on tumor vasculature in renal cell carcinomas and is associated with poor prognosis (220, 221). Correlation with TILs has not been reported in this setting. Clearly the endothelial lining of tumor blood vessels has immunomodulatory capabilities, but it remains to be demonstrated conclusively *in vivo* that tumor endothelial cells take up and present tumor-specific antigens and contribute to the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment.

IMPLICATIONS FOR TREATMENT STRATEGIES

Current clinical therapeutic approaches targeting the tumor vasculature include neutralizing antibodies to VEGF-A (bevacizumab), neutralizing antibodies to VEGFR-2 (ramucirumab), ligand traps (aflibercept), and multi-target tyrosine kinase inhibitors such as sunitinib and sorafenib, which target a range of receptor tyrosine kinases including the VEGF receptors, PDGF receptors, Flt3, and c-kit (222, 223). The ligand trap aflibercept is a recombinant protein containing regions of the extracellular domain of VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 fused to the Fc portion of IgG and functions to prevent the binding of VEGF-A, VEGF-B, and PIGF to VEGF receptors, on the cell surface (96). In addition, tyrosine kinase inhibitors targeting the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), now widely used in the treatment of EGFRmutant lung adenocarcinoma, have also been shown to decrease production of VEGF-A, reduce tumor hypoxia, and possibly have a direct effect on tumor endothelial cells (224, 225). Bevacizumab is the most commonly used and well-studied agent, approved for use in combination with conventional chemotherapy in colorectal, lung, renal cell, and ovarian cancer [reviewed elsewhere (226)]. The mechanism of action of these antiangiogenic therapies is not yet fully understood. Rather than purely starving the tumor of nutrients, these antiangiogenic therapies are also thought to exert their effect by physical normalization of the tumor vasculature and alleviation of hypoxia (147). VEGF-A inhibitors have been shown to reduce the size and tortuosity of tumor vessels, enhance vessel maturation, recruit pericytes, and normalize the basement membrane (149). This results in improved oxygenation and drug delivery to tumors, in part through the ability of normalized vessels to sustain a pressure gradient (151). Vascular normalization has been difficult to demonstrate clinically, as effects may be transient, variable in response to different doses, and occur in only a proportion of tumors. However, studies using advanced magnetic resonance imaging techniques have demonstrated that antiangiogenic therapy can improve tumor perfusion in the clinical setting (227). In a study of cytotoxic chemotherapy combined with VEGF receptor inhibition for the treatment of glioblastoma, patients in whom this improved perfusion was demonstrated had an improved overall survival (227). This finding suggests that vascular normalization can indeed improve access of chemotherapeutic agents to tumors and therefore may also improve the delivery of immunotherapies and the trafficking of immune effector cells. Blocking the VEGF signaling pathway may also act to reduce immunosuppression in the tumor environment.

As outlined in previous sections, the tumor vasculature and the immune microenvironment are intricately linked, with the blood and lymphatic vessels both regulating access of immune cells to the tumor and showing direct immunosuppressive actions through angiogenic factors and endothelial cells. The combination of antiangiogenic therapy and immunotherapy has been explored in a variety of pre-clinical models (Table 1) and forms the basis for a number of current clinical trials (Table 2). Much of the preclinical evidence relates to adoptive cell transfer and vaccination strategies, in combination with a wide variety of antiangiogenic therapies including VEGF-A blockade (97, 98, 111), VEGFR-2 blockade (100, 101), ligand traps (99, 112), receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors (106, 107, 114, 115), irradiation (166), and angiostatic peptides (102, 103, 105, 113). For example, Shrimali et al. demonstrated enhanced tumor infiltration, decreased tumor size, and improved survival when adoptive T cell transfer was combined with treatment with an anti-mouse VEGF-A antibody in a mouse model of melanoma (97). Results from these preclinical models suggest that vascular normalization can improve lymphocyte infiltration into tumors and combining antiangiogenic therapy and CAR T cell transfer in solid tumors may be worthy of further investigation in clinical trials.

In the clinical setting, interactions between immune checkpoint inhibitors and the tumor vasculature are beginning to be described. Ipilimumab, an anti-CTLA-4 antibody, shows durable responses in up to 30% of patients with metastatic melanoma (2) and can result in an immune-mediated lymphocytic vasculopathy with resultant vessel obstruction and tumor necrosis (228). In a cohort of patients with advanced melanoma, pretreatment serum levels of VEGF-A correlated with poor overall survival and poor response to immune checkpoint therapy with ipilimumab (229). Initial promising results have been reported in phase I clinical trials combining ipilimumab and the anti-VEGF-A antibody bevacizumab in advanced melanoma and glioblastoma (109, 117). This combination appears safe and well tolerated (109, 117) and warrants further investigation and comparison to current treatment regimens. Tumor endothelial cells isolated from melanoma patients treated with this combination of ipilimumab and bevacizumab showed variable upregulation of adhesion molecules E-selectin, ICAM-1, and VCAM-1, with resulting enhancement of T cell infiltration into the tumor (109, 230). Changes in levels of circulating chemokines, cytokines, and growth factors were seen following treatment, including increased levels of chemoattractant IP-10 (CXCL10) and decreased levels of VEGF-A (230). Endothelial anergy induced by VEGF-A could be demonstrated in these samples and reversed by the addition of bevacizumab (230). A recent report describes results from a phase I study combining bevacizumab and the anti-PD-L1 antibody atezolizumab in the treatment of advanced renal cell carcinoma (110). Before the addition of atezolizumab, bevacizumab treatment increased the Th1 gene expression signature, which is associated with CD8 T⁺ cells, NK cells, and Th1 chemokines (110). There was a pronounced increase in intratumoral T cells following combination therapy, suggested to be related to an increase in expression of both CX3CL1 (fractalkine) and its receptor (110). Although not a primary endpoint of this small single-arm study, clinical activity was higher with combination therapy than that has been previously reported with either bevacizumab or atezolizumab alone (110). Each drug may potentiate the effects of the other, controlling tumor angiogenesis and counteracting the immunosuppressive microenvironment.

These studies provide important clinical and laboratory data to support further investigation of the use of antiangiogenic agents to enhance immunotherapy.

Following the description of the role of lymphangiogenesis, lymphatic remodeling, and lymphangiogenic factors in promoting tumor metastasis, targeting this signaling axis has been suggested as an adjunct to conventional cancer treatments (231). Analogous to the targeting of angiogenesis through anti-VEGF-A antibody bevacizumab, monoclonal antibodies to VEGF-C (232), VEGF-D (233, 234), and VEGFR-3 (235) have been developed and are being evaluated in both pre-clinical models and clinical trials. Ligand traps that contain components of VEGFR-2 (236) and VEGFR-3 (237) have also been developed, which are designed to block the binding of VEGF-C and VEGF-D to cell surface receptors. Multi-target receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors such as sunitinib and sorafenib, described above, can also block signaling through VEGFR-3 on LECs (238). As detailed in previous sections, LECs and lymphangiogenic factors can also influence the host immune response to cancer. Consideration should be given to the potential to enhance immunotherapy by targeting lymphangiogenesis through monoclonal antibodies or ligand traps. Blocking the immunomodulatory functions of VEGF-C and VEGF-D and decreasing lymphangiogenesis to reduce the tolerance-promoting effects of LECs may be effective ways to improve immunotherapy approaches such as checkpoint inhibitors or adoptive cell transfer. Pre-clinical evaluation of these combinations will help to delineate the contribution of the lymphatic vasculature to evasion of the host immune response and explore the potential benefit of targeting this component of the microenvironment.

CONCLUSION

Physiological processes such as the growth and remodeling of blood and lymphatic vessels and the immune response to foreign antigens are altered in the tumor microenvironment, and these alterations contribute to the establishment and progression of cancer. Significant interactions between endothelial cells and immune cells alter the extent and composition of the immune

REFERENCES

- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* (2011) 144(5):646–74. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. *N Engl J Med* (2010) 363(8):711–23. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1003466
- Robert C, Long GV, Brady B, Dutriaux C, Maio M, Mortier L, et al. Nivolumab in previously untreated melanoma without BRAF mutation. N Engl J Med (2015) 372(4):320–30. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1412082
- Rosenberg JE, Hoffman-Censits J, Powles T, Van der Heijden ME, Balar AV, Necchi A, et al. Atezolizumab in patients with locally advanced and metastatic urothelial carcinoma who have progressed following treatment with platinum-based chemotherapy: a single-arm, multicentre, phase 2 trial. *Lancet* (2016) 387:1909–20. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00561-4
- Ansell SM, Lesokhin AM, Borrello I, Halwani A, Scott EC, Gutierrez M, et al. PD-1 blockade with nivolumab in relapsed or refractory Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med (2015) 372(4):311–9. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa 1411087

infiltrate in tumors, through both molecular and mechanical means. In addition, lymphangiogenesis and LECs have important roles in the development of tolerance to peripheral tissue antigens, including tumor antigens. The contribution of blood and lymphatic vessels to the modification of the antitumor host immune response in human cancer remains to be fully described. It is not known whether aspects of the tumor vasculature are different in tumors that respond to immunotherapy and those that do not, and if features such as hypoxia, production of angiogenic factors, or lymphatic vessel density may serve as predictive biomarkers. Immunotherapy and antiangiogenic therapy both target aspects of the tumor microenvironment rather than specifically targeting the tumor cells themselves. As such, combination approaches may be required to obtain the full benefit of these therapies. Further investigation of antiangiogenic and antilymphangiogenic therapy as a potential adjunct to immunotherapy may see improvement in the access of CAR T cell therapy to solid tumors and expand the benefits of immune checkpoint inhibition to non-inflamed tumors.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceived the topic and outlined the paper: SF, SH, SS, MA, and RF. Wrote and revised the paper: SH, SF, SS, MA, RF, and BS. Final approval of the version to be published: SH, SF, SS, MA, RF, and BS.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Special thanks to David Byrne for assistance with photography and immunohistochemical staining. We apologize to authors whose work could not be quoted due to space limitations.

FUNDING

The work is supported by a Program Grant (1053535) from the National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia. SS is supported by Research Fellowship (1060498) from the National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia.

- Borghaei H, Paz-Ares L, Horn L, Spigel DR, Steins M, Ready NE, et al. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in advanced nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med (2015) 373(17):1627–39. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa 1507643
- Brahmer J, Reckamp KL, Baas P, Crino L, Eberhardt WE, Poddubskaya E, et al. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in advanced squamous-cell non-smallcell lung cancer. N Engl J Med (2015) 373(2):123–35. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa 1504627
- Garon EB, Rizvi NA, Hui R, Leighl N, Balmanoukian AS, Eder JP, et al. Pembrolizumab for the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2015) 372(21):2018–28. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1501824
- Nghiem PT, Bhatia S, Lipson EJ, Kudchadkar RR, Miller NJ, Annamalai L, et al. PD-1 blockade with pembrolizumab in advanced Merkel-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med (2016) 374(26):2542–52. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1603702
- Seiwert TY, Burtness B, Mehra R, Weiss J, Berger R, Eder JP, et al. Safety and clinical activity of pembrolizumab for treatment of recurrent or metastatic squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (KEYNOTE-012): an open-label, multicentre, phase 1b trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2016) 17(7):956–65. doi:10.1016/s1470-2045(16)30066-3

- Maude SL, Teachey DT, Porter DL, Grupp SA. CD19-targeted chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood* (2015) 125(26):4017–23. doi:10.1182/blood-201412-580068
- Topalian SL, Taube JM, Anders RA, Pardoll DM. Mechanism-driven biomarkers to guide immune checkpoint blockade in cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2016) 16(5):275–87. doi:10.1038/nrc.2016.36
- Newick K, Moon E, Albelda SM. Chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy for solid tumors. *Mol Ther Oncolytics* (2016) 3:16006. doi:10.1038/mto.2016.6
- Quigley DA, Kristensen V. Predicting prognosis and therapeutic response from interactions between lymphocytes and tumor cells. *Mol Oncol* (2015) 9(10):2054–62. doi:10.1016/j.molonc.2015.10.003
- Teng MW, Galon J, Fridman WH, Smyth MJ. From mice to humans: developments in cancer immunoediting. *J Clin Invest* (2015) 125(9):3338–46. doi:10.1172/JCI80004
- Gajewski TF, Schreiber H, Fu YX. Innate and adaptive immune cells in the tumor microenvironment. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(10):1014–22. doi:10.1038/ ni.2703
- Coulie PG, Van den Eynde BJ, van der Bruggen P, Boon T. Tumour antigens recognized by T lymphocytes: at the core of cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2014) 14(2):135–46. doi:10.1038/nrc3670
- Lee PP, Yee C, Savage PA, Fong L, Brockstedt D, Weber JS, et al. Characterisation of circulating T cells specific for tumor-associated antigens in melanoma patients. *Nat Med* (1999) 5(6):677–85. doi:10.1038/9525
- Gros A, Parkhurst MR, Tran E, Pasetto A, Robbins PF, Ilyas S, et al. Prospective identification of neoantigen-specific lymphocytes in the peripheral blood of melanoma patients. *Nat Med* (2016) 22(4):433–8. doi:10.1038/nm.4051
- Fridman WH, Pages F, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12(4):298–306. doi:10.1038/nrc3245
- 21. Galon J, Mlecnik B, Bindea G, Angell HK, Berger A, Lagorce C, et al. Towards the introduction of the 'Immunoscore' in the classification of malignant tumours. *J Pathol* (2014) 232(2):199–209. doi:10.1002/path.4287
- 22. Savas P, Salgado R, Denkert C, Sotiriou C, Darcy PK, Smyth MJ, et al. Clinical relevance of host immunity in breast cancer: from TILs to the clinic. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2016) 13(4):228–41. doi:10.1038/nrclinonc.2015.215
- Gajewski TF, Woo SR, Zha Y, Spaapen R, Zheng Y, Corrales L, et al. Cancer immunotherapy strategies based on overcoming barriers within the tumor microenvironment. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2013) 25(2):268–76. doi:10.1016/ j.coi.2013.02.009
- 24. Teng MW, Ngiow SF, Ribas A, Smyth MJ. Classifying cancers based on T-cell infiltration and PD-L1. *Cancer Res* (2015) 75(11):2139–45. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-0255
- Bailey P, Chang DK, Nones K, Johns AL, Patch AM, Gingras MC, et al. Genomic analyses identify molecular subtypes of pancreatic cancer. *Nature* (2016) 531(7592):47–52. doi:10.1038/nature16965
- Guinney J, Dienstmann R, Wang X, de Reynies A, Schlicker A, Soneson C, et al. The consensus molecular subtypes of colorectal cancer. *Nat Med* (2015) 21(11):1350–6. doi:10.1038/nm.3967
- Cancer Genome Atlas Network. Genomic classification of cutaneous melanoma. Cell (2015) 161(7):1681–96. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2015.05.044
- Salgado R, Denkert C, Demaria S, Sirtaine N, Klauschen F, Pruneri G, et al. The evaluation of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) in breast cancer: recommendations by an International TILs working group 2014. Ann Oncol (2015) 26(2):259–71. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdu450
- Azimi F, Scolyer RA, Rumcheva P, Moncrieff M, Murali R, McCarthy SW, et al. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte grade is an independent predictor of sentinel lymph node status and survival in patients with cutaneous melanoma. J Clin Oncol (2012) 30(21):2678–83. doi:10.1200/JCO.2011.37.8539
- Le DT, Uram JN, Wang H, Bartlett BR, Kemberling H, Eyring AD, et al. PD-1 blockade in tumors with mismatch-repair deficiency. *N Engl J Med* (2015) 372(26):2509–20. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1500596
- Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, Aparicio SA, Behjati S, Biankin AV, et al. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. *Nature* (2013) 500(7463):415–21. doi:10.1038/nature12477
- Snyder A, Makarov V, Merghoub T, Yuan J, Zaretsky JM, Desrichard A, et al. Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med (2014) 371(23):2189–99. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1406498
- Rivzi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, Kvistborg P, Makarov V, Havel JJ, et al. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non-small

cell lung cancer. Science (2015) 348(6230):124-8. doi:10.1126/science. aaa1348

- Remark R, Becker C, Gomez JE, Damotte D, Dieu-Nosjean MC, Sautes-Fridman C, et al. The non-small cell lung cancer immune contexture. A major determinant of tumor characteristics and patient outcome. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2015) 191(4):377–90. doi:10.1164/rccm.201409-1671PP
- 35. Slaney CY, Kershaw MH, Darcy PK. Trafficking of T cells into tumors. *Cancer Res* (2014) 74(24):7168–74. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-2458
- Masopust D, Schenkel JM. The integration of T cell migration, differentiation and function. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) 13(5):309–20. doi:10.1038/ nri3442
- Mulligan AM, Raitman I, Feeley L, Pinnaduwage D, Nguyen LT, O'Malley FP, et al. Tumoral lymphocytic infiltration and expression of the chemokine CXCL10 in breast cancers from the Ontario familial breast cancer registry. *Clin Cancer Res* (2013) 19(2):336–46. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-3314
- Harlin H, Meng Y, Peterson AC, Zha Y, Tretiakova M, Slingluff C, et al. Chemokine expression in melanoma metastases associated with CD8+ T-cell recruitment. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69(7):3077–85. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-08-2281
- Molon B, Ugel S, Del Pozzo F, Soldani C, Zilio S, Avella D, et al. Chemokine nitration prevents intratumoral infiltration of antigen-specific T cells. *J Exp Med* (2011) 208(10):1949–62. doi:10.1084/jem.20101956
- Joyce JA, Fearon DT. T cell exclusion, immune privilege, and the tumor microenvironment. *Science* (2015) 348(6230):74–80. doi:10.1126/science. aaa6204
- Noman MZ, Hasmim M, Messai Y, Terry S, Kieda C, Janji B, et al. Hypoxia: a key player in antitumor immune response. A review in the theme: cellular responses to hypoxia. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* (2015) 309(9):C569–79. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00207.2015
- 42. Molon B, Cali B, Viola A. T cells and cancer: how metabolism shapes immunity. *Front Immunol* (2016) 7:20. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2016.00020
- Munn DH, Mellor AL. Indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase and metabolic control of immune responses. *Trends Immunol* (2013) 34(3):137–43. doi:10.1016/ j.it.2012.10.001
- 44. Nguyen NT, Kimura A, Nakahama T, Chinen I, Masuda K, Nohara K, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor negatively regulates dendritic cell immunogenicity via a kynurenine-dependent mechanism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107(46):19961–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1014465107
- 45. Munn DH, Sharma MD, Baban B, Harding HP, Zhang Y, Ron D, et al. GCN2 kinase in T cells mediates proliferative arrest and anergy induction in response to indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. *Immunity* (2005) 22(5):633–42. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2005.03.013
- 46. Fallarino F, Grohmann U, You S, McGrath BC, Cavener DR, Vacca C, et al. The combined effects of tryptophan starvation and tryptophan catabolites down-regulate T cell receptor-chain and induce a regulatory phenotype in naive T cells. *J Immunol* (2006) 176(11):6752–61. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.11.6752
- 47. Sharma MD, Baban B, Chandler P, Hou DY, Singh N, Yagita H, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells from mouse tumor-draining lymph nodes directly activate mature Tregs via indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. J Clin Invest (2007) 117(9):2570–82. doi:10.1172/JCI31911
- Holmgaard RB, Zamarin D, Munn DH, Wolchok JD, Allison JP. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase is a critical resistance mechanism in antitumor T cell immunotherapy targeting CTLA-4. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(7):1389–402. doi:10.1084/jem.20130066
- Moon YW, Hajjar J, Hwu P, Naing A. Targeting the indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase pathway in cancer. J Immunother Cancer (2015) 3:51. doi:10.1186/ s40425-015-0094-9
- Bronte V, Zanovello P. Regulation of immune responses by L-arginine metabolism. Nat Rev Immunol (2005) 5(8):641–54. doi:10.1038/nri1668
- Rodriguez PC, Quiceno DG, Zabaleta J, Ortiz B, Zea AH, Piazuelo MB, et al. Arginase I production in the tumor microenvironment by mature myeloid cells inhibits T-cell receptor expression and antigen-specific T-cell responses. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64:5839–49. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-0465
- 52. Kostourou V, Cartwright JE, Johnstone AP, Boult JK, Cullis ER, Whitley G, et al. The role of tumour-derived iNOS in tumour progression and angiogenesis. *Br J Cancer* (2011) 104(1):83–90. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6606034
- 53. Rodriguez PC, Ernstoff MS, Hernandez C, Atkins M, Zabaleta J, Sierra R, et al. Arginase I-producing myeloid-derived suppressor cells in renal cell

carcinoma are a subpopulation of activated granulocytes. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69(4):1553-60. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-1921

- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12(4):252–64. doi:10.1038/nrc3239
- 55. Walker LS, Abbas AK. The enemy within: keeping self-reactive T cells at bay in the periphery. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2002) 2(1):11–9. doi:10.1038/nri701
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 366(26):2443–54. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200690
- Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQ, Hwu WJ, Topalian SL, Hwu P, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. N Engl J Med (2012) 366(26):2455–65. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200694
- Tang H, Wang Y, Chlewicki LK, Zhang Y, Guo J, Liang W, et al. Facilitating T cell infiltration in tumor microenvironment overcomes resistance to PD-L1 blockade. *Cancer Cell* (2016) 29(3):285–96. doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2016.02.004
- Kershaw MH, Westwood JA, Darcy PK. Gene-engineered T cells for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2013) 13(8):525–41. doi:10.1038/nrc3565
- Mukai S, Kjaergaard J, Shu S, Plautz GE. Infiltration of tumors by systemically transferred tumor-reactive T lymphocytes is required for antitumor efficacy. *Cancer Res* (1999) 59(20):5245–9.
- Craddock JA, Lu A, Bear A, Pule M, Brenner MK, Rooney CM, et al. Enhanced tumor trafficking of GD2 chimeric antigen receptor T cells by expression of the chemokine receptor CCR2b. *J Immunother* (2010) 33(8):780–8. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e3181ee6675
- Adusumilli PS, Cherkassky L, Villena-Vargas J, Colovos C, Servais E, Plotkin J, et al. Regional delivery of mesothelin-targeted CAR T cell therapy generates potent and long-lasting CD4-dependent tumor immunity. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(261):261ra151. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3010162
- Beavis PA, Slaney CY, Kershaw MH, Gyorki D, Neeson PJ, Darcy PK. Reprogramming the tumor microenvironment to enhance adoptive cellular therapy. Semin Immunol (2016) 28(1):64–72. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2015.11.003
- 64. Ganss R, Hanahan D. Tumor microenvironment can restrict the effectiveness of activated antitumour lymphocytes. *Cancer Res* (1998) 58:4673–81.
- Pober JS, Tellides G. Participation of blood vessel cells in human adaptive immune responses. *Trends Immunol* (2012) 33(1):49–57. doi:10.1016/ j.it.2011.09.006
- Ley K, Laudanna C, Cybulsky MI, Nourshargh S. Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2007) 7(9):678–89. doi:10.1038/nri2156
- Lawrence MB, Kansas GS, Kunkel EJ, Ley K. Threshold levels of fluid shear promote leukocyte adhesion through selectins (CD62L, P, E). J Cell Biol (1997) 136:717–27. doi:10.1083/jcb.136.3.717
- Rothlein R, Dustin ML, Marlin SD, Springer TA. A human intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM-1) distinct from LFA-1. J Immunol (1986) 137:1270–4.
- Osborn L, Hession C, Tizard R, Vassallo C, Luhowskyj S, Chi-Rosso G, et al. Direct expression cloning of vascular cell adhesion molecule 1, a cytokine-induced endothelial protein that binds to lymphocytes. *Cell* (1989) 59:1203–11. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(89)90775-7
- Dustin ML, Rothlein R, Bhan AK, Dinarello CA, Springer TA. Induction by IL-1 and interferon-γ: tissue distribution, biochemistry, and function of a natural adherence molecule (ICAM-1). J Immunol (1986) 186:5024–33.
- Elices MJ, Osborn L, Takada Y, Crouse C, Luhowskyj S, Hemler ME, et al. VCAM-1 on activated endothelium interacts with the leukocyte integrin VLA-4 at a site distinct from the VLA-4/fibronectin binding site. *Cell* (1990) 60:577–84. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(90)90661-W
- Springer TA. Traffic signals on endothelium for lymphocyte recirculation and leukocyte emigration. *Annu Rev Physiol* (1995) 57:827–72. doi:10.1146/ annurev.ph.57.030195.004143
- Muller WA. Mechanisms of leukocyte transendothelial migration. Annu Rev Pathol (2011) 6:323–44. doi:10.1146/annurev-pathol-011110-130224
- 74. Clark RA, Huang SJ, Murphy GF, Mollet IG, Hijnen D, Muthukuru M, et al. Human squamous cell carcinomas evade the immune response by down-regulation of vascular E-selectin and recruitment of regulatory T cells. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205(10):2221–34. doi:10.1084/jem.20071190
- Afanasiev OK, Nagase K, Simonson W, Vandeven N, Blom A, Koelle DM, et al. Vascular E-selectin expression correlates with CD8 lymphocyte infiltration and improved outcome in Merkel cell carcinoma. *J Invest Dermatol* (2013) 133(8):2065–73. doi:10.1038/jid.2013.36

- Bouma-ter Steege JC, Baeten CI, Thijssen VL, Satijn SA, Verhoeven IC, Hillen HF, et al. Angiogenic profile of breast carcinoma determines leukocyte infiltration. *Clin Cancer Res* (2004) 10:7171–8. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-04-0742
- 77. Springer TA. Adhesion receptors of the immune system. *Nature* (1990) 34:425-34. doi:10.1038/346425a0
- Choi J, Enis DR, Koh KP, Shiao SL, Pober JS. T lymphocyte-endothelial cell interactions. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2004) 22:683–709. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.22.012703.104639
- Pober JS, Gimbrone MA, Lapierre LA, Mendrick DL, Fiers W, Rothlein R, et al. Overlapping patterns of activation of human endothelial cells by interleukin 1, tumor necrosis factor, and immune interferon. *J Immunol* (1986) 137:1893–6.
- Crusz SM, Balkwill FR. Inflammation and cancer: advances and new agents. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2015) 12(10):584–96. doi:10.1038/nrclinonc. 2015.105
- Piali L, Fichtel A, Terpe H, Imhof BA, Gisler RH. Endothelial vascular cell adhesion molecule1 expression is suppressed by melanoma and carcinoma. *J Exp Med* (1995) 181:811–6. doi:10.1084/jem.181.2.811
- Weishaupt C, Munoz KN, Buzney E, Kupper TS, Fuhlbrigge RC. T-cell distribution and adhesion receptor expression in metastatic melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13(9):2549–56. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-2450
- Griffioen AW, Damen CA, Blijham GH, Groenewegen G. Tumor angiogenesis is accompanied by a decreased inflammatory response of tumor-associated endothelium. *Blood* (1996) 88(2):667–73.
- Griffioen AW, Damen CA, Martinotti S, Blijham GH, Groenewegen G. Endothelial intercellular adhesion molecule 1 is suppressed in malignancies: the role of angiogenic factors. *Cancer Res* (1996) 56:1111–7.
- Dirkx AE, Oude Egbrink MG, Kuijpers MJE, van der Niet ST, Heijnen VVT, Bouma-ter Steege JC, et al. Tumor angiogenesis modulates leukocyte-vessel wall interactions in vivo by reducing endothelial adhesion molecule expression. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63:2322–9.
- Horsman MR, Vaupel P. Pathophysiological basis for the formation of the tumor microenvironment. *Front Oncol* (2016) 6:66. doi:10.3389/ fonc.2016.00066
- Leung DW, Cachianes G, Kuang WJ, Goeddel DV, Ferrara N. Vascular endothelial growth factor is a secreted angiogenic mitogen. *Science* (1989) 246:1306–9. doi:10.1126/science.2479986
- Keck PJ, Hauser SD, Krivi G, Sanzo K, Warren T, Feder J, et al. Vascular permeability factor, an endothelial cell mitogen related to PDGF. *Science* (1989) 246:1309–12. doi:10.1126/science.2479987
- Zhang H, Issekutz AC. Down modulation of monocyte transendothelial migration and endothelial adhesion molecule expression by fibroblast growth factor. *Am J Pathol* (2002) 160(6):2219–30. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440 (10)61169-8
- Griffioen AW, Relou IAM, Gallardo Torres HI, Damen CA, Martinotti S, de Graaf JC, et al. The angiogenic factor bFGF impairs leukocyte adhesion and rolling under flow conditions. *Angiogenesis* (1998) 2:235–43. doi:10.1023/A:1009289303145
- Maksan S, Araib PM, Ryschich E, Gebhard MM, Schmidt J. Immune escape mechanism: defective resting and stimulated leukocyte-endothelium interaction in hepatocellular carcinoma of the rat. *Dig Dis Sci* (2004) 49(5):859–65. doi:10.1023/B:DDAS.0000030100.05979.b7
- Tromp SC, Oude Egbrink MG, Dings RP, van Velzen S, Slaaf DW, Hillen HFP, et al. Tumor angiogenesis factors reduce leukocyte adhesion in vivo. *Int Immunol* (2000) 12(5):671–6. doi:10.1093/intimm/12.5.671
- Flati V, Pastore LI, Griffioen AW, Satijn SA, Toniato E, D'Alimonte I, et al. Endothelial cell anergy is mediated by bFGF through the sustained activation of p38-MAPK and NFkB inhibition. *Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol* (2006) 19(4):761–73.
- 94. Dirkx AE, oude Egbrink MG, Castermans K, van der Schaft DW, Thijssen VL, Dings RP, et al. Anti-angiogenesis therapy can overcome endothelial cell anergy and promote leukocyte-endothelium interactions and infiltration in tumors. *FASEB J* (2006) 20(6):621–30. doi:10.1096/fj.05-4493com
- Griffioen AW, Damen CA, Mayo KH, Barendsz-Jansen A, Martinotti S, Blijham GH, et al. Angiogenesis inhibitors overcome tumor induced endothelial cell anergy. *Int J Cancer* (1999) 80:315–9. doi:10.1002/ (SICI)1097-0215(19990118)80:2<315::AID-IJC23>3.0.CO;2-L

- Limaverde-Sousa G, Sternberg C, Ferreira CG. Antiangiogenesis beyond VEGF inhibition: a journey from antiangiogenic single-target to broad-spectrum agents. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2014) 40(4):548–57. doi:10.1016/ j.ctrv.2013.11.009
- Shrimali RK, Yu Z, Theoret MR, Chinnasamy D, Restifo NP, Rosenberg SA. Antiangiogenic agents can increase lymphocyte infiltration into tumor and enhance the effectiveness of adoptive immunotherapy of cancer. *Cancer Res* (2010) 70(15):6171–80. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-0153
- Tao L, Huang G, Shi S, Chen L. Bevacizumab improves the antitumor efficacy of adoptive cytokine-induced killer cells therapy in non-small cell lung cancer models. *Med Oncol* (2014) 31(1):777. doi:10.1007/s12032-013-0777-3
- 99. Li B, Lalani AS, Harding TC, Luan B, Koprivnikar K, Huan Tu G, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor blockade reduces intratumoral regulatory T cells and enhances the efficacy of a GM-CSF-secreting cancer immunotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res* (2006) 12(22):6808–16. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-06-1558
- 100. Manning EA, Ullman JG, Leatherman JM, Asquith JM, Hansen TR, Armstrong TD, et al. A vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 inhibitor enhances antitumor immunity through an immune-based mechanism. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13(13):3951–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-0374
- 101. Huang Y, Yuan J, Righi E, Kamoun WS, Ancukiewicz M, Nezivar J, et al. Vascular normalizing doses of antiangiogenic treatment reprogram the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment and enhance immunotherapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(43):17561–6. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1215397109
- 102. Huang KW, Wu HL, Lin HL, Liang PC, Chen PJ, Chen SH, et al. Combining antiangiogenic therapy with immunotherapy exerts better therapeutical effects on large tumors in a woodchuck hepatoma model. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (2010) 107(33):14769–74. doi:10.1073/pnas.1009534107
- 103. Chan SF, Wang HT, Huang KW, Torng PL, Lee HI, Hwang LH. Antiangiogenic therapy renders large tumors vulnerable to immunotherapy via reducing immunosuppression in the tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Lett* (2012) 320(1):23–30. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2012.01.024
- 104. Shi S, Wang R, Chen Y, Song H, Chen L, Huang G. Combining antiangiogenic therapy with adoptive cell immunotherapy exerts better antitumor effects in non-small cell lung cancer models. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(6):e65757. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0065757
- 105. Dings RP, Vang KB, Castermans K, Popescu F, Zhang Y, Oude Egbrink MG, et al. Enhancement of T-cell-mediated antitumor response: angiostatic adjuvant to immunotherapy against cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17(10):3134–45. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2443
- 106. Huang X, Wong MK, Yi H, Watkins S, Laird AD, Wolf SF, et al. Combined therapy of local and metastatic 4T1 breast tumor in mice using SU6668, an inhibitor of angiogenic receptor tyrosine kinases, and the immunostimulator B7.2-IgG fusion protein. *Cancer Res* (2002) 62:5727–35.
- 107. Farsaci B, Donahue RN, Coplin MA, Grenga I, Lepone LM, Molinolo AA, et al. Immune consequences of decreasing tumor vasculature with antiangiogenic tyrosine kinase inhibitors in combination with therapeutic vaccines. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2014) 2(11):1090–102. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0076
- 108. Johansson A, Hamzah J, Payne CJ, Ganss R. Tumor-targeted TNFalpha stabilizes tumor vessels and enhances active immunotherapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(20):7841–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1118296109
- 109. Hodi FS, Lawrence D, Lezcano C, Wu X, Zhou J, Sasada T, et al. Bevacizumab plus ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2014) 2(7):632–42. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0053
- 110. Wallin JJ, Bendell JC, Funke R, Sznol M, Korski K, Jones S, et al. Atezolizumab in combination with bevacizumab enhances antigen-specific T-cell migration in metastatic renal cell carcinoma. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:12624. doi:10.1038/ ncomms12624
- 111. Gabrilovich DI, Ishida T, Nadaf S, Ohm JE, Carbone DP. Antibodies to vascular endothelial growth factor enhance the efficacy of cancer immunotherapy by improving endogenous dendritic cell function. *Clin Cancer Res* (1999) 5:2963–70.
- 112. Renner DN, Malo CS, Jin F, Parney IF, Pavelko KD, Johnson AJ. Improved treatment efficacy of antiangiogenic therapy when combined with picornavirus vaccination in the GL261 glioma model. *Neurotherapeutics* (2016) 13(1):226–36. doi:10.1007/s13311-015-0407-1

- 113. Shi S, Chen L, Huang G. Antiangiogenic therapy improves the antitumor effect of adoptive cell immunotherapy by normalizing tumor vasculature. *Med Oncol* (2013) 30(4):698. doi:10.1007/s12032-013-0698-1
- 114. Ozao-Choy J, Ma G, Kao J, Wang GX, Meseck M, Sung M, et al. The novel role of tyrosine kinase inhibitor in the reversal of immune suppression and modulation of tumor microenvironment for immune-based cancer therapies. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69(6):2514–22. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4709
- 115. Yu N, Fu S, Xu Z, Liu Y, Hao J, Zhang A, et al. Synergistic antitumor responses by combined GITR activation and sunitinib in metastatic renal cell carcinoma. *Int J Cancer* (2016) 138(2):451–62. doi:10.1002/ijc.29713
- 116. Grenga I, Kwilas AR, Donahue RN, Farsaci B, Hodge JW. Inhibition of the angiopoietin/Tie2 axis induces immunogenic modulation, which sensitizes human tumor cells to immune attack. *J Immunother Cancer* (2015) 3:52. doi:10.1186/s40425-015-0096-7
- 117. Carter T, Shaw H, Cohn-Brown D, Chester K, Mulholland P. Ipilimumab and bevacizumab in glioblastoma. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* (2016) 28(10):622–6. doi:10.1016/j.clon.2016.04.042
- 118. Achen MG, Jeltsch M, Kukk E, Makinen T, Vitali A, Wilks AF, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor D (VEGF-D) is a ligand for the tyrosine kinases VEGF receptor 2 (Flk1) and VEGF receptor 3 (Flt4). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) 95:548–53. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.2.548
- 119. Joukov V, Pajusola K, Kaipainen A, Chilov D, Lahtinen I, Kukk E, et al. A novel vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGF-C, is a ligand for the Flt4 (VEGFR-3) and KDR (VEGFR-2) receptor tyrosine kinases. *EMBO J* (1996) 15:290–8.
- 120. Stacker SA, Caesar C, Baldwin ME, Thornton GE, Williams RA, Prevo R, et al. VEGF-D promotes the metastatic spread of tumor cells via the lymphatics. *Nat Med* (2001) 7:186–91. doi:10.1038/84635
- 121. Skobe M, Hawighorst T, Jackson DG, Prevo R, Janes L, Velasco P, et al. Induction of tumor lymphangiogenesis by VEGF-C promotes breast cancer metastasis. *Nat Med* (2001) 7:192–8. doi:10.1038/84643
- 122. Mandriota SJ, Jussila L, Jeltsch M, Compagni A, Baetens D, Prevo R, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor-C-mediated lymphangiogenesis promotes tumour metastasis. *EMBO J* (2001) 20:672–82. doi:10.1093/emboj/ 20.4.672
- 123. Achen MG, Williams RA, Minekus MP, Thornton GE, Stenvers K, Rogers PAW, et al. Localisation of vascular endothelial growth factor-D in malignant melanoma suggests a role in tumor angiogenesis. *J Pathol* (2001) 193:147–54. doi:10.1002/1096-9896(2000)
- Achen MG, McColl BK, Stacker SA. Focus on lymphangiogenesis in tumor metastasis. *Cancer Cell* (2005) 7(2):121–7. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2005.01.017
- 125. Salven P, Lymboussaki A, Heikkila P, Jaaskela-Saari H, Enholm B, Aase K, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factors VEGF-B and VEGF-C are expressed in human tumors. *Am J Pathol* (1998) 153:103–8. doi:10.1016/ S0002-9440(10)65550-2
- 126. Griffioen AW. Anti-angiogenesis: making the tumor vulnerable to the immune system. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2008) 57(10):1553–8. doi:10.1007/s00262-008-0524-3
- 127. Hansen TF, Christensen R, Andersen RF, Sorensen FB, Johnsson A, Jakobsen A. MicroRNA-126 and epidermal growth factor-like domain 7-an angiogenic couple of importance in metastatic colorectal cancer. Results from the Nordic ACT trial. *Br J Cancer* (2013) 109(5):1243–51. doi:10.1038/ bjc.2013.448
- 128. Delfortrie S, Pinte S, Mattot V, Samson C, Villain G, Caetano B, et al. Egfl7 promotes tumor escape from immunity by repressing endothelial cell activation. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71(23):7176–86. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-11-1301
- Rosano L, Spinella F, Bagnato A. Endothelin 1 in cancer: biological implications and therapeutic opportunities. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2013) 13(9):637–51. doi:10.1038/nrc3546
- 130. Wulfing P, Kersting C, Tio J, Fischer RJ, Wulfing C, Poremba C, et al. Endothelin-1, endothelin-A- and endothelin-B-receptor expression is correlated with vascular endothelial growth factor expression and angiogenesis in breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2004) 10:2393–400. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-03-0115
- 131. Buckanovich RJ, Facciabene A, Kim S, Benencia F, Sasaroli D, Balint K, et al. Endothelin B receptor mediates the endothelial barrier to T cell

homing to tumors and disables immune therapy. *Nat Med* (2008) 14(1):28–36. doi:10.1038/nm1699

- 132. Nakashima S, Sugita Y, Miyoshi H, Arakawa F, Muta H, Ishibashi Y, et al. Endothelin B receptor expression in malignant gliomas: the perivascular immune escape mechanism of gliomas. *J Neurooncol* (2016) 127(1):23–32. doi:10.1007/s11060-015-2017-5
- 133. Sugita Y, Terasaki M, Nakashima S, Ohshima K, Morioka M, Abe H. Perivascular microenvironment in primary central nervous system lymphomas: the role of chemokines and the endothelin B receptor. *Brain Tumor Pathol* (2015) 32(1):41–8. doi:10.1007/s10014-014-0206-0
- 134. Tanaka T, Sho M, Takayama T, Wakatsuki K, Matsumoto S, Migita K, et al. Endothelin B receptor expression correlates with tumour angiogenesis and prognosis in oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Br J Cancer* (2014) 110(4):1027–33. doi:10.1038/bjc.2013.784
- 135. Karikoski M, Marttila-Ichihara F, Elima K, Rantakari P, Hollmen M, Kelkka T, et al. Clever-1/stabilin-1 controls cancer growth and metastasis. *Clin Cancer Res* (2014) 20(24):6452–64. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-1236
- Motz GT, Santoro SP, Wang LP, Garrabrant T, Lastra RR, Hagemann IS, et al. Tumor endothelium FasL establishes a selective immune barrier promoting tolerance in tumors. *Nat Med* (2014) 20(6):607–15. doi:10.1038/nm.3541
- Kzhyshkowska J, Gratchev A, Goerdt S. Stabilin-1, a homeostatic scavenger receptor with multiple functions. *J Cell Mol Med* (2006) 10(3):635–49. doi:10.2755/jcmm010.003.08
- 138. Karikoski M, Irjala H, Maksimow M, Miiluniemi M, Granfors K, Hernesniemi S, et al. Clever-1/Stabilin-1 regulates lymphocyte migration within lymphatics and leukocyte entrance to sites of inflammation. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) 39(12):3477–87. doi:10.1002/eji.200939896
- 139. Irjala H, Alanen K, Grenman R, Heikkila P, Joensuu H, Jalkanen S. Mannose receptor (MR) and common lymphatic endothelial and vascular endothelial receptor (CLEVER)-1 direct the binding of cancer cells to the lymph vessel endothelium. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63:4671–6.
- 140. Irjala H, Elima K, Johansson E, Merinen M, Kontula K, Alanen K, et al. The same endothelial receptor controls lymphocyte traffic both in vascular and lymphatic vessels. *Eur J Immunol* (2003) 33:815–24. doi:10.1002/ eji.200323859
- 141. Palazon A, Aragones J, Morales-Kastresana A, de Landazuri MO, Melero I. Molecular pathways: hypoxia response in immune cells fighting or promoting cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18(5):1207–13. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-11-1591
- 142. Facciabene A, Peng X, Hagemann IS, Balint K, Barchetti A, Wang LP, et al. Tumour hypoxia promotes tolerance and angiogenesis via CCL28 and T(reg) cells. *Nature* (2011) 475(7355):226–30. doi:10.1038/nature10169
- 143. Yan M, Jene N, Byrne D, Millar EKA, O'Toole S, McNeil CM, et al. Recruitment of regulatory T cells is correlated with hypoxia-induced CXCR4 expression, and is associated with poor prognosis in basal-like breast cancers. *Breast Cancer Res* (2011) 13:R47. doi:10.1186/bcr2869
- 144. Noman MZ, Desantis G, Janji B, Hasmim M, Karray S, Dessen P, et al. PD-L1 is a novel direct target of HIF-1alpha, and its blockade under hypoxia enhanced MDSC-mediated T cell activation. *J Exp Med* (2014) 211(5):781–90. doi:10.1084/jem.20131916
- 145. Voron T, Colussi O, Marcheteau E, Pernot S, Nizard M, Pointet AL, et al. VEGF-A modulates expression of inhibitory checkpoints on CD8+ T cells in tumors. J Exp Med (2015) 212(2):139–48. doi:10.1084/jem.20140559
- Bellone M, Calcinotto A. Ways to enhance lymphocyte trafficking into tumors and fitness of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes. *Front Oncol* (2013) 3:231. doi:10.3389/fonc.2013.00231
- 147. Jain RK. Normalization of the tumour vasculature: an emerging concept in antiangiogenic therapy. *Science* (2005) 307:58–62. doi:10.1126/ science.1104819
- Farnsworth RH, Lackmann M, Achen MG, Stacker SA. Vascular remodeling in cancer. Oncogene (2014) 33(27):3496–505. doi:10.1038/onc.2013.304
- Carmeliet P, Jain RK. Principles and mechanisms of vessel normalization for cancer and other angiogenic diseases. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2011) 10(6):417-27. doi:10.1038/nrd3455
- Jain RK. Normalizing tumor microenvironment to treat cancer: bench to bedside to biomarkers. J Clin Oncol (2013) 31(17):2205–18. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2012.46.3653

- 151. Tong RT, Boucher Y, Kozin SV, Winkler F, Hicklin DJ, Jain RK. Vascular normalisation by vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 blockade induces a pressure gradient across the vasculature and improves drug penetration in tumors. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64:3731–6. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-0074
- Hahn C, Schwartz MA. Mechanotransduction in vascular physiology and atherogenesis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2009) 10(1):53–62. doi:10.1038/ nrm2596
- Wragg JW, Durant S, McGettrick HM, Sample KM, Egginton S, Bicknell R. Shear stress regulated gene expression and angiogenesis in vascular endothelium. *Microcirculation* (2014) 21(4):290–300. doi:10.1111/micc.12119
- 154. Buchanan CF, Verbridge SS, Vlachos PP, Rylander MN. Flow shear stress regulates endothelial barrier function and expression of angiogenic factors in a 3D microfluidic tumor vascular model. *Cell Adh Migr* (2014) 8(5):517–24. doi:10.4161/19336918.2014.970001
- 155. Chiu JJ, Lee PL, Chen CN, Lee CI, Chang SF, Chen LJ, et al. Shear stress increases ICAM-1 and decreases VCAM-1 and E-selectin expressions induced by tumor necrosis factor-[alpha] in endothelial cells. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2004) 24(1):73–9. doi:10.1161/01.ATV.0000106321.63667.24
- Raza A, Franklin MJ, Dudek AZ. Pericytes and vessel maturation during tumor angiogenesis and metastasis. *Am J Hematol* (2010) 85(8):593–8. doi:10.1002/ajh.21745
- Jain RK, Booth MF. What brings pericytes to tumor vessels? J Clin Invest (2003) 112(8):1134–6. doi:10.1172/JCI20087
- Bergers G, Song S, Meyer-Morse N, Bergsland E, Hanahan D. Benefits of targeting both pericytes and endothelial cells in the tumor vasculature with kinase inhibitors. J Clin Invest (2003) 111(9):1287–95. doi:10.1172/JCI17929
- Ruan J, Luo M, Wang C, Fan L, Yang SN, Cardenas M, et al. Imatinib disrupts lymphoma angiogenesis by targeting vascular pericytes. *Blood* (2013) 121(26):5192–202. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-03-490763
- 160. Meng M, Zaorsky NG, Deng L, Wang HH, Chao J, Zhao L, et al. Pericytes: a double-edged sword in cancer therapy. *Future Oncol* (2015) 11(1):169–79. doi:10.2217/fon.14.123
- 161. Augustin HG, Koh GY, Thurston G, Alitalo K. Control of vascular morphogenesis and homeostasis through the angiopoietin-Tie system. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2009) 10(3):165–77. doi:10.1038/nrm2639
- Keskin D, Kim J, Cooke VG, Wu CC, Sugimoto H, Gu C, et al. Targeting vascular pericytes in hypoxic tumors increases lung metastasis via angiopoietin-2. *Cell Rep* (2015) 10(7):1066–81. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2015.01.035
- 163. Coleman RL, Broaddus RR, Bodurka DC, Wolf JK, Burke TW, Kavanagh JJ, et al. Phase II trial of imatinib mesylate in patients with recurrent platinumand taxane-resistant epithelial ovarian and primary peritoneal cancers. *Gynecol Oncol* (2006) 101(1):126–31. doi:10.1016/j.ygyno.2005.09.041
- 164. Raymond E, Brandes AA, Dittrich C, Fumoleau P, Coudert B, Clement PM, et al. Phase II study of imatinib in patients with recurrent gliomas of various histologies: a European organisation for research and treatment of cancer brain tumor group study. *J Clin Oncol* (2008) 26(28):4659–65. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2008.16.9235
- 165. Hong J, Tobin NP, Rundqvist H, Li T, Lavergne M, Garcia-Ibanez Y, et al. Role of tumor pericytes in the recruitment of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *J Natl Cancer Inst* (2015) 107(10):djv209. doi:10.1093/jnci/djv209
- 166. Hamzah J, Jugold M, Kiessling F, Rigby P, Manzur M, Marti HH, et al. Vascular normalization in Rgs5-deficient tumours promotes immune destruction. *Nature* (2008) 453(7193):410–4. doi:10.1038/nature06868
- 167. Manzur M, Hamzah J, Ganss R. Modulation of G protein signaling normalizes tumor vessels. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69(2):396–9. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-08-2842
- Manzur M, Hamzah J, Ganss R. Modulation of the "blood-tumor" barrier improves immunotherapy. *Cell Cycle* (2008) 7(16):2452–5. doi:10.4161/ cc.7.16.6451
- Jain RK, Martin JD, Stylianopoulos T. The role of mechanical forces in tumor growth and therapy. *Annu Rev Biomed Eng* (2014) 16:321–46. doi:10.1146/ annurev-bioeng-071813-105259
- Senger DR, Perruzzi CA, Feder J, Dvorak HF. A highly conserved vascular permeability factor secreted by a variety of human and rodent tumor cell lines. *Cancer Res* (1986) 46:5629–32.
- 171. Yeo K-T, Wang HH, Nagy JA, Sioussat TM, Ledbetter SR, Hoogewerf AJ, et al. Vascular permeability factor (vascular endothelial growth factor) in

guinea pig and human tumor and inflammatory effusions. *Cancer Res* (1993) 53:2912–8.

- 172. Zhang L, Conejo-Garcia JR, Katsaros D, Gimotty PA, Massobrio M, Regnani G, et al. Intratumoural T cells, recurrence and survival in epithelial ovarian cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2003) 348:203–13. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa020177
- Ager A, May MJ. Understanding high endothelial venules: lessons for cancer immunology. Oncoimmunology (2015)4(6):e1008791.doi:10.1080/2162402X. 2015.1008791
- 174. Martinet L, Garrido I, Filleron T, Le Guellec S, Bellard E, Fournie JJ, et al. Human solid tumors contain high endothelial venules: association with T- and B-lymphocyte infiltration and favorable prognosis in breast cancer. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71(17):5678–87. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0431
- Dieu-Nosjean MC, Goc J, Giraldo NA, Sautes-Fridman C, Fridman WH. Tertiary lymphoid structures in cancer and beyond. *Trends Immunol* (2014) 35(11):571–80. doi:10.1016/j.it.2014.09.006
- 176. Thompson ED, Enriquez HL, Fu YX, Engelhard VH. Tumor masses support naive T cell infiltration, activation and differentiation into effectors. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207:1791–804. doi:10.1084/jem.20092454
- 177. Peske JD, Thompson ED, Gemta L, Baylis RA, Fu YX, Engelhard VH. Effector lymphocyte-induced lymph node-like vasculature enables naive T-cell entry into tumours and enhanced anti-tumour immunity. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:7114. doi:10.1038/ncomms8114
- Shields JD, Kourtis IC, Tomei AA, Roberts JM, Swartz MA. Induction of lymphoidlike stroma and immune escape by tumours that express the chemokine CCL21. Science (2010) 328:749–52. doi:10.1126/science.1185837
- 179. Stacker SA, Williams SP, Karnezis T, Shayan R, Fox SB, Achen MG. Lymphangiogenesis and lymphatic vessel remodelling in cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2014) 14(3):159–72. doi:10.1038/nrc3677
- Heldin CH, Rubin K, Pietras K, Ostman A. High interstitial fluid pressure an obstacle in cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2004) 4(10):806–13. doi:10.1038/ nrc1456
- 181. Swartz MA, Lund AW. Lymphatic and interstitial flow in the tumour microenvironment: linking mechanobiology with immunity. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12(3):210–9. doi:10.1038/nrc3186
- Ng CP, Hinz B, Swartz MA. Insterstitial fluid flow induces myofibroblast differentiation and collagen alignment in vitro. J Cell Sci (2005) 118:4731–9. doi:10.1242/jcs
- Flavell RA, Sanjabi S, Wrzesinski SH, Licona-Limon P. The polarization of immune cells in the tumour environment by TGFbeta. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2010) 10(8):554–67. doi:10.1038/nri2808
- Lund AW, Duraes FV, Hirosue S, Raghavan VR, Nembrini C, Thomas SN, et al. VEGF-C promotes immune tolerance in B16 melanomas and crosspresentation of tumor antigen by lymph node lymphatics. *Cell Rep* (2012) 1(3):191–9. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2012.01.005
- Friedlaender MH, Baer H. Immunologic tolerance: role of the regional lymph node. Science (1972) 176:312–4. doi:10.1126/science.176.4032.312
- Card CM, Yu SS, Swartz MA. Emerging roles of lymphatic endothelium in regulating adaptive immunity. *J Clin Invest* (2014) 124(3):943–52. doi:10.1172/JCI73316
- Liao S, von der Weid PY. Lymphatic system: an active pathway for immune protection. Semin Cell Dev Biol (2015) 38:83–9. doi:10.1016/ j.semcdb.2014.11.012
- 188. Cohen JN, Guidi CJ, Tewalt EF, Qiao H, Rouhani SJ, Ruddell A, et al. Lymph node-resident lymphatic endothelial cells mediate peripheral tolerance via Aire-independent direct antigen presentation. J Exp Med (2010) 207(4):681–8. doi:10.1084/jem.20092465
- 189. Fletcher AL, Lukacs-Kornek V, Reynoso ED, Pinner SE, Bellemare-Pelletier A, Curry MS, et al. Lymph node fibroblastic reticular cells directly present peripheral tissue antigen under steady-state and inflammatory conditions. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(4):689–97. doi:10.1084/jem.20092642
- 190. Tewalt EF, Cohen JN, Rouhani SJ, Guidi CJ, Qiao H, Fahl SP, et al. Lymphatic endothelial cells induce tolerance via PD-L1 and lack of costimulation leading to high-level PD-1 expression on CD8 T cells. *Blood* (2012) 120(24):4772–82. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-04427013
- 191. Rouhani SJ, Eccles JD, Riccardi P, Peske JD, Tewalt EF, Cohen JN, et al. Roles of lymphatic endothelial cells expressing peripheral tissue antigens in CD4 T-cell tolerance induction. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:6771. doi:10.1038/ ncomms7771

- 192. Lukacs-Kornek V, Malhotra D, Fletcher AL, Acton SE, Elpek KG, Tayalia P, et al. Regulated release of nitric oxide by nonhematopoietic stroma controls expansion of the activated T cell pool in lymph nodes. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(11):1096–104. doi:10.1038/ni.2112
- 193. Podgrabinska S, Kamalu O, Mayer L, Shimaoka M, Snoeck H, Randolph GJ, et al. Inflamed lymphatic endothelium suppresses dendritic cell maturation and function via Mac-1/ICAM-1-dependent mechanism. *J Immunol* (2009) 183(3):1767–79. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0802167
- 194. Norder M, Gutierrez MG, Zicari S, Cervi E, Caruso A, Guzman CA. Lymph node-derived lymphatic endothelial cells express functional costimulatory molecules and impair dendritic cell-induced allogenic T-cell proliferation. *FASEB J* (2012) 26(7):2835–46. doi:10.1096/fj.12-205278
- Chin AR, Wang SE. Cancer tills the premetastatic field: mechanistic basis and clinical implications. *Clin Cancer Res* (2016) 22(15):1–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-0028
- 196. Pereira ER, Jones D, Jung K, Padera TP. The lymph node microenvironment and its role in the progression of metastatic cancer. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* (2015) 38:98–105. doi:10.1016/j.semcdb.2015.01.008
- 197. Hirakawa S, Kodama S, Kunstfeld R, Kajiya K, Brown LF, Detmar M. VEGF-A induces tumor and sentinel lymph node lymphangiogenesis and promotes lymphatic metastasis. *J Exp Med* (2005) 201(7):1089–99. doi:10.1084/ jem.20041896
- 198. Hirakawa S, Brown LF, Kodama S, Paavonen K, Alitalo K, Detmar M. VEGF-C-induced lymphangiogenesis in sentinel lymph nodes promotes tumor metastasis to distant sites. *Blood* (2007) 109:1010–7. doi:10.1182/ blood-200605-021758
- 199. Farnsworth RH, Karnezis T, Shayan R, Matsumoto M, Nowell CJ, Achen MG, et al. A role for bone morphogenetic protein-4 in lymph node vascular remodeling and primary tumor growth. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71(20):6547–57. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0200
- 200. Qian CN, Berghuis B, Tsarfaty G, Bruch M, Kort EJ, Ditlev J, et al. Preparing the "soil": the primary tumor induces vasculature reorganization in the sentinel lymph node before the arrival of metastatic cancer cells. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66(21):10365–76. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2977
- 201. Carriere V, Colisson R, Jiguet-Jiglaire C, Bellard E, Bouche G, Al Saati T, et al. Cancer cells regulate lymphocyte recruitment and leukocyte-endothelium interactions in the tumor-draining lymph node. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65(24):11639–48. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1190
- 202. Girard JP, Moussion C, Forster R. HEVs, lymphatics and homeostatic immune cell trafficking in lymph nodes. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2012) 12(11):762–73. doi:10.1038/nri3298
- 203. Zippelius A, Batard P, Rubio-Godoy V, Bioley G, Lienard D, Lejeune F, et al. Effector function of human tumor-specific CD8 T cells in melanoma lesions: a state of local functional tolerance. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64:2865–73. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-3066
- 204. Preynat-Seauve O, Contassot E, Schuler P, Piguet V, French LE, Huard B. Extralymphatic tumors prepare draining lymph nodes to invasion via a T-cell cross-tolerance process. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(10):5009–16. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-4494
- 205. Matsumoto M, Roufail S, Inder R, Caesar C, Karnezis T, Shayan R, et al. Signaling for lymphangiogenesis via VEGFR-3 is required for the early events of metastasis. *Clin Exp Metastasis* (2013) 30(6):819–32. doi:10.1007/ s10585-013-9581-x
- 206. Shayan R, Inder R, Karnezis T, Caesar C, Paavonen K, Ashton MW, et al. Tumor location and nature of lymphatic vessels are key determinants of cancer metastasis. *Clin Exp Metastasis* (2013) 30(3):345–56. doi:10.1007/ s10585-012-9541-x
- 207. Mlecnik B, Bindea G, Kirilovsky A, Angell HK, Obenauf AC, Tosolini M, et al. The tumor microenvironment and Immunoscore are critical determinants of dissemination to distal metastasis. *Sci Transl Med* (2016) 8(327):327ra26. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aad6352
- Lund AW, Wagner M, Fankhauser M, Steinskog ES, Broggi MA, Spranger S, et al. Lymphatic vessels regulate immune microenvironments in human and murine melanoma. *J Clin Invest* (2016) 126(9):3389–402. doi:10.1172/ JCI79434
- Carman CV, Martinelli R. T lymphocyte-endothelial interactions: emerging understanding of trafficking and antigen-specific immunity. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:603. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00603

- Epperson DE, Pober JS. Antigen-presenting function of human endothelial cells. Direct activation of resting CD8 T cells. J Immunol (1994) 153:5402–12.
- 211. Rodig N, Ryan T, Allen JA, Pang H, Grabie N, Chernova T, et al. Endothelial expression of PD-L1 and PD-L2 down-regulates CD8+ T cell activation and cytolysis. *Eur J Immunol* (2003) 33(11):3117–26. doi:10.1002/eji.200324270
- 212. Huang X, Bai X, Cao Y, Wu J, Huang M, Tang D, et al. Lymphoma endothelium preferentially expresses Tim-3 and facilitates the progression of lymphoma by mediating immune evasion. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(3):505–20. doi:10.1084/jem.20090397
- 213. Riesenberg R, Weiler C, Spring O, Eder M, Buchner A, Popp T, et al. Expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in tumor endothelial cells correlates with long-term survival of patients with renal cell carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13(23):6993–7002. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-0942
- 214. Zang X, Allison JP. The B7 family and cancer therapy: costimulation and coinhibition. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13(18 Pt 1):5271–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-1030
- 215. Sica GL, Choi I, Zhu G, Tamada K, Wang S, Tamura H, et al. B7-H4, a molecule of the B7 family, negatively regulates T cell immunity. *Immunity* (2003) 18:849–61. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00152-3
- 216. Suh WK, Gajewska BU, Okada H, Gronski MA, Bertram EM, Dawicki W, et al. The B7 family member B7-H3 preferentially down-regulates T helper type 1-mediated immune responses. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4(9):899–906. doi:10.1038/ni967
- Zang X, Sullivan PS, Soslow RA, Waitz R, Reuter VE, Wilton A, et al. Tumor associated endothelial expression of B7-H3 predicts survival in ovarian carcinomas. *Mod Pathol* (2010) 23(8):1104–12. doi:10.1038/modpathol. 2010.95
- Brunner A, Hinterholzer S, Riss P, Heinze G, Brustmann H. Immunoexpression of B7-H3 in endometrial cancer: relation to tumor T-cell infiltration and prognosis. *Gynecol Oncol* (2012) 124(1):105–11. doi:10.1016/ j.ygyno.2011.09.012
- 219. Brustmann H, Igaz M, Eder C, Brunner A. Epithelial and tumor-associated endothelial expression of B7-H3 in cervical carcinoma: relation with CD8+ intraepithelial lymphocytes, FIGO stage, and phosphohistone H3 (PHH3) reactivity. Int J Gynecol Pathol (2015) 34(2):187–95. doi:10.1097/ PGP.000000000000116
- 220. Crispen PL, Sheinin Y, Roth TJ, Lohse CM, Kuntz SM, Frigola X, et al. Tumor cell and tumor vasculature expression of B7-H3 predict survival in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14(16):5150–7. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0536
- 221. Krambeck AE, Thompson RH, Dong H, Lohse CM, Park ES, Kuntz SM, et al. B7-H4 expression in renal cell carcinoma and tumor vasculature: associations with cancer progression and survival. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103(27):10391–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.0600937103
- 222. He YC, Halford MM, Achen MG, Stacker SA. Exploring the role of endothelium in the tumour response to anti-angiogenic therapy. *Biochem Soc Trans* (2014) 42(6):1569–75. doi:10.1042/BST20140173
- 223. Fontanella C, Ongaro E, Bolzonello S, Guardascione M, Fasola G, Aprile G. Clinical advances in the development of novel VEGFR2 inhibitors. Ann Transl Med (2014) 2(12):123. doi:10.3978/j.issn.2305-5839.2014.08.14
- 224. Solomon B, Binns D, Roselt P, Weibe LI, McArthur GA, Cullinane C, et al. Modulation of intratumoral hypoxia by the epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitor gefitinib detected using small animal PET imaging. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2005) 4(9):1417–22. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-05-0066
- 225. Solomon B, Hagekyriakou J, Trivett MK, Stacker SA, McArthur GA, Cullinane C. EGFR blockade with ZD1839 ("Iressa") potentiates the antitumor effects of single and multiple fractions of ionizing radiation in human A431 squamous cell carcinoma. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* (2003) 55(3):713–23. doi:10.1016/S0360-3016(02)04357-2
- 226. Jayson GC, Kerbel R, Ellis LM, Harris AL. Antiangiogenic therapy in oncology: current status and future directions. *Lancet* (2016) 388:518–29. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01088-0
- 227. Batchelor TT, Gerstner ER, Emblem KE, Duda DG, Kalpathy-Cramer J, Snuderl M, et al. Improved tumor oxygenation and survival in glioblastoma

patients who show increased blood perfusion after cediranib and chemoradiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110(47):19059–64. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1318022110

- 228. Hodi FS, Mihm MC, Soiffer RJ, Haluska FG, Butler M, Seiden MV, et al. Biologic activity of cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 antibody blockade in previously vaccinated metastatic melanoma and ovarian carcinoma patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) 100(8):4712–7. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0830997100
- 229. Yuan J, Zhou J, Dong Z, Tandon S, Kuk D, Panageas KS, et al. Pretreatment serum VEGF is associated with clinical response and overall survival in advanced melanoma patients treated with ipilimumab. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2014) 2(2):127–32. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0163
- 230. Wu X, Giobbie-Hurder A, Liao X, Lawrence D, McDermott D, Zhou J, et al. VEGF neutralization plus CTLA-4 blockade alters soluble and cellular factors associated with enhancing lymphocyte infiltration and humoral recognition in melanoma. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2016) 4(10):858–68. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0084
- Achen MG, Mann GB, Stacker SA. Targeting lymphangiogenesis to prevent tumour metastasis. Br J Cancer (2006) 94(10):1355–60. doi:10.1038/ sj.bjc.6603120
- 232. Rinderknecht M, Villa A, Ballmer-Hofer K, Neri D, Detmar M. Phage-derived fully human monoclonal antibody fragments to human vascular endothelial growth factor-C block its interaction with VEGF receptor-2 and 3. *PLoS One* (2010) 5(8):e11941. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0011941
- 233. Achen MG, Roufail S, Domagala T, Catimel B, Nice EC, Geleick DM, et al. Monoclonal antibodies to vascular endothelial growth factor-D block its interactions with both VEGF receptor-2 and VEGF-receptor 3. *Eur J Biochem* (2000) 267:2505–15. doi:10.1046/j.1432-1327.2000.01257.x
- Davydova N, Roufail S, Streltsov VA, Stacker SA, Achen MG. The VD1 neutralizing antibody to vascular endothelial growth factor-D: binding epitope and relationship to receptor binding. *J Mol Biol* (2011) 407(4):581–93. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2011.02.009
- 235. Persaud K, Tille J, Liu M, Zhu Z, Jimenez X, Pereira DS, et al. Involvement of the VEGF receptor 3 in tubular morphogenesis demonstrated with a human anti-human VEGR-3 monoclonal antibody that antagonises receptor activation by VEGF-C. *J Cell Sci* (2004) 117:2745–56. doi:10.1242/jcs
- 236. Albuquerque RJ, Hayashi T, Cho WG, Kleinman ME, Dridi S, Takeda A, et al. Alternatively spliced vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 is an essential endogenous inhibitor of lymphatic vessel growth. *Nat Med* (2009) 15(9):1023–30. doi:10.1038/nm.2018
- 237. Makinen T, Jussila L, Veikkola T, Karpanen T, Kettunen MI, Pulkkanen KJ, et al. Inhibition of lymphangiogenesis with resulting lymphedema in transgenic mice expressing soluble VEGF receptor-3. *Nat Med* (2001) 7:199–205. doi:10.1038/84651
- 238. Kodera Y, Katanasaka Y, Kitamura Y, Tsuda H, Nishio K, Tamura T, et al. Sunitinib inhibits lymphatic endothelial cell functions and lymph node metastasis in a breast cancer model through inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 3. *Breast Cancer Res* (2011) 13:R66. doi:10.1186/ bcr2903

Conflict of Interest Statement: MA and SS are shareholders of Opthea Ltd., which has a commercial interest in antiangiogenesis and anti-lymphangiogenesis in cancer, and Ark Therapeutics (acquired by Premier Veterinary Group PLC), which has an interest in the application of growth factors in vascular disease. The other authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Hendry, Farnsworth, Solomon, Achen, Stacker and Fox. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Role of Lymphatic Endothelial Cells in Liver Injury and Tumor Development

Veronika Lukacs-Kornek*

Department of Medicine II, Saarland University Medical Center, Homburg, Germany

Lymphatics and lymphatic endothelial cells (LECs) possess multiple immunological functions besides affecting immune cell migration, such as inhibiting T cell proliferation and antigen presentation by dendritic cells. Moreover, they control the trans-endothelial transport of multiple molecules and antigens. Emerging evidence suggest their active involvements in immunregulation, tumor, and metastases formation. In the liver, increased lymphangiogenesis, specifically at the portal area has been associated with multiple liver diseases in particular primary biliary cirrhosis, idiopathic portal hypertension, and liver malignancies. Nevertheless, the exact role and contribution of LECs to liver diseases are poorly understood. The review summarizes the current understanding of LECs in liver diseases.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sonia Elhadad, Weill Cornell Medical College, USA

Reviewed by:

Anne L. Fletcher, University of Birmingham, UK Ditte Lindemann Hedegaard contributed to the review of Anne L. Fletcher Frank Tacke, University Hospital Aachen, Germany

*Correspondence:

Veronika Lukacs-Kornek veronika.lukacs-kornek@uniklinikumsaarland.de, lukacsver@aol.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Inflammation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 03 October 2016 Accepted: 16 November 2016 Published: 29 November 2016

Citation:

Lukacs-Kornek V (2016) The Role of Lymphatic Endothelial Cells in Liver Injury and Tumor Development. Front. Immunol. 7:548. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00548 Keywords: lymphatic endothelial cells, lymphatics, liver injury, HCC

LIVER AS A LYMPHOID ORGAN

The liver primarily operates as a metabolic center to maintain homeostasis that includes processing of gut-derived nutrients, the clearance of toxins, and the production of the bile (1). Besides these well-known functions, it is also considered as a lymphoid organ (2). This is on one hand due to the fact that non-parenchymal cells, such as hepatic stellate cells (HSCs) and liver sinusoidal endothelial cells (LSECs), take on antigen presenting and immunomodulatory functions to create a tolerant microenvironment (2, 3). On the other hand, the liver encompasses large populations of resident immune cells, such as Kuppfer cells, NK, T, and NKT cells that shape the local immune response, respond to danger signals and closely interact with parenchymal and non-parenchymal liver cells (3). These resident immune cells are located within the sinusoids where the mixture of arterial and venous blood carrying oxygen and gut-derived metabolic products arrives into the liver. From the sinusoids blood flows toward the central vein and finally leaves the liver conveying blood to the vena cava inferior. It is less known about the lymphatic circulation of the liver despite of the fact that it produces between 25-50% of the total lymph received by the thoracic duct (4, 5). This review summarizes the current understanding of the lymphatics of the liver and their known functions under steady state and during liver injury. Liver injuries manifest in various diseases including autoimmune hepatitis, infectious [hepatitis C virus (HCV)- and hepatitis B virus (HBV)-induced liver hepatitis], and metabolic disorders. Major causes of metabolic injuries are alcoholic liver damage (manifesting

Abbreviations: CCL21, CC-chemokine ligand 21; CCl₄, carbon tetrachloride; CCR7, C–C chemokine receptor type 7; CD, cluster of differentiation; cDC1/2, conventional dendritic cells type 1/2; FACS, fluorescence-activated cell sorting; FRCs, fibroblastic reticular cells; HSCs, hepatic stellate cells; LECs, lymphatic endothelial cells; LNs, lymph nodes; MS, mechanosensors; SLO, secondary lymphoid organs; SR, scavenger receptors; TLRs, toll-like receptors.

in liver steatosis, hepatitis, and cirrhosis) and the diet-related non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). Biliary injuries involve primary sclerosing cholangitis and primary biliary cirrhosis that are considered as immune-mediated liver disorders. Independent of the diverse etiology, liver inflammation and damage trigger a wound healing process that progressively leads to liver fibrosis, cirrhosis, and end-stage liver disease (6).

THE LYMPHATIC SYSTEM OF THE LIVER

The hepatic lymphatic system is divided into a deep and a superficial fraction (5, 7). The former follows the hepatic vein and the portal tracts, and the later collects lymph from the convex and inferior surfaces of the liver. The lymph itself originates in the perisinusoidal space of Disse (4). At the hepatic sinusoids, the interstitial space contains collagen fibers that connect LSECs and hepatocytes and form the portal limiting plate. Thus, fluid from the sinusoids flows through this structure and moves toward the perilobular space (it is referred as the space of Mall) and finally enters the portal lymphatic vessels (4, 5, 7, 8). This fluid movement is attainable due to the hydrostatic pressure differences observed between the portal vein and the interstitial space (9). Additionally, because of pressure gradient between arterial capillaries and the interstitial space, some blood is filtered through the peribiliary capillaries that surround the interlobular bile ducts. Nevertheless, the contribution of this process for the total liver lymph output is less than 10% (10). Besides the above-described route, the interstitial fluid can also follow the interstitial space connected with the hepatic capsule that contains superficial lymphatic vessels (5, 7). Both, the deep and superficial lymphatics of the liver drain primarily to the hepatic/celiac lymph nodes (LNs) (7, 11).

LYMPHATIC CONTENT AND CELLULAR TRANSPORT

The lymph generated in the perisinusoidal space contains 80% of the proteins present in plasma (5). The content of the lymph gains increasing attention as it contains self-peptides derived from intracellular, membrane-associated, and matrix proteins (12, 13). Moreover, it carries apoptotic cellular materials, infectious agents and represents a remote communication system for small molecules (e.g., cytokines) and cell-derived vesicles between the organ and its draining LN (13-16). The relevance of small molecule/vesicle trafficking via the lymphatics to the etiology of liver diseases is entirely unexplored. Such self-antigen delivery can be a key in autoimmune liver diseases. Moreover, biliary content during bile obstruction leaks to the lymphatics at the portal tract (5, 17) and probably reaches the draining LNs. Since bile acids might trigger inflammatory responses and necroptosis, it could influence hepatic immune responses arising within the draining LN.

Due to the resident immune, parenchymal and nonparenchymal cells, a tolerogenic environment is created for immune responses within the liver (3). Nevertheless, if immunity is required as a response to for example pathogens either monocyte-derived DCs present in intrahepatic myeloid-cell aggregates for T cell population expansion (iMATEs) provide bases for efficient T cell responses (18) or cytotoxic T lymphocytes are generated by migratory DCs reaching the draining LN (19, 20). On the other side of the immune spectrum, migratory DCs are likely involved in the generation of regulatory T cells toward dietary antigens in the liver-draining LN (21). The lymphatics thus represent a crucial channel for a potential immunogenic and tolerogenic response outside of the liver suppressive environment (19, 22). To ensure this function, the lymph transports various immune cells. Accordingly, electron microscopy studies revealed the presence of DCs in between the limiting plate of hepatocytes and in the interstitial space of portal tract (4). This migratory process is more active after LPS injection (4). Not only liver resident but also circulating DCs can enter the lymphatic system in the liver, and this DC blood-lymph translocation seems to alter DCs and creates a more tolerogenic phenotype under steady state (23, 24). This could be due to DC interaction en route with liver non-parenchymal cells such as LSECs (25) or with lymphatic endothelial cells (LECs) along the lymphatics (26). Thus, the lymphatic circulation of liver-resident DCs and the circulating DC translocation might contribute to important peripheral tolerogenic responses under steady state. The major migratory cell population is the cDC1 (CD11c+CD103+CD11b-) cells, and it remains to be elucidated whether monocyte-derived DCs or cCD2 (CD11c⁺CD103⁻CD11b⁺) cells contribute to the migratory cell population under differing circumstances (20, 27).

DC migration is maintained by CCR7-CCL21 interaction, where CCL21 is secreted by LECs that are also positive for various adhesion molecules and glycoproteins that are involved in cellular transport, such as gp38, ICAM-1, and E-selectin (28, 29). Besides LECs, EM study revealed the presence of fibroblast-like cells close to collagen fibers at the portal area representing fibroblastic reticular cells (FRCs) (4). Migratory DCs display close correlation with FRCs near the portal tract (4). Accordingly, in human liver, a low number of gp38+ FRCs are present at the portal area under steady state (30). FRCs secrete CCL19 that guides DC migration and provide survival factors for immune cell homeostasis (28, 31). Importantly, under pathological conditions, such as in primary biliary cirrhosis, the portal FRC and LEC network extends and is associated with structures similar to tertiary lymphoid organs (30). Similarly, in murine P. acnes-induced granulomatous hepatitis, portal tract-associated lymphatic structures, so called PALTs, are formed where T and B cell responses arise (32). Further studies are necessary to clarify that such tertiary lymphoid structure formation is related to migratory and lymphatic changes in liver diseases or represent a pathological structure where LN-independent immune responses influence disease progression.

Besides DCs, lymphocytes, plasma cells, and mast cells could be identified within the lymphatic vessels of the liver and near the portal tract under steady state (4, 5). While memory lymphocytes and plasma cells are common travelers within lymphatic vessels, the exact function of mast cells remains uncertain within the healthy liver. The later is especially intriguing, since mast cells release inflammatory mediators during various liver diseases and contribute as accessory cells to disease progression (33). The liver is especially rich in lymphocytes involving not only conventional T cells but also innate lymphoid cells that express lymphoid homing markers, such as CCR7 (34, 35). Nevertheless, future studies are necessary to determine to which extent the various lymphocyte subpopulations travel *via* the lymphatics from the liver and what are the biological consequences of their migration.

LYMPHATIC ENDOTHELIAL CELLS OF THE LIVER

Lymphatic endothelial cells are the building blocks of lymphatic capillaries and vessels and express variety of molecules that distinguish them from blood endothelial cells (BECs) such as CCL21 or cadherin-13 (**Table 1**) (29, 36). Most of these molecules refer to LECs within secondary lymphoid organs (SLO); however, some differences due to the liver environment could be observed (**Table 1**). For example, lymphatic vascular endothelial hyaluronan (Lyve-1) is specific for LECs in lymphoid organs but is present in LSECs and in some liver macrophages (37). The best way is to identify liver LECs based on their expression of CD31 and gp38 (podoplanin). Liver LECs are CD45⁻CD31⁺gp38⁺ and thus can be distinguished from FRCs (CD45⁻CD31⁻gp38⁺), from LSECs (CD45⁻CD31⁺gp38⁻), and from the recently described gp38⁺ liver progenitor cells (CD45⁻CD31⁻CD133[±]gp38⁺) (38).

Lymphatic endothelial cells not only provide the structural unit for the vessels but also are involved in additional biological processes. As discussed already, *via* its expression of cytokines and adhesion molecules, LECs guide immune cell migration. Additionally, they are active participants in the nearby arising immune responses. They directly diminish DC maturation and T cell proliferation and thus function as a negative regulatory circuit during immune responses (26, 29, 39). A variety of immunoregulatory factors are expressed by LECs that enable these functions. For example, LECs secrete TGF β and nitric oxide, all of which are immunosuppressive (39, 40). Additionally, LECs lack the expression of co-stimulatory molecules and instead are rich in co-inhibitory markers, such as PDL1 (29, 39, 41, 42).

Lymphatic endothelial cells also possess the ability to express self-antigens and induce CD8 T cell deletion and serve as antigen reservoir for CD4 T cell tolerance (41–43). They also

TABLE 1 | Summary of surface markers for identifying murine and human lymphatic endothelial cells.

Endothelial markers (LECs and BECs)	Endothelial markers excluded from BECs
ICAM-1 (CD54)	Lyve-1ª
CD44	Prox-1
	VEGFR3
CD31	CCL21
CD34	Desmoplakin
	Integrin α9, α1
E-, P-selectin	B-chemokine receptor D6
Plakophilin	Cadherin-13
	MMR
	Gp38 (podoplanin)

*Present in liver LSECs and some liver macrophages.

BECs, blood endothelial cells; MMR, macrophage mannose receptor.

possess surface receptors for endocytotic activity and able to sample from their environment (44). Importantly, most of these immunomodulatory potentials are connected with LECs present in SLO, thus raising the question what are the similarities and differences between SLO-associated LECs and LECs present along the lymphatic vessels. Unfortunately, such comparison studies have not been conducted. It is also uncertain whether liver LECs are able to acquire soluble antigens from the lymph and have antigen-presenting capacity.

Lymphatic endothelial cells are also actively involved in cholesterol homeostasis, and the removal of cholesterol by lymphatic vessels is dependent on the uptake of HDL by scavenger receptor class B type I expressed in LECs (45–47). In line with this, endothelial O-glycan deficiency led to disorganized lymphatic vessels and resulted in the development of fatty liver disease (NAFLD) due to the missing lymphatic removal of gut-derived lipid products (48). Since lipid metabolic changes are associated with various liver diseases, it will be interesting to evaluate in more details how this affects lymphatic function and *vice versa* how lymphatic changes are reflected in liver metabolic alterations.

LYMPHATICS AND LIVER DISEASES

Chronic Liver Diseases

Multiple studies have demonstrated that the lymphatic system is significantly altered during liver diseases. The number of lymphatic vessels as well as the lymphatic flow increases in fibrotic and cirrhotic livers (37, 49–52). This is in line with observations that VEGF-C and VEGF-D expression is elevated during fibrosis (51, 53, 54). More importantly, the increased lymphangiogenesis is positively correlated with disease severity (49, 52). Moreover, the higher flow observed within the lymphatics during liver diseases could have additional consequences. Increased interstitial flow elevates the expression of cell recruiting cytokines (e.g., CCL21) and thus influences immune cell migration toward the draining LN (29). The flow at the same time likely reduces the portal pressure *via* channeling the excess fluid in cirrhosis and in portal hypertension (55).

Increased number of LECs is present during idiopathic portal hypertension (56), HCV-associated cirrhosis (52), and primary biliary cirrhosis (50). Given the wide-range of biological processes where LECs are involved, it is likely that the increase in the number of lymphatic vessels possesses functions exceeding fluid handling. The inflammatory environment triggers cytokine production in LECs and therefore increases immune cell recruitment (29). Additionally, bacterial products such as LPS (that is increased in portal vein during cirrhosis) induce not only chemoattracting cytokine production but also can activate Nf-Kb in LECs and thus consequently upregulate Prox1 and VEGFR-3 (57). Both molecules raise the sensitivity to VEGF-C and VEGF-D and thus influence lymphangiogenesis (57, 58). Within the liver, this remains to be elucidated.

Liver Tumor and Metastases Development

One of the consequences of liver diseases is the development of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Human HCC samples



displayed Lyve-1⁺ cells in the tumor-surrounding environment (37), and lymphatic vessels are present in the vicinity of metastatic liver tumors (37, 59, 60). In line with this observation, VEGF-C- or VEGF-D-expressing liver tumors are more prone to spread within the liver (60). The liver metastases of colorectal cancer also exhibit gp38⁺ peri- and intra-tumoral lymphatic vessels that were correlated with tumor growth and metastases potential (61). Accordingly, intrahepatic invasion was the main prognostic marker for colorectal cancer and for intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma and likely represents the main route of cancer dissemination in the liver (62–64). Indeed, intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma is often associated with LN metastasis that translates to poorer outcome and reduced patient survival (63).

Lymphatic endothelial cells could facilitate such tumor cell spreading *via* CCL21–CCR7 interaction. Some colorectal cancer cells express CCR7 and thus could migrate toward the homeostatic chemokine CCL21 expressed by LECs (29). Additionally, lymphatic flow-induced chemokine gradient (e.g., CCl21 or CXCL12) could be sufficient to drive metastases of tumors positive for cytokines as observed in gliomas (29, 65). The exact mechanisms for HCC and other liver cancers are not well understood. Similarly, LECs display multiple immunomodulatory roles within the tumor microenvironment. LECs induce the recruitment of regulatory T cells, alter features of tumorassociated stroma, and contribute to the immunosuppressive milieu favoring tumor growth (29, 66, 67). Additional studies are necessary to evaluate these possibilities also for liver cancers and metastases.

REFERENCES

- Thomson AW, Knolle PA. Antigen-presenting cell function in the tolerogenic liver environment. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2010) 10:753–66. doi:10.1038/nri2858
- 2. Crispe IN. The liver as a lymphoid organ. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2009) 27:147–63. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.021908.132629
- Eckert C, Klein N, Kornek M, Lukacs-Kornek V. The complex myeloid network of the liver with diverse functional capacity at steady state and in inflammation. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:179. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00179
- Ohtani Y, Wang BJ, Poonkhum R, Ohtani O. Pathways for movement of fluid and cells from hepatic sinusoids to the portal lymphatic vessels and subcapsular region in rat livers. *Arch Histol Cytol* (2003) 66:239–52. doi:10.1679/ aohc.66.239
- Ohtani O, Ohtani Y. Lymph circulation in the liver. Anat Rec (Hoboken) (2008) 291:643–52. doi:10.1002/ar.20681
- Pellicoro A, Ramachandran P, Iredale JP, Fallowfield JA. Liver fibrosis and repair: immune regulation of wound healing in a solid organ. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2014) 14:181–94. doi:10.1038/nri3623
- Yong TL, Houli N, Christophi C. Anatomy of hepatic lymphatics and its implications in hepatic malignancies. *ANZ J Surg* (2016) 86(11):868–73. doi:10.1111/ans.13662
- Heath T, Lowden S. Pathways of interstitial fluid and lymph flow in the liver acinus of the sheep and mouse. J Anat (1998) 192(Pt 3):351–8. doi:10.1046/j.1469-7580.1998.19230351.x
- Laine GA, Hall JT, Laine SH, Granger J. Transsinusoidal fluid dynamics in canine liver during venous hypertension. *Circ Res* (1979) 45:317–23. doi:10.1161/01.RES.45.3.317
- 10. Foldi M. [Lymph vessel system and liver: functional and pathophysiological relationship (author's transl)]. *Leber Magen Darm* (1974) 4:274–9.
- 11. Barbier L, Tay SS, McGuffog C, Triccas JA, McCaughan GW, Bowen DG, et al. Two lymph nodes draining the mouse liver are the preferential site of

SUMMARY AND OUTLOOK

Taken together, the liver is a unique metabolic and immunological niche within the body. Its lymphatic system represents a complex anatomical organization with a large lymph output. Based on the repertoire of the biological functions associated with lymphatics and LECs (Figure 1), it is suggested that LEC expansion is not only a passive accompanying event during liver diseases. This is particularly interesting since LEC changes seem to be reflective of the type of peripheral inflammation (68). Thus, this line of research urges more attention and studies that clarify its exact contribution to liver disease pathogenesis. This is possible, as improved marker combinations allow the flow cytometry detection and sorting of these cells from the liver. This, together with other techniques (e.g., histological analyses), provides solid basis for further functional investigations. This could raise our understanding of liver diseases and open novel therapeutic opportunities.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VL-K has designed and written the manuscript and prepared the table and the figure.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Alexander von Humboldt Foundation, Sofja Kovalevskaja Award to VL-K.

DC migration and T cell activation. *J Hepatol* (2012) 57:352–8. doi:10.1016/ j.jhep.2012.03.023

- Clement CC, Cannizzo ES, Nastke MD, Sahu R, Olszewski W, Miller NE, et al. An expanded self-antigen peptidome is carried by the human lymph as compared to the plasma. *PLoS One* (2010) 5:e9863. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0009863
- Clement CC, Rotzschke O, Santambrogio L. The lymph as a pool of self-antigens. *Trends Immunol* (2011) 32:6–11. doi:10.1016/j.it.2010. 10.004
- Gretz JE, Norbury CC, Anderson AO, Proudfoot AE, Shaw S. Lymph-borne chemokines and other low molecular weight molecules reach high endothelial venules via specialized conduits while a functional barrier limits access to the lymphocyte microenvironments in lymph node cortex. *J Exp Med* (2000) 192:1425–40. doi:10.1084/jem.192.10.1425
- Kunder CA, St John AL, Li G, Leong KW, Berwin B, Staats HF, et al. Mast cell-derived particles deliver peripheral signals to remote lymph nodes. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206:2455–67. doi:10.1084/jem.20090805
- Gonzalez SF, Lukacs-Kornek V, Kuligowski MP, Pitcher LA, Degn SE, Kim YA, et al. Capture of influenza by medullary dendritic cells via SIGN-R1 is essential for humoral immunity in draining lymph nodes. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11:427–34. doi:10.1038/ni.1856
- 17. Ewerth S, Bjorkhem I, Einarsson K, Ost L. Lymphatic transport of bile acids in man. J Lipid Res (1982) 23:1183–6.
- Huang LR, Wohlleber D, Reisinger F, Jenne CN, Cheng RL, Abdullah Z, et al. Intrahepatic myeloid-cell aggregates enable local proliferation of CD8(+) T cells and successful immunotherapy against chronic viral liver infection. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:574–83. doi:10.1038/ni.2573
- Bowen DG, Zen M, Holz L, Davis T, McCaughan GW, Bertolino P. The site of primary T cell activation is a determinant of the balance between intrahepatic tolerance and immunity. *J Clin Invest* (2004) 114:701–12. doi:10.1172/ JCI21593

- Krueger PD, Kim TS, Sung SS, Braciale TJ, Hahn YS. Liver-resident CD103+ dendritic cells prime antiviral CD8+ T cells in situ. *J Immunol* (2015) 194:3213–22. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1402622
- Hultkrantz S, Ostman S, Telemo E. Induction of antigen-specific regulatory T cells in the liver-draining celiac lymph node following oral antigen administration. *Immunology* (2005) 116:362–72. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2005. 02236.x
- Zheng M, Yu J, Tian Z. Characterization of the liver-draining lymph nodes in mice and their role in mounting regional immunity to HBV. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2013) 10:143–50. doi:10.1038/cmi.2012.59
- Kudo S, Matsuno K, Ezaki T, Ogawa M. A novel migration pathway for rat dendritic cells from the blood: hepatic sinusoids-lymph translocation. *J Exp Med* (1997) 185:777–84. doi:10.1084/jem.185.4.777
- Matsuno K, Kudo S, Ezaki T. The liver sinusoids as a specialized site for bloodlymph translocation of rat dendritic cells. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (1997) 417:77–81. doi:10.1007/978-1-4757-9966-8_13
- Schildberg FA, Hegenbarth SI, Schumak B, Scholz K, Limmer A, Knolle PA. Liver sinusoidal endothelial cells veto CD8 T cell activation by antigenpresenting dendritic cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2008) 38:957–67. doi:10.1002/ eji.200738060
- Podgrabinska S, Kamalu O, Mayer L, Shimaoka M, Snoeck H, Randolph GJ, et al. Inflamed lymphatic endothelium suppresses dendritic cell maturation and function via Mac-1/ICAM-1-dependent mechanism. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:1767–79. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0802167
- Lukacs-Kornek V, Schuppan D. Dendritic cells in liver injury and fibrosis: shortcomings and promises. *J Hepatol* (2013) 59:1124–6. doi:10.1016/ j.jhep.2013.05.033
- Lukacs-Kornek V, Turley SJ. Self-antigen presentation by dendritic cells and lymphoid stroma and its implications for autoimmunity. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2011) 23:138–45. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2010.11.012
- Swartz MA. Immunomodulatory roles of lymphatic vessels in cancer progression. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2014) 2:701–7. doi:10.1158/2326-6066. CIR-14-0115
- Link A, Hardie DL, Favre S, Britschgi MR, Adams DH, Sixt M, et al. Association of T-zone reticular networks and conduits with ectopic lymphoid tissues in mice and humans. *Am J Pathol* (2011) 178:1662–75. doi:10.1016/ j.ajpath.2010.12.039
- Mueller SN, Germain RN. Stromal cell contributions to the homeostasis and functionality of the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2009) 9:618–29. doi:10.1038/nri2588
- 32. Yoneyama H, Matsuno K, Zhang Y, Murai M, Itakura M, Ishikawa S, et al. Regulation by chemokines of circulating dendritic cell precursors, and the formation of portal tract-associated lymphoid tissue, in a granulomatous liver disease. J Exp Med (2001) 193:35–49. doi:10.1084/jem.193.1.35
- 33. Francis H, Meininger CJ. A review of mast cells and liver disease: what have we learned? *Dig Liver Dis* (2010) 42:529–36. doi:10.1016/j.dld.2010.02.016
- Mackley EC, Houston S, Marriott CL, Halford EE, Lucas B, Cerovic V, et al. CCR7-dependent trafficking of RORgamma(+) ILCs creates a unique microenvironment within mucosal draining lymph nodes. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:5862. doi:10.1038/ncomms6862
- Fan X, Rudensky AY. Hallmarks of tissue-resident lymphocytes. *Cell* (2016) 164:1198–211. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.02.048
- Podgrabinska S, Braun P, Velasco P, Kloos B, Pepper MS, Skobe M. Molecular characterization of lymphatic endothelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2002) 99:16069–74. doi:10.1073/pnas.242401399
- Mouta Carreira C, Nasser SM, Di Tomaso E, Padera TP, Boucher Y, Tomarev SI, et al. LYVE-1 is not restricted to the lymph vessels: expression in normal liver blood sinusoids and down-regulation in human liver cancer and cirrhosis. *Cancer Res* (2001) 61(22):8079–84.
- Eckert C, Kim YO, Julich H, Heier EC, Klein N, Krause E, et al. Podoplanin discriminates distinct stromal cell populations and a novel progenitor subset in the liver. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* (2016) 310:G1–12. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00344.2015
- Lukacs-Kornek V, Malhotra D, Fletcher AL, Acton SE, Elpek KG, Tayalia P, et al. Regulated nitric oxide release by fibroblastic reticular cells and lymphatic endothelial cells controls the expansion of activated T cells within lymph nodes. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12:1096–104. doi:10.1038/ni.2112

- Irigoyen M, Anso E, Salvo E, Dotor De Las Herrerias J, Martinez-Irujo JJ, Rouzaut A. TGFbeta-induced protein mediates lymphatic endothelial cell adhesion to the extracellular matrix under low oxygen conditions. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2008) 65:2244–55. doi:10.1007/s00018-008-8071-9
- Cohen JN, Guidi CJ, Tewalt EF, Qiao H, Rouhani SJ, Ruddell A, et al. Lymph node-resident lymphatic endothelial cells mediate peripheral tolerance via Aire-independent direct antigen presentation. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207:681–8. doi:10.1084/jem.20092465
- Fletcher AL, Lukacs-Kornek V, Reynoso ED, Pinner SE, Bellemare-Pelletier A, Curry MS, et al. Lymph node fibroblastic reticular cells directly present peripheral tissue antigen under steady-state and inflammatory conditions. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207:689–97. doi:10.1084/jem.20092642
- Rouhani SJ, Eccles JD, Riccardi P, Peske JD, Tewalt EF, Cohen JN, et al. Roles of lymphatic endothelial cells expressing peripheral tissue antigens in CD4 T-cell tolerance induction. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:6771. doi:10.1038/ ncomms7771
- Lund AW, Duraes FV, Hirosue S, Raghavan VR, Nembrini C, Thomas SN, et al. VEGF-C promotes immune tolerance in B16 melanomas and cross-presentation of tumor antigen by lymph node lymphatics. *Cell Rep* (2012) 1:191–9. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2012.01.005
- Lim HY, Thiam CH, Yeo KP, Bisoendial R, Hii CS, McGrath KC, et al. Lymphatic vessels are essential for the removal of cholesterol from peripheral tissues by SR-BI-mediated transport of HDL. *Cell Metab* (2013) 17:671–84. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2013.04.002
- Martel C, Li W, Fulp B, Platt AM, Gautier EL, Westerterp M, et al. Lymphatic vasculature mediates macrophage reverse cholesterol transport in mice. *J Clin Invest* (2013) 123:1571–9. doi:10.1172/JCI63685
- Martel C, Randolph GJ. Atherosclerosis and transit of HDL through the lymphatic vasculature. *Curr Atheroscler Rep* (2013) 15:354. doi:10.1007/ s11883-013-0354-4
- Fu J, Gerhardt H, McDaniel JM, Xia B, Liu X, Ivanciu L, et al. Endothelial cell O-glycan deficiency causes blood/lymphatic misconnections and consequent fatty liver disease in mice. *J Clin Invest* (2008) 118:3725–37. doi:10.1172/ JCI36077
- Vollmar B, Wolf B, Siegmund S, Katsen AD, Menger MD. Lymph vessel expansion and function in the development of hepatic fibrosis and cirrhosis. *Am J Pathol* (1997) 151:169–75.
- Yamauchi Y, Michitaka K, Onji M. Morphometric analysis of lymphatic and blood vessels in human chronic viral liver diseases. *Am J Pathol* (1998) 153:1131–7. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)65657-X
- Tugues S, Morales-Ruiz M, Fernandez-Varo G, Ros J, Arteta D, Munoz-Luque J, et al. Microarray analysis of endothelial differentially expressed genes in liver of cirrhotic rats. *Gastroenterology* (2005) 129:1686–95. doi:10.1053/ j.gastro.2005.09.006
- Yokomori H, Oda M, Kaneko F, Kawachi S, Tanabe M, Yoshimura K, et al. Lymphatic marker podoplanin/D2-40 in human advanced cirrhotic liver – re-evaluations of microlymphatic abnormalities. *BMC Gastroenterol* (2010) 10:131. doi:10.1186/1471-230X-10-131
- Corpechot C, Barbu V, Wendum D, Kinnman N, Rey C, Poupon R, et al. Hypoxia-induced VEGF and collagen I expressions are associated with angiogenesis and fibrogenesis in experimental cirrhosis. *Hepatology* (2002) 35:1010–21. doi:10.1053/jhep.2002.32524
- Kornek M, Raskopf E, Tolba R, Becker U, Klockner M, Sauerbruch T, et al. Accelerated orthotopic hepatocellular carcinomas growth is linked to increased expression of pro-angiogenic and prometastatic factors in murine liver fibrosis. *Liver Int* (2008) 28:509–18. doi:10.1111/j.1478-3231.2008.01670.x
- Witte MH, Dumont AE, Cole WR, Witte CL, Kintner K. Lymph circulation in hepatic cirrhosis: effect of portacaval shunt. *Ann Intern Med* (1969) 70:303–10. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-70-2-303
- Oikawa H, Masuda T, Sato S, Yashima A, Suzuki K, Sato S, et al. Changes in lymph vessels and portal veins in the portal tract of patients with idiopathic portal hypertension: a morphometric study. *Hepatology* (1998) 27:1607–10. doi:10.1002/hep.510270621
- Flister MJ, Wilber A, Hall KL, Iwata C, Miyazono K, Nisato RE, et al. Inflammation induces lymphangiogenesis through up-regulation of VEGFR-3 mediated by NF-kappaB and Prox1. *Blood* (2010) 115:418–29. doi:10.1182/ blood-2008-12-196840

- Saban MR, Memet S, Jackson DG, Ash J, Roig AA, Israel A, et al. Visualization of lymphatic vessels through NF-kappaB activity. *Blood* (2004) 104:3228–30. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-04-1428
- Yamaguchi R, Yano H, Nakashima O, Akiba J, Nishida N, Kurogi M, et al. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor-C in human hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2006) 21:152–60. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1746.2005.04217.x
- Thelen A, Scholz A, Benckert C, Von Marschall Z, Schroder M, Wiedenmann B, et al. VEGF-D promotes tumor growth and lymphatic spread in a mouse model of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Int J Cancer* (2008) 122:2471–81. doi:10.1002/ ijc.23439
- Hadj AK, Malcontenti-Wilson C, Nikfarjam M, Christophi C. Lymphatic patterns of colorectal liver metastases. J Surg Res (2012) 173:292–8. doi:10.1016/ j.jss.2010.09.012
- Korita PV, Wakai T, Shirai Y, Sakata J, Takizawa K, Cruz PV, et al. Intrahepatic lymphatic invasion independently predicts poor survival and recurrences after hepatectomy in patients with colorectal carcinoma liver metastases. *Ann Surg Oncol* (2007) 14:3472–80. doi:10.1245/s10434-007-9594-2
- 63. Shirabe K, Mano Y, Taketomi A, Soejima Y, Uchiyama H, Aishima S, et al. Clinicopathological prognostic factors after hepatectomy for patients with mass-forming type intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma: relevance of the lymphatic invasion index. *Ann Surg Oncol* (2010) 17:1816–22. doi:10.1245/ s10434-010-0929-z
- 64. Lupinacci RM, Mello ES, Pinheiro RS, Marques G, Coelho FF, Kruger JA, et al. Intrahepatic lymphatic invasion but not vascular invasion is a major

prognostic factor after resection of colorectal cancer liver metastases. *World J Surg* (2014) 38:2089–96. doi:10.1007/s00268-014-2511-5

- Swartz MA, Lund AW. Lymphatic and interstitial flow in the tumour microenvironment: linking mechanobiology with immunity. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12:210–9. doi:10.1038/nrc3186
- Shields JD, Kourtis IC, Tomei AA, Roberts JM, Swartz MA. Induction of lymphoidlike stroma and immune escape by tumors that express the chemokine CCL21. *Science* (2010) 328:749–52. doi:10.1126/science.1185837
- Lund AW, Wagner M, Fankhauser M, Steinskog ES, Broggi MA, Spranger S, et al. Lymphatic vessels regulate immune microenvironments in human and murine melanoma. J Clin Invest (2016) 126:3389–402. doi:10.1172/JCI79434
- Vigl B, Aebischer D, Nitschke M, Iolyeva M, Rothlin T, Antsiferova O, et al. Tissue inflammation modulates gene expression of lymphatic endothelial cells and dendritic cell migration in a stimulus-dependent manner. *Blood* (2011) 118:205–15. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-12-326447

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Lukacs-Kornek. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

